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UNITED STATES
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Washington, D.C. 20549
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(Mark One)
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OR
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filing requirements for the past 90 days. Y& NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hiéisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokiib site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te RMb of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapderjng the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was requiresutamit and post such files). Y& No[O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquftlers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i$ contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitivexy or information statements incorporated by merfiee in Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-KO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantleage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer, or a small reporting Company
(See the definitions of “large accelerated filégtcelerated filer,” and “small reporting Compang™Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Large
accelerated filed Accelerated filer®d Non-accelerated fileid Small Reporting Compariy
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The aggregate market value of the voting and ndimg@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thgisgrant on June 30, 2012, was $72.7 million
(based on the closing price for shares of the tegiss Common Stock as reported on the Nasdacgt&dyarket on that date). In determining this
figure, the registrant has assumed solely forghipose that all of its directors, executive offs;gersons beneficially owning 10% or more of the
outstanding Common Stock and certain other stodemslof the registrant may be considered to bbaa#fs. This assumption shall not be deemed
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardkimg statements. “Forward-looking statements,’tlat term is defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 199 atatements that are not historical facts andlag a number of risks and uncertainties. Wt
herein such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “w ould,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “projects,” “predicts,”
“intends,” “potential,” “continues,” and similar expressions (as well as other words or expressiofeseacing future events, conditions or
circumstances) identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements include, but are nottié to: our ability to complete development of,aie regulatory approval for, and
successfully commercialize ARIKACE®; our estimafesxpenses and future revenues and profitabibity;plans to develop and market new
products and the timing of these development prograstatus, timing, and the results of preclinistaidies and clinical trials and preclinical ai
clinical data described herein; the timing of regpes to information and data requests from the B&Fand Drug Administration (the “FDA”)
and other regulatory authorities; our clinical ddepment of product candidates; our ability to olotaind maintain regulatory approval for our
product candidates; our expectation as to the tgrofiregulatory review and approval; our estimategarding our capital requirements and ¢
needs for additional financing; our estimates & flize of the potential markets for our productdidates; our selection and licensing of product
candidates; our ability to attract third parties tiviacceptable development, regulatory and commkxzat#on expertise; the benefits to be derived
from corporate license agreements and other thadypefforts, including those relating to the de@hent and commercialization of our prod
candidates; the degree of protection afforded tbysur intellectual portfolio; the safety and e#fcy of our product candidates; sources of
revenues and anticipated revenues, including cbations from license agreements and other thirdypefforts for the development and
commercialization of products; our ability to crean effective direct sales and marketing infrastiee for products we elect to market and sell
directly; the rate and degree of market acceptasfoeur product candidates; the timing and amounteifnbursement for our product candidates;
the success of other competing therapies that raegrbe available; and the availability of adequatpy and manufacturing capacity and quality
for our product candidate:

Forward-looking statements are based upon our aurexpectations and beliefs, and involve knownuwaridhown risk, uncertainties and
other factors, which may cause our actual resylésformance and achievements and the timing o&ireavents to differ materially from the
results, performance, achievements or timing dsedsprojected, anticipated or indicated in anyfarddooking statements. Such factors incl
among others, the factors discussed in Item 1AK'R&ctors” as well as those discussed in Iltem 7euride section entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition dekults of Operatio” and elsewhere throughout this Annual Report omrrd0-K. We
caution readers not to place undue reliance onsumh forward-looking statements, which speak oslgfahe date they are made. We disclaim
any obligation, except as specifically requireddoy and the rules of the Securities and Exchangai@ission, to publicly update or revise any ¢
statements to reflect any change in our expectatarin events, conditions or circumstances on Wwhiey such statements may be based, or that
may affect the likelihood that actual results wliffer from those set forth in the forward-lookisigitements.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Insmed is a biopharmaceutical company focused waldpging and commercializing inhaled therapiegfatients battling serious lung
diseases that are often life threatening. Our praduct candidate, ARIKACE or liposomal amikacin for inhalation, is an inhakattibiotic
treatment that delivers a proven and potentiafdictive directly to the site of serious lung icfiens to improve the efficacy, safety and conveog
of this therapeutic approach for patients.

Currently, we are conducting clinical trials of AARACE for two initial indications in orphan patiepbpulations: a phase 3 clinical trial in
cystic fibrosis (CF) patients who have lung infens caused biyseudomonas aeruginoé®seudomonasand a phase 2 clinical trial in patients
who have lung infections caused by non-tubercufoysobacteria (NTM). Our strategy is to continuelévelop ARIKACE for additional
indications beyoné&seudomonaim CF and NTM. Our primary development focus iskdain regulatory approval for ARIKACE in theseotw
initial indications and to prepare for commerciatien initially in Europe and Canada and eventuiallihe United States (US). If approved,
ARIKACE will be the first once-a-day inhaled antihic treatment option available for these CF andNiidications. The following table
summarizes the current status of ARIKACE developmen

Product Candidate/Target
Indications Status
Phase 3 clinical trial in Europe and Canada wdg &xirolled in November 2012.
Clinical results are currently expected in mid-2013
Two-year open-label extension study is enrollind enexpected to be completed in late 2014.
ARIKACE Granted orphan drug designation in Europe and the U
Pseudomonas aeruginolung infections in CI | If approved, ARIKACE would be the only once-a-degatment folPseudomonalsing
patients infections in CF patients.
If approved, we plan to commercialize ARIKACE ouves in Europe and in Canada.
We will evaluate our plans for CF in the US afeviewing the phase 3 results from our stug
Europe and Canada
Phase 2 study in the US and Canada began enrwilihgne 2012.
Clinical results are currently expected in Q4 2013.
ARIKACE We expect to commence a limited compassionate nagggm in the second half of 2013.
Non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) lung iI;;ae%%g)r\]/sed, ARIKACE would be the first approvedhated antibiotic treatment for NTM lung
infections If approved, we plan to commercialize ourselvesalty in the US and eventually in Europe
in Canada.
Phase 2 study in the US completed.
ARIKACE X o
. .| Granted orphan drug designation in the US.
Erse;ncilgmsggi;ﬁm% 20?2]% ;tit;ﬁ;sirt]]sncoerﬁ)_t& We expect to evaluate development and commerdimlizatrategies when we complete our
brgnchiectasis a?ientsg Phase 3 study in CF patients witkeudomonaking infections and Phase 2 study in patient$
P with NTM infections.
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ARIKACE is considered a new molecular entity (NM$)the United States Food and Drug AdministratieDA) primarily due to its
proprietary liposomal technology. For a descriptidmour liposomal technology, see “—Our Propriethiyosomal Technology.” The key active
ingredient, amikacin, is an FDA-approved antibietith proven efficacy in the treatment of a broadge of gram-negative infections, including
Pseudomonaand NTM. ARIKACE is in the aminoglycoside classanttibiotics.

ARIKACE is differentiated by our proprietary advaacliposomal technology, which is designed spedificdo enhance the delivery
profile, safety and efficacy of pharmaceuticalswagkd to the lung via inhalation. We believe ARIRE provides potential improvements over
existing treatments for these indications. In ptastudies in CF patients wittsseudomonaksing infections, ARIKACE demonstrated improved
patient lung function during treatment as wellrathie period following treatment (the “off-treatntieperiod). In a phase 2 open label extension
study, ARIKACE also demonstrated statistically #igant effectiveness for up to 56 days off-treatrinever multiple treatment cycles.

If approved for CF patients withseudomonaking infections, we expect ARIKACE would be thesfimhaled antibiotic to be approved
once-daily administration in this indication. Iffgpved for NTM patients, we expect ARIKACE would the first and only approved treatment for
the treatment of NTM lung infections. ARIKACE hasdn granted orphan drug designation for CF patightshave®?seudomonalsing infections
in both the European Union (EU) and the US. We pidfile for orphan drug designation for NTM luntfections in the US and Europe in 2013.

Corporate History

We were incorporated in the Commonwealth of Virgiah November 29, 1999. On December 1, 2010, welated a business
combination with Transave, Inc. (Transave) a pelyaheld, New Jersey-based pharmaceutical compauséd on the development of
differentiated and innovative inhaled pharmaceigiéar the site-specific treatment of serious limfgctions. Our integration with Transave was
completed in 2011. Our current operations aredasghe technology and product candidates histllyideveloped by Transave.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to focus on the development andneercialization of innovative inhaled therapies fatients who are battling serious
orphan lung diseases. While we believe that ARIKAGE the potential to treat many different diseas@sattention is initially focused on
regulatory approval and commercialization preparafor our two initial indications, CF patients iwRPseudomonalsing infections and patients
with NTM lung infections, in Europe, Canada and ti& Our current priorities are as follows.

« Actively pursue new drug filings to secure apprdealARIKACE in Europe, Canada and the US;

« Expand our product supply chain in support of chidevelopment and if approved, commercialization;

« Prepare for commercial launch in Europe, CanadatendS; and

. Attempt to source promising late stage or commepeizducts that we believe are complementary tok¥IE and our core competenci

To support these priorities, we plan to completeangoing European and Canadian registrationaleoBadinical study of ARIKACE in
CF patients witlPseudomonalsing infections and advance our regulatory filing&e also plan to complete enrollment in our US @adadian
phase 2 clinical study of ARIKACE in patients wkiM lung infections and we intend to pursue a ledicompassionate use program in the U:
other patients with NTM lung infections. We plarstmle up manufacturing, work towards implementatibsecond source suppliers, and
implement supply and quality agreements in prepardbr commercialization of ARIKACE. We also into continue to work closely with PARI
Pharma GmbH (PARI), the manufacturer of our drug/dey nebulizer we expect the ARIKACE treatmenuse, to address our commercial suj
needs. We also intend to commence the build oatioEommercial infrastructure in preparation fotgmial commercial launches in Europe,
Canada and the US. We will continue to evaluafodpnities for additional products through varitusiness development channels.
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Product Candidates

Our lead product candidate, ARIKACE or liposomalileamin for inhalation, is a once-a-day inhaled liotic treatment engineered to
deliver a proven and potent anti-infective dire¢tthe site of serious lung infections. Theretare key components of ARIKACE: the liposomal
formulation of the drug and the nebulizer devia®tigh which ARIKACE is inhaled through the moutldanto the lung. The nebulizer technology
is owned by PARI, but we have exclusive acceshitotechnology, which is specifically developed fioe delivery of our liposomal encapsulation
of amikacin, through our licensing agreement wi#RIP. Our proprietary liposomal technology and néterd are designed specifically for delivery
of pharmaceuticals to the lung and provides foeptial improvements to existing treatments. Weelelthat ARIKACE has potential usage for at
least two orphan patient populations with high unmezd: CF patients who haPseudomonalking infections and patients who have NTM lung
infections. We estimate the combined global mapléential for these two orphan indications to ppraximately $1 billion.

ARIKACE has the potential to be differentiated frother marketed drugs for the treatment of chraumg infections by improving
efficacy, safety and patient convenience. We beleflicacy may be improved due to the ability ofIKRCE to deliver high, sustained levels of
amikacin directly to the lung and to the specifie f the underlying infection. We also believatthRIKACE may have increased durability of
effect, benefiting patients when off treatment.attdition, the inhalation delivery of ARIKACE magduce the potential for adverse events such as
ototoxicity (hearing loss, ringing in the ears amdéss of balance) and nephrotoxicity (toxicitythe kidneys), as compared with intravenous (IV)
administration of amikacin. If approved, we expibett ARIKACE will be administered once daily fgg@oximately 13 minutes via inhalation
using the eFlow Nebulizer System, which has been optimized spadifidor ARIKACE by PARI. We believe that this ndimer system will
reduce treatment time or dosing frequency, as cosdpaith the currently marketed inhaled antibigtiehich require dosing two to three times
daily with treatment times ranging from approxintatE0 to 40 minutes per day. By easing the paidreatment burden we believe that ARIKA
can potentially improve patient compliance, whiok lbelieve may in turn lead to a reduction in theettgoment of antibiotic resistance and,
ultimately, lead to clinical benefit.

We believe that ARIKACE may provide: (1) improveffi@cy resulting from sustained deposition of dimghe lung and improved ability
to reach the site of infection (for G(Bseudomonaimifections, this means penetration of biofilm aadilitated drug release by factors that are
secreted by the bacteria, and for NTM, this meahsuweced uptake into macrophages, where NTM oftews)r, (2) decreased adverse events and
improved tolerability as compared with amikaciniggded intravenously; and (3) reduced dosing fregyer treatment time as compared to
existing products.

ARIKACE for CF Patients with Pseudomonasung Infections
Disease

CF is an inherited chronic disease that is oftagmidsed before the age of two. CF occurs primariigdividuals of central and western
European origin. CF affects roughly 70,000 ckeétdand adults worldwide, including 30,000 childeend adults in the US (Cystic Fibrosis
Foundation Patient Registry, 2011) and 35,000 pttig Europe (Hoiby, BMC Medicine, 2011, 9:32)ef@is no cure for CF.

Despite extensive treatment with multiple antilmstiimproved nutrition, and other treatments, ditpectancy of a CF patient is only about
37 years (Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Regi@011). Median predicted age of survival iaédted using life table analysis (as calculated
by actuaries) given the ages of the patients inggistry and the distribution of deaths. Using ttalculation, half of the people in the patient
registry are expected to live beyond the mediadipted survival age, and half are expected tollgs than the median predicted survival age.

Among other issues, CF causes thick, sticky muzaetelop in and clog the lungs. This createsiaalienvironment for various
pathogens, such &eudomonasto colonize and lead to chronic infection of thieg, inflammation and progressive loss of lungchion. In fact,
chronic bronchial infections witRseudomonaare a major cause of morbidity and mortality ampatients with CF. Once a CF patient acquires a
Pseudomonainfection, it is difficult to eradicate. The curtebest available treatment is chronic administratif antibiotics to suppress the
bacteria, reduce inflammation and preserve lungtfan for as long as possible. The rate of infecivith Pseudomonaim CF patients increases
with age. It is estimated that 70% of adult CHeres have chronic infection dueRseudomonafCFF Patient Registry, 2011). A study reporte
the Journal of Cystic Fibrosi¢Liou, 2010) found that deterioration in lung fuioct of CF patients is the main cause of death hat] tespite best
efforts, lung function declines by 1% to 3% annall
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Current Treatment Options and Limitations

CF therapy significantly impacts patients’ qualbifylife. Patients generally receive extensivela@atic treatments, which can be delivered
via the oral, intravenous and inhaled routes. SGR@atients spend up to three hours per day takedjcations and other treatments, including
inhaled antibiotics, and often face the burderakiitg in excess of 20 pills per day. All currerdiyproved inhalation treatments fé&seudomonas
lung infections require two- to three-times a dagidg.

Antibiotics delivered via inhalation are part oétstandard treatment for CF patients videudomonaling infections and are generally
thought to be a way to deliver more active drugdily to the site of infection compared with otheutes of administration. Specifically, the most
used treatment in the US for the management oihdthiRseudomonamfection in subjects with CF is suppressive thgnajth 300 mg twice daily
of Tobi inhaled solution. Tobi, which is approvegthe FDA for CF patients ages six years and alitrea FEV1 (forced expiratory volume in 1
second) of 25%-75%, has been sold in the US siemcealy 1998. A 1999 study reported that Tobi, B@Q administered twice a day for cycles of
28 days followed by 28-days-off treatment was shtawreducePseudomonasolony counts, increase FEV1 percent predicted)aed
hospitalizations and decrease additional antibiotie (Ramsey et al., 1999). High levels of tobreimgan be attained in the lung with relatively
low systemic exposure with inhaled drug comparedtravenous tobramycin. However, patients usingiust be dosed twice a day for
approximately 15 to 20 minutes of inhalation sasgier dose for a total of approximately 30 to 40ués per day. Recent data show that the effect
of Tobi on pulmonary function has lessened sire@troduction into the marketplace more than adeago (Konstan et al., Journal of Cystic
Fibrosis, January 2011, and Assael et alth Juropean Cystic Fibrosis Society Conference, P@&edune 2011). In addition, according to
information presented at a FDA advisory panelstasice to Tobi has increased 85% in the ten-yaadfrom 1999 to 2009 (FDA advisory panel
US-FDA-AIDAC for Tobi-Podhaler, September 2012).

Market

We estimate that the global market for the treatn&Rseudomonalksing infections in CF patients is approximately @30illion. We
believe this market is being driven by physiciashssire to maintain the lung function of CF patiemtsich continues to decline in many patients
despite extensive treatment with current therapidsiding currently approved inhaled antibiotidale believe that the following additional factors
may lead to further market growth:

« Better patient adherence to physician prescribgithens resulting from more convenient (less fretjaen less time consuming)
treatments

« Physicians initiating treatment with inhaled ardtiiis earlier for patients witRseudomonasm their lungs;

« CF patients living longer;

« Physicians moving to a different antibiotic evetlier month as opposed to giving patients off-trestiniolidays on alternate months; and

« The standard of care in the rest of the world caritig to advance closer to that in the EU and tBe U

Potential Benefits of ARIKACE for CF Patients witRseudomonas Lung Infections
Potential for Improved Compliance

We believe ARIKACE may facilitate better patientmoliance, which may result in better effectivenasd thereby differentiate it from
other marketed drugs for the treatment of chr@sieudomonaling infections in CF patients. The most usedttneat in the US for the
management of chronRseudomonamfection in subjects with CF is suppressive thgragth 300 mg twice daily of Tobi inhaled solutiof.obi is
administered twice daily for approximately 15 torBhutes per treatment for a daily total of appnaiely 30 to 40 minutes per day for 28 days
followed by a 28-day-off period. This cycle of "and off" treatment is repeated in a chronic patté/e anticipate that ARIKACE will be
administered once daily for approximately 13 misyter day for 28 days followed by a 28-day off-dpegiod. We believe that any inhaled
treatment that reduces the treatment burden onpa@ént could represent a significant improvenerthe patient's quality of life and result in
improved compliance, as well as reduce the devetmpwf antibiotic resistance.
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Potential for Increased Efficacy

We believe ARIKACE has the potential to deliverthigvels of amikacin directly to the site of baén the lung for a sustained period of
time, which we expect would differentiate it frother marketed drugs for the treatment of chrétéeudomonalsing infections in CF
patients. Current inhaled antibiotics are commarsgd as standard treatments for CF patientsReitudomonalking infections and generally are
thought to be a way to deliver more drug direablytte site of infection as compared with other rodthof delivery. However, CF patients seldom
clear thePseudomonagermanently from their lungs, in part because eftttick sticky mucus these patients produce irr thegs, and often
become chronically infected despite existing antibitreatments. All existing aminoglycoside antifiis, including tobramycin and amikacin, are
positively charged and tend to bind to the negatiwgaces of mucus and the biofilm. In contrast,have designed ARIKACE to be a neutrally
charged liposome, which has been shown in laboratodies, to penetrate both CF mucus aRdeudomonabkiofilm.  This means that
ARIKACE may reach the site of tiesseudomonaimfection in CF patients’ lungs more efficientlyatihthe other currently available aminoglycoside
antibiotics, including currently available inhalartibiotics.

In addition, ARIKACE has demonstrated a prolongeti-tife in animals’ lungs. We expect that liposesrmanufactured using our
proprietary liposomal technology will provide stistd benefits to the lung by maintaining the dnughie lung longer. One important measure of
the effectiveness of antibiotics is the maintenasfaanti-bacterial drug levels in the lung above thinimum inhibitory concentration.

We believe these attributes of ARIKACE most likebntributed to the improved lung function relatteebaseline that was observed du
treatment periods and sustained during off treatmperiods in our phase 2 clinical trials in CF pats.

Potential for Increased Durability of Effect

We believe ARIKACE may be further differentiatedrin other marketed drugs for the treatment of clerBseudomonalsing infections ir
CF patients due to improved lung function duringder off-treatment cycles. Typically an inhalediliotic is given to CF patients with chronic
Pseudomonalung infections for 28 days followed by a 28-dafrtnéatment cycle, which is often repeated chrdhiaar for the rest of a patient’'s
life. During phase 2 studies ARIKACE demonstratedistically significant and clinically meaningfithprovement in pulmonary function
throughout the 28-day treatment period, and sughidsement was sustained during the 28-days offrtreat period.

In addition, during an open-label phase 2 extensiah(TR02-105), CF patients using ARIKACE demwated sustained efficacy in lung
function improvement during a 28-day treatmentquband 56-day offreatment period across multiple cycles of thempgompared to baseline
this clinical study, ARIKACE produced an improverhénlung function that was sustained over six egdotaling approximately 17
months. During the off-treatment periods for #tisdy, approximately 50% to 70% of the benefit aebd during the on-treatment periods was
sustained at the end of the ¢ftatment periods. To our knowledge, no otherlethantibiotic has shown sustained improvementing lfunction a
the end of a 56-day off-treatment period. Theofelhg graph summarizes the results of our opentRbase 2 extension trial:
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Patients Receiving 560 mg ARIKACE Once Daily for 28 Days and Off-Treatment for 56 Days
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Potential for Increased Safety

We believe ARIKACE has the potential to be safantintravenous delivery of aminoglycosideBseudomonais susceptible to several
broad spectrum antibiotics, notably aminoglycosid@eme examples of aminoglycoside antibioticsuideltobramycin and amikacin. Studies
found that aminoglycosides are an important classtibiotics for the treatment &fseudomonaking infections in CF patients because of their
broad antimicrobial activity and concentration degent bactericidal activity (Lacy et al., 1998; ttmlary et al., 1995; Zembower et al.,

1998). Intravenous antibiotics were originally diser treatment of chronic infections associatethwiF and are still used for pulmonary
exacerbations. Studies report that ototoxicity mephrotoxicity are common adverse events assdoreth the use of intravenous aminoglycosides
and these effects are related to plasma drug |éMitgyeot-Leclercq and Tulkens, 1999).

There are two main obstacles to effective and safgment of CF:

« Drug Resistance. High-level multi-drug resistanomplicates eradication of such strains from thenbhéal secretions of CF
patients. Pseudomonaking infections are commonly treated using aminogbjde antimicrobial agents, such as amikacin and
tobramycin. However, due to drug resistance, figartly higher concentrations of these drugs altbeeminimum inhibitory
concentration are required at the site of infectidhe intravenous dosage levels required to aetéech exposures can be
nephrotoxic and ototoxit

« Limited Penetration. There is limited penetratintoithe sputum/biofilm matrix by aminoglycosideibittics. The antibiotics a
positively charged and the biofilm is negativelyagded. As a result the antibiotics bind to thdilioand the availability of the
drug at the location of the microorganism is sultogt We believe that our proprietary liposomaiheology will result in
localized targeting of drugs, leading to increaaedilability of the drug at the location of the mziorganism, while significantly
reducing drug exposure at r-disease sites throughout the body and reducingdberrence of systemic dr-related toxicity.
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Current Clinical Program

We are conducting a registrational phase 3 clirstadly of ARIKACE for CF patients witRseudomonalsing infections in Europe and
Canada. The phase 3 trial includes 302 patiemtssaa 1:1 randomized trial comparing ARIKACE 56@,rdelivered once daily for approximately
13 minutes via the eFlow Nebulizer System, to Tabhich is delivered twice daily approximately 1%otes per treatment for a daily total of
approximately 30 minutes per day. The first patiarthis trial was dosed in April 2012, and thetrnet target enrollment in November 2012. The
study’s primary endpoint is relative change in &xt@xpiratory volume in one second (FEV1) from baseaneasured after the completion of three
cycles, each comprising a 28-day on-treatment &2fiday off-treatment period. Approximately 260igats are required to demonstrate non-
inferiority at an agreed-upon margin with 80% povw&gcondary endpoints for the study include chamgelmonary function, time to and the
proportion of patients experiencing pulmonary exaagon, the time elapsed to first antipseudomandibiotic treatment for pulmonary
exacerbation, time to and number of hospitalizatioeduction in bacteria as measured by reduati@olony forming units, change in patient-
reported symptoms and evaluation of safety andablikty. We previously agreed with the Europeandidé@es Agency (EMA) on the study
design. We currently expect to announce clinieaults from the phase 3 trial in mid-2013.

In addition, patients completing the initial 24 Weg#hase 3 study will have the option to enroll itwa-year open-label safety study. The
patients in this study will receive ARIKACE for wa year period, using the same cycles of a 28 dalyeatment period and a 28 day off-treatment
period.

Development History
Nonclinical evaluations of ARIKACE in relation #seudomonaling infections indicate:

« High concentrations of drug are deposited in timgJand high levels are maintained for prolongetbds, with low serum
concentrations

o ARIKACE penetrates CF sputum aRdeudomonabiofilm,

« ARIKACE exhibits antipseudomonal activity in vitro andin vivomodels, including against resistant isolates, and

« virulence factors secreted Pseudomonafacilitate the release of amikacin from ARIKACE.

Our predecessor liposomal amikacin formulationsribalation were evaluated in a series of phadaital studies involving healthy
volunteers and CF patients wiBseudomonaking infections. The current formulation of ARIKAGEas evaluated in phase 2 clinical studies in CF
patients withPseudomonalsing infections. We completed two randomized, glazzcontrolled phase 2 studies with ARIKACE in 1T patients
with chronicPseudomonaling infections in Europe and the US. In thesdist) patients in the ARIKACE 560 mg cohort demmatetd
statistically significant and clinically meaningfahprovement in lung function throughout the 28-daytreatment period compared with
placebo. In addition, the improvement in lung fiimt that was achieved at the end of the 28-dajr@stment period was sustained during the 28-
day off-treatment period and was statistically gigantly better than placebo.

In a separate follow-on open-label, multi-cyclenal trial conducted in Europe, ARIKACE was givatna dose of 560 mg once daily via
an eFlow Nebulizer System for six cycles which éstesl of a 28-day on-treatment and 56-day off-tneait period, which is double the standard
28-day off-treatment period. In this clinical studyRIKACE produced a statistically significant ingmement in lung function that was sustained
over the six cycles (approximately 17 months)adidition, approximately 50% to 70% of the benethiaved during the 28-day on-treatment
periods was sustained at the end of the 56-dafredfment periods. In other words, ARIKACE demaatsid sustained efficacy in lung function
improvement during the treatment and off-treatnpamtods across multiple cycles of therapy. Tolmowledge, no other inhaled antibiotic has
shown sustained improvement in lung function atethe of a 56-day off-treatment period. In additidBRIKACE was well tolerated with overall
adverse events reported as consistent with thgsected in a population of CF patients receivingepthhaled medicines.

In August 2011, we announced that the FDA placekh&al hold on our phase 3 trial for ARIKACE inF(patients witiPseudomonas
lung infections, which was lifted in May 2012. Argtal hold is an order issued by the FDA to thersor to delay a proposed clinical trial or
suspend an ongoing clinical trial. The FDA basedlinical hold decision on an initial review ofthesults of a long-term rat inhalation
carcinogenicity study with ARIKACE. When rats wayigen ARIKACE daily by inhalation for two years, a2 the 120 rats receiving the highest
dose had a single lung tumor. These rats receiRIEKACE doses that were within two-fold of thoseciimical studies (normalized on a body
surface area basis or a lung weight basis). ARIEA@as not associated with changes that may leadrtors in shorter-term studies in
animals. Additionally, ARIKACE was not shown to genotoxic in our standard series of tests. Thevamce of the observed rat tumors to the use
of ARIKACE in humans is not known.
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In connection with the FDA's decision to lift thénical hold for all disease indications, we agréedonduct a 9 month dog inhalation
toxicity study of ARIKACE. In late January 2013ewoncluded the 9 month dosing phase of the dagatibn toxicity study. Consistent with the
design of the study, we conducted a review of ting land kidney tissues in the first group of dogsrucompletion of the 9 month
dosing. Additionally, a group of dogs designatedthe recovery period of the study continue indffedrug observation period. As agreed with
FDA, an unaudited interim report of the findingsrr the first group of dogs that completed 9 mownfthdosing was recently submitted to the
FDA. In summary, this report stated that the lomagrophage response in the first group of dogssivagar to that seen in our previous 3 month
dosing dog study, and there was no evidence oflagiap squamous metaplasia or proliferative chanyés also informed the FDA that we are
planning the recovery period to be 3 months asthare no findings of note at the end of the 9 malusing phase. We will file the final report
both groups of dogs with the FDA once data from3meonth recovery period is available.

We expect to reevaluate our plans regarding a SR8 clinical trial in CF patients wiseudomonaking infection after we receive the
results from the ongoing phase 3 clinical triaEurope and Canada.

Strategy for Commercialization

We currently plan to retain marketing rights for IKRCE in Europe, Canada and the US. We believe ARDE will require a limited
commercial infrastructure in these regions becafisiee small focused nature of the potential phgsiprescribing population for CF patients. We
may license ARIKACE for certain indications outsimfeEurope, Canada and the US. In 2013, we plaomamence preparations for the potential
commercialization of ARIKACE in Europe and Canaida|uding hiring a chief commercial officer and seal other positions to support sales and
marketing efforts.

ARIKACE for Patients with NTM Lung Infections
Disease

Non-tuberculousnycobacteriapr NTM, are organisms common in soil and water taate been associated with lung disease in select
patient groups. NTM have characteristics that anélar to tuberculosis, or TB, but NTM are not cagious. Many people have NTM in their
bodies, but NTM do not normally lead to an infentiperhaps because the body’s immune system sfgdgessercomes the threat of infection. It
is not completely understood why certain individuate susceptible to NTM infections. However, thggmts who become infected by NTM often
are immune-compromised or have structural damageeinlungs at the time of the infection.

NTM are organisms that invade and multiply chiefighin macrophages. They are characteristicakystant to most antibiotics. NTM
lung infections are chronic, debilitating and peggive and often require lengthy, repeat hospétadias. Signs and symptoms of NTM pulmonary
disease are variable and nonspecific. They incbidenic cough, sputum production and fatigue. sl@asmmonly, malaise, dyspnea, fever,
hemoptysis, and weight loss also can occur, uswatlyadvanced NTM disease. Evaluation is often glcated by the symptoms caused by co-
existing lung diseases. According to a study gl in theéAmerican Journal of Respiratory and Critical Caretlicine, these conditions include
chronic obstructive airway disease associated svitbking, bronchiectasis, previous mycobacteria@aies, CF and pneumoconiosis (Olivier et al.
2003).

Current Treatment Options and Limitations

There currently is no drug approved for treatmdémMiM lung disease, and as a result all currengdreatments for NTM are used off-
label. Patients are often treated with the samibiatits that are used to treat TB. Such treatmastslly consist of lengthy multi-drug antibiotic
regimens, which are often poorly tolerated andveoy effective, especially in patients with sevdigease and patients who have failed prior
treatments. NTM patients average 7.6 antibiotiorses per year (SDI Healthcare Database, July 200@gatment guidelines published in 2007 in
the American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Careetiicinereported that few clinical trials were under waydentify treatment
recommendations, and no new antibiotics had begtiest for the treatment of NTM lung infections inulti-center, randomized clinical trials for
many years.
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Amikacin is not approved by the FDA for NTM lundéations but is often recommended as part of thedstrd treatment regimen for
some NTM patients. It is delivered most commonhjriiravenous administration and, less often, alation. Because the drug is delivered for
months at a time, resulting in high systemic (b)dedels of the drug, there can be considerableityxincluding ototoxicity and nephrotoxicity,
associated with intravenous treatment.

Market

The prevalence of human disease attributable to MaMincreased over the past two decades. In 20t8llaboration with the NIH, we
funded a study performed by Clarity Pharma Resei@hshowed there were an estimated 50,000 casles US in 2011 and that such cases were
estimated to be growing at a rate of 10% per yWaM is four to five times more prevalent than TBtlire US (Incidence of TB from Center for
Disease Control and Prevention Morbidity and MdasgtaNeekly Report, March 2012). In a decade-longlg, researchers found that the diagnosis
of NTM is increasing at approximately 8% per yerd ¢hat those NTM patients over the age of 65 88é more likely to die than those who do not
have the disease (Adjemian et al. Prevalence ah&udry Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Disease amoaditare Beneficiaries, USA, 1997-2007,
American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Caredidine, April 2012).

Although there are many species of NTM that hawenlyeported to cause lung infections, ARIKACE ienued to treat two of the most
commonMycobacterium Aviur€omplex (MAC) andMycobacterium abscess(M. abscessus MAC accounts for the vast majority of NTM
lung infections with prevalence rates from 72% trenthan 85% in the US. The reported prevalenes farM. abscessusange from 3% to 11%
in the US. The diagnosed prevalence of NTM spem@sing lung infections varies geographically ViitAC rates of 25% to 55% reported in
Europe. We are conducting a chart audit to moeeifipally quantify the incidence of NTM lung inféens in both Europe and Japan. We antici
receiving the results of this primary market resban the second half of 2013.

Potential Benefits of ARIKACE for NTM Lung Infectios
If approved, ARIKACE would be the first and onlypapved treatment for patients battling NTM lungeictions.
Potential Efficacy

We believe that ARIKACE may be effective in tregtipatients with NTM lung infections due to the #pibf the ARIKACE liposomes to
be taken up inside lung macrophages that harbor NTWacrophages are immune cells whose primarytfoméncludes removing foreign particles
and bacteria from the lungs. NTM are taken upray multiply inside these macrophages. Many antitBacannot efficiently gain access to the
macrophage interior. ARIKACE liposomes, howevee, designed to be internalized by lung macrophagdshereby deliver high levels of drug
inside the macrophages where the NTM bacteriacatdd.

ARIKACE has been shown to have supeiiovitro activity against MAC andl. abscessushen compared with amikacin solution (study
conducted by L.E. Bermudez at Oregon State Uniyerdata on file, 2010). ARIKACE also has been shaavmore effectively kill certain forms
NTM in cultured lung phagocytes as compared toldelamikacin

Potential Safety Profile

We believe ARIKACE has the potential to be safantintravenous delivery of aminoglycosides. Onempial benefit of ARIKACE,
relative to intravenous administration of amikacirgy result from the delivery of the drug more dileto the site of disease. By delivering the ¢
more directly to the site of the disease, we belieon-disease sites throughout the body shouldresed to significantly less drug as compared to
intravenous administration of amikacin. We beliévis may reduce the potential for the occurrencangfdrug-related toxicity, which is especially
important with diseases like NTM that require Idegn drug administration.
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Potential for Improved Patient Convenience

We believe ARIKACE, if approved, could improve gatti convenience by providing once-a-day dosing.ofgiag toSDI Healthcare
DatabaseNTM patients average 7.6 antibiotic courses ané hOspital days per year, We anticipate that ARIKEAWIIl be administered once dai
for approximately 13 minutes per day for a perib84days for this indication. We believe thatedfective inhaled treatment that improves the
outcomes for an NTM patient would represent a §igant benefit in the patient's quality of life.

Current Clinical Program

We are currently conducting a phase 2 clinical tnahe US and Canada for ARIKACE in adult patewntith NTM lung infections. We
began enrolling patients in June 2012. The phadmi2al trial is a randomized, placebo-controlltddy of approximately 100 adult patients with
recalcitrant NTM lung infections. There are twatpdo the study: a randomized portion and an dakel portion.

In the randomized portion of the study, patientssareened initially to include in the study thede have NTM lung infections with
persistent sputum culture for MAC bt. abscessughile on ATS/IDSA-guidelines-based treatment regirfa at least six months prior to
screening. Patients who are NTM culture positive meet the eligibility criteria to enroll in theudy will receive, in addition to their ongoing
antibiotic treatment regimen, either ARIKACE 560 omrga placebo both delivered once daily for apprately 13 minutes via an optimized,
investigational eFlow Nebulizer System.

The primary efficacy endpoint for this study is ttfeange in mycobacterial density from baselindnéoeind of 84 days of treatment. At a
public workshop discussion in September 2012, A Rgreed that the microbiological end-point isasqpropriate primary end-point for NTM
lung disease. The study will also measure secorelatpoints, including the proportion of patientshwdulture conversion to negative, the time to
“rescue” anti-mycobacterial drugs, the change flaseline in six-minute walk distance and oxygenrséibn, the change from baseline in patient
reported outcomes, and evaluation of safety amdabillity. At the conclusion of the randomizedtpor of the study, eligible patients will receive
ARIKACE once daily for an additional 84 days duritng open-label portion of the study, primarilymeasure longer-term safety and efficacy. We
previously agreed with the FDA on this clinicabtrdesign. We expect results from this clinicalltin the fourth quarter of 2013.

In addition to the phase 2 clinical trial outlineblove, we intend to pursue a limited compassiomsggorogram starting in the second half
of 2013. We currently anticipate this program’stiggpants will consist of approximately 25 patiemtho have NTM lung infection but are not
eligible for entry into our phase 2 clinical tridlVe believe that clinical data collected from éx@erience with these patients will help regulatory
authorities to evaluate ARIKACE's safety and suiltgbfor treating NTM lung infection patients.

Development History

Nonclinical evaluations of ARIKACE in relation toTW infections indicate: (1) High concentrationsdsfig are deposited in the lung, and
high levels are sustained for prolonged periodth lew serum concentrations and (2) ARIKACE Imasitro activity that is superior to amikacin
solution against different strains of NTM.

Data obtained fronn vitro testing of ARIKACE with respect to four differerttains of MAC andVl. abscessusdicate dose response w
ARIKACE and superior activity to free amikacin. Welieve that the safety and efficacy data obtafreu the phase 2 studies of ARIKACE in CF
and non-CF patients with chronic lung disease ameh@nary infections and the non-clinical data ocikel to date serve as the basis for further
development of ARIKACE in patients with NTM lungféctions.

We received a response to our pre-IND applicattorARIKACE in the treatment of NTM lung infectiomsd submitted an IND to launch
a phase 3 study of ARIKACE in CF and non-CF pasievith NTM lung disease. In August 2011, prior tarsng the NTM study, we announced
that the FDA placed a clinical hold on our phasee8 for ARIKACE in patients with NTM lung infeatins. The clinical hold for NTM was lifted in
January 2012. The FDA based its clinical hold sieai on an initial review of the results of a loegm rat inhalation carcinogenicity study with
ARIKACE. When rats were given ARIKACE daily by ialation for two years, 2 of the 120 rats receiuimg highest dose had a single lung tumor.
These rats received ARIKACE doses that were witlvim+-fold of those in clinical studies (normalized a body surface area basis or a lung weight
basis). ARIKACE was not associated with changeasitiay lead to tumors in shorter-term studies imats. Additionally, ARIKACE was not
shown to be genotoxic in our standard series &$.teBhe relevance of the observed rat tumorseatie of ARIKACE in humans is not
known. The FDA requested we conduct a phase Ralitrial, instead of our previously agreed upbiage 3 clinical trial in adult NTM patients, to
provide proof-of-concept efficacy and safety dataARIKACE in NTM patients. Despite the changestatus from phase 3 to phase 2, the study
design and target enrollment did not change.
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Strategy for Commercialization

We currently plan to retain marketing rights for KRCE in Europe, Canada and the US. Given theerurack of approved treatments
for NTM lung infections, we believe we will immedédy have a strong market position if ARIKACE ispapved for commercialization in the NTM
indication. We believe ARIKACE will require a lineid commercial infrastructure in these regions bseaf the small focused nature of the
potential physician prescribing population for N Pétients. We may seek to license ARIKACE for dertadications outside of Europe, Canada
and the US. As discussed above, in 2013, we planmmence preparations for the potential commigzation of ARIKACE, including hiring a
chief commercial officer and several other posgitm support sales and marketing efforts. We beltbere will be substantial carryover between
lung specialist physicians who treat CF patientd wseudomonas lung infections and those who hai Ning infections thereby allowing us to
leverage our commercial infrastructure across butltations.

ARIKACE for Non-CF Bronchiectasis Patients with Pseudomona&ung Infections
Disease

We believe ARIKACE has the potential to be usettéat non-CF bronchiectasis characterize@®bgudomonaking infections. Howeve
we are currently concentrating our developmentreffon the treatment éfseudomonaking infections in CF patients and patients withNNIling
infections. We will evaluate our development anthmercialization strategies for this indication wivee complete our Phase 3 study in CF
patients withPseudomonalking infections and Phase 2 study in patients WiftM infections.

Non-CF bronchiectasis is a serious pulmonary camditharacterized by localized, irreversible endangnt of the bronchial
tubes. Accumulation of mucus in the bronchi ledfsequent infections, which causes inflammatiod &urther reduces lung function. Patients
evolve to a chronic inflammation-infection cyclBisease burden has primarily been linked to pradeatough and high levels of sputum
production.

Market

It is estimated that there are more than 250,000C¥® bronchiectasis patients in the US (SDI Inniovetin Healthcare Analytics, 2008),
of which approximately 30% of non-CF bronchiectgsitients are infected withRseudomona@/ilson, C.B., et al., Eur Respir, 1997, 10(8):1754
1760); Nicotra, M.B., et al., Chest, 1995 108(4%®®1). Currently there are no approved antibidticghis indication. When bronchiectasis
patients become infected wilseudomonasthey tend to have more frequent exacerbationaggitalizations and are more frequent users of
antibiotics.

Development Program

ARIKACE was granted orphan drug status in the USHe treatment of bronchiectasis in patients Wiseudomonasr other susceptible
pathogens.

In May 2009 we completed our randomized, placelmdrotied US phase 2 study (TR02-107) of ARIKACHEtie treatment of chronic
Pseudomonainfection in non-CF patients with bronchiectasistie study, 64 study subjects were randomized1(Lt& receive ARIKACE 280
mg, ARIKACE 560 mg or a placebo on a daily basisrdua 28-day on-treatment period. The subjectsptetad follow-up assessments at the end
of a 28-day off-treatment period. This study pdad an initial evidence of safety, tolerability arishically meaningful improvement in pulmonary
function throughout the on-treatment period intileatment of chroniPseudomonamfection in non-CF patients with bronchiectasis.

In the study both ARIKACE 280 mg and ARIKACE 560 nvgre well tolerated. The adverse events expegitby patients during the
study were consistent with underlying chronic latigease in bronchiectasis patients. There wasiderce of renal toxicity or
ototoxicity. Patients in the 560-mg cohort appeanave a slightly higher frequency of dry couglstprdministration than patients in the 280 mg
cohort. Cough was of short duration and self-limgjit One patient discontinued treatment due t@higsia (hoarseness or difficulty speaking) and
cough.
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There was a statistically significant reductiorPseudomonadensity observed in the 560 mg ARIKACE cohort iigiato the placebo
cohort. Patients receiving ARIKACE experienceddewulmonary exacerbations at a rate of 4.7%, ageoed to 10.5% in those receiving
placebo. No patients in the ARIKACE cohorts regdianti-Pseudomonagescue treatment, whereas 15% of patients in #eepb cohort required
treatment. Hospitalization from any cause occuates 5.3% rate for patients in the placebo colasrompared to a 2.3% rate for patients in the
ARIKACE cohort. Patients receiving ARIKACE achi@vienprovements in patient respiratory symptomsqunality of life assessments compared
with patients receiving placebo.

Although we believe there is an opportunity to depeARIKACE for non-CF bronchiectasis, we do ndeimd to initiate further clinical
studies with respect to a non-CF bronchiectasigatien until we have completed additional clinisaidies for CF patients withseudomonalsing
infections and for patients with NTM lung infectmnFollowing those studies, we will evaluate wieetto develop ARIKACE further for non-CF
bronchiectasis.

Our Proprietary Liposomal Technology

We have designed our liposomal technology spedififar use in delivering pharmaceuticals to thedu Drugs deposited in the lung
typically have short residence times, from minutea few hours, which is problematic for treatingd conditions where maintaining high
concentrations locally in the lung for long periadgime is required. We believe our technologgvides for potential improvements over the
conventional inhalation method for delivering phaomuticals to the pulmonary system. These poteadighntages include improvements in
efficacy, safety and patient convenience.

Liposomes are microscopic membrane shells thabaomtater. Liposomes usually have a single membpahean also be designed to
have several membrane layers. These layers camavegad like the layers of an onion or like bublhitessde of larger bubbles. In all cases, there is
water in the liposome’s core and between each ldiyex liposome drug delivery system, the drugoistained in the liposome and the liposomes are
administered to the patient during treatment. \Wstduble drugs are located in the lipososnater core, and drugs that do not dissolve iremeat
located in or associated with the membrane layers.

For ARIKACE

ARIKACE liposomes are less than 0.3 microns in mgiameter and contain amikacin in the water intdrica very high
concentration. These liposomes are efficient dejiwystems, and we designed ARIKACE liposomesnifoalation therapy. Our liposomes are
highly compatible with lung tissue because theyfamnmed using neutral lipids identical to thoserfdwnaturally in the lung. The liposomes main
drug in the lung and thus provide sustained defitethe lung, which may be important in treatirgtain bacterial infections that have a signific
pulmonary component.

Charge-Neutral Liposomes

We believe neutrally charged liposomes may enafglatgr penetration into the mucus and biofilm,ebgrmproviding higher drug
concentrations to kill bacteria which produce tiailm. The materials found in a patient's mucasd negative charges, and biofilms that are
produced by bacteria to protect themselves alse hagative charges. Because opposite charges @it other, positively charged antibiotics,
like amikacin, bind to the negatively charged commats on the surfaces of the mucus and biofilm. Bimding prevents effective penetration of
positively charged antibiotic drugs into the spaoeshich the bacteria are located. Specificaliythe case of Pseudomonas lung infections in CF
patients, these barriers are the patient’s owRystitucus and bacteria’s protective biofilm. In tiase of NTM, the barrier to effective treatment is
in gaining access to the interior of infected mabiages. ARIKACE liposomes are effective delivergstams that penetrate these barriers and
provide high levels of drug in the lung for a laimge.

Potential for Increased Efficacy and with Low Drugoxicity
A potential benefit of our inhalation drug deliveéschnology over systemic delivery of the same dnay be enhanced efficacy as a result
of greater amounts of the drug being deliveredatliydo the site of disease. With higher localizedibiotic concentrations bacterial infections are

more readily treated. Another advantage of locdlizegeting of drugs using this unique deliverytegsis that non-disease sites throughout the
body are exposed to significantly less drug. Weéelelthis reduces the potential for the occurrefarug-related toxicity.
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High-Efficiency Drug Encapsulation

We have designed our liposomes to encapsulatehiginyconcentrations of drug into relatively smgdblsome structures. According to pre-
clinical models, this efficiency allows our compattug-laden liposomes to physically penetratedsécgenerated biofilms. Further, we have fo
that drug is released from the liposomes by disragtctors secreted Bgseudomonaswhich we believe will cause liposomes to reldasdér drug
contents near to where the bacteria reside inugsl

Endogenous Lipid Excipients

We believe the ability to release drug contentgroximity to the bacteria may reduce the chancgysfemic adverse reactions. The lipid
components of our compounds are the same as thosd haturally in the lung, which may ensure a nmatiral metabolism and clearance than
other drug delivery systems such as particles cegiof man-made polymers containing drug.

Our liposomal formulation is key to both the retentof amikacin in the lung, which allows once-ardtnsing, and the ability of
ARIKACE to gain close access to bacteria eithehinifa biofilm, as in the case in CF patients, dhimiinfected macrophages, as in the case of
NTM patients. It is localization near the bactehat may improve efficacy by allowing high conagetibns of drug to be delivered where i
needed most.

With a neutral surface charge and small size, ARTIEAiposomes are able to effectively penetratahiiek CF mucus and the bacteria’s
protective biofilm, both of which we believe restrihe availability of unencapsulated aminoglycesiduch as tobramycin and
amikacin. ARIKACE liposomes are also readily takgnby immune cells in the lung (alveolar macrogsgdhat “eat” inhaled particles. When
NTM infects these immune cells, it is usually skt against attack from external antibiotics Vaitiht ARIKACE, the uptake of the liposom
allows the drug to get inside these cells to atthekorganisms.

For Other APIs

We believe that our liposomal technology can beldsethe successful delivery of other low molecwieight products as well as high
molecular weight compounds such as peptides, motid genes. Our unique lipid-based delivery systEre not dependent on the inhalation
device and can be designed to be administered eithe nebulized aerosol spray or as a dry powder.

Optimized eFlow Nebulizer System

If approved for commercialization, we expect th&IKACE will be administered once daily via inhatatiusing an eFlow Nebulizer
System, optimized specifically for ARIKACE by PARi third-party vendor. For additional informatidmoat PARI and our contractual relationship
with PARI, see “—Manufacturing” and “—License andlf@aboration Agreements.”

The optimized eFlow Nebulizer System is a medieafick that uses PARI’s patented eFlow technologntable highly efficient delivery
of inhaled medication, also called aerosolizatinoluding liposomal formulations via a vibratingrforated membrane that includes thousands of
specially designed laser-drilled holes, which aigsdelivery of ARIKACE to the lung. We believeetbptimized eFlow Nebulizer System is state
of the art and highly efficient. The eFlow NebeliSystem delivers a very high density of activegdin a precisely defined and controlled droplet
size, with a high proportion of respirable droplattivered in a relatively short period of timen dddition, the eFlow Nebulizer System has a quiet
mode of operation, is small in size, light weightiarovides for optional battery-powered operatiive believe that using the eFlow Nebulizer
System to deliver ARIKACE will reduce treatment érand ease the patient's treatment burden andihpotentially improve patient
compliance. We believe that improved compliancih wie prescribed treatment regimen may lead emlaation in the development of antibiotic
resistance by increasing the exposure of the iioie¢d the minimum inhibitory concentration of dmditic and therefore may ultimately lead to
clinical benefit.
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MANUFACTURING

The ARIKACE used in our clinical studies is manuéaed for us by Althea Technologies, Inc., a thpadty contract manufacturing
organization in the US. Althea manufactures ARIKRAGsing the technology developed and optimizeddy We and Althea both must comply
with applicable FDA regulations relating to the FBA&urrent good manufacturing practices (cGMP) tatinns. The cGMP regulations include
requirements relating to the organization of pensbrbuildings and facilities, equipment, contrbtomponents and drug product containers and
closures, production and process controls, packaayid labeling controls, holding and distributiaioratory controls, records and reports, and
returned or salvaged products. We believe Alth&gities meet cGMP requirements for the stemlenufacturing of finished ARIKACE product.
We are working with Althea to develop commercialguction capabilities for AIRKACE. We are also kwxding other potential contract
manufacturers for ARIKACE. Our agreement with Althprovides for a term expiring July 2014, subjean earlier termination upon the
provision of 180 days’ notice by either party, oithe event of an uncured material breach, ceb@itkruptcy or liquidation events, or upon the
occurrence of certain other specified terminatioants..

The eFlow nebulizer system is manufactured by PéRler the names PARI Pharma GmbH in Europe and R&Rpiratory Equipment,
Inc., in the US. PARI manufactures eFlow nebulggtems utilizing technology licensed, developed @ptimized within its company and
produces several commercially available eFlow tetdgy based products for use in Europe, North Acaeaind other countries. PARI maintains
facilities and equipment necessary to support natufe of eFlow nebulizers for use with ARIKACEAR must comply with applicable
governmental regulations relating to medical depiaauction in each country of manufacture. We wdlhtinue to work with PARI to address our
manufacturing needs for our clinical program arahgbr commercialization. For additional informatiabout PARI and our contractual
relationships with PARI, see “—License Agreememtd €ollaboration Agreements.”

We seek to maintain the quality of our supplierstigh quality agreements and our vendor audit prgr
IPLEX

In addition to the ARIKACE development program, aave a second proprietary compound, IPLEXGF-1, with its natural binding
protein, IGFBP-3. IPLEX is no longer a developmenority for us. We no longer have protein devehgmt capability or the in-house capability to
manufacture IPLEX. Previously, under the proprigt®&LEX protein platform, we maintained an expandedess program for amyotrophic lateral
sclerosis (also known as ALS or Lou Gehrig's digeastil drug supplies were exhausted at the er#gDdi. It is our intention to seek licensing
partners for the IPLEX development programs. In2@le out-licensed the IPLEX technology to Premaddoldings AB and Premacure AB of
Sweden (collectively, “Premacure”) for retinopatifyprematurity indication. On March 12 2013, Shpte announced that they acquired
Premacure.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
Patents and Trade Secrets

We own or license rights to more than 200 issuddrta and pending patent applications in the USimfareign countries, including mo
than 80 issued patents and pending patents reta®RIKACE. Our success depends in part on ouitpld maintain proprietary protection
surrounding our product candidates, technologykamav-how; to operate without infringing the propaigy rights of others; and to prevent others
from infringing our proprietary rights. We activedgek patent protection by filing patent applicasiancluding both new inventions and
improvements of existing technology that are imgotrto the development of our business in the W$oke, Canada and selected other foreign
markets that we consider key for our product caatgisl These international markets generally inchugsgralia, Japan, China, India, Israel and
Mexico.

Our patent strategy includes obtaining patent ptimte, where possible, on compositions of matterthods of manufacture, methods of

use, treatment, dosing and administration reginaadsformulations. We also rely on trade secreteykhow, continuing technological innovation,
in-licensing and partnership opportunities to depednd maintain our proprietary position.
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We monitor for activities that may infringe our prétary rights, as well as the progression ofttmarty patent applications that may have
the potential to create blocks to our productstbeavise interfere with the development of our hass. We are aware, for example, of US patents,
and corresponding international counterparts, ovinettird parties that contain claims related &ating lung infections using inhaled antibiotid:
any of these patents were to be asserted againsewo not believe that our proposed products évbelfound to infringe any valid claim of these
patents.

Reflecting our commitment to safeguarding proprietaformation, we require our employees, consu#taand collaborators to sign
confidentiality agreements to protect the exchasfgeroprietary materials and information. We adsek to preserve the integrity and
confidentiality of our data and trade secrets byntaining physical security of our premises andgitgl and electronic security of our information
technology systems.

In the U.S., we own three Orange Book listableptst that cover the ARIKACE composition and its imsieating lung infections,
includingPseudomonaand NTM. The three patents are U.S. Patent Nd47389 (expires June 6, 2025), U.S. Patent No871BD (expires June
6, 2025), and U.S. Patent No. 8,226,975 (expiregultil5, 2028). Seventeen patents have also igsueajor foreign markets, e.g., Japan, China,
and India, which cover ARIKACE and methods of uskiRIKACE for treating lung infections. Twelve U.Batent applications and nearly fifty
foreign patent applications, including applicatiamgler examination in the European Patent Offime panding that cover the ARIKACE
composition and its use in treating lung infectidnsludingPseudomonaand NTM. We anticipate that we will have potelnpiatent coverage for
ARIKACE and its use in treating lung infectiongiciudingPseudomonaand NTM, through at least February 2029, whichudek an additional
six months of pediatric exclusivity.

Through our agreements with PARI, we have liceigigts to U.S. and foreign patents and applicattbas cover the eFlow Nebulizer
System medical device. We currently have rigtiisse the nebulizers in clinical trials and, parguo its agreements with us, PARI has agreed to
negotiate in good faith and enter into a commercalpply agreement.

Individual patents extend for varying time perialgpending on the effective date of filing the patgplication or the date of patent
issuance, and the legal term of the patents icdhetries in which they are obtained. Generallyepis issued in the US are effective for the longer
of 17 years from the issue date or 20 years franetrliest effective filing date, if the patent bggtion was filed prior to June 8, 1995; or 20 rgea
from the earliest effective filing date, if the pat application was filed on or after June 8, 1995.

The term of our foreign patents varies in accordamith provisions of applicable local law, but tyally is 20 years from the earliest
effective filing date.

License and Collaboration Agreements
License Agreements and Other Collaboration Agreemda Relating to ARIKACE

PARI Pharma GmbHWe currently have a licensing agreement with PARIUse of the optimized eFlow Nebulizer Systemdilivery of
ARIKACE in treating patients with CF, bronchiecesand NTM infections. Under the licensing agreetnee have rights to several US and
foreign issued patents, and patent applicationshiing improvements to the optimized eFlow Nebulidgstem. We currently have rights to use
the nebulizers in clinical trials and PARI has &gréo negotiate in good faith and enter into a cenaial supply agreement.

We are obligated under this licensing agreemensé commercially reasonable efforts to develomyroercialize, market, and sell
ARIKACE for use in CF indications in one or morauotries (and at least in the US). Under the licenagreement, we paid PARI an upfront
license fee and PARI is entitled to receive milestpayments up to an aggregate of €4.3 millioreeith cash, qualified stock or a combination of
both, at PARI's discretion, based on achievemewedfin future milestone events including firstgmtance of MAA submission (or equivalent in
the US) of ARIKACE and the device, first receiptroérketing approval in the US for ARIKACE and trevite, and first receipt of marketing
approval in a major EU country for ARIKACE and tthevice, and NDA acceptance and regulatory appavARIKACE. In addition, PARI is
entitled to receive royalty payments in the midgle digits on the net commercial sales of ARIKA@ursuant to the licensing agreement, subje
certain specified annual minimum royalties.
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This license agreement will remain in effect oroandry-by-country basis until the final royalty pagnts have been made with respect to
the last country in which ARIKACE is sold, or urttile agreement is otherwise terminated by eithey p&Ve have the right to terminate this
license agreement upon written notice for Bauncured material breach, if Pari is the subjéspecified bankruptcy or liquidation events, oP#ri
fails to reach certain specified milestones. Rasi the right to terminate this license agreempahwvritten notice for our uncured material breach,
if we are the subject of specified bankruptcy quidation events, if we assign or otherwise tranfe agreement to a third party that does note
to assume all of our rights and obligations sethfor the agreement, or if we fail to reach cerpecified milestones.

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics, Inén 2005 and 2009, we entered into research fundgreements with Cystic Fibrosis
Foundation Therapeutics, Inc. (CFFT) whereby weiker $1.7 million and $2.2 million for each resipez agreement in research funding for the
development of ARIKACE. If ARIKACE becomes an apged product for CF in the US, we will owe a payme@n€FFT of up to $13.4 million
that is payable over a three-year period afteramiras a commercialized drug in the US. Furtheenibicertain sales milestones are met within 5
years of the drug commercialization approval intt& we would owe an additional payment of $3.diaril

National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Disea- In 2012, we entered into a cooperative reseanddavelopment agreement
(CRADA) with National Institutes of Allergy and leftious Diseases (NIAID) to evaluate the safetyeffidacy of ARIKACE in patients with
NTM lung disease in our phase 2 clinical study AN agreed to provide biostatistical advisory inputonnection with the phase 2 NTM study.
we decide not to continue with the commercializatt ARIKACE in NTM, NIAID will have the right to omplete the clinical trial. Further NIAI
may elect to pursue its rights to obtain licengéts to certain inventions made under the CRADA.

License Agreements and Other Collaboration Agreemea Relating to Other Compounds

Ipsen and Genenteeln March 2007, we were granted a license or sahBe as applicable to patents held by Ipsen andrech to
develop IPLEX in certain medical indications in 48 and foreign territories. In November 2008 vangd Royalty-Free Worldwide Rights for
IPLEX from Ipsen and Genentech in connection witteptial expanded access ALS programs.

NAPO Pharmaceuticalsin January 2007, we entered into an agreementNviRO Pharmaceuticals, whereby we granted NAPOemdie
for INSM-18 also known as Masoprocal. The licensegNAPO the right to develop, manufacture andmoencialize Masoprocal products for any
indications relating specifically to diabetes, ¢acddisease, vascular disease, metabolic diseas8yadrome X. The agreement calls for payments
from NAPO to us upon the achievement of certairestdnes which have not yet been met.

TriAct - In December 2010, we entered into an agreemehtWiAct Therapeutics Inc. (“TriAct"Wwhereby we granted TriAct an exclus
license for INS-18 also known as Masoprocal. Tberlse gives TriAct the right to develop, manufaetamd commercialize Masoprocal products
for any indications relating specifically to oncgjo The agreement calls for the issue of TriAct owmn stock to Insmed upon the achievement of
certain milestones. To date, no milestones haea behieved and no common stock has been received.

Eleison- In February 2011, we entered into an agreementkélson Pharmaceuticals whereby we granted Elesaexclusive license f
Inhaled CISPLATIN Lipid Complex. The license giekison the right to develop, manufacture and coroiakze inhaled CISPLATIN Lipid
Complex for cancers affecting the lung. Paymeutting $1.0 million were received in 2011 and ieeorded in license fees.

Premacure (now Shire ple)in May 2012, we entered into an agreement witdnmRcure pursuant to which we granted to Premacure a
exclusive, worldwide license to develop manufacturd commercialize IGF-1, with its natural bindprgtein, IGFBP-3, for the prevention and
treatment of complications of preterm birth (theeacure License Agreement”). In March 2013, weraed the Premacure License Agreement
to provide Premacure with the option, exercisapl®temacure any time prior to April 30, 2013, ty pa $11.5 million and assume any of our
royalty obligations to other parties in exchangeddully paid license. If Premacure exercises ¢ison, we would not be entitled to future royed
from Premacure.
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Trademarks

In addition to our patents and trade secrets, we fiked applications to register certain tradersarkthe US and/or abroad, including
INSMED, ARIKACE, and IPLEX. At present, we have eded either registration or a notice of allowafaethese marks from the US Patent and
Trademark Office. We have also received foreigmvadnces or issued foreign registrations for certdithese marks. In December 2012, we
learned that the EMA had no objection to our usthefname ARIKACE. In early 2013, we learned thatFDA objected to our use of the name
ARIKACE as our proposed trade name for our liposaanaakacin for inhalation product candidate. Weehaot decided whether to appeal the
FDA'’s decision. Even if we do appeal we may be requeadopt an alternative name for our product ickate. Our ability to obtain and maint
trademark registrations will in certain geographioaations depend on making use of the mark inro@ence on or in connection with our products
and approval of the trademarks for our productseigylatory authorities in each country.

COMPETITION

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriehaylely competitive. We face potential competitbimsm many different areas
including commercial pharmaceutical, biotech andaecompanies, academic institutions and scientigher smaller or earlier stage companies
and non-profit organizations developing anti-infeetdrugs and drugs for respiratory diseases. Muilgese companies have greater human and
financial resources and may have product candidlate®re advanced stages of development and makh tha market before our product
candidates. Competitors may develop productsatteaiore effective, safer or less expensive ortthae better tolerability or convenience. We
also may face generic competitors where third-paatyors will encourage use of the generic produstthough we believe that our formulation
delivery technology, respiratory and anti-infectesgertise, experience and knowledge in our speaiftas of focus provide us with competitive
advantages, these potential competitors could reduccommercial opportunity.

Major Competitors

Our major competitors include pharmaceutical amdeaihnology companies that have approved therapigerapies in development for
the treatment of chronic lung infections. Mostlafse competitors are focused on the CF markehé&rlead indication. Inhaled antibiotics are a
standard of care in the treatment of CF to manlagehronid®seudomonaimfections due to the high concentrations of dragasited directly into
the lung, where the infection resides.

Novartis has two products for the treatmenPséudomonalsing infections in CF patients. Tobi was the firdtaled antibiotic to be
approved by the FDA for the treatment of CF patienth Pseudomonalsing infections and has been sold in the US siaocedry 1998. Tobi
requires administration twice daily for approximgt&5 to 20 minutes per treatment for a daily tatahpproximately 30 to 40 minutes per
day. Tobi continues to be the most used produEuiope and the US. Tobramycin inhalation powden known as TIP or Tobi Podhal®r is a
dry powder version of tobramycin approved by theig@011 for use by CF patients wBtseudomonas Novartis filed for approval of Tobi
Podhaler in the US and the FDA is reviewing theliappion.

Forest Laboratories markets inhaled colistin indperunder the name Colomyé&ras inhaled solution and Colobreathe as inhaled dry
powder. Colistin is used in Europe primarily asagljunct therapy and in some cases as a primarggheBecause it is less expensive than Tobi,
colistin is used as a first line treatment in samentries that have a more restrictive reimbursermsgstem. Colistin is not approved for inhaled
treatment in the US, but it is frequently usedlaffel (via pharmacist compounding) for patients ttsanot use Tobi and for more severe patients in
the off month alternating with Tobi in an attemptnaintain lung function in patients who are detexing on Tobi alone.

Gilead Sciences markets Caysfofaztreonam for inhalation) which received apprdwain the FDA in early 2010. Cayston requires
administration three times per day for two to thm@eutes for each treatment for a daily total gbraimately about 10 minutes. Gilead received
conditional approval for Cayston in Europe durirgp@®mber 2009. Cayston is approved for one cyfdieeatment.

In addition, we are aware of at least two other ganies, Aptalis Pharmaceuticals and KaloBios Pheemicals, which have products
potentially competitive to ARIKACE currently in delopment.
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Market data on marketed competitors for the treatmé&Pseudomonalsing infections in CF patients as reported by tieividual
companies is summarized below.

Product/Product Candidate for
Pseudomonasung Infections in Key Marketing 2012 Reportec
Competitor CF Patients Class of Product Approvals Sales(millions)
Tobi (Tobramycin Inhalation Solution or
Novartis TIS) Aminoglycoside Europe, US and Cana $ 27¢€
Tobi Podhaler (Tobramycin Inhalation Europe and Canada;
Novartis Powder or TIP Aminoglycoside application filed in US $ 41
Cayston (Aztreonam for Inhalation
Gilead Solution) Monobactan Europe and U $ 107
Colimycin (Colistimethate Sodium for
Forest Inhalation) Polymixin Europe Not reportec
Colobreathe (Colistimethate Sodium
Forest Powder) Polymixin Europe Not reportec
Bramitob® (Tobramycin Inhalation
Chiesi Solution) Aminoglycoside Europe Not reportec
Aptalis None- Phase 3
Pharmaceutical | Aeroquin™ (Inhaled Levofloxacin Flouroquinolone (data reported Not approvec
KaloBios KBOO1-A (IV administered PEGylated m/ None- Phase 2
Pharmaceutical | fragment) Monoclonal Antibody (initiated January 201! Not approvec

We are not aware of any other companies develaguinighaled antibiotic for NTM lung infections. Waithere is no approved treatment
for NTM lung infections, there is an American ThaaSociety (ATS)/Infectious Diseases Society ofékima (IDSA) treatment regimen that is
utilized.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION
Orphan Drugs
European Union

The EMA grants orphan drug designation to promia¢edevelopment of products that may offer therapdagnefits for life-threatening or
chronically debilitating conditions affecting nobne than five in 10,000 people in the EU. In addifiorphan drug designation can be granted if the
drug is intended for a life threatening, seriowddpilitating or serious and chronic condition ie tBU and that without incentives it is unlikely tha
sales of the drug in the EU would be sufficienjustify developing the drug. Orphan drug designatfoavailable either if there is no other
satisfactory method approved in the EU of diagrpgmeventing or treating the condition or if a hat does exist, but the proposed orphan drug
will be of significant benefit to patients.

Orphan drug designation provides opportunitiefree protocol assistance and fee reductions faesacto the centralized regulatory
procedures before and during the first year afterketing approval, which reductions are not limitedhe first year after marketing approval for
small and medium enterprises. In addition, if edpii which has an orphan drug designation subségueneives EMA marketing approval for t
indication for which it has such designation, theduct is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, whimeans the EMA may not approve any other
application to market the same drug for the samdieation for a period of ten years. The exclusiygriod may be reduced to six years if the
designation criteria are no longer met, includirfteve it is shown that the product is sufficienttgfiiable not to justify maintenance of market
exclusivity. Competitors may receive marketing awat of different drugs or biologics for the indiiwas for which the orphan product has
exclusivity. In order to do so, however, they mistnonstrate that the new drugs or biologics prosigignificant benefit over the existing orphan
product. This demonstration of significant benafdy be done at the time of initial approval or aspapproval studies, depending on the type of
marketing authorization granted.
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United States

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat ad@ease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects feivan 200,000 individuals in the US. After the FQ/ants orphan drug designation, the generic
identity of the drug and its potential orphan usedisclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug deatgn provides certain exclusivity benefits,
credits for certain research and a waiver of theANipplication user fee. However, it does not conary advantage in or shorten the duration o
regulatory review and approval process. The filsN\applicant with FDA orphan drug designation fgoaticular active ingredient to receive Fl
approval of the designated drug for the indicafmmwhich it has such designation, is entitled seaen-year exclusive marketing period, often
referred to as orphan drug exclusivity, in the W6that product and indication. During the orphamgdexclusivity period, the FDA may not
approve any other applications to market the sanng fr the same indication for use, except intédicircumstances, such as a showing of clii
superiority to the product that has orphan druduesskgity. Orphan drug exclusivity does not previrdg FDA from approving a different drug for 1
same disease or condition, or the same drug fdfexeht disease or condition.

Drug Approval
Europe

To obtain approval of a drug under EU regulatorstesns, we may submit marketing authorizations eitheer a centralized or
decentralized procedure. These procedures apiheiEU member states, plus the European Econoneia éountries, Norway and Iceland. The
centralized procedure, which is compulsory for roiegtis produced by certain biotechnological proceasel for orphan drugs and is optional for
those which are highly innovative, provides for giant of a single marketing authorization thataid for all EU member states. Under this
procedure, an applicant submits an applicatiodyding a summary of product characteristics anghpsed labeling and packaging, to the refere
member state and concerned member states. Themeéemember state prepares a draft assessmentaditsdodl the related materials within 120
days after receipt of a valid application. Withid @ays of receiving the reference member stats'ssssnent report, each concerned member state
must decide whether to approve the assessment eapbrelated materials. If a member state carptoae the assessment report and related
materials on the grounds of potential serioustasthe public health, the disputed points may aevalht be referred to the European Commission,
whose decision is binding on all member states.

United States

In the US, pharmaceutical products are subjecktensive regulation by the FDA. The Federal Foodig)and Cosmetic Act and other
federal and state statutes and regulations, gogerang other things, the research, developmeningesnanufacture, storage, recordkeeping,
approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, digttion, post-approval monitoring and reporting, ping and import and export of
pharmaceutical products. Failure to comply withleaple US requirements may subject a companyvariety of administrative or judicial
sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve and ageept for review pending new drug applicationgnivey letters, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of produatiodistribution, injunctions, fines, civil penat and criminal prosecution.

Pharmaceutical product development in the US tifgicavolves non-clinical laboratory and animalt&she submission to the FDA of a
notice of claimed investigational exemption or maveistigational new drug (IND) application, which shbecome effective before clinical testing
may commence, and adequate and well-controlledtalitrials to establish the safety and effectisnef the drug for each indication for which
FDA approval is sought. Satisfaction of FDA pre-k&drapproval requirements typically takes many yeaud the actual time required may vary
substantially based upon the type, complexity ameehy of the product or disease.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatioprfduct chemistry, formulation and toxicity, as had animal trials to assess the
characteristics and potential safety and efficday@ product. The conduct of the preclinical testsst comply with federal regulations and
requirements including good laboratory practicdse Tesults of preclinical testing are submitteth®FDA as part of an IND along with other
information including information about product ahistry, manufacturing and controls and a propodieital trial protocol. Certain non-clinical
tests, such as animal tests of reproductive tgxaiid carcinogenicity, may be performed after thB Is submitted.
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A 30-day waiting period after the submission ofldB is required prior to the commencement of dalitesting in humans. If the FDA
has not placed the proposed clinical trial on huailthin this 30-day period and the applicable ingi@nal review board(s) has approved the trial, the
clinical trial proposed in the IND may begin.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to healthy volunteers drepés under the supervision of a quali
investigator. Clinical trials must be conductaflir{ compliance with federal regulations; (ii) d@mpliance with good clinical practice, or GCP, an
international standard meant to protect the rightt health of patients and to define the roledioical trial sponsors, administrators, and morsfor
as well as (iii) under protocols detailing the aijees of the trial, the parameters to be usedanitoring safety, and the effectiveness criteriag¢o
evaluated. Each protocol involving testing on h&tients and subsequent protocol amendments rawstbmitted to the FDA as part of the IND.

The FDA may order the temporary, or permanentatiSouation of a clinical trial at any time, or imge other sanctions, if it believes that
the clinical trial either is not being conductedattordance with FDA requirements or presents agagptable risk to the clinical trial patients. e
study protocol and informed consent informationgdatients in clinical trials must also be submitte@n institutional review board, or IRB, for
approval. An IRB may also require the clinicahtrt the site to be halted, either temporarilpemanently, for failure to comply with the IRB’s
requirements, or may impose other conditions.

Clinical trials to support NDAs for marketing appab are typically conducted in three sequentialsgisabut the phases may overlap. For
phase 1, the initial introduction of the drug ihtalthy human subjects or patients, the drug tedes assess metabolism, pharmacokinetics,
pharmacological actions, side effects associatéid iwtreasing doses and, if possible, early evidemceffectiveness. Phase 2 usually involves
trials in a limited patient population to determthe effectiveness of the drug for a particulaidgation or indications, dosage tolerance and
optimum dosage and to identify common adverse &ff@ad safety risks. If a compound demonstratedeace of effectiveness and an acceptable
safety profile in phase 2 evaluations, phase Btdaee undertaken to obtain the additional infofaraibout clinical efficacy and safety in a larger
number of patients, typically at geographicallypdised clinical trial sites, to permit FDA to eatel the overall benefit-risk relationship of thegir
and to provide adequate information for the lalgebhthe drug.

After completion of the required clinical testirgNDA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDArapgl of the NDA is required befo
marketing of the product may begin in the US. TiANmust include the results of all preclinical nitial and other testing and a compilation of
data relating to the product’s pharmacology, chamisnanufacture, and controls. The cost of preyaand submitting an NDA is substantial.
Under federal law, the submission of most NDAsdditionally subject to a substantial applicatioenfee, and the manufacturer and/or sponsor
under an approved new drug application are alsfestto annual product and establishment user fidesse fees are typically increased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of a NDA ttetimine whether the application will be acceptedfifing based on the FDA’s
threshold determination that it is sufficiently colete to permit substantive review. Once the subimisis accepted for filing, the FDA begins an
in-depth review. The FDA has agreed to certaingrarénce goals in the review of NDAs. Most such @gagibns for non-priority drug products are
reviewed within twelve months of submission. Theee process may be extended by FDA for three amdit months to consider certain
information or clarification regarding informati@iready provided in the submission.

The FDA may refer applications for novel drug pro@duor drug products that present difficult quastiof safety or efficacy to an advisory
committee, typically a panel that includes cliniaand other experts, for review, evaluation arecammendation as to whether the application
should be approved. The FDA is not bound by themenendation of an advisory committee, but it gelhefallows such recommendations.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA will typically ipect one or more clinical sites to assure compéiamith Good Clinical Practice.
Additionally, the FDA will inspect the facility ahe facilities at which the drug is manufactureDARwill not approve the product unless
compliance with current good manufacturing prastisesatisfactory and the NDA contains data thavige substantial evidence that the drug is
safe and effective in the indication studied.

After the FDA evaluates the NDA and the manufaoydand testing facilities, it issues either an apal letter or a complete response
letter. Complete response letters generally outlieedeficiencies in the submission and delingaeatiditional testing or information needed in
order for the FDA to reconsider the applicatioranfl when those deficiencies have been addresskd FDA'’s satisfaction in a resubmission of
the NDA, the FDA will issue an approval letter. TRBA has committed to reviewing such resubmission/o or six months depending on the
type of information included.
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An approval letter authorizes commercial markeththe drug with specific prescribing informatiaor specific indications. As a
condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require stamgial post-approval testing and surveillance tmitor the drug’s safety or efficacy and may
impose other conditions, including labeling resiics that can materially affect the potential nearknd profitability of the drug. Once granted,
product approvals may be withdrawn if compliancthwegulatory standards is not maintained or proBlare identified following initial
marketing.

Upon NDA approval, the approved drug receives figars of marketing exclusivity during which FDA cat receive any ANDA seeking
approval of a generic version of that drug exceyteu certain circumstances. Certain changes tag duch as the addition of a new indication to
the package insert, are associated with a threepgeid of exclusivity during which FDA cannot appe an ANDA for a generic drug that
includes the change. After NDA approval, ownersatdévant drug patents may apply for up to a fivarygatent extension. The allowable patent
term extension is calculated as half of the drogssing phase (the time between IND application B submission) and all of the review phase
(the time between NDA submission and approval)oup imaximum of five years. The time can be shedahFDA determines that the applicant
did not pursue approval with due diligence. Thaltpatent term after the extension may not exddegears. For patents that might expire during
the application phase, the patent owner may re@uestterim patent extension. An interim paterieagion increases the patent term by one year
and may be renewed up to four times. For eachinmfgatent extension granted, the post-approvamnatxtension is reduced by one year. The
director of the United States Patent and Trader@diike must determine that approval of the drugered by the patent for which a patent
extension is being sought is likely. Interim patextensions are not available for a drug for wtdohNDA has not been submitted.

Fast Track Designation

Under the fast track program, the sponsor of an Y request FDA to designate the drug candidagefast track drug if it is intended to
treat a serious condition and fulfill an unmet ncadineed. FDA must determine if the drug candidataifies for fast track designation within 60
days of receipt of the sponsor’s request. Once BBgignates a drug as a fast track candidateratjisred to facilitate the development and
expedite the review of that drug by providing mfisegjuent communication with and guidance to thenspo

In addition to other benefits such as the abilithave more interactions with FDA, FDA may initiaéview of sections of a fast track
drug’s NDA before the application is complete. Tiuling review is available if the applicant prdes and FDA approves a schedule for the
submission of the remaining information and theliappt pays applicable user fees. However, FDAtsetperiod goal for reviewing an application
does not begin until the last section of the NDAubmitted. Additionally, the fast track designatimmay be withdrawn by FDA if FDA believes tl
the designation is no longer supported by data gimgin the clinical trial process.

Priority Review

Under FDA policies, a drug candidate is eligible gaiority review, or review within an eight-montime frame from the time an NDA is
submitted, if the drug candidate provides a sigaift improvement compared to marketed drugs itrédament, diagnosis or prevention of a
disease. A fast track designated drug candidatédadinarily meet FDA's criteria for priority reeiv. The FDA makes its determination of
priority or standard review during the 60-day fijiperiod after a NDA submission.

Combination Products

A combination product is a product comprised ofyip or more regulated components, i.e., drug/agebologic/device, drug/biologic, or
drug/device/biologic, that are physically, chemligabr otherwise combined or mixed and produced amgle entity; (ii) two or more separate
products packaged together in a single package amait and comprised of drug and device proddetgice and biological products, or biological
and drug products; (iii) a drug, device, or biotadiproduct packaged separately that accordintg iovestigational plan or proposed labeling is
intended for use only with an approved individuahecified drug, device, or biological product whbpth are required to achieve the intended
indication, or effect and where upon approval ef pnoposed product the labeling of the approvedyrbwould need to be changed, e.g., to reflect
a change in intended use, dosage form, strengite of administration, or significant change inetasr (iv) any investigational drug, device, or
biological product packaged separately that acogrth its proposed labeling is for use only witloter individually specified investigational drt
device, or biological product where both are reggiito achieve the intended use, indication, orceffe
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FDA is divided into various branches, or Centeysptoduct type. Different Centers typically revielug, biologic, or device
applications. In order to review an applicationdacombination product, the FDA must decide wi@iemter should be responsible for the
review. FDA regulations require that FDA determihe combination product’s primary mode of actionPMOA, which is the single mode of a
combination product that provides the most impdrtherapeutic action of the combination produche Tenter that regulates that portion of the
product that generates the PMOA becomes the lezldater. If there are two independent modes abagcheither of which is subordinate to the
other, the FDA makes a determination as to whichit€eo assign the product based on consistentyatlier combination products raising similar
types of safety and effectiveness questions drédCenter with the most expertise in evaluatingtlst significant safety and effectiveness
questions raised by the combination product. Wéheduating an application, a lead Center may comsier Centers but still retain complete
reviewing authority, or it may collaborate with dmer Center, by which the Center assigns review secific section of the application to another
Center, delegating its review authority for thattem. Typically, the FDA requires a single mamkgtapplication submitted to the Center selected
to be the lead evaluator, although the agencyheadiscretion to require separate applicationsdeerthan one Center. One reason to submit
multiple evaluations is if the applicant wishesdoeive some benefit that accrues only from appnavder a particular type of application, like n
drug product exclusivity. If multiple applicatioase submitted, each may be evaluated by a difféead Center.

Antibiotic Exclusivity

A drug product designated by the FDA as a qualifidelctious disease product, or QIDP, is granteddditional five years of marketing
exclusivity upon NDA approval. This exclusivity@jes only with respect to drugs that are firstraged on or after July 9, 2012. A QIDP is
defined as an antibacterial or antifungal drughieman use intended to treat serious or life-thréageinfections, including those caused by an
antibacterial or antifungal resistant pathogenluitiog novel or emerging infectious pathogens otade pathogens that have the potential to pose a
serious threat to public health and that are iregdlid a list established and maintained by FDA.

A drug sponsor may request that FDA designaterddyct as a QIDP at any time prior to NDA submissi&DA must make a QIDP
determination within 60 days of receiving the daaiipn request. Any NDA for a drug designated 8P will be granted priority review.

Disclosure of Clinical Trial Information

Sponsors of clinical trials of FDA-regulated protijdncluding drugs, are required to register aisdldse certain clinical trial
information. Information related to the produdtipnt population, phase of investigation, studgssand investigators, and other aspects of the
clinical trial is then made public as part of tlegistration. Sponsors are also obligated to dssthesresults of their clinical trials after
completion. Disclosure of the results of thesaldrcan be delayed until the new product or nevcatibn being studied has been
approved. Competitors may use this publicly-atddanformation to gain knowledge regarding thegoess of development programs.

Other US Regulatory Requirements

Once an NDA is approved, a product will be subjeatertain post-approval requirements. For instaRE&A closely regulates the post-
approval marketing and promotion of drugs, inclgditandards and regulations for direct-to-conswadeertising, off-label promotion, industry-
sponsored scientific and educational activities mmanotional activities involving the Internet.

Drugs may be marketed only for the approved in@iaatand in accordance with the provisions of {yeraved labeling. Changes to some
of the conditions established in an approved agfitin, including changes in indications, labeliogmanufacturing processes or facilities, require
submission and FDA approval of a new NDA or NDA glement before the change can be implemented. AA Blipplement for a new indication
typically requires clinical data similar to thattime original application, and the FDA uses thees@mocedures and actions in reviewing NDA
supplements as it does in reviewing NDAs.
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Adverse event reporting and submission of perioglorts is required following FDA approval of an NDThe FDA also may require
post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testisignminimization action plans and surveillance tomtor the effects of an approved product or
place conditions on an approval that could resthietdistribution or use of the product.

In addition, quality control as well as drug marutifee, packaging, and labeling procedures musirmomto conform to cGMPs after
approval. Drug manufacturers and certain of thaiicentractors are required to register their estlatnients with FDA and certain state agencies,
and are subject to periodic unannounced inspechiprise FDA during which the FDA inspects manufaciy facilities to assess compliance with
cGMPs. Accordingly, manufacturers must continuexpend time, money and effort in the areas of prtdn and quality control to maintain
compliance with cGMPs.

Regulatory authorities may withdraw product applewa request product recalls if a Company failsamply with regulatory standards
it encounters problems following initial marketirag,if previously unrecognized problems are subsatjy discovered.

Pediatric Information
European Union

For the EMA, pediatric data or an apgapediatric investigation plan, or PIP, is reqdiite submit an MAA in the European Union. In
December 2010, we received Positive Opinion ofRbdiatric Committee of the EMA on the agreemeriwfPIP, on the granting of a deferral, .
on the granting of a waiver for amikacin (sulfatepulizer suspension for inhalation use, in thatinent ofPseudomonaking
infection/colonization in CF patients in accordamgth relevant European regulations. Our PIP igettio modifications from time to time.

United States

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREBAN or supplements to NDAs must contain data tessthe safety and effectiveness
of the drug for the claimed indications in all ket pediatric subpopulations and to support doaimdjadministration for each pediatric
subpopulation for which the drug is safe and eiffectThe FDA may grant deferrals for submissiowata or full or partial waivers. Unless
otherwise required by regulation, PREA does notyafgpany drug for an indication for which orphagsifnation has been granted. Under the Best
Pharmaceuticals for Children Act (BPCA), pediatdsearch is incentivized by the possibility of additional months of pediatric exclusivity,
which if granted, is added to existing exclusiypgriods and patent terms listed for the applicdblg in the FDA’s Orange Book at the time the
sponsor satisfies FDA'’s “written request” for ped@research. Sponsors may negotiate the terrtteeofritten request during drug development.
While the sponsor of an orphan designated drugmoaipe required to perform pediatric studies urRRREA, they are eligible to participate in the
incentives under the BPCA.

Regulation Outside the US and Euroy

In addition to regulations in the US and Europe wilebe subject to a variety of regulations in etturisdictions governing clinical studi
of our candidate products. Whether or not we olfE&é approval for a product, we must obtain appt@fa product by the comparable regulat
authorities of countries outside the US before ae@ommence clinical studies or marketing of thagpct in those countries. The requirements for
approval and the approval process vary from countgountry, and the time may be longer or shdhtan that required for FDA approval.
Furthermore, we must obtain any required pricingrapals in addition to regulatory approval priodaanching the product in the approving
country.

Health Canada

Health Canada (HC) is the government agency tlafiges regulatory and marketing approval for draigd therapeutic products in
Canada. The upcoming Legislative and Regulatory dvimidation (LRM) is the most significant drug regiory system reform in Canada in more
than 50 years and is expected to overhaul Can&d@d and Drugs Act and Regulations. The LRM suppartifecycle’ regulatory approach and is
focused on strengthening evidence-based decisi@inmajood regulatory planning, licensing, posttising, accountability, authority and
enforcement. Through this framework, HC intendsrtprove the market authorization process and implgmecessary regulatory frameworks. In
October 2010, HC accelerated its modernizationr&sffd his included the proposed regulatory pathwiay©rphan Drugs (harmonized with US/t
regulations).
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Medical Device Regulation

If approved, ARIKACE will be administered via inlsibn through an optimized eFlow Nebulizer Systetnich is a medical device that is
also subject to extensive government regulatiome dptimized eFlow Nebulizer System is approveithénEU, and it must be approved in any
country in which we intend to commercialize ARIKACE

Similar to an NDA-approved product, the medicalidevs subjected to certain post-clearance requrgsn Those requirements include
continuing Quality System compliance, Medical DeviReporting, and promotional material regulations.

In addition to regulations in the US, we will bébfact to a variety of regulations in other jurigdias governing the medical device.
Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a prodaratl the medical device that will be used with ARBE, we must obtain approval of a
product and the medical device by the comparalglelatory authorities of countries outside the Ufblwe can commence marketing of the
product in those countries. The requirements fprayal and the approval process vary from courtrgauntry, and the time may be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval.

Under certain harmonized medical device approvedfeince regulations outside the US, reference toléiBance permits fast-tracking of
market clearance. Other regions are harmonizdudBiit standards, and therefore recognize the CE (@akformité Européene, which means
European Conformity) as a declaration of conforrtotapplicable standards. CE mark is standardydatbn for EU member States for market
authorization.

Reimbursement of Pharmaceutical Products

In the US, many independent third-party payersyelsas the Medicare and state Medicaid prograeisburse buyers of pharmaceutical
products. Medicare is the federal program that ides/health care benefits to senior citizens anighicedisabled and chronically ill persons.
Medicaid is the federal program administered bystia¢es to provide health care benefits to cenaiigent persons. In return for including our
pharmaceutical commercial products in the Medicaue Medicaid programs, we will need to agree topegbate to state Medicaid agencies that
provide reimbursement for those products. We glbdave to agree to sell our commercial produastieticontracts with the Department of
Veterans Affairs, Department of Defense, Publiclte&ervice, and numerous other federal agencieselisas certain hospitals that are designated
as 340B covered entities (entities designated thgréd programs to receive drugs at discounted grieprices that are significantly below the p
we charge to commercial pharmaceutical distribufbin@se programs and contracts are highly regukatddvill impose restrictions on our
business. Failure to comply with these regulatemd restrictions could result in a loss of ouriggbtb continue receiving reimbursement for our
drugs once approved.

Different pricing and reimbursement schemes eristther countries. In the European Community, govents influence the price of
pharmaceutical products through their pricing aichbursement rules and control of national headtie systems that fund a large part of the cc
those products to consumers. Some jurisdictionsatg@@ositive and negative list systems under whidlducts may only be marketed once a
reimbursement price has been agreed. To obtairbteBament or pricing approval, some of these caminay require the completion of clinical
trials that compare the cost-effectiveness of iquaar drug candidate to currently available tipéea. Other member states allow companies to fix
their own prices for medicines, but monitor andtogircompany profits. The downward pressure ontheazdre costs in general, particularly
prescription drugs, has become very intense. Asalt; increasingly high barriers are being eretetie entry of new products. In addition, in
some countries, cross-border imports from low-gricearkets exert a commercial pressure on pricittlginve country. There can be no assurance
that any country that has price controls or reimbarent limitations for dug products will allow faable reimbursement and pricing arrangements
for any of our products.
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EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2012, we had a total of 41 egmg@s, including 18 in research, clinical, regubatand quality assurance; 11 in
technical operations, manufacturing and qualityticdpand 12 in general and administrative funciotVe anticipate additional hires in 2013.

Our success depends in large measure on our abilititract and retain capable executive officeis lrighly skilled employees who are in
great demand. None of our employees are represbyta labor union and we believe that our relatiaith our employees are generally good.
Generally, our employees are at-will employeesweleer, we have entered into employment agreemeitiiscertain of our executive officers.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We file electronically with the Securities and E&olge Commission, or SEC, our annual reports on A®ni, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendmentisdase reports filed or furnished pursuant to i8ect3(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, which we refer to as the Exchange ®¢& make available on our website at http://wwwried.com, free of charge, copies of these
reports as soon as reasonably practicable afiieg fihese reports with, or furnishing them to, 8#C. The public can also obtain materials that we
file with the SEC through the SEC’s website at typww.sec.gov or at the SEC’s Public ReferencerRab 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. Information on the operation of the PuRleference Room is available by calling the SEQat8EC-0330.

Also available through our website’s “Investor Riglas Corporate Governance” page are charteriéoAtdit, Compensation and
Nominations and Governance committees of our bohdirectors, our Corporate Governance Guideliaad, our Code of Business Conduct .
Ethics.

The references to our website and the SE@bsite are intended to be inactive textual eefegs only. Neither the contents of our wehb
nor the contents of the SEC’s website, are incateor by reference in this Annual Report on FornkK10-

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The financial information required under this It&rs incorporated herein by reference to Item thisf Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to substantial risks ancettainties. Any of the risks and uncertaintiesctdiéed below, either alone or taken
together, could materially and adversely affect business, financial condition, results of operatipprospects for growth, or the value of an
investment in our common stock. In addition, thiedes and uncertainties could cause actual resaltdiffer materially from those expressed or
implied by forward-looking statements containethis Form 10-K (please read the “Cautionary NotegReling Forward-Looking Statements”
appearing at the beginning of this Form 10-K). Tis&s and uncertainties described below are notahly ones we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thateuerently deem to be immaterial may also materialyl adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, prospects andvhieie of an investment in our common stock anttomause actual results, performance or
achievements to differ materially from those exgpedsor implied by forward-looking statements.

Risks Related to Development and Commercializatioof our Product Candidates
Our near term prospects are highly dependent on shuecess of our most advanced product candidatelKi§TE. If we are unable to
successfully complete the development of, obtaigutatory approval for, and commercialize ARIKACEupbusiness and the value of ot
common stock may be materially adversely affected.

We are investing substantially all of our effortgldinancial resources in the development of ARIKA®ur most advanced product

candidate. Our ability to generate product reveénora ARIKACE, which we do not expect will occurrfat least the next several years, if ever,
depend heavily on the successful completion of ldgweent of, receipt of regulatory approval for aminmercialization of ARIKACE.
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Positive results from preclinical studies of a doagdidate may not be predictive of similar resimtsuman clinical trials, and promising
results from earlier clinical trials of a drug céete may not be replicated in later clinical siaMany companies in the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industries have suffered significegtbacks in late-stage clinical trials even aftdi@/ing promising results in earlier stages of
development. Accordingly, the results of the cortgaeclinical trials for ARIKACE may not be predie#i of the results we may obtain in our
clinical trials currently in progress or other siaWe do not expect ARIKACE or any other drugdidates we may develop to be commercially
available for at least several years, if at all.

We have not completed the research and developrege of ARIKACE or any other product candidateset than IPLEX, which we no longe
market. If we are unable to successfully commeitida ARIKACE or any other products, it may matergladversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and oyrospects

Our long-term viability and growth depend on thecassful commercialization of ARIKACE and potenjiaither product candidates that
lead to revenue and profits. Pharmaceutical prodexelopment is an expensive, high risk, lengtioynplicated, resource intensive process. In
order to conduct the development programs for oodycts, we must, among other things, be abletoessfully:

« Identify potential drug product candidates;

« Design and conduct appropriate laboratory, prezirind other research;

« Submit for and receive regulatory approval to perfalinical studies;

« Design and conduct appropriate preclinical andiainstudies according to good laboratory and gdotdcal practices and FDA disease-
specific expectation:

« Select and recruit clinical investigators;

« Select and recruit subjects for our studies;

« Collect, analyze and correctly interpret the davanfour studies;

« Submit for and receive regulatory approvals forkating; and

« Manufacture the drug product candidates and dexaogponents according to cGMP.

The development program with respect to any givedyct will take many years and thus delay ouritgttib generate profits. In addition,
potential products that appear promising at eddges of development may fail for a number of reasmcluding the possibility that the products
may require significant additional testing or twrt to be unsafe, ineffective, too difficult or exsive to develop or manufacture, too difficult to
administer or unstable. If we do not proceed whih development of our ARIKACE program in the CRNGM indications, certain organizations
that provided funding to us for such developmeetfarts may elect to proceed with the developménihese indications. Even if we are successful
in obtaining regulatory approval for our produchdalates, including ARIKACE, we may not obtain |abg that permits us to market them with
commercially viable claims because our clinical&imay not provide head-to-head comparisons witbralrugs. Failure to successfully
commercialize our products will adversely affect business, financial condition, results of openadiand prospects.

If the FDA or EMA limits our proposed CF or NTM tratment population for ARIKACE, our preclinical studs do not produce positive resu
or our clinical trials are delayed, or if seriousde effects are identified during drug developmenie may experience delays, incur additional
costs and ultimately be unable to commercialize guoduct candidates in the US, Europe or other cdries.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdlewr product candidates, we must conduct, at @ur expense, extensive preclinical t¢
to demonstrate the safety of our product candidatasimals, and clinical trials to demonstrate shéety and efficacy of our product candidates in
humans. We initiated a phase 2 NTM study in ti$ Wlly enrolled patients in a phase 3 trial fof Qatients witiPseudomonaking infection in
Europe and Canada, and initiated a two-year CHheide study in Europe and Canada. In additionlismissed below, in 2011 the FDA requested
that we conduct a 9-month dog inhalation toxicttydy to determine if the findings of the long-terat inhalation carcinogenicity study with
ARIKACE are observed in a non-rodent model.
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Preclinical and clinical testing is expensivifficlilt to design and implement and can take mgesrs to complete. A failure of one or
more of our preclinical studies or clinical trigian occur at any stage of testing. We may expegianmerous unforeseen events during, or as a
result of, preclinical testing and the clinicabtrprocess that could delay or prevent our abititpbtain regulatory approval or commercialize our
product candidates, including:

« Our preclinical tests or clinical trials may produregative or inconclusive results, and we mayd#ear regulators may require us, to
conduct additional preclinical testing or clini¢ahls or we may abandon projects that we expebetpromising

« Regulators or institutional review boards may preves from commencing a clinical trial or condugtia clinical trial at a prospective ti
site;

« Enroliment in the clinical trials may take longkah expected or the clinical trials as designed nmallow for sufficient patient accrual
complete enrollment of the trie

« We may decide to limit or abandon our commerciakettgpment program;

« Conditions imposed on us by the FDA or any non-&ifukatory authority regarding the scope or desfgouo clinical trials may require us
to collect and submit information to regulatorylaarities, Ethics Committees, institutional revieaabds or others for review and appro

« The number of patients required for our clinic&ls may be larger than we anticipate or partidipamay drop out of our clinical trials at a
higher rate than we anticipa

« Our third party contractors, contract research micggions, which we refer to as CROs, or clinicedastigators may fail to comply with
regulatory requirements or fail to meet their caatual obligations to us in a timely manr

« We may have to suspend or terminate one or mooerotlinical trials if we, the regulators or thesiitutional review boards determine that
the participants are being exposed to unacceptedalith risks or for other reasol

« We may not be able to claim that a product candigadvides an advantage over current standardrefarduture competitive therapies in
development because our clinical studies may nat baen designed to support such cla

« Regulators or institutional review boards may regjtihat we hold, suspend or terminate clinicalaeste for various reasons, including
potential safety concerns or noncompliance withul&gry requirements

« The cost of our clinical trials may be greater thananticipate;

« The supply or quality of product used in clinic@hls or other materials necessary to conduct bical trials may be insufficient or
inadequate or we may not be able to reach agresmardcceptable terms with prospective contractufaaturers or CROSs; ar

« The effects of our product candidates may not balttsired effects or may include undesirable dfi@ets or the product candidates may
have other unexpected characterist

If we are required to conduct additional cliniagls or other testing of our product candidategobe those that we currently contemplate,
if we are unable to successfully complete our chhtrials or other testing, if the results of thésals or tests are not positive or are only nstigle
positive or if there are safety concerns, we may:

« Be delayed in obtaining, or may not be able toiobtaarketing approval for one or more of our pratdeandidates;
« Obtain approval for indications that are not asadras intended or entirely different than thosécetibns for which we sought approval;
« Have the product removed from the market afterinltg marketing approval.

For example, results from our rodent carcinogeyitidy showed that when rats were given ARIKACHyday inhalation for two years,
of the 120 rats receiving the highest dose hadg@esiung tumor. These rats received ARIKACE ddbkas were within two-fold of those in clinical
studies (normalized on a body surface area basidwrg weight basis). . Based on these resnl)11 the FDA placed clinical holds on our
phase 3 clinical trials for ARIKACE, which holds redifted in 2012. While we are conducting a dogitology study to better understand the
impact of ARIKACE on another animal model to satigfe FDA'’s request, approvability or labeling dREKACE may be negatively affected by
these results. In late January 2013, we concltitee@ month dosing phase of the dog inhalatiorctyxstudy. Consistent with the design of the
study, a review of the lung and kidney tissues emslucted following the completion of the 9 montsitig and an unaudited interim report was
prepared setting forth the findings of this revieWe recently submitted this unaudited interim repmthe FDA While we await final results from
ongoing studies and trials, we do not know whettemill proceed with our clinical program for ARIKZE for the treatment d?seudomonalking
infections in CF patients in the US. In additiare do not know whether any additional preclinieaits, other than the dog inhalation toxicity study
or clinical trials, will be required or otherwisatiated, will need to be restructured or will bkentpleted on schedule, if at all. Significant pirgckl
or clinical trial delays also could shorten thegmatprotection period during which we may haveakelusive right to commercialize our product
candidates. Such delays could allow our compstimbring products to market before we do and impa ability to commercialize our products
or product candidates. Our product developmertsdws/e and may continue to increase if we expegiémrther delays in testing or approvals.
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We may not have, or may be unable to obtain, suéfit quantities of our product candidates to meeirsequired supply for clinical studies or
commercialization requirements.

We do not have any in-house manufacturing capgluithier than for development and characterizatirmhdepend completely on a small
number of third-party manufacturers and supplierdtie manufacture of our product candidates dim&cal or commercial scale. ARIKACE and
the nebulizer each are supplied by a sole manutactWe are dependent on Althea Technologiesi®ptoduction of ARIKACE. We are
dependent upon PARI for the production and suppthe®eFlow Nebulizer System. The inability ofugplier to fulfill our supply requirements
could materially adversely affect our ability totaim and maintain regulatory approvals and futyrerating results. A change in the relationship
with any supplier, or an adverse change in thesinmss, could materially adversely affect futurerafing results.

We are dependent upon PARI being able to providedaguate supply of nebulizers both for our clinidals and for commercial sale in
the event ARIKACE receives marketing approval. Seheebulizers must be in good working order and syexific performance characteristics.
We intend to work closely with PARI to coordinaféoets regarding regulatory requirements.

We are dependent upon Althea being able to praaidadequate supply of ARIKACE both for our clinitdls and for commercial sale
the event ARIKACE receives marketing approval. h&l currently manufactures ARIKACE at a relativatyall scale. In order to meet potential
commercial demand if ARIKACE is approved, we wided to work with Althea and others to increasesttade of our manufacturing activities.
intend to work closely with Althea to coordinatéoefs regarding regulatory requirements and ouplupeeds.

We do not have long-term commercial agreements alitbf our suppliers, and if any of our suppliars unable or unwilling to perform
for any reason, we may not be able to locate segpdir enter into favorable agreements with theny. idability to acquire sufficient quantities of
our components in a timely manner from these théndies could delay clinical trials or commerciatibn and prevent us from developing and
distributing our products in a cost-effective manoieon a timely basis.

In addition, manufacturers of our components algesti to cGMP and similar foreign standards andlaw@&ot have control over
compliance with these regulations by our manufacturf one of our contract manufacturers failgi@intain compliance, the production of our
products could be interrupted, resulting in delayd additional costs. In addition, if the facilgtief such manufacturers do not pass agmgroval o
post-approval plant inspection, the FDA as welbtheer regulatory authorities in jurisdictions odtsthe US will not grant approval and may
institute restrictions on the marketing or sal®wf products. We are reliant on third-party mantifeers and suppliers to meet our clinical supply
demands and any future commercial products. Defageceipt of materials, scheduling, release,ama& control and regulatory compliance issues
may adversely impact our ability to initiate, maimtor complete clinical trials that we are spoimgpor may adversely impact
commercialization. Commercial manufacturing anpipgbyiagreements have not been established. Issisg®sy from scalew, facility constructior
environmental controls, equipment requirementsllaad federal permits and allowances or otheofaghay have an adverse impact on our at
to manufacture our product candidates.

We have limited experience in conducting and managihe preclinical development activities and cliai trials necessary to obtain regulatory
approvals, including approval by the FDA and EMA.

We have limited experience in conducting and mamatie preclinical development activities and clahitrials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the F&#d EMA. Since our merger with Transave, we hatecampleted a phase 3 clinical trial for,
obtained regulatory approval of or commercializag af our product candidates. Our limited experentght prevent us from successfully
designing, implementing, or completing a clinigélt We have limited experience in conducting amthaging the application process necessary tc
obtain regulatory approvals and we might not be &bldemonstrate that our product candidates rheetfpropriate standards for regulatory
approval. If we are not successful in conductind mmanaging our preclinical development activitiesliical trials or obtaining regulatory
approvals, we might not be able to commercialize¥d&CE, or might be significantly delayed in doing,svhich may materially harm our
business.
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We may not be able to enroll enough patients to @bete our clinical trials.

The completion rate of clinical studies of our prots is dependent on, among other factors, thergagnrollment rate. Patient enrollment
is a function of many factors, including:

« Investigator identification and recruitment;

« Regulatory approvals to initiate study sites;

. Patient population size;

« The nature of the protocol to be used in the trial;

. Patient proximity to clinical sites;

« Eligibility criteria for the study;

« The patients’ willingness to participate in thedstu

« Competition from other companies’ clinical studiesthe same patient population; and
« Ability to obtain any necessary comparator drugnedical device.

We believe our procedures for enrolling patientddte have been appropriate. However, delays iarganrollment would increase costs
and delay ultimate commercialization and saleanif, of our products.

The commercial success of ARIKACE or any other pootl candidates that we may develop will depend ufftmdegree of market acceptance by
physicians, patients, thir-party payors and others in the medical community.

Even if we are able to successfully complete deprekent of, obtain regulatory approval for, and bi&kRIKACE to market, ARIKACE
may not gain market acceptance by physicians, atithird-party payors and others in the medioatmunity. If ARIKACE or any other products
we bring to market do not achieve an adequate Evatceptance, we may not generate significardymorevenue and we may not become
profitable. The degree of market acceptance of ARIK and any other product candidates, if approeeddmmercial sale, will depend on a
number of factors, including:

« The prevalence and severity of any side effectdyding any limitations or warnings contained ipraduct’s approved labeling;

« The efficacy and potential advantages over altar@ateatments;

« The pricing of our product candidates;

« Relative convenience and ease of administration;

« The willingness of the target patient populatiortrjonew therapies and of physicians to presctilese therapies;

« The strength of marketing and distribution supod timing of market introduction of competitiveoducts;

« Publicity concerning our products or competing picid and treatments, including competing produet®ining subject to generic pricir
and

« Sufficient third party insurance coverage or reinsement.

Even if a potential product displays a favorablicaty and safety profile in preclinical and cliaidrials, market acceptance of the product
will not be known until after it is launched. Fotaenple, if a clinical trial is not designed to demstrate advantages over alternative treatments, we
may be prohibited from promoting our product caatid on any such advantages. Our efforts to egltlvatmedical community and third-party
payors on the benefits of our product candidategnmeguire significant resources and may never beessful. Such efforts to educate the
marketplace may require more resources than avireelgoy more established technologies marketeoupyompetitors.
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We currently have no marketing or sales organizatjand we have limited experience as a company arketing drug products. If we are
unable to establish our own marketing and sales abjlities, or are unable to enter into agreementgtwthird parties, to market and sell our
products after they are approved, we may not beeablgenerate product revenue

We do not have a sales organization for the mar§getiales and distribution of any drug productsorter to commercialize ARIKACE or
any other product candidates, we must develop ttegsabilities on our own or make arrangements thitldl parties for the marketing, sales and
distribution of our products. The establishmerd davelopment of our own sales force would be esiwerand time consuming and could delay
any product launch, and we cannot be certain tieavauld be able to successfully develop this cdippbiAs a result, we may seek one or more
partners to handle some or all of the sales an#teting of ARIKACE. However, we may not be ablesttter into arrangements with third partie
sell ARIKACE on favorable terms or at all. In teeent we are unable to develop our own marketingsates force or collaborate with a thpdrty
marketing and sales organization, we may not be @abtuccessfully commercialize ARIKACE or any etheoduct candidates that we develop,
which would adversely affect our ability to generptoduct revenues. Further, whether we commezeiptoducts on our own or rely on a third
party to do so, our ability to generate revenu¢ lvdldependent on the effectiveness of the sates.fo

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on third parties including clinical reseahcorganizations, or CROs, for many services. If s unable to form and sustain these
relationships, or if any third-party arrangementfat we may enter into are unsuccessful, our abilitydevelop and commercialize our products
may be materially adversely affected.

We currently rely, and expect that we will in theure rely, on third parties for significant resgrgranalytical services, preclinical
development and clinical development. For examgdhapst all of our clinical trial work is done byROs. Reliance on these third parties poses a
number of risks, including the following:

« We may face significant competition in seeking appiate partners;

« These arrangements are complex and time consumimggotiate, document and implement;

« We may not be successful in our efforts to esthlaisd implement collaborations or other alternatirangements that we might pursue
favorable terms

« We may not be able to effectively control whettrer €ROs or other third parties will devote suffitieesources to our programs or

roducts;

. \e\/e are not able to control the regulatory compkaotCROs, third-party suppliers, contractors amithborators;

« Disagreements with third parties and CROs may fiewt to resolve and could result in a disputepand loss of intellectual property
rights, delay or termination of the research, degelent, or commercialization of product candidateresult in litigation or arbitratior

« Contracts with our collaborators may fail to pravsufficient protection of our intellectual properand

« We may have difficulty enforcing the contractsiifecof these collaborators fails to perform.

A great deal of uncertainty exists regarding theceas of any current and future third-party efforisvhich we might depend. Failure of
these efforts could delay, impair, or prevent theedlopment and commercialization of our product$ aiversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

We rely on PARI, a third party manufacturer, to spfy the nebulizer that is exclusively used for ARMCE. Any disruption in supply of the
nebulizer will have a material adverse effect onrdausiness.

We are dependent upon PARI being able to providedaguate supply of nebulizers both for our clinidals and for commercial sale in
the event ARIKACE receives marketing approval. Séhaebulizers must be in good working order, megetific performance characteristics ani
approved by FDA along with ARIKACE. We have no altgtive supplier for the nebulizer and we do ntenid to seek an alternative or secondary
supplier of nebulizers. We do not have a long-teupply agreement with PARI. PARI has the righterminate this agreement upon written
notice for our uncured material breach, if we &megubject of specified bankruptcy or liquidatimets, if we assign or otherwise transfer the
agreement to a third party that does not agreesonae all of our rights and obligations set fontlthie agreement, or if we fail to reach certain
specified milestones, including the requirement th&use commercially reasonable efforts to devedlopmercialize, market, and sell ARIKACE
for use in CF indications in one or more count(aw at least in the US). A disruption in theymf nebulizers could delay, impair, or prevent
the development and commercialization of our préglaad adversely affect our business, financiatlitimm, results of operations and prospects.
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We rely on Althea, a third party manufacturer, taigply ARIKACE. Any disruption in the supply of ARIKCE could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

We are dependent upon Althea being able to praaidadequate supply of ARIKACE both for our clinit@hls and for commercial sale
the event ARIKACE receives marketing approval. h&l currently manufactures ARIKACE at a relativatyall scale. In order to meet potential
commercial demand if ARIKACE is approved, we wilad to work with Althea to increase the scale ofmanufacturing activities. We do not
have a long term supply agreement with Altheahédtrecently announced that it had entered inegagement to be acquired by Ajinomoto Co., a
global manufacturing company based in Japan. Weotl&now at this point how this contemplated asijioin might affect our relationship with
Althea, if at all.

We intend to identify other third parties to maratfee ARIKACE. We also intend to have ARIKACE méatured at a larger scale in
order to meet potential demand if ARIKACE is apmdyor sale. We may not be able to identify ouse@n alternative source of ARIKCACE at
an adequate scale of production.

We currently depend on third parties to conduct tbperations of our clinical trials.

We rely on third parties, such as CROs, medicditini®ons, clinical investigators and contract lediories to oversee some of the
operations of our clinical trials and to performalaollection and analysis. As a result, we ma fadditional delays outside of our control if these
parties do not perform their obligations in a tiynfelshion or in accordance with regulatory requieais. If these third parties do not successfully
carry out their contractual duties or obligations aneet expected deadlines, if they need to baceg| or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical
data they obtain is compromised due to the failor@dhere to our clinical protocols or for othemsens, our financial results and the commercial
prospects for ARIKACE or our other potential procandidates could be materially harmed, our costdd increase and our ability to obtain
regulatory approval and commence product salesidmidelayed.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capitd Requirements

We have a history of operating losses. We expe@dar operating losses for the foreseeable futiaed may never achieve or maintain
profitability.

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondheldpment of innovative inhaled pharmaceuticalgte site-specific treatment of
serious lung diseases. We have incurred losséspeacious year of our operation, except in 2008emwe sold our manufacturing facility and
certain other assets to Merck. We expect to caatincurring operating losses for the foreseealileé. The process of developing and
commercializing our products requires significarg-plinical and clinical testing as well as regatgtapprovals for commercialization and
marketing before we are allowed to begin produlgssaln addition, commercialization of our drugndaates likely would require us to establish a
sales and marketing organization and contractlaioaships to enable product manufacturing anérmothlated activities. We expect that our
activities, together with our general and admiaibe expenses, will continue to result in substhoiperating losses for the foreseeable future. A
of December 31, 2012, our accumulated deficit vag5% million. For the year ended December 312200Lr consolidated net loss was $41.4
million.

To achieve and maintain profitability, we need émerate significant revenues from future produlgtssa his will require us to be
successful in a range of challenging activitiesluding:

« Successfully completing development of and obtaimégulatory approval for the marketing of ARIKA@Ed possibly other product
candidates which have yet to be developed and wiichd also require marketing approv

« Commercializing ARIKACE and any other product catades for which we obtain marketing approval; and

« Achieving market acceptance and reimbursement dKARE and any other product candidates for whicholiain marketing approval
the medical community and with patients and -party payors
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ARIKACE will require marketing approval asa@jnificant investment in commercial capabilitisesluding manufacturing and sales and
marketing efforts, before its product sales caregatie any revenues for us. Because of the numeskssand uncertainties associated with drug
development and commercialization, we are unabfeddict the extent of any future losses. We masen successfully commercialize ARIKACE
or any other products, generate significant futekenues or achieve and sustain profitability.

We expect that we will need additional funds in thaure to continue our operations, but we face wertainties with respect to our ability to
access capital.

Our operations have consumed substantial amoumissbf since our inception. We expect to continuador substantial research and
development expenses, and we expect to expendastibsfinancial resources to complete developroéreaeek regulatory approval for, and
prepare for commercialization of ARIKACE. We mayedeo seek additional funding in order to compéetg clinical trials related to ARIKACE,
seek regulatory approvals of ARIKACE, and comméiciaunch ARIKACE. We also may require additiofiature capital in order to continue our
other research and development activities or toieegomplementary technology. As of December281,2, we had $92.9 million of cash and ¢
equivalents and a certificate of deposit on hahddéquate funds are not available to us when meede may be required to reduce or eliminate
research and development programs or commerc@t&ff

Our future capital requirements will depend on méagyors, including factors associated with:

« Phase 2 and phase 3 clinical trials and commezai@din of ARIKACE;
« Non-clinical and clinical testing;

« Process development and scale up for manufacturing;

« Manufacturing;

« Performance of our third-party suppliers and mactufars;

« Obtaining marketing, sales and distribution cajiidms!;

« Obtaining regulatory approvals;

« Research and development, including formulatioretigmment;

« Retaining employees and consultants;

« Filing and prosecuting patent applications and mirfig patent claims;
« Establishing strategic alliances and collaboratieits third-parties; and
« Current and potential future litigation.

We also may need to spend more funds than currertlgcted because we may further change or altgrarvelopment plans, acquire
additional drugs or drug candidates or we may rdigguour costs. As of December 31, 2012, we hazbnmamitted sources of capital and do not
know whether additional financing will be availalbben needed, or, if available, that the terms bélfavorable. We cannot assure that our cash
reserves together with any subsequent fundingbsilufficient for our capital requirements. Thiéufa to satisfy our capital requirements will
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations and prospects.

We may seek additional funding through stratediarates, private or public sales of our securitikht financing or licensing all or a
portion of our technology or through other mea8sich funding may significantly dilute existing sblaolders, subject us to contractual restrictions
such as operating or financial covenants or limitrights to our technology.

We currently have no meaningful source of revenue.
We generated no revenue in 2012. Our revenue dianexpanded access program, or EAP, and the sl BX were our only material
sources of operating revenue prior to 2012. Unlessan execute one or more revenue generatinggitiians or successfully obtain regulatory

approval for and commercialize ARIKACE, we will leao material sources of operating revenue. Weattpeontinue to incur substantial
additional operating losses for at least the nexégl years as we continue to develop and seetmonercialize ARIKACE.
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If we are not successful in our efforts to evalugtetential future IPLEX initiatives and to identifyand engage in possible ¢ licensing
opportunities for IPLEX, we may not derive any fute revenues from IPLEX.

We continue to evaluate possible out-licensing ofppities for IPLEX. We may have difficulty idengihg possible markets and
prospective partners for out-licensing. Even ifave able to enter into out-licensing arrangemewmtsmay not derive any revenue from those
arrangements.

Our loan agreement with Hercules Technology Grow@apital, Inc. (“Hercules”) contains covenants thampose restrictions on our operations
that may adversely affect our ability to optimalbperate our business or to maximize shareholdemeal

Our loan agreement with Hercules contains variesfrictive covenants, including restrictions on ability to incur additional debt,
transfer or place a lien or security interest onamsets, including our intellectual property, neength or acquire other companies, redeem or
repurchase any shares of our capital stock or psly dividends to our stockholders. The Loan Agesdralso contains certain other covenants
(including limitations on other indebtedness, lieasquisitions, investments and dividends), anahisvef default (including payment defaults,
breaches of covenants following any applicable pergod, a material impairment in the perfectiomprority of the lender’s security interest or in
the collateral, and events relating to bankruptcinsolvency). Upon the occurrence of an eventefadit, a default interest rate of an additional 5%
may be applied to the outstanding loan balancestlenlender may terminate its lending commitmedatlare all outstanding obligations
immediately due and payable, and take such othiemacas set forth in the Loan Agreement. In additpursuant to the Loan Agreement, the le
has the right to participate, in an amount of uxd million, in certain future private equity éincing(s). In conjunction with entering into the
Loan Agreement, we granted a warrant to the letwpurchase 329,932 shares of our common stockX®4 per share. Our borrowings under the
Loan Agreement are secured by a lien on our assatkjding our intellectual property, and in theewof a default on the loan, the lender may |
the right to seize our assets securing our obtigatunder the Loan Agreement. The terms andcéstrs provided for in the Loan Agreement may
inhibit our ability to conduct our business angtovide distributions to our stockholders. Futdebt securities or other financing arrangements
could contain negative covenants similar to, omewere restrictive than, the Hercules loan.

In process research and development (IPRD) currgndomprises over 37% of our total assets. A reductn the value of our IPRD coul
impact our results of operations.

As a result of the merger with Transaserecorded an intangible IPRD asset of $77.9 anilind goodwill of $6.9 million on our balat
sheet. As a result of our clinical hold announitethte 2011 we recorded a charge of $26.0 milliothe fourth quarter of 2011 and reducec
value of IPRD to $58.2 million and reduced goodwadllzero. Other potential future activities oruks could result in additional writdewns o
IPRD, which would adversely affect our results pémations.

We may be unable to use our net operating losses.

We have substantial tax loss carry forwards forfé&tieral income tax purposes. Our ability to usshszarry forwards to offset future
income or tax liability may be limited under secti®82 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as dettnChanges in the ownership of our stock,
including those resulting from the issuance of ehaf our common stock upon exercise of outstanggagants or options, may limit or eliminate
our ability to use our net operating losses.

Risks Related to Regulatory Matters

We may not be able to obtain regulatory approvails ARIKACE or any other products we develop in thks, Europe or other countries. If we
fail to obtain such approvals, we will not be alite commercialize our product:

We are required to obtain various regulatory apgiprior to studying our products in humans amhthgain before we market and
distribute our products. The regulatory review apgroval processes in both the US and Europenegualuation of preclinical studies and
clinical studies, as well as the evaluation of manufacturing process. These processes are confggthy, expensive, resource intensive and
uncertain. Securing regulatory approval to madketproducts requires the submission of much metensive preclinical and clinical data,
manufacturing information regarding the processfandity, scientific data characterizing our pratland other supporting data to the regulatory
authorities in order to establish its safety affdativeness. This process also is complex, lengtkpensive, resource intensive and uncertain. We
have limited experience in submitting and pursudpglications necessary to gain these regulatorsoapfs.
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Data submitted to the regulators is subject toimgrinterpretations that could delay, limit or peet regulatory agency approval. We may
also encounter delays or rejections based on ckangegulatory agency policies during the perioavhich we develop a product and the period
required for review of any application for regulgt@agency approval of a particular product.

Delays in obtaining regulatory agency approvalddadversely affect the development and marketfreng drugs that we or any third
parties develop. Resolving such delays could fascer third parties to incur significant costsulcolimit our allowed activities or the allowed
activities of third parties, could diminish any cpetitive advantages that we or our third partieg attain or could adversely affect our ability to
receive royalties, any of which could materiallywasely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations or prospects.

To market our products outside of thedu, Europe, we and any potential third partiestrnamply with numerous and varying
regulatory requirements of other countries. Thereyeal procedures vary among countries and carlvewedditional product testing and
administrative review periods. The time require@lbtain approval in these other territories mujffer from that required to obtain FDA or EMA
approval. The regulatory approval process in thodiser territories includes at least all of th&sisssociated with obtaining FDA and EMA
approval detailed above.

Approval by the FDA or the EMA does not ensure appl by the regulatory authorities of other cowegriMarketing approval in one
country does not ensure marketing approval in @arpthut a failure or delay in obtaining marketimpeoval in one country may have a negative
effect on the regulatory process in others. In tamlliwe may be subject to fines, suspension dndwé#twal of marketing approvals, product recalls,
seizure of products, operating restrictions anchicral prosecution if we fail to comply with applida US and foreign regulatory requirements. If
we fail to comply with regulatory requirements ordabtain and maintain required approvals, our tamggeket may be reduced and our ability to
realize the full market potential of our produchdalates may be harmed. The failure to obtain sgpghmovals may materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operatiand our prospects.

For ARIKACE to be successfully developed and comaiglized, in addition to regulatory approvals reqed for ARIKACE, the eFlow nebulizer
system must satisfy certain regulatory requiremeatsd must be approved for use in any market in whige intend to commercialize ARIKACE

Although the optimized eFlow Nebulizer System is iG&rked by PARI outside of North America, withinfloAmerica it is labeled as
investigational for use in our clinical trials inet US and Canada. The optimized eFlow Nebulizete®y is not approved for commercial use in the
US, Canada or certain other markets in which we ahmepse to commercialize ARIKACE if approved. Théosv Nebulizer System must receive
regulatory approval before we can market ARIKACEe Wil continue to work closely with PARI to coorgite efforts regarding regulatory
requirements, including our proposed filings fatrag and device.

Even if we obtain marketing approval for ARIKACE @ny of our other product candidates, we will camtie to face extensive regulato
requirements and our products may face future demhent and regulatory difficulties.

Even if marketing approval in the US is obtainéd, EDA may still impose significant restrictions @product’s indicated uses or
marketing, including risk evaluation and mitigatistnategies, or may impose ongoing requirementsspimcluding with respect to:

« Labeling, such as black box or other warnings oitreandications;

« Post-market surveillance, post-market studies st-pwarket clinical trials;

« Packaging, storage, distribution, safety survetigradvertising, promotion, recordkeeping and répgof safety and other post-market
information;

« Monitoring and reporting adverse events and ingsut the failure of a product to meet the spegifims in the NDA,

« Changes to the approved product, product labelimganufacturing process;

« Advertising and other promotional material; and

« Disclosure of clinical trial results on publicly @ilable databases.
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In addition, the thirgarty manufacturers of our products and their iféesl are and will be subject to continual reviemd aperiodit

inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authesi The distribution, sale and marketing of ptoducts are subject to a number of additi
requirements, including:

State wholesale drug distribution laws and therithistion of our product samples to physicians noashply with the requirements of the
Prescription Drug Marketing Ac

Sales, marketing and scientific or educational gpgograms must comply with the anti-kickback araifl and abuse provisions of the
Social Security Act, the transparency provisiohef Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act andssociated reconciliation bill that
became law in March 2010, which we refer to coiledy as the Health Care Reform Law, the Falserfidalct and similar state laws; a
Pricing and rebate programs must comply with theligted rebate requirements of the Omnibus BudgebReiliation Act of 1990 and tt
Veteran's Health Care Act of 1992, and if prodwsres made available to authorized users of the Be8eipply Schedule of the General
Services Administration, additional laws and regpients apply

All of these activities also may be subject to fafland state consumer protection and unfair coitipretaws.

We also are subject to changes or revisions t@tlaegs and regulations that may make gaining régyl@pproval, reimbursement and

pricing more difficult or at least subject to diffat criteria and standards.

If we or any third party involved in our manufadhg or commercialization efforts fail to comply Wiapplicable regulatory requirements,

a regulatory agency may:

Issue warning letters or untitled letters assertireg we are in violation of the law;

Seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkieg or monetary fines;

Suspend or withdraw marketing approval;

Suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

Refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrterapplications submitted by us;

Suspend or impose restrictions on operations, diefucostly new manufacturing requirements;

Seize or detain products, refuse to permit the mtnmoexport of products, or require us to initiatproduct recall;
Refuse to allow us to enter into supply contraaduding government contracts;

Impose civil monetary penalties; or

Pursue civil or criminal prosecutions and finesiagfaour company or responsible officers.

Any government investigation of alleged violatiamfdaw could require us to expend significant tiemel resources in response, and could

generate negative publicity. The occurrence of@rgnt or penalty described above may inhibit oilitaibo commercialize our product candidates
and generate revenues.

Even if we obtain marketing approval for ARIKACE any of our other product candidates, adverse effediscovered after approval could lin
the commercial profile of any approved product.

If we obtain marketing approval for ARIKACE or anther product candidate that we develop, such ptsdwill be used by a larger

number of patients and for longer periods of tilmmtthey were used in clinical trials. For thesssons or other reasons, we or others may later
discover that our products have adverse effecilpsathat limit their usefulness or require theithdrawal. This discovery could have a number of
potentially significant negative consequences pidiclg:
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« Regulatory authorities may withdraw their approsiihe product;

« Regulatory authorities may require the additiofabkling statements, such as black box or otheniwgs or contraindications;

« Regulatory authorities may require us to issueifipaommunications to healthcare professionalshsas “Dear Doctor Letters;”

« Regulatory authorities may impose additional restms on marketing and distribution of the product

« Regulatory authorities may issue negative publi@garding the product, including safety communices;

« We may be required to change the way the prodwdnsinistered, conduct additional clinical studiesestrict the distribution of the
roduct;

. \F;\/e could be sued and held liable for harm causedlects;

« We could be subject to negative publicity; and

«  Our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from maint@mharket acceptance of the affected product catelidould cause substantial
reduction of sales, could substantially increasecthsts of commercializing our product candidaes, could cause significant financial losses.

If we are unable to obtain adequate reimbursemerttrh governments or thir-party payors for ARIKACE or any other products theve may
develop or if we are unable to obtain acceptabl&es for those products, our prospects for genargtrevenue and achieving profitability may
be materially adversely affected.

Our prospects for generating revenue and achiguiofitability depend heavily upon the availabilidf adequate reimbursement for the use
of our approved product candidates from governnhamiz other third-party payors, both in the US andther markets. Reimbursement by a third
party payor may depend upon a number of factoctjdiing the third party payor’'s determination thaé of a product is:

« A covered benefit under its health plan;
« Safe, effective and medically necessary;
« Appropriate for the specific patient;

« Cost-effective; and

« Neither experimental nor investigation

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a product femanh government or other third-party payor isr&tconsuming and costly process
that could require us to provide supporting scfamttlinical and cost effectiveness data for tlse of our products to each payor. We may not be
able to provide data sufficient to gain acceptamitl respect to reimbursement or we might needtwact post-marketing studies in order to
demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of any futundymts to such payors’ satisfaction. Such studightnequire us to commit a significant amount
of management time and financial and other ressuieeen when a payor determines that a produdigible for reimbursement, the payor may
impose coverage limitations that preclude paymenséme uses that are approved by the FDA orU®megulatory authorities. In addition, ther
a risk that full reimbursement may not be availdbtehigh priced products. Moreover, eligibilityrfooverage does not imply that any product will
be reimbursed in all cases or at a rate that allesw® make a profit or even cover our costs. img@ayments for new products, if applicable, also
may not be sufficient to cover our costs and maybeamade permanent. Subsequent approvals of ciiv@eroducts could result in a detrimental
change to the reimbursement of our products.

There is a significant focus in the US healthcadristry and elsewhere on cost containment. Wectxppanges in the Medicare program
and state Medicaid programs, as well as managedotganizations and other third-party payors tdiooe to put pressure on pharmaceutical
product pricing. In the United States, the Medicarescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernizadahof 2003, or the MMA, changed the way
Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceutical preduthe legislation expanded Medicare coveragdtiag purchases by the elderly and
introduced a new reimbursement methodology basexierage sales prices for drugs. In addition,ldgsslation authorized Medicare Part D
prescription drug plans to use formularies wheey ttan limit the number of drugs that will be caakin any therapeutic class. As a result of this
legislation and the expansion of federal coverdgiuay products, we expect that there will be @ddal pressure to contain and reduce
costs. These cost reduction initiatives and gphevisions of this legislation could decrease threetage and price that we receive for any approved
products and could seriously harm our businesshofigh the MMA applies only to drug benefits for diteare beneficiaries, private payors often
follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limidas when setting their own reimbursement rated,zary reimbursement reduction resulting
from the MMA may result in a similar reduction inyments from private payors.
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In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhare Act, or PPACA, which was intended to broaatmress to health insurance,
constrain and reduce the growth of healthcare spgndnhance remedies against fraud and abuseexdtransparency requirements for health
and health insurance industries, impose new taxeéseges on the health industry and impose additioealth policy reforms, was passed into
law. Effective in October 2010, the PPACA revisled definition of “average manufacturer price” feporting purposes, which could increase the
amount of Medicaid drug rebates to states. Furtheginning in 2011, the new law imposed a sigaificannual fee on companies that manufacture
or import branded prescription drug products. Wendt know the full effects that the PPACA will leagn our commercialization efforts. Althot
it is too early to determine the effect of the PPA@e believe it is likely that the law will contiie the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing,
especially under the Medicare program, and alsoin@gase our regulatory burdens and operating cdsbne or more of our product candidates
reaches commercialization, such changes may haigméicant impact on our ability to set a price ieve is fair for our products and may
adversely affect our ability to generate revenwt @hieve or maintain profitability. We expectthar federal and state proposals and health care
reforms to continue to be proposed by legislatetgch could limit the prices that can be chargetttie products we develop and may limit our
commercial opportunity.

Moreover, in markets outside the US, including G@knand the countries in the EU, pricing of pharraticel products is subject to
governmental control. Evaluation criteria usechiany EU government agencies for the purposes oihgrand reimbursement typically focus o
product’s degree of innovation and its ability teeha clinical need unfulfilled by currently avéile therapies. The decisions of such governmenta
agencies could affect our ability to sell our praduprofitably.

Government health care reform could increase ourst® and could adversely affect our revenue anduttssof operations.

Our industry is highly regulated and changes inttaay adversely impact our business, operationmanéial results. Substantial new
requirements affecting compliance were enactedietsop PPACA, which may require us to modify ousimess practices with health care
practitioners. For example, beginning in 2013 gdmanufacturers will be required to report inforimaton payments or transfers of value to
physicians and teaching hospitals as well as invest interests held by physicians and their imntedeamily members during the preceding
calendar year. Failure to submit required infoforatmay result in civil monetary penalties. Altlgbuthe statute requires reporting by March 31,
2013 of payments and other transfers of value nradalendar year 2012, the Centers for Medicare &dMaid Services, or CMS has issued a final
rule that will go into effect in April 2013 and Wilequire manufacturers to begin collecting reciiirformation on August 1, 2013, with the first
reports due March 31, 2014. The reported databeilbosted in searchable form on a public websitgnming September 30, 2014.

The reforms imposed by the new law will signifidgntpact the pharmaceutical industry; however, ftiikeeffects cannot be known until
these provisions are implemented and CMS and &tleral and state agencies issue applicable régndatr guidance. Moreover, in the coming
years, additional changes could be made to govertahieealthcare programs that could significaniipact the success of our products or product
candidates. We will continue to evaluate the PPA&Pamended, the implementation of regulatiorgu@ance related to various provisions of the
PPACA by federal agencies, as well as trends aadgds that may be encouraged by the legislatiottetanay potentially have an impact on our
business over time. The cost of implementing ndetailed record keeping systems and otherwise gontplvith these requirements could
substantially increase our costs.

We will need approval from the FDA and other regibry authorities in jurisdictions outside the USIf our proposed trade names. Any failure
or delay associated with such approvals may delsydommercialization of our products.

Any trade name we intend to use for our productiates will require approval from the FDA regasd of whether we have secured a
formal trademark registration from the US Patert Arademark Office, or PTO. The FDA typically contha rigorous review of proposed trade
names, including an evaluation of potential forfasion with other trade names and medication efifbe. FDA also may object to a trade name if it
believes the name is inappropriately promotionhe FDA objected to our use of the name ARIKACE aspyoposed trade name for our liposo
amakacin for inhalation product candidate. We haatedecided whether to appeal the FBAEcision. Even if we do appeal we may be redu
adopt an alternative name for our product candidbltetil the FDA approves a trade name or everr #fie FDA approves a trade name, the FDA
may request that we adopt an alternative namééptoduct if adverse event reports indicate arpiatiefor confusion with other trade names and
medication error. If we are required to adopt aeraktive name, the commercialization of ARIKACRiltbbe delayed or interrupted, which would
limit our ability to commercialize ARIKACE and gera¢e revenues. In December 2012, we learned tedMWA had no objection to our request to
use the names ARIKACE.
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Our growth depends on technologies that may no@hailable on terms acceptable to us or at all.

As part of our business strategy, we may in-licares& products and technologies. Nonetheless, meotassure you that we will identify
suitable products or enter into such license agee¢sron acceptable terms.

We may enter into collaborative relationships thatild involve our collaborators conducting propigtdevelopment programs. Any
conflict with our collaborators could limit our diby to obtain future collaboration agreements aedatively influence our relationship with exist
collaborators. Disagreements with collaboratory alao develop over the rights to our intellectoaperty.

Certain of our collaborators could be or becomepetitors of ours. Our collaborators could harm purduct development and
commercialization efforts by:

« Developing competing products;

« Precluding us from entering into collaborationshmifieir competitors;

« Failing to obtain regulatory approvals;

« Terminating their agreements with us prematurely; o

« Failing to devote sufficient resources to the depeient and commercialization of products.

If we are found in violation of federal or stat‘fraud and abuse” laws, we may be required to papenalty or may be suspended from
participation in federal or state health care progms, which may adversely affect our business, fingh condition and results of operation:

In the United States, we are subject to variousri@dand state health care “fraud and abuse” lagkjding anti-kickback laws, false claims
laws and other laws intended to reduce fraud andealn federal and state health care programs.fédegal Anti-Kickback Statute makes it illegal
for any person, including a prescription drug mactdrer or a party acting on its behalf, to knowirend willfully solicit, receive, offer or pay any
remuneration that is intended to induce the refefrbusiness, including the purchase, order osqiption of a particular drug for which payment
may be made under a federal health care progrash,asiMedicare or Medicaid. Under federal govemmegulations, some arrangements, kn
as safe harbors, are deemed not to violate thedeati-Kickback Statute. Although we seek to structurelmsiness arrangements in complia
with all applicable requirements, these laws aoably written, and it is often difficult to detema precisely how the law will be applied in specifi
circumstances. Accordingly, it is possible that practices may be challenged under the federatiiokback Statute. False claims laws prohibit
anyone from knowingly and willfully presenting aausing to be presented for payment to third-paatgops, including government payors, claims
for reimbursed drugs or services that are faldeanidulent, claims for items or services that weseprovided as claimed, or claims for medically
unnecessary items or services. Cases have begghbrtnder false claims laws alleging that off-lgim@motion of pharmaceutical products or the
provision of kickbacks has resulted in the subroissif false claims to governmental health care nog. Under the Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act of 1996, we are prohibitedrfi knowingly and willfully executing a scheme tefidiud any health care benefit program,
including private payors, or knowingly and willfulfalsifying, concealing or covering up a matefadt or making any materially false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement in connection with the delafror payment for health care benefits, itemsewices. Violations of fraud and abuse laws
may be punishable by criminal and/or civil sancsiancluding fines or exclusion or suspension ffederal and state health care programs such as
Medicare and Medicaid and debarment from contrgatiith the U.S. government. In addition, privatdividuals have the ability to bring actions
on behalf of the government under the federal Falaéms Act as well as under the false claims lafvseveral states.
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Many states have adopted laws similar to the féderttakickback statute, some of which apply to teterral of patients for health care
services reimbursed by any source, not just govemah payors. In addition, California and a felweststates have passed laws that require
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the Apdi02 Office of Inspector General Compliance Progemidance for Pharmaceutical
Manufacturers and/or the Pharmaceutical ReseatiViamufacturers of America, or PhARMA, Code on lat¢ions with Healthcare
Professionals. Several states also impose otheetiteg restrictions or require pharmaceutical canips to make marketing or price disclosures to
the state. There are ambiguities as to what isimed|to comply with these state requirements,wadould be subject to penalties if a state
determines that we have failed to comply with apligpble state law requirement.

Neither the government nor the courts have proviifihitive guidance on the application of fraudiabuse laws to our business. Law
enforcement authorities are increasingly focusedrdorcing these laws, and it is possible that sofraur practices may be challenged under these
laws. While we believe we have structured ourhess arrangements to comply with these laws pibssible that the government could allege
violations of, or convict us of violating, theseva If we are found in violation of one of theagt, we could be required to pay a penalty andd
be suspended or excluded from participation inri@dwr state health care programs, and our busifieascial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgrrights adequately, the value of our product cadates could be diminishe

Our success will depend in part on our ability totect proprietary technology and to obtain papentection for our products, prevent
third parties from infringing on our patents anftai from infringing on the patents of others, bbdbmestically and internationally.

In addition, the patent situation in the field @dtechnology and pharmaceuticals generally is lyiginicertain and involves complex legal,
technical, scientific and factual questions. Weral to actively pursue patent protection for paigluesulting from our research and development
activities that have significant potential commateialue. We may not be able to obtain additigssled patents relating to our technology or
products.

Even if issued, patents issued to us or our licens@y be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, reeloetunenforceable or circumvented,
which could limit our ability to stop competiton®of marketing similar products or reduce the tefipatent protection we may have for our
products. We cannot assure you that any patenasnalot will afford us adequate protection or prowidewith any meaningful competitive
advantages against these competitors.

Changes in either patent laws or in interpretatmfgatent laws in the US and other countries mmyjrdsh the value of our intellectual
property or narrow the scope of our patent pradectiFor example, the America Invents Act was signé law in the US in September 2011, with
phased implementation through March 2013, and dedua number of changes to established practidesse include the transition to a first-to-file
system, establishment of new procedures for chgiltlgnpatents and implementation of different methfut invalidating patents. We cannot
predict the impact that new laws, government rusdimg, implementing regulations and applicable ¢agemay have on the strength of our
patents. Certain reforms may make it easier forpmditors to challenge our patents and could haveatarial adverse effect on our business and
prospects. In addition, any patents we procure iregyire cooperation with companies holding relataténts and we may have difficulty formin
successful relationship with such other companies.

If we are not able to adequately prevent disclosofdrade secrets and other proprietary informatiptie value of our product candidates cot
be significantly diminished.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietacihnologies, especially where we do not beliettenit protection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are diffiaufprotect. We rely in part on confidentiality agmeents with our employees, consultants, advisors,
collaborators, and other third parties and partteotect our trade secrets and other proprietdoymation. These agreements may not
effectively prevent disclosure of confidential infeation or may not provide an adequate remedyaretrent of unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information. In addition, third pas may independently develop or discover our tssdeets and proprietary information. For
example, the FDA, as part of its Transparencyadtiite, currently is considering whether to makeitiithl information publicly available on a
routine basis, including information that we maysider to be trade secrets or other proprietagrimétion, and it is not clear at the present time
how the FDA's disclosure policies may change inftitare, if at all. Costly and time-consuming ldigon could be necessary to enforce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights, amylfailure to obtain or maintain trade secretgertibn could adversely affect our competitive
business position.
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Confidentiality agreements with employees and otheray not adequately prevent disclosure of tradersts and other proprietary information.

In order to protect our proprietary technology gnocesses, we rely in part on confidentiality agreets with our corporate partners,
employees, consultants, outside scientific collalmys and sponsored researchers and other advi$mse agreements may not effectively prevent
disclosure of confidential information and may potvide an adequate remedy in the event of unaizttbdisclosure of confidential information.

In addition, others may independently discoverdraglcrets and proprietary information. Costly ametconsuming litigation could be necessary to
enforce and determine the scope of our proprieights, and failure to obtain or maintain traderseprotection could adversely affect our abili
successfully compete in the industry.

We may infringe the intellectual property rights athers, which may prevent or delay our product depment efforts, prevent us from
commercializing our products or increase the cosfcommercializing our products.

Third parties may claim that we have infringed upomisappropriated their proprietary rights. Thiarties may attempt to obtain, patent
protection relating to the production and use affmoduct candidates. We cannot assure you tlyaisaned patents, or patents that may later issue
to third parties, would not negatively affect oommmercialization of ARIKACE or any other produdt/e cannot assure you that such patents can
be avoided or invalidated or would be licenseds¢@ucommercially reasonable rates or at all. Aot assure you that we will be successful in
any intellectual property litigation that may arisethat such litigation would not have an advefect on our business, financial condition, result
of operation or prospects. In the event of a sssfaéclaim against us for infringement or misagpiation of a third party’s proprietary rights, we
may be required to:

« Pay damages, including up to treble damages, andttter party’s attorneys’ fees, which may be sl

« Cease the development, manufacture, marketingaad&products or use of processes that infrihgeproprietary rights of others;

« Expend significant resources to redesign our prsdoicour processes so that they do not infringeptioprietary rights of others, which
may not be possible

« Redesign our products or processes to avoid ttartsroprietary rights, which means we may susfgnificant regulatory delays
associated with conducting additional clinicallsiar other steps to obtain regulatory approva

« Obtain one or more licenses arising out of a gattl of litigation or otherwise from third partifes the infringed proprietary rights, whi
may not be available to us on acceptable terms alt.

Furthermore, litigation with any third party, eviéthe allegations are without merit, would likddg expensive and time-consuming and
divert management’s attention.

Any lawsuits relating to infringement of intellectl property rights necessary to defend ourselvegwoforce our rights may be costly and tir
consuming.

Any conclusions we may have reached regarding nimgement, inapplicability or invalidity of a ttai party’s intellectual property are
based in significant part on a review of publicladable databases and other information. Therg lmeainformation not available to us or
otherwise not reviewed by us that could changeconclusions. Moreover, the scope and validityatept claims depend significantly on facts and
circumstances, and a court’s conclusions as tethedters may differ from the conclusions that weehreached.

We may have to undertake costly litigation to ecéoany patents issued or licensed to us or tororifie scope and validity of another
party’s proprietary rights. We cannot assure y@i & court would validate our issued or licenseelliectual property. An adverse outcome in
litigation or interference or other proceeding iy @ourt or patent office could materially adveysaffect our ability to develop and commercialize
our product candidates.

44




Index

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our iense agreements for our product candidates, welddase license rights that are important
our business.

We currently have a licensing agreermétit PARI for exclusive use of the optimized eFldlebulizer System for delivery of ARIKACE in
treating patients with CF, bronchiectasis and NTiféctions. We have rights to several US and forégued patents, and patent applications
involving improvements to the optimized eFlow Nebeit System. Under the licensing agreement, PARhtitled to receive payments either in
cash, qualified stock or a combination of botH? ARI's discretion, based on achievement of centaiiestone events including phase 3 trial
initiation, first acceptance of MAA submission @quivalent) in the US of ARIKACE and the devicesfireceipt of marketing approval in the US
for ARIKACE and the device, and first receipt of nketing approval in a major EU country for ARIKAGHd the device. We are required to use
commercially reasonable efforts to pursue the adindlevelopment of ARIKACE in one or more countréesl, for CF at least in the United States,
and after obtaining such marketing approval toassamercially reasonable efforts to market andARIKACE in the countries in which it is
approved. If we fail to meet some or all of ouligdtions under the licensing agreement or chooskstontinue commercialization of ARIKACE
in any indication, PARI may compete in the indioatiwe may lose the exclusive rights to use the IRFeRice with ARIKACE in the indication,
and we may lose the non-exclusive right to usé”hBI device with ARIKACE in the indication. Terndtion of the licensing agreement or loss of
exclusive rights may occur if we fail to meet obtigations, including payment of royalties to PARI,if we do not meet certain milestones
contained in the licensing agreement such as abtamarketing approval or achieving the first comnoied sale of ARIKACE. PARI may also
choose to terminate the agreement if we do notasemercially reasonable efforts over a two yeaiogeof time.

Risks Related to Our Industry

We operate in a highly competitive and changing @omment, and if we are unable to adapt to our eriment, we may be unable to compete
successfully

Biotechnology and related pharmaceutical technologye undergone and are likely to continue to égpee rapid and significant
change. We expect that the technologies assoacidtiedbiotechnology research and development wititmue to develop rapidly. Our future
success will depend in large part on our abilitym@intain a competitive position with respect testh technologies and to obtain and maintain
protection for our intellectual property. Any cooymds, products or processes that we develop n@nieobsolete before we recover any
expenses incurred in connection with their develepm Rapid technological change could make outlyts obsolete, and materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition, resufteperations or prospects.

We expect that successful competitiohdeépend, among other things, on product efficaafety, reliability, availability, timing and scep
of regulatory approval and price. Specifically, @aect crucial factors will include the relatiygeed with which we can develop products,
complete the clinical testing and regulatory appi@rocesses and supply commercial quantitieseoptbduct to the market. We expect
competition to increase as technological advanesade and commercial applications broaden.

In each of our potential product areas, we facstsmtial competition from large pharmaceutical idéibnology and other companies,
universities and research institutions. Relativag, most of these entities have substantiallgtgrecapital resources, research and development
staffs, facilities and experience in conductingickl studies and obtaining regulatory approvasyall as in manufacturing and marketing
pharmaceutical products. Many of our competitoay mchieve product commercialization or patentgaton earlier than us. Furthermore, we
believe that our competitors have used, and matiregnto use, litigation to gain a competitive adteage. Finally, our competitors may use
different technologies or approaches to the devetay of products similar to the products we ardisgeto develop.

If ARIKACE is approved folPseudomonaking infections in CF patients, it will compete ag Tobi, the current standard of care for
chronic management of these infections. Tobi isketad by Novartis. Other competitors in this nedrkaclude Gilead and Forest, and we
aware of other companies also developing produstshis indication. We cannot assure you that RIKACE is approved for this indication
NTM that it will be able to compete successfullyttie marketplace
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Competitors could develop and obtain FDA approvélpooducts containing amikacin, which could advetgeffect our competitive position in
all ARIKACE-related indications.

In the event there are other amikacin productsaygat by the FDA for any use, physicians may elegrescribe those products rather 1
ARIKACE to treat the indications for which ARIKACEay receive approval, which is commonly referredsmff-label use. Although FDA
regulations prohibit a drug company from promotiffglabel use of its product, the FDA does not latrithe practice of medicine and as a result
cannot direct physicians as to what product toguiles to their patients. As a result, we wouldd&mited ability to prevent any off-label use of a
competitor's product to treat diseases for whichhaee received FDA approval, even if such use téslaur patents or orphan drug exclusivity for
the use of amikacin to treat such diseases. Thiklmegatively affect our results of operationbuosiness.

Competitors could develop and obtain FDA approvébatibiotic products that are more effective, saféolerable or more convenient or less
expensive than our products in development or érgtproducts, which could adversely affect our coetipive position in all ARIKACE-related
indications.

There are potential competitive products, both aped and in development, which include oral, systeor inhaled antibiotic products to
treat chronic respiratory infections dueRseudomonas.If any of our competitors develops a product teahore effective, safer, tolerable or,
convenient or less expensive than ARIKACE, it woathVersely affect our ability to generate revenWés.also may face lower priced generic
competitors if third-party payors encourage usgesreric or lower-priced versions of our producif @ompeting products are imported into the US
from Canada, Mexico or other countries.

FDA approval of products that treat the underlyirgause of CF could reduce the market opportunity #RIKACE.

In January 2012, the FDA approved Kalydeco (ivaeatty Vertex as the first drug approved to tresttgnts with the G551D mutation of
CF, which affects about 4% of CF patients. Vedkso is studying Kalydeco, in combination with dratdrug candidate, for a more common CF
mutation. We cannot predict the potential effeftKalydeco or similar products approved in theufeton inhaled antibiotic use in CF. It is poss
that these therapies could decrease the numbeoponion of CF patients who acquiPseudomonalking infections and thereby decrease the
market for inhaled antibiotics like ARIKACE.

If another party obtains orphan drug exclusivity f@ product that is essentially the same as a prodwe are developing for a particulz
indication, we may be precluded or delayed from eoercializing the product in that indication.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat ad&ease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fevan 200,000 individuals in the US. See “Busire@®vernment Regulation—Orphan Drugs—
United States.” The company that obtains the firatketing approval from the FDA for a designatgghan drug for a rare disease receives
marketing exclusivity for use of that drug for tthesignated condition for a period of seven ye&imilar laws exist in EU with a term of ten
years. See “Business—Government Regulation—Orphags—Europe.” If a competitor obtains approvathe same drug for the same
indication or disease before us, we would be piitdddfrom obtaining approval for our product fowea or more years, unless our product can be
shown to be clinically superior. In addition, mdhan one drug may be approved by the FDA for #imesorphan indication or disease as long as
the drugs are different drugs. As a result, efené of our products is approved and receivesammirug exclusivity, as ARIKACE was for
treating CF patients witRseudomonasthe FDA may approve different drugs for use @ating the same indication or disease covered by ou
product, which could adversely affect our competitposition.

Our research, development and manufacturing actiegt used in the production of ARIKACE involve thee of hazardous materials, which
could expose us to damages and materially adveraéfct our results of operations and financial cdition.

We are subject to numerous environmental, healthsafety laws and regulations, including those gung laboratory procedures and the
handling, use, storage, treatment and disposazdndous materials and wastes. Our research, gerefd and manufacturing activities for
ARIKACE involve the controlled use of hazardous emnetls and chemicals. We generally contract withdtparties for the disposal of these
materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate theofiglontamination or injury from these materials. abdition to any liability we could have for a
use by us of hazardous materials and chemicalspwd also potentially be liable for activities@ifr contract manufacturers or other third parties.
Any such liability, or even claims of such liabjlittould materially adversely affect our resultopérations and financial condition. We also could
incur significant costs associated with civil oindnal fines and penalties.
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In addition, we may incur substantial costs in otdecomply with current or future environmentaafth and safety laws and regulations.
These current or future laws and regulations mayainour research, development or production effdtailure to comply with these laws and
regulations also may result in substantial fines\gities or other sanctions.

We may be subject to product liability claims, amg have only limited product liability insurance.

The manufacture and sale of human therapeutic ptedivolve an inherent risk of product liabilitlains and associated adverse
publicity. We currently have only limited proddigthility insurance for our products. We do noblnif we will be able to maintain existing or
obtain additional product liability insurance orceptable terms or with adequate coverage agaitshiial liabilities. This type of insurance is
expensive and may not be available on acceptabitestelf we are unable to obtain or maintain sigfit insurance coverage on reasonable terms or
to otherwise protect against potential productiliighclaims, we may be unable to commercialize products. A successful product liability claim
brought against us in excess of our insurance egegiif any, may require us to pay substantial artsoand may materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operationprospects.

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Groti

We are dependent upon retaining and attracting ksgrsonnel, the loss of whose services could matisredversely affect our business, financ
condition, results of operations and prospects.

We depend highly on the principal members of otgrgific and management personnel, the loss of wlsesvices might significantly
delay or prevent the achievement of our reseameldpment or business objectives. Our succesndspin large part, on our ability to attract
retain qualified management, scientific and medieasonnel, and on our ability to develop and nad@inimportant relationships with commercial
partners, leading research institutions and kelyilligors. We will need to hire additional persehim anticipation of seeking regulatory approval
for and commercial launch of ARIKACE.

Competition for skilled personnel in our industryd market is very intense because of the numeroaisnaceutical and biotechnology
companies that seek similar personnel. These coegparay have greater financial and other resoucffes, a greater opportunity for career
advancement and have a longer history in the ingltisan we do. We also experience competitiontertiring of our scientific and clinical
personnel from universities, research instituti@ms] other third parties. We cannot assure thavilattract and retain such persons or maintain
such relationships.

As described under “—If we fail to meet the conéduisting requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Mgrker common stock may be
delisted from Nasdaq and the value of our commockstnay decrease,” we made equity awards to kesopeel and directors and portions of
certain of these equity awards were deemed to bgdass of our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan per pessbrimits. We are requesting that our
shareholders approve, at our 2013 annual meetisgarEholders, the excess portions of certainequiards. If our shareholders do not ratify and
approve the affected portions of such awards, owrent affected officers and directors agreed shah portions would be deemed forfeited. Such
forfeiture could make it difficult for us to retathe services of the affected key personnel, pdaity if we are otherwise unable to provide them
with equity compensation that is competitive while market place. In addition, such forfeitures meduce the morale of the affected recipients
may cause a more widespread reduction in employeale; which could make it more difficult for usretain qualified employees and to hire
qualified employees in the future. Our inabilityretain and attract qualified employees would harmbusiness.

We expect to expand our development, regulatory &rtdre sales and marketing capabilities, and asesult, we may encounter difficulties in
managing our growth, which could disrupt our opeiahs.

We expect that our potential expansion into areasaativities requiring additional expertise, sashfurther clinical trials, governmental
approvals, manufacturing, sales, marketing andiligton will place additional requirements on eaanagement, operational and financial
resources. Future growth would impose signifieatded responsibilities on members of managemesttidimg the need to identify, recruit,
maintain, motivate and integrate additional empésy\lso, our management may need to divert aalgptionate amount of its attention away
from our day-to-day activities and devote a sulisthamount of time to managing these growth atiisi We may not be able to effectively
manage the expansion of our operations, which msyltrin weaknesses in our infrastructure, give tisoperational mistakes, loss of business
opportunities, loss of employees and reduced ptodiycamong remaining employees.
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The anticipated commercialization of ARIKACE ane tthevelopment of additional product candidatesmduire significant expenditures
by us and place a strain on our resources. Ihmmagement is unable to effectively manage ouvities in anticipation of commercialization, as
well as our development efforts, we may incur highan expected expenditures or other expensesuariolisiness may otherwise be adversely
affected.

Risks Related to our Common Stock and Listing on th Nasdaq Capital Market
The market price of our stock has been and may @on¢ to be highly volatile.

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capitakktaunder the ticker symbol INSM. The market pii¢@ur stock has been and may
continue to be highly volatile, and could be subfjeavide fluctuations in price in response to gas factors, many of which are beyond our cor
These factors may include:

« Our listing status on the Nasdaq Capital Market;

« Results of our clinical studies and preclinicaldi#s, or those of our corporate partners or ourpeiitors;

« Delays in timing of pre-clinical, clinical develogmt and regulatory filings and delays regardinginability to obtain potential approvals
« Strategic business decisions;

« Developments in our relationships with corporatermas;

« Developments affecting our corporate partners;

« Negative regulatory action or regulatory approvahwespect to our announcement or our compe’ announcements of new products;
« Government regulation, reimbursement changes anergmental investigation or audits related to usarur products;

« Developments related to our patents or other petgny rights or those of our competitors;

« Other competitive developments;

« Reports issued by and changes in the positionafréiees analysts with respect to our stock or ¢feann stock ownership by investors;
« Operating results below the expectations of séearénalysts and investors; and

« The need or perceived need to raise additionatadapi

In addition, the stock market has from time to tiexperienced extreme price and volume fluctuatioméch have particularly affected the
market prices for emerging biotechnology and phasutical companies like us, and which have oft@mherelated to their operating
performance. These broad market fluctuations ndagsely affect the market price of our commonlstoc

Historically, when the market priceao$tock has been volatile, shareholder are moetylik institute securities and derivative classoac
litigation against the issuer of such stock. I§afour shareholders were to institute a lawsgéiast us, we could incur substantial costs defendi
the lawsuit. Any lawsuit could divert the time aattention of our management.

Future sales of substantial amounts of common stackhe public market, or the possibility of suclales occurring, could also adversely affect
prevailing market prices for our common stock or iofuture ability to raise capital through an offerig of equity securities

At the time of our merger with Transave, certaimfer Transave stockholders holding approximateBt 40 our shares of common stock
as of December 1, 2010, entered into lock-up asamgts with us in connection with the merger. [Biok-up arrangements expired on May 30,
2012, and these shareholders may now generallpstspf all their shares freely except to the extieait any such shareholder is an affiliate of the
Company. Such Transave stockholders have theibehefregistration rights agreement dated Decemib2010, pursuant to which the Transave
stockholders may, subject to certain conditiongyir@ us to file registration statements covertngresale of their shares of common stock or to
include their shares of common stock in registratitatements that we may file for ourselves orrosteckholders. We have also granted certain
registration rights to Hercules in respect of ttenant issued to them in connection with our Logne®ment.
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If we fail to meet the continued listing requireménof the Nasdaq Capital Market, our common stockyrbe delisted from the Nasdaqg Capi
Market, which may cause the value of an investmenbur common stock to decreas

As a result of the events described below or fbepteasons not currently known to us, Nasdaq reggrahine that we have not met the
continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Caplrket. If a delisting from the Nasdaqg Capitahitet were to occur, our common stock may
be eligible, upon the application of a market maketrade on the OTC Bulletin Board or in the ‘lpgheets.” These alternative markets are
generally considered to be less efficient than,rastchs broad as, the Nasdaq Capital Market. Tdreredelisting of our common stock from the
Nasdaq Capital Market could adversely affect thditrg price of our common stock and could limit liiqeiidity of our common stock and therefc
could cause the value of an investment in our comstock to decrease.

On October 12, 2012, the Nasdagq staff issued &iLettReprimand to us pursuant to Nasdagq Listinkg B810(c)(4), based on its
noncompliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(d).e Tietter of Reprimand related to the registeredatifinancing we closed on September 28,
2012. In that financing, we issued 6,304,102 shafeommon stock to three investors. The priogtath the common stock was sold in the
financing was $4.07 per share, equal to the cldsidgrice for our common shares on the day padhe issuance. On October 5, 2012, we
received telephonic notice from our outside counsehe transaction that the Nasdaq staff hadnméor such counsel of the staff's belief that the
sale of the shares did not comply with Nasdaq ihgsRule 5365(d). The staff's concern was basethetfiact that the shares were sold at a price
that was below the book value per share of ouksasaeflected in our Form 10-Q for the quarterezhdune 30, 2012. As a result, it was the staff’
belief that, pursuant to the Nasdaq Listing Ruleswere not permitted to issue 20% or more of atstanding common shares in the financing,
even though the sales price per share was eqtla tmarket value per share on the date immediptelyeding the issuance. The Staff previously
informed us that, having issued the Letter of Reprid to us, it considered the matter closed.

In connection with a recent review by us of eqaitynpensation awards made by us under our AmendeReastated 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan, as amended (the “2000 Stock Incentive Plgmilsuant to which we may grant stock-based awardar employees, executive officers,
directors and certain of our advisors and serviogigers, we determined that we had inadvertentgeeded the annual per-person sub-limits set
forth in the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan in connattiath awards previously made to certain of ourenr and past officers and directors. The
aggregate amount of common stock represented bg theards in excess of the per person annual sulis;livhich consisted of restricted stock,
RSUs and stock options, is approximately 1.6 nrillkbares. The awards that we determined excebdgabt person sub-limits included certain
awards issued immediately following our businesslzioation with Transave, awards negotiated with hees pursuant to employment
agreements or offers of employment, and certaiaravards made subsequent to our 2011 one-foetamse stock split. We have not exceeded
the aggregate maximum share limit approved by sladders under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (ctyré;925,000 shares of common stock),
whether as a result of previously-issued awardsimently outstanding awards.

On March 12, 2013, we notified Nasdaq of the granésiously made in excess of the annual per-pesabrimits provided for by the
2000 Stock Incentive Plan. We believe that a dmtiby us to increase the annual sub-limits wowdehconstituted an immaterial amendment to
the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, which amendment évaot have required shareholder approval undeicgipé Nasdaq guidance. However,
because the grant of certain awards exceeded lthinsits applicable at the time the grants were eyéidis possible that Nasdaq will conclude that
we issued securities pursuant to the 2000 Stoanhtine Plan without shareholder approval in viaatof Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c).

In a March 13, 2013 letter to Nasdag, we submi#teemediation and compliance plan, which we refexstour remediation plan, to
address the grants made in excess of the 2000 Btoektive Plan sub-limits. Among other items, mmediation plan conditions the continued
vesting and exercise of the portion of each equotypensation award issued to our current emplogeéslirectors in excess of the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan’s sub-limits on approval by our genlders of such portion of the affected grantut shareholders do not ratify and approve the
affected portions of such awards, such portionsldvba deemed forfeited.
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We cannot assure you that Nasdaq will not deternairtgelist us or issue us another reprimand l@tteonnection with our grants of equity
awards to certain employees and directors in exafetsee annual per-person sub-limits provided foour 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. If either of
these things were to occur, it could have a mdtadeerse effect on the trading price and liquidityour common stock.

The ownership interest of existing shareholders viié diluted by the exercise of warrants and opsassued by us or to the extent that we issue
additional common stock in connection with any offiegs of securities, strategic transactions, or ettwise.

As of February 28, 2013, warrants issued by usiire 2012 to Hercules were exercisable at a pri§2 &4 per share for up to
approximately 329,932 shares of our common st&kch warrants expire on June 29, 2017.

As of February 28, 2013, 2,180,310 shares of oonmason stock are potentially issuable under outstanpdestricted stock units and st
options to our employees, officers, directors amasaltants.

The conversion or exercise of some or all of ourargs, restricted stock units and options wilutilthe ownership interests of existing
shareholders. Any sales in the public market ofcttramon stock issuable upon such conversion ociseecould adversely affect prevailing mai
prices of our common stock.

Additionally, our Articles of Incorporation curréptauthorize us to issue up to 500 million commbares. As of February 28, 2013 we
had 31,563,278 shares of common stock outstandinghe extent that we issue additional commonksitoconnection with any offerings of
securities, strategic transactions, or otherwlse oiwvnership interest of existing shareholders lvélfurther diluted.

Historically we have not paid dividends on our coromstock, and we have no plans to pay dividendthimforeseeable future

We have never declared or paid any cash dividensliorommon stock and do not currently intend tsddor the foreseeable future.
currently anticipate that we will retain any futuearnings for the development, operation and expansf our business and do not antici
declaring or paying any cash dividends for the deemble future. Therefore, the success of antimees in shares of our common stock
depend upon any future appreciation in their vallieere is no guarantee that shares of our commock svill appreciate in value or even main
the price at which our stockholders have purchéseid shares.

Certain provisions of Virginia law and our articlesf incorporation and amended and restated bylawsiid hamper a third party’s acquisition
of, or discourage a third party from attempting s&xquire control of us.

Certain provisions of Virginia law and our articlesincorporation and amended and restated bylawkldhamper a third party’s
acquisition of, or discourage a third party frorteatpting to acquire control of us or limit the grithat investors might be willing to pay for shares
of our common stock. These provisions include:

« A provision allowing us to issue preferred stockhwights senior to those of the common stock wittemy further vote or action by the
holders of the common stock. The issuance of medestock could decrease the amount of earningassets available for distribution to
the holders of common stock or could adverselycatfee rights and powers, including voting righikthe holders of the common stock.
certain circumstances, such issuance could haveffiset of decreasing the market price of the comistock;

« The existence of a staggered board of directonghich there are three classes of directors sestaggered three-year terms, thus
expanding the time required to change the compuwsitf a majority of directors and perhaps discoimggomeone from making an
acquisition proposal for u

« Our amended and restated bylaws’ requirement tiaatholders provide advance notice when nominaliregtor candidates to serve on
our Board of Directors

« The inability of shareholders to convene a shaddrsl meeting without the chairman of the board,ghesident or a majority of the board
of directors first calling the meeting; a

« The application of Virginia law prohibiting us froemtering into a business combination with the beiat owner of 10% or more of our
outstanding voting stock for a period of three geater the 10% or greater owner first reachedléved of stock ownership, unless we
meet certain criterie
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In addition, we previously had a “poison pill” skapblder rights plan, which expired in May 2011. ©n¥irginia law, our Board of
Directors may implement a new shareholders riglats without shareholder approval. Our Board of Bioes intends to regularly consider this
matter, even in the absence of specific circumssioc takeover proposals, to facilitate its futaipdity to quickly and effectively protect
shareholder value.

Other Risks Related to our Business

On January 30, 2013, our Board received a letterpartedly on behalf of one of our shareholders whtade a demand on the Board to
investigate and take appropriate remedial measureeelation to our 2012 grant of stock options totMWill Lewis, our President and Chief
Executive Officer. If this purported shareholdenitiates litigation against us, or if we become gabt to other litigation or legal proceedings
connection with our grants of stock options in exaseof our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan sub-limits, w@uld be required to expend significant
resources in connection with defending any suclidétion or other legal proceedings, and any unfaade outcome in any such litigation or
other legal proceedings could materially adverseffect our business, financial condition or resultsf operations.

On January 30, 2013, our Board received a lettggqutedly on behalf of one of our shareholders who made aaddron the Board to
rescind certain stock options granted to our Pesgidnd CEO, Mr. Lewis, in excess of our 2000 Stockntive Plan sub-limits and to adopt and
implement adequate internal controls designedagepnt future issuances in excess of our 2000 Stmektive Plan sub-limits. Upon receipt of the
demand letter, our Board formed a special commdféedependent directors, which we refer to asSpecial Committee, to investigate the
allegations in the letter and, if necessary, tom@mend necessary and appropriate remediation nesastihe Special Committee retained couns
assist it in its investigation. The Special Contestdetermined that we had inadvertently excedu=@@00 Stock Incentive Plan’s annual per-
person sub-limit applicable to the stock optiorenged to Mr. Lewis. Separately, on its own ititi@, the Special Committee investigated grants
that were not addressed in the demand letter tatetérmined that we had inadvertently grantedagedther equity awards that exceeded annual
per-person sub-limits. Following its investigatitine Special Committee made recommendations t@oard. On March 7, 2013, our Board
approved a remediation and compliance plan thatighes for various remediation measures, include@usng the waiver and consent agreements
entered into by our current affected employeesdarettors, as well as obtaining shareholder apprafhe affected portion of certain equity
awards granted under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

We cannot assure you that the purported sharehetdeisent the demand letter, or our other sharem®lor other parties, will not initiate
litigation or other legal proceedings, despite mediation efforts relating to the option gramtd/ir. Lewis or the other issues relating to options
described above. Litigation and other legal prdeggs can be expensive, lengthy and disruptiveotonal business operations. Moreover, the
results of complex legal proceedings are diffitalpredict. Responding to lawsuits or other lggakeedings brought against us or our Board ¢
be expensive and time-consuming. Unfavorable onésofrom these claims or lawsuits or other legateedings could materially adversely affect
our business financial condition or results of agiens, and we could incur substantial monetabjlltg or be required to change our business
practices, among other remedies that might be ieghos

We have identified a material weakness in our intat control over the administration, accounting amalversight of our 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan, and our business and stock price may be mialr adversely affected if we do not adequatelyegss this material weakness or if we he
other material weaknesses or significant deficieesiin our internal control over financial reporting

As a public company, we are required, pursuanetdi@n 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, taifh a report by management on,
among other things, the effectiveness of our irtecontrol over financial reporting. In connectiwith our review of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2012, we determinativtie did not adequately implement certain coneks the administration, accounting and
oversight of our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, andhaee therefore concluded that a material weakmesariinternal control over financial reporting
existed as of December 31, 2012. The existent@br one or more other material weaknessegoifgant deficiencies in our internal control
over financial reporting could result in errorsoiar financial statements, and substantial costsesmlirces may be required to rectify any internal
control deficiencies. Until we have been ableetst the operating effectiveness of remediatednaterontrols and ensure the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, any materiakmesses may materially adversely affect our ghidireport accurately our financial condition
and results of operations in a timely and reliabnner. In addition, although we continually rewi@nd evaluate internal control systems to allow
management to report on the sufficiency of ourritdécontrols, we cannot assure you that we willdiscover additional weaknesses in our inte
control over financial reporting. Any such addit& weakness or failure to remediate the existiagenel weakness could materially adversely
affect our ability to comply with applicable finaatreporting requirements and the requirementsuofvarious agreements. Further, if we cannot
produce reliable financial reports, investors cdakk confidence in our reported financial inforimat the market price of our stock could decline
significantly, we may be unable to obtain additidivancing to operate and expand our businesspandbusiness, financial condition and result
operations could be materially harmed.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We currently lease a facility totaling 27,035 sauiget of laboratory and office space at 9 Deek Paive in Monmouth Junction, New
Jersey. The lease expires in December 2014. ¥édedse approximately 1,350 sq. ft. of lab spadd deer Park Drive, which also expires in
December 2014. The additional space at 11 Deer Bk is utilized to support the manufacturing geges of ARIKACE for our clinical programs.

We also lease approximately 18,000 square feefficEspace in Richmond, Virginia. The lease egpiin October 2016. Our corporate
headquarters were formerly located in Richmonda®itlosed this facility and are attempting to stitiies space.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Cacchillo v. Insmed

On October 6, 2010, a complaint was filed agaisdtyuAngeline Cacchillo (“Plaintiff”) in the U.S.iftrict Court for the Northern District
of New York (the “Court”), captione@acchillo v. Insmed, In¢.No. 1:10-cv0199, seeking monetary damages and a court orgeirireg Insmed t
support Plaintiff's compassionate use applicatmthe FDA and if approved, to provide Plaintiff wiPLEX. Plaintiff was a participant in the
phase Il clinical trial of IPLEX sponsored by usating the effectiveness of the investigatiorralgdn patients with type 1 myotonic muscular
dystrophy (“MMD”). In the complaint, Plaintiff aged (i) violation of constitutional due procesd aqual protection by depriving Plaintiff of
continued access to IPLEX, (ii) fraudulent inducetrte enter the phase Il clinical trial with thésfapromise to support Plaintiff's compassionate
use application to the FDA, (iii) negligent repnession that we would support Plaintiff's compassite use application, (iv) breach of contract,
seeking monetary and non-monetary damages, (W)tiatel infliction of emotional distress by refugito support Plaintiff’'s compassionate use
application after providing IPLEX, (vi) violationf@an assumed duty of care to Plaintiff, (vii) bread fiduciary duty to Plaintiff, (viii) negligence
and (ix) unjust enrichment. Plaintiff seeks congatary and punitive monetary damages and soughtdtipn relief as noted above.

On October 7, 2010, Plaintiff filed a motion fopeeliminary injunction that would require us to pide a written statement supporting the
“compassionate use” of IPLEX for Plaintiff and ditieg us to provide IPLEX to Plaintiff at cost imet event that the compassionate use application
were granted by the FDA. On October 22, 2010Qbert denied Plaintiff’s motion for the preliminainjunction concluding that the Court lacked
subject matter jurisdiction with respect to heiiraldor a preliminary injunction. Plaintiff appeal¢éhe Courts denial of her motion for a prelimine
injunction to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the &ed Circuit, which affirmed the trial court’s ordéenying the Plaintiff's motion for a preliminary
injunction.
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We filed a motion with the Court to dismiss alltbé outstanding claims, and on June 29, 2011, thet@ismissed six of Plaintiff's
claims, leaving outstanding the claims for (i) flalent inducement, (ii) negligent misrepresentatanrd (iii) breach of contract. We filed an ans
and affirmative defenses with the Court on July2(PL1. Plaintiff's claim for monetary damages witispect to these claims remains outstanding.
The parties completed discovery on or about Ju2®12. We filed a Motion for Summary Judgment argést 1, 2012 seeking judgment in our
favor on the three claims remaining in the casethadnotion was fully submitted on October 9, 20@8.January 19, 2013, the Court granted our
Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed all efdahtstanding claims. Plaintiff filed a Notice oppeal on March 15, 2013. We expect tha
parties will submit briefs before the end of 200&h a decision expected sometime in the first bA2014.

Pilkiewicz v. Transave LLC

On March 28, 2011, Frank G. Pilkiewicz and othenfer stockholders of Transave (collectively, theti®oners”)filed an appraisal actic
against our subsidiary Transave, LLC in the Delasaourt of Chancery captionédank G. Pilkiewicz, et al. v. Transave, LL.C.A. No. 6319€S.
On December 13, 2011, following the mailing of theised notice of appraisal rights in accordandé ttie settlement terms bfackinson et al. v.
Insmec, Petitioners filed an Amended Petition for Appahisf Stock.

The Petitioners seek appraisal under Delaware fatve@r common stock holdings, representing apprately 7.77 million dissenting
shares of Transave, Inc. common stock (the “Tram&iuck”). The Petitioners have challenged theevalithe consideration that they would be
entitled to receive for their Transave Stock urtterterms of the merger.

Under the terms of the merger agreement, certaineoformer stockholders of Transave (the “Trans@teekholders”) are obligated to
indemnify us for certain liabilities in connectiarith the appraisal action. Certain indemnificataord other obligations of the Transave Stockho
were secured by a holdback of 1.76 million shafesio common stock. In May 2012, we notified th@dsave Stockholders that we are seeking
indemnification from them and that we will contintgeretain all 1.76 million holdback shares as s&ctor any indemnification payments due to
us. Discovery is ongoing and the trial is schedidebegin September 30, 2013. We believe the ail@gs contained in the amended petition are
without merit and we intend to continue to vigorguefend this action. It is not possible at tiirise to estimate the amount of loss or range of
possible loss, if any, that might result from anexde resolution of this action.

From time to time, we are a party to various othessuits, claims and other legal proceedings thiaé én the ordinary course of our
business. Management does not expect that tmeatiéticosts to resolve these matters will materadiyersely affect our business, financial
position, or results of operations.

ITEM 4.  Not Applicable
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our trading symbol is “INSM.” Our common stockdes on the Nasdaq Capital Market. In March 20dllgwing our reverse stock split,
our stock temporarily traded under the symbol “INSM for a period of 20 days. The following tabist$ the high and low sale prices per share
for our common stock on a quarterly basis as reparh the Nasdaqg Capital Market for both 2012 @1dL.2 The first quarter 2011 prices have t
adjusted for a one-for-ten reverse stock split thak place on March 2, 2011.
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Fiscal Year 2012 High Low

Fourth Quarte $ 827 $ 4.4¢
Third Quartel 4.5¢ 2.8¢€
Second Quarte 4,92 2.6€
First Quarte 5.5C 3.04
Fiscal Year 2011 High Low

Fourth Quarte $ 52: $ 2.64
Third Quartel 12.62 3.2C
Second Quarte 13.5( 6.7(C
First Quarte 6.8¢ 4.6¢

On February 28, 2013, the last reported sale jioiceur common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Marle $6.16 per share. As of Febru
28, 2013, there were 154 holders of record of ounraon stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oo@mumon stock. We anticipate that we will retalinearnings, if any, to support
operations and to finance the growth and developwieour business for the foreseeable future. @loee, we do not currently expect to pay cash
dividends from earnings. Any future determinat&nto the payment of dividends will be at the stideretion of our board of directors and will
depend on our financial condition, results of ofierss, capital requirements and other factors @art of directors deems relevant, as well as any
contractual or other restrictions to which we mayshbject.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN™

Amonglnsmed Incorporated, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the NASDAQ
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2100 invested on 12731007 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31,

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data reflects oansolidated statements of operations and consetidalance sheets as of and for the years ende
December 31, 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008.datebelow should be read in conjunction with, smglialified by reference to,

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” and our cdadatéd financial statements and notes
thereto contained elsewhere in this Annual Repofarm 10-K.
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Year Ended December 3
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share d

Historical Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue! $ - $ 4417 $ 6,921 $ 10,370 % 11,69¢
Operating expense

Research and developme 29,78: 28,62 4,70z 9,017 20,85t

General and administrati 12,65: 11,52: 10,31: 10,03( 5,25¢

Impairment loss - 25,99( - - -
Total operating expenses 42,43¢ 66,1 3¢ 15,01 19,047 26,11(
Operating los! (42,439 (61,719 (8,097) (8,679 (14,41
Gain on sale of asset, r 5 1 - 127,47: -
Investment incom 1,82z 2,064 1,84t 80¢ 50C
Interest expens (763%) (20 (209 (787) (1,256
Loss on investments - - - - (500)
(Loss) income before income tay (41,379 (59,669 (6,356 118,82 (15,66
Income tax expense - - (78) (477) -
Net (loss) incom: (41,379 (59,66¢) (6,434 118,35( (15,66)
Accretion of beneficial conversion feature - (9,175 - - -
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockbs $ (41,379 $ (68,839 $ (6,439 $ 118,35( $ (15,66)
Basic and diluted net (loss) income attributabledmmon

stockholders per share (1) $ (1.56) $ (2.95 $ (049 $ 931 $ (1.2€)
Weighted average basic and diluted common shares

outstanding (1) 26,54¢ 23,34¢ 13,25( 12,71: 12,21
Historical Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $ 90,78: $ 76,27: % 108,04¢ $ 122,18. $ 2,397
Certificate of depos $ 2,15: % 2,08t $ 2,17¢ $ 2,08t $ 2,08t
Total asset $ 153,56. $ 139,830 $ 196,26! $ 126,69 $ 4,75¢
Shor-term debt ,ne $ 3,000 $ - % - $ - % 1,61¢
Long-term debt, ne $ 16,22. $ - % - $ - % 487
Net Stockholders' equity (deficit) ( $ 120,88: $ 134,260 $ 192,84: $ 12391 $ (2,829

(1) During the first quarter of 2011, our boafdirectors authorized a one-ftan reverse stock split. All share and per shareusnts includet
in the above selected financial data give retreaatifect to the or-for-ten stock split for all periods present
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion also should be read inwaction with our consolidated financial statemeatsl the notes thereto.

OVERVIEW

Insmed is a biopharmaceutical company focused waldging and commercializing inhaled therapieggfatients battling serious lung
diseases that are often life-threateni@gr lead product candidate, ARIKACE or liposomalileamnin for inhalation, is an inhaled antibioticateen
that delivers a proven and potent anti-infectivectly to the site of serious lung infections tgnove the efficacy, safety and convenience of this
therapeutic approach for patients.

Currently, we are conducting clinical trials forchnitial indications for this product in orphantigat populations: a phase 3 clinical tria
CF patients who have lung infections cause®®gudomonas aerugino§®seudomonasand a phase 2 clinical trial in patients who hiavey
infections caused by non-tuberculous mycobact&id). Our strategy is to continue to develop ARIKEBGor additional indications beyond
Pseudomonain CF and NTM. Our primary development focus i®bdain regulatory approval for ARIKACE for theseotinitial indications and
to prepare for commercialization initially in Euepnd Canada and eventually in the US. If appro&%BdKACE will be the first once-a-day
inhaled antibiotic treatment option available foese CF and NTM indications.

We were incorporated in the Commonwealth of Virgiah November 29, 1999. On December 1, 2010, welated a business combinat
with Transave, Inc. a privately held, New Jerbaged pharmaceutical company focused on the develapof differentiated and innovative inha
pharmaceuticals for the site-specific treatmergasfous lung infections. Our continuing operatiars based on the technology and products
historically developed by Transave. Our principa@itive offices are located at 9 Deer Park Di&ute C, Monmouth Junction, New Jersey
08852 and our phone number is (732) 997-4600. teriet address is www.insmed.com. On March 2, 28@&Icompleted a one-for-ten reverse
stock split of our common stock. Unless otherwisted, the per share amounts in this Annual RepoRarm 10-K give retroactive effect to the
reverse stock split for all periods presented.

KEY COMPONENTS OF OUR STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Revenues

We did not recognize any revenue in 2012, and atlyrélo not recognize any revenue from productssateother sources. Our revenue
2011 and 2010 consisted of cost recovery revenoesthe use of IPLEX ® in an Expanded Access PragigAP) we established in Italy to
provide IPLEX ® to physicians for use in their jgatis with Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) (tpiogram was discontinued in December
2011), and an upfront license payment received fEbeison Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Eleison) for teerising of our lipidccomplexed cisplatin and/
liposomal cisplatin products and technology to &fei.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist prirohsblaries, benefits and other related costdydireg stock-based compensation, for
personnel serving in our research and developnuactibns, and other internal operating expensesctst of manufacturing our drug candidatt
clinical study, the cost of conducting clinical dies, and the cost of conducting preclinical arsgaech activities. Our expenses related to
manufacturing our drug candidate for clinical stadg primarily related to activities at contractmaacturing organizations that manufacture
ARIKACE for our use. Our expenses related to chhirials are primarily related to activities antract research organizations that conduct and
manage clinical trials on our behalf. These comsraet forth the scope of work to be completedfateal fee or amount per patient enrolled.
Payments under these contracts primarily dependlynain performance criteria such as the successiullment of patients or the completion of
clinical trial milestones as well as time-basedfdexpenses are accrued based on contracted anaqutied to the level of patient enroliment and
to activity according to the clinical trial protdctonrefundable advance payments for goods oiicesthat will be used or rendered for future
research and development activities are deferrddtapitalized. Such amounts are then recognizeth @xpense as the related goods are delivered
or the services are performed, or when the goodsmices are no longer expected to be provided.

57




Index

Prior to 2011, we devoted substantially all of mesources to the research and development of aenuwhiproduct candidates in our
follow-on-biologics (FOB) platform and advancingrquroprietary protein platform into niche marketishaunmet needs. Since 2011, we have
focused our development activities principally am proprietary, advanced liposomal technology desigspecifically for inhalation lung delivery.
We are conducting three clinical trials: (1) a ghadrial in Europe and Canada in which we areuatalg ARIKACE in CF patients with
Pseudomonalung infections, (2) an open label extension studyhich patients that complete the phase 3 t@akehthe option to receive
ARIKACE for a period of two years and (3) a phaged in the US in which we are evaluating ARIKAG& NTM infections. Since our business
combination with Transave, our research and devedop expenses for our ARIKACE program were appraxéty $44.0 million. We expect that
our development efforts in 2013 and 2014 will piiadly relate to the use of ARIKACE in the CF andM indications.

Our clinical trials with ARIKACE are subject to nemous risks and uncertainties that are outsideio€ontrol, including the possibility
that necessary regulatory approvals may not bergata In addition, the duration and the cost ofichl trials may vary significantly from trial to
trial over the life of a project as a result offéitnces in the study protocol for each trial a agdifferences arising during the clinical trial
including, among others, the following:

« the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trial;

« the duration of patient follow-up that is deterndrie be appropriate in view of results;
« the number of clinical sites included in the trjals

« the length of time required to enroll suitable patisubjects; and

« the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

Our clinical trials may be subject to delays, mautarly if we are unable to produce clinical tnahterial in sufficient quantities and of
sufficient quality to meet the schedule for ounidal trials. Moreover, all of our product candielimust overcome significant regulatory,
technological, manufacturing and marketing chakenigefore they can be successfully commerciali&eg.significant delays that occur or
additional expenses that we incur may have a nadtmiliverse effect on our financial position and memuire us to raise additional capital soone
in larger amounts than is presently expected. Hitiad, as a result of the risks and uncertaintiated to the development and approval of our
product candidates and the additional uncertaingilzded to our ability to market and sell thesadpicts once approved for commercial sale, we are
unable to provide a meaningful prediction regardifgn, if at all, we will generate positive casfiaw from these projects.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piiyrafrsalaries, benefits and other related coetduting stock-based compensation, for
personnel serving in our executive, finance anadaicting, legal, market research, and human resdunmtions. General and administrative
expenses also include professional fees for legaliding patent-related expenses, consulting,rarste, board of director fees, tax and accounting
services. We expect that our general and admitiigtraxpenses will increase in order to suppontgased levels of development activities and
commencement of commercialization activities for product candidates.

Impairment Loss

Impairment loss consists of the write-down of therging amounts of in-process research and devedapiPR&D) and Goodwill
intangible assets. We use the multi-period exeassings method (“MPEEM”) for calculating impairméoss, which is a form of the income
approach to derive the fair value of IPR&D intarigiand goodwill assets. This approach calculates&ue by estimating future cash flows
attributable to the assets and then discountingetbash flows to a present value using a risk-tatjudiscount rate. We decided that a market based
valuation approach was not appropriate for ounfaia reporting because we do not have operatingnges or net income. The income approach
requires significant management judgment with resfmefuture volume, revenue and expense growtsrathanges in our working capital,
appropriate discount rates and other assumptiahgstimates. We believe the estimates and assumpiged in assessing impairment loss are
consistent with our business plans. The use ofwdifft estimates and assumptions would increasecoeakse the estimated fair value of our IPR
and might result in different effects on our reswlf operations. Our actual results of operatioay differ from management's estimates used in
assessing impairment loss.

58




Index
Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are amortized to interest eepasing the effective interest rate method owveteéhm of the debt. Our balance sheet
reflects debt net of debt issuance costs paidetdetider and reflects debt issuance costs paith&y third parties as other assets.

Investment Income and Interest Expense

Investment income consists of interest and dividendme earned on our cash, cash equivalents amtitelhm investments, along with
realized gains (losses) on the sale of investmémttrest expense consists primarily of interestxoelated to our debt and capital lease obligatio

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 201

Net loss attributable to common stockholders ferytbar ended December 31, 2012 was $41.4 millio8X&®6 per common share — basic
and diluted) compared with a net loss of $68.8iaril{or $2.95 per common share — basic and diluftdhe year ended December 31, 2011. The
net loss attributable to stockholders in 2012 idekiapproximately $2.9 million in severance cosited to the termination of certain executives
and employees. The net loss attributable to comstaekholders in 2011 includes a $26.0 million mash impairment loss for the write-down of
the carrying amounts our IPR&D and Goodwill intdrigiassets, a $9.2 million non-cash charge fob#reeficial conversion feature of our
previously outstanding Series B Preferred Stoakeidsn the Transave merger and approximately $ilmin expenses relating to our decisior
discontinue use of our Richmond, Virginia facility.

Revenue

We did not recognize any revenue for the year-efkmbmber 31, 2012. Our revenues in 2011 consigt®d.4 million of cost recovery
revenues from the use of IPLEX ® in an ExpandedeAsdrogram (EAP) we established in Italy to previeLEX ® to physicians for use in their
patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and & $nillion non-refundable upfront license paymesteived from Eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
for the licensing of our liposomal cisplatin protkiand technologyWe recorded this revenue during 2011 as we haddh&actual right to recei\
it and we have no continuing involvement under kicisnsing agreement.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the yedesl ®ecember 31, 2012 and 2011, comprised thefioly:

Year Endec
December 31 Increase (Decreas
2012 2011 $ %
(in thousands

Clinical developmen $ 14,08. $ 16,83t $ (2,759 -16%
Clinical manufacturing 7,25¢ 4,79(C 2,46¢ 51%
Regulatory and quality assurar 34 10€ (72 -68%
Compensation and related 8,417 6,89 1,52( 22%
$ 29,78. $ 28,62. $ 1,15¢ 4%

Research and development expenses increased ®réifiion in 2012 from $28.6 million in 2011. Degpian increase in clinical trial
activity in 2012, our overall clinical developmerpenses decreased by $2.8 million. This decraserimarily attributable to study start-up
expenses incurred in 2011 related to the ARIKACRseh3 clinical trial in a US CF patient populatéord the costs incurred to establish and initiate
our phase 3 CF clinical trial in Europe and Canatiae 2012 clinical development costs include chhirial expenses and enrollment milestone
our phase 3 CF clinical study in Europe and Canthdagpen label CF extension study, as well apbase 2 NTM clinical study in the
US. Clinical manufacturing expenses increased2§ fhillion from 2011 to 2012 as we produced a mreaumber of ARIKACE lots for use in o
studies. The decrease in regulatory and qual@yrasce expenses of $0.1 million in the year er2®@ compared with 2011 was attributable to
the regulatory planning associated with the clingtadies noted above. The $1.5 million increaseompensation and related expenses is
attributable to increases in employee separatistscncluding severance and related benefitsfauailities costs.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased2d $illion in 2012 from $11.5 million in 2011. &2012 results included
approximately $2.2 million in severance expenskded to the departure of several executives armla@mes. The 2011 results included $1.2
million in charges related to our decision to dismue use of our Richmond, Virginia facility. &uldition, total professional fees decreased by $0.7
million from 2011 to 2012 as a result of lower lefges.

Impairment Loss

We recorded a $26.0 million non-cash impairmers ia2011 due to the decline in the fair value wfin-process research and
development, or IPR&D intangible and goodwill assdtis decline in fair value resulted from the &opof the clinical hold placed on our phase 3
studies of ARIKACE by the FDA in August 2011. lanliary 2012, the FDA lifted the clinical hold on KRCE in patients with NTM lung
infections, and in May 2012, the FDA lifted thenatial hold on ARIKACE in the US for the treatmefitGF patients witHiPseudomonalsing
infections.

Investment Income

Investment income decreased to $1.8 million in 24t $2.1 million in 2011. The $0.3 million dease is a result of diminishing rates
of return on our short-term investments during 26d@pared to 2011.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to $0.8 million duri@t22compared to $0.0 million in 2011. The $0.8 imnillincrease was due to $20.0 mill
of borrowings ($10.0 million in June 2012 and $1®lion in December 2012) under our Loan and Siggdrgreement we entered into in June
2012.

Accretion of Beneficial Conversion Feature

During March 2011, our stockholders approved a gsapto convert all of our outstanding Series Bfétred Stock into common stock. In
connection with this approval, we recorded a $9ilkam non-cash charge in 2011 for the beneficial conversgature of our previously outstand
Series B Preferred Stock. The charge resulted fhendifference between the conversion price of3bees B Preferred Stock of $7.10 per share
and its carrying value of $6.10 per share. Theyaagrvalue of the Series B Preferred Stock wasdaseits fair value at issuance, which was
estimated using the common stock price reduced fack of marketability between the issuance datkthe anticipated date of conversion.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 201

Net loss attributable to common stockholders ferytbar ended December 31, 2011 was $68.8 millio8Z®5 per common share — basic
and diluted) compared with a net loss of $6.4 onill{or $0.49 per common share — basic and dildtedhe year ended December 31, 2010. The
net loss attributable to common stockholders in12@tluded a $26.0 million non-cash charge reléetthe impairment of our in process research
and development and a $9.2 million non-cash chiamgene beneficial conversion feature of our presily outstanding Series B Preferred Stock.

Revenue
For the year-ended December 31, 2011, revenudseddid.4 million, as compared with $68 million for the year-ended December 31,
2010. The $2.5 million reduction was primarily doea year-over-year decrease of $3.5 million istcecovery revenue from our IPLEX EAP in

Europe, offset by $1.0 million in license fees frtm licensing of patent technology related to GL8PLATIN Lipid Complex. Our IPLEX EAP
was discontinued in 2011.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased riiiton in 2011 from $4.7 million in 2010. Thedrease of $23.9 million in 2011 is
primarily attributable to the development of ARIKEGnNd the manufacturing of product to support ciihstudies. Clinical development expenses
increased by $15.6 million in 2011 as compared @{th0 as a result of study initiation and starfegs for ARIKACE plus the expenses for a
preclinical toxicology study associated with the IKRCE development program. In addition, a $4.3lion increase in clinical manufacturing
expenses from 2011 to 2010 was attributable tortéweufacturing of ARIKACE for use in our studies.

We also incurred greater compensation and relageenses of $4.4 million as a result of increasetibeunt associated with the
development of ARIKACE. In fact, overall researctdalevelopment headcount increased from approxiynaleas of December 31, 2010 to 28 as
of December 31, 2011.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increasedit® $dillion in 2011 from $10.3 million in 2010. &$1.2 million increase was due
primarily to a $1.2 million charge in the fourtharter of 2011 resulting from the closure of ourliRiond, Virginia facility.

Impairment Loss

In 2011 we recorded a $26.0 million non-cash impaint loss resulting from the decline in the failuesof our IPR&D intangible and
goodwill assets, due to the material impact oftémeporary clinical hold on our ARIKACE developmegmbgram. In January 2012, the FDA lifted
the clinical hold on ARIKACE in patients with NTMihg infections. In May 2012, the FDA lifted thénatal hold on ARIKACE in the US for the
treatment of CF patients witPseudomonalsing infections.

Investment Income and Interest Expense

Investment income, net of interest expense, inece&s $2.1 million in 2011 from $1.7 million in 201 The $0.3 million increase is a
result of improved returns on our short-term inestts despite a decrease in overall short-ternstment balances year over year. The reduction
in interest expense in 2011 compared with 2010eméisely due to the elimination of convertible rtevhich were fully repaid in March 2010.

Accretion of Beneficial Conversion Feature

In 2011, we recorded a $9.2 million non-cash chémgéhe beneficial conversion feature of our tioemstanding Series B Preferred
Stock. The charge resulted from the differencevben the conversion price of the Series B PrefeBtedk of $7.10 per share and its carrying v
of $6.10 per share. The carrying value of the SeBi®referred Stock was based on its fair valugsaance, which was estimated using the corr
stock price reduced for a lack of marketabilityvibextn the issuance date and the anticipated datnegrsion.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview

There is considerable time and cost associatdddeiteloping a potential drug or pharmaceuticatipeb to the point of regulatory
approval and commercialization. Historically, wavh funded our operations through public and peiydécements of equity securities, through
debt financing, from the proceeds from the saleuwffollow-on biologics (“FOB”) platform to Merckii2009 and from revenues related to sales of

product and our IPLEX EAP, which was discontinue@011. We expect to continue to incur lossesUmeave plan to fund research and
development activities and commercial launch attisj and we do not expect material revenues flast the next few years.
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As of December 31, 2012, we had total cash, casgivalgnts, and a certificate of deposit on han#3#.9 million, consisting of $90.7
million in cash and cash equivalents and $2.2 amilin a certificate of deposit, as compared witB.8Million of cash, cash equivalents, short term
investments and a certificate of deposit on hanaf &ecember 31, 2011, an increase of $14.5 millibhe $14.5 million (net) increase was due to
our financing activities during 2012, which includ$20.0 million of proceeds from our debt financamg $25.7 million of proceeds from the
issuance of common stock, which were partiallyetffsy the use of $31.0 million in operations. Owrking capital was $75.7 million as of
December 31, 2012, which excludes our certifich@deposit of $2.2 million that matures in July 2013

We believe we currently have sufficient funds teetaur financial needs for 2013. However, our bess strategy may require us to, or
we may otherwise determine to, raise additionaitabat any time through equity or debt financing&rategic transactions or otherwise. Such
additional funding may be necessary to continugetcelop our potential product candidates, to putisedicense or purchase of complementary
technologies, to commercialize our product canéislar to purchase other products. In additionmag determine to raise capital
opportunistically. We cannot assure you that adexjoapital will be available on favorable termsaball, when needed. If we are unable to obtain
sufficient additional funds when required, we mayfrced to delay, restrict or eliminate all oratjpn of our research or development programs,
dispose of assets or technology or cease operations

Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities was $31.0anjl$30.2 million and $7.7 million for the yeaeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively. The net cash used in operatitigities during 2012 and 2011 was primarily tioe clinical development of our lead product
candidate, ARIKACE, which included the advancen#mRIKACE in three clinical trials. The $22.5 ridn increase in net cash used in
operating activities in 2011 as compared to 2014ted primarily to the initiation of two clinicatials for the study of ARIKACE.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $6milion, $34.4 million and $6.0 million for the ges ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively. The net cash provided bgsiting activities in 2012 was primarily a resultie net sales of shorrm investments of $61
million. The net cash provided by investing actestin 2011 resulted from $35.3 million of net sabé short-term investments that were partially
offset by fixed asset purchases of $1.0 milliort thare primarily for leasehold improvements. Theassh provided by investing activities in 2010
was primarily a result of $12.7 million of net salef short-term investments that were partialleffboy $6.7 million of cash consideration paid to
stockholders as a result of our merger with Traesav

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitiezs $45.4 million, ($0.1) million and ($0.2) milh for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Net cash provigefinancing activities in 2012 included $20.dlion of proceeds from the issuance of debt
and $25.7 million of proceeds from the issuanceosfimon stock registered in a direct public offerid¢pt cash used in financing activities in 2011
was primarily a result of payments on capital lealsiggations. Net cash used in financing actigitie 2010 was due to the final repayment of the
2005 convertible notes.

On June 29, 2012, we and our domestic subsidiasesg-borrowers, entered into a Loan and Secfigtgement that allowed us to
borrow up $20.0 million in $10.0 million incremer{tboan Agreement”). We borrowed the first and set&10.0 million increments by signing
two Secured Promissory Notes (“Notes A and B”) oneJ29, 2012 and December 27, 2012, respectiveliedNA and B bear interest at 9.25%.
Note A is to be repaid over a-month period with the first twelve monthly paymenepresenting interest only followed by thirty ritdn equal
payments of principal and interest. Note B is tadyaid over a 36-month period with the first signthly payments representing interest only
followed by thirty monthly equal payments of pripal and interest. The interest only period is ecédate to December 31, 2013, contingent upon
completion of certain ARIKACE-related developmeritastones. The principal monthly repayments forésod and B are scheduled to begin on
August 1, 2013 and end on January 1, 2016. In atimmewith the Loan Agreement, we granted the lerdiirst position lien on all of our assets,
excluding intellectual property. Prepayment of lthens made pursuant to the Loan Agreement is sutigjg@enalty and we are required to pay an
“end of term” charge of $390,000.

Contractual Obligations

We have two operating leases for office and lalooyaépace located in Monmouth Junction, NJ thaiteate on December 31, 2014.
Future minimum rental payments under these twaeketstal approximately $1.4 million. We continodéase office space in Richmond, VA
where our corporate headquarters were previousbtéal. Future minimum rental payments under tlaisddotal approximately $1.9
million. During 2011, we recorded a net presetti@zharge of $1.2 million in general and admiiste expenses associated with vacating the
Richmond, VA facility.
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We executed two secured promissory notes tota@@gtmillion; $10.0 million in June 2012 and $1dlion in December 2012. We al
entered into three capital leases for lab equiprapdtleasehold improvements with monthly paymemtsugh December 2014. As of December
2012, future payments under the two promissorysyate capital leases and minimum future paymemdgmunoneancellable operating leases ar
follows:

As of December 31, 201

Payments Due By Perioc

Less than After
Total 1 year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years

(In thousands)

Debt obligations

Debt maturities $ 20,00C $ 3,000 $ 16,20 $ 78¢ $ -

Contractual interes 3,54¢ 1,762 1,777 6 -
Capital lease obligatior - -

Debt maturities 16€ 10z 64 - -

Contractual interes 1 1 - - -
Operating lease 3,312 1,18¢ 1,69¢ 42F

Purchase obligatior -

Total contractual obligations $ 27,02¢ % 6,060 $ 19,748 $ 1,21¢  $ -

This table does not include (a) any milestone mayswhich may become payable to third parties madelicense and collaboration
agreements as the timing and likelihood of suchrats are not known, (b) any royalty payments iral tharties as the amounts of such payments,
timing and/or the likelihood of such payments aseknown, and (c) contracts that are entered mtbé ordinary course of business which are not
material in the aggregate in any period preserbedea

We currently have a licensing agreement with PARIuse of the optimized eFlow Nebulizer Systemdigivery of ARIKACE in treating
patients with CF, bronchiectasis and NTM infectiolge have rights to several US and foreign isqednts, and patent applications involving
improvements to the optimized eFlow Nebulizer SysteéJnder the licensing agreement, PARI is entittetbceive payments either in cash,
qualified stock or a combination of both, at PARdiscretion, based on achievement of certain noitesevents including phase 3 trial initiation
(which occurred in 2012), first acceptance of MAMbBIission (or equivalent) in the US of ARIKACE ahé device, first receipt of marketing
approval in the US for ARIKACE and the device, dinst receipt of marketing approval in a major Edlintry for ARIKACE and the device, and
NDA acceptance and regulatory approval of ARIKAQE.addition, PARI is entitled to receive royaltgyments on commercial sales of ARIKA
pursuant to the licensing agreement.

In 2005 and 2009, we entered into a research fgraneements with Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Themtips, Inc. (CFFT) whereby we
received $1.7 million and $2.2 million for eachpestive agreement in research funding for the agreknt of its ARIKACE product. If
ARIKACE becomes an approved product for CF patientee US, we will owe a payment to CFFT of ug$i.4 million that is payable over a
three-year period after approval as a commercilizeg in the US. Furthermore, if certain salelestones are met within 5 years of the drug
commercialization approval in the US, we would ameadditional $3.9 million in additional paymen8ince there is significant development risk
associated with ARIKACE, we have not accrued tlasigations.

In 2009 and 2012, we entered into a cooperativeared and development agreement (CRADA) with Nafigmstitutes of Allergy and
Infectious Diseases (NIAID) to design and condugtghase 2 study of ARIKACE in patients with NTMIAD has also agreed to provide
biostatistical advisory input in connection witlkethhase 2 NTM study. If we decide not to continith ¥he commercialization of ARIKACE in
NTM, NIAID will have the right to complete the cleal trial. Further NIAID may elect to pursue itghts to obtain license rights to certi
inventions made under the CRADA.
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Future Funding Requirements

We may need to raise additional capital to fundaperations and to develop and commercialize ARIEA®ur future capital
requirements may be substantial and will depenchany factors, including:

. the decisions of the FDA and EMA with respect to applications for marketing approval of ARIKACEtime US and Europe; the costs of
activities related to the regulatory approval pescend the timing of approvals, if receiv

« the timing and cost of our anticipated clinicahksi of ARIKACE for the treatment of adult patiemtgh CF;

« the cost of putting in place the sales and margeatapabilities necessary to be prepared for a fat@ommercial launch of ARIKACE, if
approved

. thpepcost of filing, prosecuting and enforcing patdaims;

« the costs of our manufacturing-related activities;

« the costs associated with commercializing ARIKACke receive marketing approval; and

« subject to receipt of marketing approval, the Iseygining and collection of revenue received frates of approved products, if any, in the
future.

In June 2012, we filed a shelf registration statetno@ Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange i@@sion. This shelf registration
statement permits us to offer, from time to timey aombination of common stock, preferred stocktaecurities and warrants of up to an
aggregate of $75.0 million. In October 2012, warésd approximately $25.7 million worth of commoocst utilizing the shelf registration
statement. We believe we currently have sufficfantls to meet our financial needs for 2013. Hovewur business strategy may require us to, or
we may otherwise determine to, raise additionaitabat any time through equity or debt financifjg&rategic transactions or otherwise. Such
additional funding may be necessary to continugeteelop our potential product candidates, to putisedicense or purchase of complementary
technologies, to commercialize our product canéislar to purchase other products. In additionmag determine to raise capital
opportunistically. If we are unable to obtain aadial financing, we may be required to reduce ttape of our planned product development and
commercialization or our plans to establish a safesmarketing force, any of which could harm ausibess, financial condition and results of
operations. The source, timing and availabilityany future financing will depend principally upeguity and debt market conditions, interest rates
and, more specifically, our continued progressunregulatory, development and commercial actigiti#Ve cannot assure you that such capital
funding will be available on favorable terms oabit If we are unable to obtain sufficient addiiad funds when required, we may be forced to
delay, restrict or eliminate all or a portion ofr@asearch or development programs, dispose ofsass&chnology or cease operations.

To date, we have not generated any revenue fronKARE. We do not know when or if we will generateyaevenue. We do not expect
to generate significant revenue unless or untibiain marketing approval of, and commercialize |KWARCE.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any offalance sheet arrangements, other than operatingdethat have or are reasonably likely to haxerant or futur
material effect on our financial condition, reveawe expenses, results of operations, liquiditpjtehexpenditures or capital resources. We do not
have any interest in special purpose entitiescttrad finance entities or other variable intessttities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Preparation of financial statements in accordantte generally accepted accounting principles inW&requires us to make estimates and
assumptions affecting the reported amounts of sidéaghilities, revenues and expenses and theadists of contingent assets and liabilities. We
use our historical experience and other relevartbfa when developing our estimates and assumptifescontinually evaluate these estimates
assumptions. The amounts of assets and liabititjesrted in our consolidated balance sheets andrttounts of revenue reported in our
consolidated statements of comprehensive lossfiaeted by estimates and assumptions, which ar@ fesebut not limited to, the accounting for
research and development, revenue recognition fioeeonversion charge, stock-based compensaitiemtifiable intangible assets and goodwill,
and accrued expenses. The accounting policiesstisdibelow are considered critical to an understgraf our consolidated financial statements
because their application places the most sigmifidamands on our judgment. Actual results coiffdrdrom our estimates. For additional
accounting policies, see Note 2 to our Consolid&iedncial Statements — “Summary of Significant dwating Policies.”
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Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist prirohsblaries, benefits and other related costdydireg stock-based compensation, for
personnel serving our research and developmentifuns¢ and other internal operating expenses, ebeaf manufacturing our drug candidate for
clinical study, the cost of conducting clinical dies, and the cost of conducting preclinical arsgaech activities. Our expenses related to
manufacturing our drug candidate for clinical stadg primarily related to activities at contractmagacturing organizations that manufacture
ARIKACE for our use. Our expenses related to chhirials are primarily related to activities antract research organizations that conduct and
manage clinical trials on our behalf. These comsraet forth the scope of work to be completedfateal fee or amount per patient enrolled.
Payments under these contracts primarily dependlynain performance criteria such as the successiullment of patients or the completion of
clinical trial milestones as well as time-basedfdexpenses are accrued based on contracted anaqtied to the level of patient enroliment and
to activity according to the clinical trial protdco

Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or sertfizg will be used or rendered for future researahdevelopment activities are
deferred and capitalized. Such amounts are thegnized as an expense as the related goods averddlior the services are performed, or when
the goods or services are no longer expected podxéded.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues when all of the followingrfotteria are present: persuasive evidence ofi@mgement exists; delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered; the fee@sor determinable; and collectability is reaably assured.

Where we have continuing performance obligatiordenthe terms of a collaborative arrangement, edmadable upfront license
payments received upon contract signing are redoadedeferred revenue and recognized as reverthe edated activities are performed. The
period over which these activities are to be pentmt is based upon management’s estimate of théogewent period. Changes in management’s
estimate could change the period over which revéntecognized. Research and/or development pagnagatrecognized as revenues as the re
research and/or development activities are perfdramel when we have no continuing performance ofidiga related to the research and
development payment received.

Where we have no continuing involvement under &bolkative arrangement, we record nonrefundabdmtie fee revenues when we have
the contractual right to receive the payment, itoagance with the terms of the collaboration agesgrand record milestones upon appropriate
notification to us of achievement of the milestobgshe collaborative partner.

We recognize revenue from milestone payments welaemed, provided that (i) the milestone evenubstantive and its achievability was
not reasonably assured at the inception of thesageat and (ii) we do not have ongoing performartigations related to the achievement of the
milestone earned. Milestone payments are considerestantive if all of the following conditions areet: the milestone payment (a) is
commensurate with either the vendor’s performaoachieve the milestone or the enhancement ofdahe\of the delivered item or items as a
result of a specific outcome resulting from thed@rs performance to achieve the milestone, (lgtesl solely to past performance, and (c) is
reasonable relative to all of the deliverables paigiment terms (including other potential milestonesideration) within the arrangement. Any
amounts received under the agreement in advanperfifrmance, if deemed substantive, are recordeéfasred revenue and recognized as rev
as we complete our performance obligations.

With regard to recognizing revenue for multipleidedable revenue arrangements, each deliverablenaat multiple-deliverable revenue
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadtoofunting if both of the following criteria are tngl) the delivered item or items have value to
the customer on a standalone basis and (2) forrangement that includes a general right of retalative to the delivered item(s), delivery or
performance of the undelivered item(s) is considi@m®bable and substantially in our control.

In addition, multiple deliverable revenue arrangetr@mnsideration is allocated at the inceptionroharangement to all deliverables using
the relative selling price method. We also appbeliing price hierarchy for determining the sellimice of a deliverable, which includes (1) vendor-
specific objective evidence, if available, (2) thjparty evidence, if vendor-specific objective eride is not available, and (3) estimated selling
price if neither vendor-specific nor third-partyidence is available.
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Deferred revenue associated with a non-refundadjenpnt received under a collaborative agreemehtgharminated prior to its
completion results in an immediate recognitionhaf tleferred revenue.

Beneficial Conversion Charge

When issuing debt or equity securities that arevedible into our common stock at a discount fréma fair value of our common stock at
the date the debt or equity financing is committee,are required to record a beneficial conversluarge in accordance with Accounting Stand
Cadification 470-20 on the commitment date (thevession date). The beneficial conversion chargedasured as the difference between the fair
value of the securities at the time of issue aedalr value of the common stock at the commitnuzie. We record the beneficial conversion
charge as a non-cash charge to earnings. In 2@ feawrded a beneficial conversion charge of $3llbmfor the conversion of our previously
outstanding Series B Preferred Stock (issued ifthasave merger) into common stock. See NotetBeofonsolidated financial statements for
further information about the beneficial conversieature.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expensaéoda of equity instruments to employees and dirsdtased on the grant-date fair
value of those awards. The grant-date fair vafubeaward is recognized as compensation expeakly over the requisite service period, which
generally equals the vesting period of the awand,ibapplicable, is adjusted for expected forfesi Stock-based compensation expense is
included in both research and development expearsggeneral and administrative expenses in thedlidated Statements of Comprehensive
Loss. For awards deemed to be granted outsided@timpany’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, the Compesesg liability accounting. These awards
are classified as a liability and are remeasurddiatalue at the end of each reporting periodhai@es in fair value are included in compensation
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Compseleehoss (see additional disclosures related @rdsvgranted outside of the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan in Footnote 10 “Stock-Based Comptmsaof our consolidated financial statements teckin Part 1V, Item 15 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K).

The following table summarizes the assumptions irselétermining the fair value of stock optionsrgeal during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 (no stock options wewged during 2010).

2012 2011
Volatility 96.2% 111.6%
Risk-free interest rat 0.7% 0.9%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%
Expected option term (in yeai 6.25 6.25

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201 ¢plhtlity factor was based on our historical \digy since the closing of our merger
with Transave, Inc. on December 1, 2010. The etepife was determined using the simplified methsdiescribed in ASC Topic 718,
“Accounting for Stock Compensation”, which is thépoint between the vesting date and the end ofdinéractual term. The riskee interest rat
is based on the US Treasury yield in effect atidie of grant. Forfeitures are based on actuakepeasige of option forfeitures since the closing of
the merger on December 1, 2010 and are the badistfwe forfeiture expectations.

Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwiill

Identifiable intangible assets are measured at thspective fair values and are not amortized oathmercialization. Once
commercialization occurs, these intangible assétbwamortized over their estimated useful liveke fair values assigned to our intangible assets
are based on reasonable estimates and assumgtiensagailable facts and circumstances. Unantiegbatents or circumstances may occur that
may require us to review the assets for impairmewnents or circumstances that may require an impait assessment include negative clinical
results, the non-approval of a new drug applicatipm regulatory agency, material delays in ourtigyment program or a sustained decline in
market capitalization.

66




Index

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subfeqieriodic amortization. Rather, indefiniteed intangibles are reviewed for impairmen
applying a fair value based test on an annual leaisisore frequently if events or circumstancesdaté impairment may have occurred. Events or
circumstances that may require an interim impaitrassessment are consistent with those descrilmealWe perform our annual impairment |
as of October 1 of each year.

We use the income approach to derive the fair vafue-process research and development assetsapbroach calculates fair value by
estimating future cash flows attributable to thgess and then discounting these cash flows tosepteralue using a risk-adjusted discount rate. A
market based valuation approach was not considgved a lack of revenues and profits by us. Thigregch requires significant management
judgment with respect to unobservable inputs sedut@re volume, revenue and expense growth reli@siges in working capital use, appropr
discount rates and other assumptions and estintdtesestimates and assumptions used are consigterdgur business plans.

Accrued Expenses

We are required to estimate accrued expenses asfanr process of preparing financial statemenitss process involves estimating the
level of service performed on our behalf and tremeisited cost incurred in instances where we hatbeen invoiced or otherwise notified of ac
costs. Examples of areas in which subjective judgsmay be required include costs associated witfices provided by contract organizations
preclinical development, clinical trials and maratéaing of clinical materials. We accrue for expefhassociated with these external services by
determining the total cost of a given study basethe terms of the related contract. We accruedsts incurred as the services are being provided
by monitoring the status of the trials and the inge received from our external service providirshe case of clinical trials, the estimated cost
normally relates to the projected costs of havingjexts enrolled in our trials, which we recogrizer the estimated term of the trial according to
the number of subjects enrolled in the trial oroagoing basis, beginning with subject enrollmert.a&tual costs become known to us, we adjust
our accruals. To date, the number of clinical $rihd related research service agreements hasddatively limited and our estimates have not
differed significantly from the actual costs in@ar

New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, an Accounting Standards Update gagdsthat eliminates the current option to reptirvtlocomprehensive income and its
components in the statement of stockholders' equisfead, an entity will be required to preseatnis of net income (loss) and other compreher
income (loss) in one continuous statement or ingearate, but consecutive statements. This stibdaame effective for us on January 1, 2012.
As this accounting standard relates only to thegmtation of other comprehensive income (loss)attaption of the standard did not have an irr
on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, an amendment to an accounting standasdssued that amends the fair value measuregnétdance and includes some
expanded disclosure requirements. The most significhange is the disclosure information requiced_&vel 3 (see Note 2) measurements based
on unobservable inputs. This amendment becametigdor us on January 1, 2012 and its adoptiomdidimpact our consolidated financial
statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, an Accounting Standards Updateisgied that requires companies to present aitlzesingle note or parenthetically
on the face of the financial statements, the effésignificant amounts reclassified from each congnt of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) based on its source and the incoatersént line items affected by the reclassificatidnis guidance is effective for annual and
interim reporting periods beginning after Decemb®r2012. We believe the adoption of this standalchot have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
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In July 2012, an Accounting Standards Update wagis that allows companies to assess qualitatbteriato determine the likelihood of
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment andet¥ter it is necessary to perform the quantitatimpairment test currently required. This guidance
is effective for annual and interim impairment sggérformed for fiscal years beginning after Sepieni5, 2012, with early adoption permitted.
believe the adoption of this standard will not hawaaterial impact on our consolidated financiateshents.

In December 2011, an Accounting Standards Updases issued that requires disclosure of informadibout offsetting and related
arrangements to enable users of our consolidataddial statements to understand the effect okthosingements on the our financial position.
The new guidance is effective for annual reporfirgods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, iatedim periods within those annual periods.
The disclosures required are to be applied retatsmdy for all comparative periods presented. Updioption, we do not expect that this standard
will materially impact our disclosures includedadar consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITA TIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As of December 31, 2012, our cash and cash equigalegere in cash accounts or were invested in méumas. Such accounts or
investments are not insured by the federal govenhme

As of December 31, 2012, we had $20.0 million »éfi rate borrowings in the form of two secured pesry notes that bear interest at
9.25% outstanding under a Loan and Security Agreéme entered into in June 2012. If a 10% changeterest rates were to have occurred on
December 31, 2012, this change would not have hadtarial effect on the fair value of our debt &that date, nor would it have had a material
effect on our future earnings or cash flows.

The majority of our business is conducted in USadlsl However, we do conduct certain transactiormgher currencies, including Euros
or British Pounds. Fluctuations in foreign cuagmxchange rates do not materially effect on eaults of operations. During 2012, 2011 and
2010, our results of operations were not materifigcted by fluctuations in foreign currency exoe rates.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by Item 8 is included i & inancial Statements and Supplementary Datdlist tem 15 of Part IV of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our gpatexecutive officer and principal financial afir, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2(®.2. The term “disclosure controls and procesili as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amel grocedures that are designed to provide reboaasurance that information required to be
disclosed by us in the periodic reports that we il submit with the SEC is recorded, processednsarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and to enthat such information is accumulated and comoaied to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officers appropriate to allow timely decisions regagdiequired disclosure. In light of the material
weakness over the administration, accounting aedsight of our Amended and Restated 2000 StocknthaePlan, further described below, we
concluded that our disclosure controls and proeasiwere ineffective as of December 31, 2012.
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As a result of the identification of the materiaakness, management performed additional analysiesther procedures to ensure its
consolidated financial statements were prepareaddéordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the US. These additional analyses
and procedures included, among other things, expai$ our normal year-end closing and testing pchoes and deployment of significant in-
house and external resources. Based on the addifoocedures performed, management, includingohief Executive Officer and Chief Financ
Officer, concluded that the consolidated finanstatements included in this Form KQaresent fairly, in all material respects, ourfitial position
results of operations and cash flows for the perjp@sented.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for eistsib and maintaining adequate internal contr@rdinancial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(fdatbd-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act &41%s amended, as a process designed by, or
under the supervision of, our principal executiad arincipal financial and accounting officers aftbcted by our board of directors and
management to provide reasonable assurance regangimeliability of financial reporting and thegparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles and includes those policies arat@dures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that in resisle detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of our assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactions@reded as necessary to permit preparation afifiahstatements in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles,thatireceipts and expenditures of our company eirggtmade only in accordance with
authorizations of our management and board of wirecanc

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, vselisposition of our assets that cc
have a material effect on the financial stateme

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risks that controls may become inadtgibecause of changes in conditions, or th:
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate. Our management assessed tetweffeess of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, basethe criteria set forth by the Committee of Spoimg Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrakgdmework. A material weakness is a deficiencyg combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over financial reporting, such that thesaireasonable possibility that a material misstate of the company’s annual or interim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected amely basis. Based on management’s assessmenigiimglconsideration of the control
deficiencies discussed below, management concliid¢dhe company'internal control over financial reporting wasffeetive as of December 3
2012, due to the fact that there was a materiakmess in our internal control over the administratiaccounting and oversight of its 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan. Specifically, in connection withezent review of our equity compensation grantsdetermined that we had inadvertently
exceeded the annual per-person kuilits applicable to grants of equity awards preddor by our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. During thvo year:
ended December 31, 2012, we granted equity compensa employees and directors relating to an egagte of 1.4 million shares of common
stock in excess of such slitrits, which resulted in additional stock basednpensation expense of $0.5 million and a liabiity1.2 million in the
consolidated financial statements for the periatirenand as of December 31, 2012. AdditionallyJanuary 2, 2013, we granted a stock option
that exceeded the applicable sub-limit by 10,0G0esh We have not exceeded the overall 3,925 i@ seserve currently provided for by the
2000 Stock Incentive Plan and approved by sharemglavhether as a result of previously-issued asvardurrently outstanding awards.

Remediation Plan

Management and our Board of Directors are actiealyaged in implementing a remediation plan to axdilee material weakness over the
administration, accounting and oversight of our@8@ock Incentive Plan. We recently hired a neweChinancial Officer and a new Senior Vice
President of Human Resources, and we added a skrdotor to our finance staff which we believeliélp strengthen our internal
controls. Additional remediation efforts we expextmplement include, among other things, modtfaaof certain forms and processes, training
of certain personnel, possible rotation of Boardnibers to different committees and a review of exdhe charters for our Board committees.
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Pursuant to our remediation plan, on March 15, 208 compensation committee of the Board recommeeérehd the Board approved an
amendment to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan to ceplae three individual annual per person equitymensation limits with a single aggregate
stock option, performance share and restricteckstob-limit of 1,500,000 shares. We did not chatihgeoverall share reserve for the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan of 3,925,000 shares, which was agut®y our shareholders in 2011.

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent reghistl public accounting firm, issued an attestatémort on our internal control over financial
reporting. The report of Ernst & Young LLP is cained in Item 15 of Part IV of this Annual RepontiBorm 10-K.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS , EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1aHe€, information required by Item 10 of Form 10-Khisreby incorporated by reference
from the discussion responsive thereto under tpgares “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Govermai and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statent for our 2013 annual meeting of stockholdetsetdiled with the SEC.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1aH€ information required by Item 11 of Form 10-khireby incorporated by reference
from the discussion responsive thereto under tpgares “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “@emsation Committee
Report,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks ansider Participation” and “Directors Compensatiam’bur definitive proxy statement for our

2013 annual meeting of stockholders to be filedhwhe SEC.

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEME NT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1aH€ information required by Item 12 of Form 10-khireby incorporated by reference
from the discussion responsive thereto under tpgares “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” ‘18&g Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners” and “Security Ownership of Directors andnigigement” in our definitive proxy statement for @013 annual meeting of stockholders to
be filed with the SEC.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1aH€ information required by Item 13 of Form 10-khireby incorporated by reference
from the discussion responsive thereto under tpgares “Election of Directors” and “Certain Relatghips and Related Transactions” in our
definitive proxy statement for our 2013 annual rireebf stockholders to be filed with the SEC.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1aH€ information required by Item 14 of Form 10-khireby incorporated by reference

from the discussion responsive thereto under thara“Corporate Governance” and “Ratification nflependent Public Accountants” in our
definitive proxy statement for our 2013 annual rireebf stockholders to be filed with the SEC.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES
@ Documents filed as part of this repc

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . The following consolidated financial statemewitthe Company are set forth herein,
beginning on page-1:

0] Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing
(ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&@12011
(iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Los$é¥ears Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011201(
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2z
(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem:
2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
None required.
3. EXHIBITS.

The exhibits that are required to be filed or ipooated by reference herein are listed in the Eihidex.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized on the 18day of March, 2013.

INSMED INCORPORATED
a Virginia corporatior
(Registrant

By: /s/ William H. Lewis
William H. Lewis
President and Chief Executive Officer (PrincipakEutive
Officer) and Directot

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed beélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities indicatethe 18hday of March, 2013.

Signature Title
/s/ William H. Lewis
William H. Lewis President and Chief Executive Officer (Principakcutive Officer)
and Directol

/s/ Andrew T. Drechsle
Andrew T. Drechsler Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Qfér and Principal
Accounting Officer)

/s/ Donald Hayden, J
Donald Hayden, J Chairman of the Board of Directa

/s/ Al Altomari
Al Altomari Director

/s/ Steinar J. Engelsen, M.
Steinar J. Engelsen, M.I Director

/s/ Richard S. Kollende
Richard S. Kollende Director

/s/ Melvin Sharoky, M.D
Melvin Sharoky, M.D Director

/s/ Randall W. Whitcomb, M.C
Randall W. Whitcomb, M.C Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insmedricorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Insmed Incorporated as of Decembe&t3®, and 2011, and the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive lossktsdtders' equity, and cash flows for each of thredtyears in the period ended December 31,
2012. These financial statements are the respditsitfithe Company’s management. Our responsyhititto express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBqUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finasiataiments are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, exddesupporting the amounts and disclosures initla@dial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &igntfestimates made by management, as well asatigj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@atove present fairly, in all material respedts,donsolidated financial position of Insmed
Incorporated at December 31, 2012 and 2011, andathsolidated results of its comprehensive lossitsrzhsh flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2012, in conformitly WS generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), Insmed Incorporated’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2012, based on criteria establishedt@mrial Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theativay Commission and our report dated March 183 23pressed an adverse opinion
thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jerse
March 18, 201:
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Insmedricorporated

We have audited Insmed Incorporated’s internalrcbotver financial reporting as of December 31,20ased on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Casion (the COSO criteria). Insmed
Incorporated’s management is responsible for miimig effective internal control over financial @ting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying Managemeng&pdit on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the company’s internal control over finahcgporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditideld obtaining an understanding of internal cordver financial reporting, assessing the risk &
material weakness exists, testing and evaluatiagl#fsign and operating effectiveness of internalrobbased on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necesstgy éircumstances. We believe that our audit plewia reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyemabepted accounting principles. A company’
internal control over financial reporting includbsse policies and procedures that (1) pertaihgaraintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transaw$i and dispositions of the assets of the compg@pyrovide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being madeiom@lycordance with authorizations of managemedtdiectors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agect to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procegunay deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finanaieporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the pany’s annual or interim financial statements wit be prevented or detected on a timely

basis. The following material weakness has beentified and included in management’s assessm#ahagement has identified a material
weakness in its internal controls over the admiai&tn, accounting and oversight of its 2000 Stimdlentive Plan. We also audited, in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accoun@wgrsight Board (United States), the consolidadnce sheets of Insmed Incorporated as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdiased statements of comprehensive loss, stocklslelguity, and cash flows for each of the
three years ended December 31, 2012. This mategmkness was considered in determining the natomeg and extent of audit tests applied in
our audit of the 2012 consolidated financial staets, and this report does not affect our repdediMarch 18, 2013, which expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the matervieakness described above on the achieveme¢ abjectives of the control criteria, Insmed
Incorporated has not maintained effective inteauaitrol over financial reporting as of December&112, based on the COSO criteria.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jerse
March 18, 201!
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value, share and per shadata)

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 90,78: $ 14,84¢
Shor-term investment - 61,42/
Certificate of depos 2,15: -
Accounts receivabl - 757
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 643 37C
Total current asse 93,57¢ 77,39¢
Certificate of depos - 2,08t
In-process research and developn 58,20( 58,20(
Other asset 117 212
Fixed assets, net 1,66¢ 1,937
Total assets $ 153,56. $ 139,83:
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 7,06 $ 2,33¢
Accrued expense 2,93: 80C
Accrued compensatic 2,20 79t
Accrued lease expense, curr 29t 27¢
Deferred ren 14¢ 15€
Capital lease obligations, curre 96 114
Current portion of long term debt 3,007 -
Total current liabilities 15,747 4,47
Accrued lease expense, l-term 647 922
Capital lease obligations, lo-term 64 16€
Debt, long-term 16,22: -
Total liabilities 32,67¢ 5,56¢
Commitments and contingenci - -
Stockholders' equity
Common stock; $.01 par value; 500,000,000 authdrshares, 31,488,204 and 24,833,301 issued and
outstanding shares at December 31, 2012 and 28ddectively 31t 24¢
Additional paic-in capital 455,32! 427,74
Warrant to purchase 329,932 shares of common §o@R.94 per share at December 31, 2 79C -
Accumulated defici (335,549 (294,179
Accumulated other comprehensive incol
Unrealized gain on investments, net of taxes - 45C
Total stockholders' equity 120,88: 134,26°
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 153,56. $ 139,83:

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddiabstatements
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INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December !

2012 2011 2010
License fee: $ - % 1,002 $ 4
Other expanded access program income, net - 3,41 6,917
Total revenues - 4,415 6,921
Operating expense
Research and developme 29,78: 28,62: 4,70z
General and administratiy 12,657 11,52¢ 10,31:
Impairment loss - 25,99( -
Total operating expenses 42,43¢ 66,13¢ 15,01:
Operating los! (42,439 (61,719 (8,099
Investment incom 1,827 2,064 1,84
Interest expens (763) (10 (10¢9)
Gain on sale of asset, net 5 1 -
Loss before income tax (41,379 (59,669 (6,356
Provision for income taxes - - 78
Net loss (41,379 (59,66 (6,439
Accretion of beneficial conversion charge - (9,17%) -
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (41,379 $ (68,839 $ (6,439
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to comntonkholders per share $ (1.56) $ (2.95 $ (0.49)
Weighted average basic and diluted common shatstaoding 26,54¢ 23,34¢ 13,25(
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (41,379 $ (68,839 $ (6,439
Comprehensive los
Unrealized gains on investments, net of taxes - 45C 99:
Comprehensive loss attributable to common stockdrsld $ (41,379 $ (68,389 $ (5,44

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddiabstatements
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Balance at December 31, 20l

Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on

investment, net of taxe

Issuance of common stock
upon issuance of restricted
stock award:

Issuance of common stock
upon merge

Issuance of preferred stock
upon merge

Stock compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 20:

Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on

investment, net of taxe
Total comprehensive lo¢

1 for 10 reverse stock sp

Exercise of stock optior

Conversion of preferred stocl
into common stoc

Stock compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 20:

Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on

investment, net of taxe

Exercise of stock optior

Net proceeds from issuance
common stocl

Issuance of common stock fc
vesting of RSU:

Fair value of warrant granted
connection with debt
financing

Stock compensation expense

Balance at December 31, 20:

INSMED INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(in thousands)

Accumulatec

Additional Other
Common Stocl  Preferred Stoc Warrant Paid-in  Accumulater Comprehensiy
Shares Amouni Shares Amouni Shares Amoun  Capital Deficit Income (Loss  Total

13,02. $ 1,30 - % - - $ - $350,24! $ (228,07 $ 44t $123,91-
(6,439 (6,439
54¢ 54¢
39 4 - - - 4
2,59¢ 25¢ 18,16( - - 18,41¢
9,17¢ 91¢ 55,10¢ - - 56,02¢
- 36€ - - 36€
15,65« 1,56 9,17t 91¢ - - 423,87 (234,510) 99z 192,84
(59,669 (59,669
(5439 (549)
(2,23 2,23t 0
5 - 32 - - 32

9,17¢ 91¢  (9,17%) (91¢) - -
- 1,59¢ - - 1,59¢
24,83 24¢ - - - - 427,74 (294,17 45C 134,26
(41,379 (41,379
(450) (450)
3C 1 21z - - 214
6,30¢ 63 25,59¢ 25,65¢
321 3 (3) - - -
33C 79C 79C
- 1,771 - - 1,77
31,48t $ 31F - $ = 33C $ 79C $ 455,32! $ (33554) $ - $120,88.

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddiabstatements
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INSMED INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stock based compensation expe
Gain on sale of asset, r
Gain on sale of she-term investments, ni
Impairment los:
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuancts
Accrual of the end of term charge on the ¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Income tax receivab
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and deferred
Accrued lease expens
Accrued compensatic
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activit

Investing activities
Cash consideration for merger, net of cash aed
Purchase of fixed ass¢
Proceeds from sale of as
Sales of shc-term investment
Purchases of sh-term investment
Net cash provided by investing activiti

Financing activities
Payments on capital lease obligati
Proceeds from issuance of di
Repayment of convertible not
Proceeds from issuance of common si
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Payment of debt issuance cc
Other

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informat
Cash paid for interest

Cash received for taxes, net

Supplemental disclosures of r-cash investing and financing activitit
Capital lease obligations incurred

Unrealized (gain) loss on investments

Accretion of beneficial conversion charge

Fair value of warrant granted in connection wightfinancing
Conversion of Series B preferred stock into comistock
Issuance of common stock upon merger

Issuance of preferred stock upon merger

Years ended December !

2012 2011 2010

$ (41379 $ (59,669 $ (6,439
561 34z 54

2,981 1,59¢ 36€

(5 (N :

(83%) - -

= 25,99( ;

23€ - -

44 - -

757 (286) 19

- - 2,02¢

(180) (214 (78)

4,72€ 884 (2,750)

927 667 (1,127)

(259) 1,201 -

1,417 (322) 201

- (402) 4

(31,01%) (30,20%) (7,727)

- - (6,737

(290) (979 -

5 - -

81,46¢ 36,50( 115,15!
(19,657 (1,167) (102,46
61,52: 34,36( 5,95¢

(120 (82) (6)

20,00( - -

- - (231)

25,65¢ ; =

214 32 -

(326) ; ;

- - 4

45,42 (50) (239
75,93« 4,10¢ (1,997)
14,84¢ 10,74¢ 12,74(

$ 90,78: $ 14,84¢ $ 10,74
$ 396 $ 10 $ -
$ - $ - $ (1,889
- $ 19¢€ -

$ (450 $ (543 $ 54¢
- $ (9,175 5

$ 79C ; 3
- $ 91¢€ -

- - $ 18,41¢

- - $ 56,02¢

See accompanying notes to audited consolidateddiabstatements
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INSMED INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentat

Description of Business Insmed is a biopharmaceutical company focusedemeloping and commercializing inhaled therapies fo
patients battling serious lung diseases that dem dife threatening. The Company’s lead productdate, ARIKACE®, or liposomal amikacin fc
inhalation, is an inhaled antibiotic treatment ttialivers a proven and potent anti-infective disettd the site of serious lung infections to impeov
the efficacy, safety and convenience of this theuéip approach for patients.

Currently, the Company is conducting clinical siaf ARIKACE for two initial indications in orphapatient populations: a phase 3 clin
trial in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients who have duinfections caused Hyseudomonas aerugino§é®seudomonakand a phase 2 clinical trial in
patients who have lung infections caused by noestullous mycobacteria (NTM). The Company’s strategy continue to develop ARIKACE for
additional indications beyoridseudomonam CF and NTM. The Company’s primary developmerts is to obtain regulatory approval for
ARIKACE for these two initial indications and togmare for commercialization initially in Europe a@dnada and eventually in the United States
(US). If approved, ARIKACE will be the first on@eday inhaled antibiotic treatment option avaiatur these CF and NTM indications.

The Company was incorporated in the Commonwealtfirginia on November 29, 1999. On December 1, 261® Company completel
business combination with Transave, Inc. (Transaveyivately held, New Jersey-based pharmacewaapany focused on the development of
differentiated and innovative inhaled pharmaceigiéar the site-specific treatment of serious limfgctions. The integration with Transave was
completed in 2011. The Company’s continuing openatare based on the technology and productsritisly developed by Transave. The
Company’s principal executive offices are locate®ionmouth Junction, New Jersey.

Basis of Presentation The consolidated financial statements includeait@unts of the Company and its wholly-owned slibses,
Transave, LLC, Insmed Pharmaceuticals, Incorporatsthed Limited, and Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, pooated (Celtrix). All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in consolidation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policie

Use of Estimates -The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in
the United States (GAAP) requires management tcereaimates and assumptions that affect the amoepdsted in the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. The Compaeyg ba®stimates and judgments on historical epee and on various other assumptions that
it believes are reasonable under the circumstanties.amounts of assets and liabilities reportetiénCompany’s balance sheets and the amounts
of revenue and expenses reported for each periedemted are effected by estimates and assumptibich) are used for, but not limited to, the
accounting for revenue recognition, stock-basedpsomation, income taxes, loss contingencies, theftoéal conversion charge, the warrant fair
value calculation, impairment of intangibles andgdived assets and accounting for research anelg@went costs. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
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Prior Period Reclassifications Certain amounts in the prior years’ consoliddtedncial statements have been reclassified toozamfo
the currentyear presentation. Specifically, the Company atleda portion of certain operating expenses fronegs and administrative expense
research and development expense in 2012 and maasyear amounts to conform to the current ywasentation for comparability purposes.

Investment Income and Interest Expensénvestment income consists of interest and dividiecome earned on our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments, along wei#tized gains (losses) on the sale of investmérttrest expense consists primarily of interest
costs related to our debt and capital lease olbiggt

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investmentthe Company considers cash equivalents to béyhiigid investments with
maturities of three months or less from the dateus€hase. Short-term investments were availabiledle and consisted primarily of short-term
municipal bonds, U. S. treasuries and mutual furideese securities were carried at fair value efitivestment based on quoted market prices. The
cost of the specific security sold is used to cotmplie gain or loss on the sale of the securités s

Fixed Assets, Net Fixed assets are recorded at cost and are def@e@an a straight-line basis over the estimatetulBves of the assets.
Estimated useful lives of three to seven yearsiseel for computer equipment, laboratory equipnfite equipment and furniture and fixtures.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the ehofthe lease term or the estimated useful fiftne asset. Long-lived assets, such as lab
equipment, are reviewed for impairment wheneventsver changes in circumstances indicate thatdhgiog amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be hetdumed is measured by a comparison of the careyimgunt of an asset to estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to be generated bydbetalf the carrying amount of an asset exceedssttmated future cash flows, then an
impairment charge is recognized for the amount hicivthe carrying value of the asset exceeds thedhue of the asset.

Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwilldentifiable intangible assets are measuredeit tespective fair values and are not
amortized until commercialization. Once commerggiion occurs, these intangible assets will be fimgat over their estimated useful lives. The
fair values assigned to our intangible assets asedon reasonable estimates and assumptionsayigéable facts and circumstances.
Unanticipated events or circumstances may occtimtiag require us to review the assets for impaitmevents or circumstances that may require
an impairment assessment include negative clitiigdlresults, the non-approval of a new drug aggtlon by a regulatory agency, material delays
in our development program or a sustained dedtimeadrket capitalization.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subjeqteriodic amortization. Rather, indefiniteed intangibles are reviewed for impairmen
applying a fair value based test on an annual leaisisore frequently if events or circumstancesdaté impairment may have occurred. Events or
circumstances that may require an interim impaitrassessment are consistent with those descritm@aihe Company performs its annual
impairment test as of October 1 of each year.

The Company uses the income approach to deriviaithealue of inprocess research and development assets. Thissappralculates fa
value by estimating future cash flows attributabl¢he assets and then discounting these cash flowgresent value using a risk-adjusted discount
rate. A market based valuation approach was natidered given a lack of revenues and profits fer@lompany. This approach requires signific
management judgment with respect to unobservaplésrsuch as future volume, revenue and expensélgrates, changes in working capital use,
appropriate discount rates and other assumptichgstmates. The estimates and assumptions usedrsistent with the Company's business
plans.

Debt Issuance Costs- Debt issuance costs are amortized using thetafécinterest rate method, and amortized to intezrpense over
the term of the debt. Debt issuance costs paidetdender are reflected as a discount to the dedtdebt issuance costs paid to other third parties
are reflected as other assets in the consolidatiechte sheets.

Fair Value Measurements - The Company categorizes its financial assetsiabdilies measured and reported at fair valuéhmftnancie
statements on a recurring basis based upon thedejslgments associated with the inputs usedeasure their fair value. Hierarchical levels,
are directly related to the amount of subjectigsgociated with the inputs used to determine tin@ddue of financial assets and liabilities, ase a
follows:
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. Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted pricesiiveamarkets for identical assets or liabilitieshee measurement date.

« Level 2 —Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Leyeare either directly or indirectly observable floe assets or liability throus
correlation with market data at the measuremeret aadl for the duration of the instrun”s anticipated life

« Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estirohtehat market participants would use in pricihg tisset or liability at the
measurement date. Consideration is given to fkeimherent in the valuation technique and theiriblerent in the inputs to the mod

Each major category of financial assets and ligdlimeasured at fair value on a recurring bagisategorized in the tables below based
upon the lowest level of significant input to thewations. The fair value hierarchy also requane®ntity to maximize the use of observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs wheasoméng fair value.

Financial instruments in Level 1 generally inclidi® treasuries and mutual funds listed in activeketar Financial instruments in Level 2
generally include municipal bonds listed in secapadaarkets.

The following table presents assets and liabilitiesasured at fair value as of December 31, 201Dasember 31, 2011 (in thousands).

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date U

Quoted Prices i Quoted Prices i
Active Markets fo Inactive Markets fc Significant
Identical Asset: Identical Asset:  Unobservable Inpu
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
As of December 31, 201
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 90,78: $ 90,78: $ - % =
Certificate of deposit 2,15% 2,15% - -
$ 92,93 $ 92,93t $ - $ =
As of December 31, 201
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 14,84¢ $ 14,84¢ $ - % =
Mutual funds 56,16 56,16 - -
Government agency bon 5,261 - 5,261 -
Certificate of deposit 2,08t 2,08t - -
$ 7835 % 73,09¢ $ 5261 $ =

The Company's cash and cash equivalents and gmortitvestments, excluding government agency bgetsgit daily redemption and
the fair values of these investments are based tifgoguoted prices in active markets provided leytiblding financial institutions. The Company's
investment in government agency bonds permittelg dadlemption and the fair values of these investsare based upon the quoted prices in
inactive markets by the holding financial instituts. The cash equivalents consist of liquid inwestts with a maturity of three months or less f
the date of purchase and the short-term investnoemisist of instruments with maturities greatentti@ee months.The certificate of deposit
matures in July 2013.

We recognize transfers between levels within tireviaue hierarchy, if any, at the end of each tgraiThere were no significant transfers
in or out of Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 during Z0During 2011, approximately $27.0 million waswsterred from Level 2 assets into Level 1 t
utilized in the Company’s operating activities.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company held no sisithat were in an unrealized loss or gain pmsitDuring 2012, the Company
realized a net gain of $0.8 million from the safaloort term investments.

81




Index

As of December 31, 2011, the Company held two si@esithat were in an unrealized loss position witfotal estimated fair value of $1.
million and a gross unrealized loss of approxinya$€.2 million. The net unrealized gain of $0.3lion is reported in accumulated other
comprehensive income in the stockholder’'s equityiee of the Company’s balance sheet. Unrealizédsgjand losses for 2011 are as follows (in
thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Mutual funds $ 55,71¢ $ 65z $ (207) $ 56,16:
Government agency bonds 5,25¢€ 5 - 5,261
$ 60,97 $ 657 $ (207) $ 61,42«

The Company reviews the status of each securitst@iyato determine whether an other-than-tempoiagairment has occurred. In
making our determination, we consider a numbegofdrs, including: (1) the significance of the dee] (2) whether the securities were rated below
investment grade, (3) how long the securities Hmean in an unrealized loss position, and (4) oilitypand intent to retain the investment for a
sufficient period of time for it to recover.

Concentration of Credit Risk Financial instruments that potentially subject@wmpany to concentrations of credit risk consighprily
of cash, cash equivalents and short-term invessn&ht Company places its cash equivalents with digdit-quality financial institutions and
invests its short-term investments in US treasapusties, mutual funds and government agency hdftus Company has established guidelines
relative to credit ratings and maturities that seefaintain safety and liquidity.

The Company sources its raw materials from singppkers. In addition, the production of the Comyga product candidate is perforn
by a sole manufacturer. The inability of the sugglior manufacturer to fulfill supply requiremenfshe Company could materially impact fut
operating results. A change in the relationshighwiite suppliers or manufacturer, or an adversegeham their business, could materially img
future operating results.

Revenue Recognitior The Company’s revenues in 2011 were from (1) #8lHon of cost recovery revenues from the us¢RfEX ® in
an Expanded Access Program (EAP) the Company estadlin Italy to provide IPLEX ® to physicians fase in their patients with Amyotrophic
Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) (this program was discamith in December 2011), and (2) a $1.0 million nefiimdable upfront license payment received
from Eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Eleison”) tog ticensing of the Company’s lipid-complexed aipl and/or liposomal cisplatin products and
technology to Eleison . We recorded this revenuandi2011 as we had the contractual right to rexéiand we have no continuing involvement
under this licensing agreement.

The Company recognizes revenues when all of thewWolg four criteria are present: persuasive evigeof an arrangement exists; deli
has occurred or services have been rendered;édtis fxed or determinable; and collectability éasonably assured.

Where the Company has continuing performance disligg under the terms of a collaborative arrangemeam+efundable upfront licens
payments received upon contract signing are redoadedeferred revenue and recognized as revertbe esated activities are performed. The
period over which these activities are to be pentmt is based upon management’s estimate of théogewent period. Changes in management’s
estimate could change the period over which revétecognized. Research and/or development pagnagatrecognized as revenues as the re
research and/or development activities are perfdramel when the Company has no continuing performahbtigations related to the research and
development payment received.

Where the Company has no continuing involvementuadcollaborative arrangement, the Company reaavdsefundable license fee

revenues when the Company has the contractualtdgeteive the payment, in accordance with thmdesf the collaboration agreement, and
records milestones upon appropriate notificatiothtoCompany of achievement of the milestones byctilaborative partner.
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The Company recognizes revenue from milestonenpays when earned, provided that (i) the milestorent is substantive and its
achievability was not reasonably assured at thepitien of the agreement and (ii) the Company de¢fave ongoing performance obligations
related to the achievement of the milestone eamédstone payments are considered substantivédf ¢he following conditions are met: the
milestone payment (a) is commensurate with eitherendor’s performance to achieve the milestortb@enhancement of the value of the
delivered item or items as a result of a specifitome resulting from the vendor’s performanceditieve the milestone, (b) relates solely to past
performance, and (c) is reasonable relative tofathe deliverables and payment terms (includifigeopotential milestone consideration) within the
arrangement. Any amounts received under the agrgeémeadvance of performance, if deemed substarareerecorded as deferred revenue and
recognized as revenue as the Company completesrftermance obligations.

With regard to recognizing revenue for multipleidedable revenue arrangements, each deliverablenaat multiple-deliverable revenue
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadtoofunting if both of the following criteria are tngl) the delivered item or items have value to
the customer on a standalone basis and (2) forrangement that includes a general right of retalative to the delivered item(s), delivery or
performance of the undelivered item(s) is considi@m®bable and substantially in our control.

In addition, multiple deliverable revenue arrangaetr@nsideration is allocated at the inceptionroherangement to all deliverables using
the relative selling price method. The Company alsplies a selling price hierarchy for determintihg selling price of a deliverable, which
includes (1) vendor-specific objective evidenceéilable, (2) third-party evidence, if vendor-sifie objective evidence is not available, and (3)
estimated selling price if neither vendor-speaifie third-party evidence is available.

Deferred revenue associated with a non-refundadfenpnt received under a collaborative agreemehtgharminated prior to its
completion results in an immediate recognitionhaf tleferred revenue.

Research and DevelopmenResearch and development expenses consist gsirobgalaries, benefits and other related coatduding
stock based compensation, for personnel serviogimesearch and development functions, and otivemial operating expenses, the cost of
manufacturing our drug candidate, including the icedddevices for drug delivery, for clinical studie cost of conducting clinical studies, and the
cost of conducting preclinical and research adtigitThe Company’s expenses related to manufagtitsmrug candidate and medical devices for
clinical study are primarily related to activitiascontract manufacturing organizations that mastufe ARIKACE and the medical devices for the
Company’'s use. The Company’s expenses relatdihtoat trials are primarily related to activiti@s contract research organizations that conduct
and manage clinical trials on the Company’s beffdése contracts set forth the scope of work todmepleted at a fixed fee or amount per patient
enrolled. Payments under these contracts primdeipend on performance criteria such as the suctessbliment of patients or the completion of
clinical trial milestones as well as time-basedsfdexpenses are accrued based on contracted anagtiesd to the level of patient enroliment and
to activity according to the clinical trial protdctonrefundable advance payments for goods oiicesthat will be used or rendered for future
research and development activities are deferrddapitalized. Such amounts are then recognizeth @xpense as the related goods are delivered
or the services are performed, or when the goodsmices are no longer expected to be provided.

Stock-Based CompensationFhe Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsegor awards of equity instruments to employees
and directors based on the grant-date fair valubasfe awards. The grant-date fair value of therdvs recognized as compensation expense
ratably over the requisite service period, whichagelly equals the vesting period of the award,ibadplicable, is adjusted for expected
forfeitures. Stockbased compensation expense is included in botangsand development expenses and general andiattatine expenses in t
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Lossawards deemed to be granted outside of the Compa0@0 Stock Incentive Plan, the
Company uses liability accounting. These awardskssified as a liability and are remeasurediatwflue at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in fair value are included in cengation expense in the Consolidated Statemei@smprehensive Loss (see additional
disclosures related to awards granted outsideeo@®0 Stock Incentive Plan in Footnote 10, Stoakd8l Compensation).

Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes under thet asd liability method. Deferred tax assets atuillties are
recognized for the future tax consequences atailatto differences between the financial stateroamnting amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases and ajpey loss carry forwards. Deferred tax assetsliabdities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yearshith those temporary differences are expectdmbtacovered or settled. The effect on deferred
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rstescognized in income in the period that inchittee enactment date.
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A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce theetl tax assets to the amount that is expected tealized. In evaluating the need for a
valuation allowance, we take into account vari@agdrs, including the expected level of future td®ancome and available tax planning strate(
If actual results differ from the assumptions mad#he evaluation of our valuation allowance, weorel a change in valuation allowance through
income tax expense in the period such determin&iomade.

The Company uses a comprehensive model for howadtsores, presents and discloses an uncertain sétopdaken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. The Company may recogniedak benefit from an uncertain tax position ofli is more likely than not that the tax position
will be sustained on examination by taxing authesitbased solely on the technical merits of thetipm. The tax benefits recognized in the
financial statements from such a position shouldheasured based on the largest benefit that hesategthan 50% likelihood to be sustained upon
ultimate settlement. The Company has no uncergipositions as of December 31, 2012 that quatifyefther recognition or disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company'’s policy for interest and penaltieatedl to income tax exposures is to recognize istemed penalties as a component of the
income taxes on continuing operations in the Cadat#dd Statements of Comprehensive Loss.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Shar@asic net income (loss) per common share is coeapoy dividing net income (loss) attributable
to common stockholders by the weighted average eumfoccommon shares outstanding during the peridituted net income (loss) per common
share is computed by dividing net income (loss)mttable to common stockholders by the weighteztaye number of common shares and other
dilutive securities outstanding during the periBdtentially dilutive securities from stock optiotise restricted stock units and the warrant woeld b
antidilutive as the Company incurred a net losseRt@lly dilutive common shares resulting from tesumed exercise of outstanding stock options
and warrants are determined based on the treasaly method.

The following table sets forth the reconciliatioittee weighted average number of shares attribet@mbtommon stockholders used to
compute basic net income (loss) per share for ¢laesyended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands except per share amot

Numerator:

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhia! $ (41,379 $ (68,839 $ (6,439
Denominator

Weighted average common shares used in calculatibasic net income (loss) per she 26,54¢ 23,34¢ 13,25(

Effect of dilutive securities
Common stock option 2 - -
Restricted stock and restricted stock u - - R
Common stock warrant - - R

Weighted average common shares outstanding usedculation of diluted net income (loss

per share 26,54¢ 23,34¢ 13,25(
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhsgeer share
Basic and Diluted $ (1.56) $ (295 $ (0.49)
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The following potentially dilutive securities hakeen excluded from the computations of diluted Wwieid-average common shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 8810eir effect would have been anti-dilutive findsands).

2012 2011 2010
Warrants to purchase common st 33C 15€ 15€
Stock options to purchase common st 1,81¢ 892 214
Restricted stock and restricted stock u 21¢€ 487 -

Segment Informationr The Company currently operates in one businagsiest, which is the development and commerciabmabif
inhaled therapies for patients with serious lurfgdtions. A single management team that reportiseédChief Executive Officer comprehensively
manages the entire business. The Company doepertte separate lines of business with respeist ppoducts or product
candidates. Accordingly, the Company does not lsaparate reportable segments.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement®-June 2011, an Accounting Standards Update vgagdsthat eliminates the current
option to report other comprehensive income (lass) its components in the statement of stockhdldgrsty. Instead, an entity will be required to
present items of net income and other comprehensbagne (loss) in one continuous statement or mseparate, but consecutive, statements. This
standard became effective for the Company on Jariy&012. As this accounting standard relates timthe presentation of other comprehensive
income (loss), the adoption of the standard dichaee an impact on the Company's consolidated dinhstatements.

In May 2011, an amendment to an accounting standasdssued that amends the fair value measuregnétdance and includes some
expanded disclosure requirements. The most significhange is the disclosure information requiced_&vel 3 (see Note 2) measurements based
on unobservable inputs. This amendment becametigifdor the Company on January 1, 2012 and itgpade did not impact the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncementms-February 2013, an Accounting Standards Updatertguires companies to present
either in a single note or parenthetically on thesfof the financial statements, the effect ofifigant amounts reclassified from each component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) baséd source and the income statement line it#ffiested by the reclassification. This
guidance is effective for annual and interim rejpgrperiods beginning after December 15, 2012. Chmpany believes the adoption of this
standard will not have a material impact on itssmidlated financial statements.

In July 2012, an Accounting Standards Update wasgeid that allows companies to assess qualitatbterfato determine the likelihood of
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment andet¥ter it is necessary to perform the quantitatimpairment test currently required. This guidance
is effective for annual and interim impairment sasérformed for fiscal years beginning after Sefeni5, 2012, with early adoption permitted.
The Company believes the adoption of this standdlfchot have a material impact on its consolidafiedncial statements.

In December 2011, an Accounting Standards Updases issued that requires disclosure of informadibout offsetting and related
arrangements to enable users of the Company’s idateal financial statements to understand thecefiethose arrangements on the Company’s
financial position. The new guidance is effective &nnual reporting periods beginning on or aféeruary 1, 2013, and interim periods within those
annual periods. The disclosures required are tappéed retrospectively for all comparative peripdssented. Upon adoption, the Company does
not expect that this standard will materially impawr disclosures included in our consolidatedrfirial statements.
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3. Beneficial Conversion Charge'BCC")

When issuing debt or equity securities that arevedible into common stock at a discount from thie ¥alue of the common stock at the
date the debt or equity financing is committed, @enpany is required to record a BCC in accordavitte Accounting Standards
Cadification (“ASC”) 470-20. This BCC is measurasithe difference between the fair values of tlearities at the time of issue and the fair value
of the common stock at the commitment date.

In 2011, a non-cash BCC of $9.2 million was recdraden the Series B Preferred Stock was conventeccommon stock. The BCC
represents a $1.00 per share discount on thedhiewf our common stock. The carrying value efgheferred stock was based on its fair value at
issuance, which was estimated using the commok piaze reduced for a lack of marketability betwélesm issuance date and the anticipated d:
conversion.

4, Accrued Expense
Accrued expenses consist of the followi

As of December 31
2012 2011
(in thousands

Accrued clinical trial expenst $ 146(C % 67E
Liability for stock-based compensation awa 1,20¢ -
Accrued professional fet 18t 11C
Accrued interest payab 80 -
Other accrued expenses 4 15
$ 293 % 80C
5. Business Combinatiol

The Company entered into an Agreement and Planen§&t with Transave, Inc. on December 1, 2010. Megger was accounted for
using the acquisition method of accounting andpatingly, the tangible and intangible assets aegu{mcluding in-process research and
development and goodwill) and liabilities assumenlenrecorded at their estimated fair values akefifite of the acquisition. Transaction costs
related to the Merger were $6.0 million of which&#illion was expensed in 2010 and $1.2 milliorsweapensed in 2009. These costs were
included in general and administrative expensésarConsolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss.

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortitm combines the consolidated results of operatamif the Merger had occurred a
the beginning of the period presented.

2010
(in thousands
Revenue! $ 7,65¢
Operating los: $ (20,26¢)
Net loss after income tax $ (25,879

6. Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodw

In 2011, the Company recorded a non-cash impairtossatof $26.0 million related to the impairmenimefprocess research and
development and goodwill. The impairment resuftech the fact that in August 2011, subsequent toptiase 2 trials and prior to starting a phase
3 trial, the Company announced that the FDA placeliical hold on its phase 3 clinical trials ®RIKACE in CF patients witiPseudomonas
lung infections and in patients with NTM lung infems. A clinical hold is a notification issued the FDA to the sponsor to delay a proposed
clinical trial or suspend an ongoing clinical trithe clinical holds were subsequently lifted ia fhist half of 2012.
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The Company’s management determined the clinidal Was an indicator of possible impairment of ilvgass research and development
and goodwill assets due to the associated additimsss, and, therefore, interim impairment testireg performed as of September 30, 2011. Using
the income approach the impairment analysis condpaefair value of the in-process research anéldement intangible assets with their
respective carrying amounts. This approach calesitair value by estimating future cash flowsilatiiable to the assets and then discounting these
cash flows to a present value using a risk-adjudtetbunt rate. A market based valuation approaah ot considered given a lack of revenues and
profits for the Company. This approach requiresificant management judgment with respect to unafadde inputs such as future volume,
revenue and expense growth rates, changes in vgockipital use, appropriate discount rates and etbgrmptions and estimates. The estimate:
assumptions used are consistent with the Comphungisess plans. Additionally, the carrying valuehaf business exceeded its fair value, and
accordingly we performed the second step of theimpent test by comparing the carrying value ofdyaitl to its implied fair value. The
impairment review resulted in impairment lossestfoth assets. Non-cash charges of $19.7 million$&n8 million were recognized for the decline
in the fair value of in-process research and dgretnt and goodwill assets, respectively, as ofedepér 30, 2011. The non-cash charge of $26.0
million was recorded as an impairment loss andsdiag as an operating expense in the Consolidatattments of Comprehensive Loss.

We believe there are no indicators of impairmerthefCompany’s in-process research and developim@mgible assets as of December
31, 2012.

7. Fixed Assets, net

Fixed assets are stated at cost and depreciatedatized using the straight-line method, basedsaiul lives as follows:

Estimated As of December 31
Asset Description Useful Life (years 2012 2011
(in thousands

Lab equipmen 7 $ 3,197 $ 3,072
Furniture and fixture 7 65 56
Computer hardware and softw: 3-5 58¢ 46¢
Office equipmen 7 117 11t
Leasehold improvements lease term 581 577
4,54¢ 4,28¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,882 (2,352)
Fixed assets, net $ 1,666 $ 1,931

Depreciation and amortization expense was $0.6amjll $0.3 million and $0.1 million for the years endeec@émber 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively. Depreciation expense incluldgseciation for equipment under capital leasegalibns.

Fixed assets include equipment held under capitald obligations with an approximate net carryimge of $0.3 million and $0.4 million
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Certain owned lab equipment totaling $0.3 millibattis used in the manufacturing process of the@@my's drug supply is located at its
contract manufacturer.
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8. Debt

On June 29, 2012, the Company and its domestiédialiss, as co-borrowers, entered into a Loan@exclrity Agreement that allowed
the Company to borrow up $20.0 million in $10.0lioil increments (“Loan Agreement”). The Companyrbared the first and second $10.0
million increments by signing two Secured Promigddotes (“Notes A and B”) on June 29, 2012 and Dawer 27, 2012, respectively. Notes A
and B bear interest at 9.25%. Note A is to beitepeer a 42-month period with the first twelve rttdyg payments representing interest only
followed by thirty monthly equal payments of pripal and interest. Note B is to be repaid over an®8th period with the first six monthly
payments representing interest only followed bytyhinonthly equal payments of principal and interéBhe interest only period is extendable to
December 31, 2013, contingent upon completion ahoeARIKACE-related development milestones. Thiagipal monthly repayments for Notes
A and B are scheduled to begin on August 1, 203Beaidl on January 1, 2016. In connection with thanLAgreement, the Company granted the
lender a first position lien on all of the Compamgssets, excluding intellectual property. Prepayrothe loans made pursuant to the Loan
Agreement is subject to penalty and the Compamggsired to pay an “end of term” charge of $390,0@ich is being charged to interest expense
(and accreted to the debt) using the effectivar@stemethod over the life of the Loan AgreemenbtDssuance fees paid to the lender were reci
as a discount on the debt and are being amortizvederest expense using the effective intereshatebver the life of the Loan Agreement. Debt
issuance fees paid to third parties were capilael are being amortized to interest expense tisngffective interest method over the life of the
Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement also contains representatiothsvanranties by us and the lender and indemnifiogpirovisions in favor of the lender
and customary covenants (including limitations treoindebtedness, liens, acquisitions, investmamdsdividends, but no financial covenants),
and events of default (including payment defatlteaches of covenants following any applicable emod, a material impairment in the
perfection or priority of the lender’s securityengst or in the collateral, and events relatingaokruptcy or insolvency). Upon the occurrencerof a
event of default, a default interest rate of anitiatthl 5% may be applied to the outstanding loalaihces, and the lender may terminate its lending
commitment, declare all outstanding obligations iedmately due and payable, and take such othemacéis set forth in the Loan Agreement. In
addition, pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the lehds the right to participate, in an amount ofaifs1.0 million, in certain future private equity
financing(s) by the Company.

In conjunction with entering into the Loan Agreemehe Company granted a warrant to the lendeutohase shares of the Company’s
common stock. Since the warrant was granted inucwtipn with entering into the Loan Agreement, tblative fair value of the warrant was
recorded as equity and debt discount. The debbdi¥ is being amortized to interest expense dwetdrm of the related debt using the effective
interest method.

The following table presents the components ofdbmpany’s debt balance as of December 31, 2012.

December 31, 201
(in thousands

Debt:
Notes payabl $ 20,00(

Add:
Accretion of end of term chary 44

Less:
Issuance fees paid to lenc (199
Discount from warran (622)
Current portion of long-term debt (3,007)
Long-term debt $ 16,22:
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Future principal repayments of the two Notes arfolews (in thousands):

Year Ending December 3

2013 $ 3,001
2014 7,72¢
2015 8,481
2016 78€
Total $ 20,00(

The estimated fair value of the debt (categorized hevel 2 liability for fair value measurementmses) is determined using current ms
factors and the ability of the Company to obtaibtd® comparable terms to those that are currémiijace. We believe the estimated fair value at
December 31, 2012 approximates the carrying amount.

9. Stockholder’ Equity

Common Stock- As of December 31, 2012, the Company had 5000000shares of common stock authorized with a plaevaf $0.01
and the Company had reserved 1,817,839 sharesrohon stock for issuance upon the exercise of audétg common stock options, 215,525 for
issuance upon the vesting of restricted stock paitd 329,932 shares of common stock for issuapeg the exercise of the outstanding warrant.

On September 28, 2012, we completed a registeredtgiublic offering of 6,304,102 shares of our @oon Stock to certain investors at a
price of $4.07 per share, resulting in proceedd2&f7 million.

Warrant - In conjunction with entering into the Loan Agreem (See Note 8 — Debt), the Company granted eanto the lender to
purchase 329,932 shares of the Company’s commohk at@n exercise price of $2.94 per share. Thevédile of the warrant of $0.8 million was
calculated using the Black-Scholes warrant-pricimgfhodology at the date of issuance and was red@slequity and as a discount to the debt and
is being amortized to interest expense over the tdrthe related debt using the effective intenesthod. This warrant expires on June 29, 2017.

10. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has two equity compensation plansithended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plaamnasded (the “2000 Stock
Incentive Plan”) and the Amended and Restated Eoployee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock Purchiasg)PBoth the 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan and the Stock Purchase Plan were adoptectb@dimpany’s Board of Directors in 2000.

Under the terms of the 2000 Stock Incentive Plam,Gompany is authorized to grant a variety ofritive awards based on our common
stock, including stock options (both incentive ops and non-qualified options), performance shaneisother stock awards to all employees and
non-employee directors. At the 2011 Annual Meetih@hareholders held on May 18, 2011, the Compastyeseholders approved an amendment
to increase the number of authorized shares uhdeplian by 3,000,000 shares. As of December 312 2ie 2000 Stock Incentive Plan provides
for the issuance of a maximum of 3,925,000 shafresramon stock and also includes per person arsulalimits for the issuance of a maximum
of 75,000 stock options, 12,500 performance sh@mekiding RSUs) and 12,500 shares of restrictedkst As of December 31, 2012, 737,448
shares of the Company’s common stock were resdovddture grants (or issuances) of restrictedlstoestricted stock units, stock options, and
stock warrants under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Plan, efigthiployees have the opportunity to purchase aunmam stock at a discount. An opt
gives its holder the right to purchase shares otommon stock, up to a maximum value of $25,000ypar. The Stock Purchase Plan provides for
the issuance of a maximum of 150,000 shares of@mmon stock to participating employees. The Comulish not offer employees the right to
purchase common stock under the Stock PurchasealBtarg 2012, 2011 or 2010. As of December 31, 205,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock were reserved for future issuancesmimon stock under the Stock Purchase Plan.
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Stock Options The Company calculates the fair value of stodioms granted using the Black-Scholes valuation ehdthe Company
calculates the fair value of stock options grametside of the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan usingilitgtaccounting. These awards are classified as a
liability and remeasured at fair value at the ehdazh reporting period using the Black-Scholesiabn model and changes in fair value are

included in compensation expense in the Consolidatatements of Comprehensive Loss (see additiiselbsures related to stock options grat
outside the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan at the erttisffootnote).

The following table summarizes the grant datevalue and assumptions used in determining thev&ire of stock options granted under
and outside the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan duriegythars ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (no apticks were granted during 2010).

2012 2011
Volatility 96.2% 111.6%
Risk-free interest rat 0.7% 0.%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C%
Expected option term (in yeai 6.2¢ 6.2¢
Weightec-average grant date fair value of stock options tg $ 321 % 2.6¢

For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 201 %pth#lity factor was based on the Company’s histrvolatility since the closing of
the Merger on December 1, 2010. The expecteavlife determined using the simplified method as desdin ASC Topic 718, “Accounting for
Stock Compensation”, which is the midpoint betwtenvesting date and the end of the contractuai.térhe risk-free interest rate is based on the

US Treasury yield in effect at the date of graRbrfeitures are based on actual percentage ofrofitifeitures since the closing of the Merger on
December 1, 2010, and is the basis for future itofe expectations.
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The following table summarizes stock option acyivdr stock options granted under and outside 6@025tock Incentive Plan for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010lawsol

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Life in Years  Value
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 259.27" $ 23.0C
Granted - -
Exercisec - -
Forfeited and expired (45,000 48.0¢
Options outstanding at December 31, 2010 214,27 ¢ 18.4:
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2010 214,27 ¢ 18.4:
Exercisable at December 31, 2010 214,27 ¢ 18.4:
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 214,27" $ 18.4:
Granted 766,00( 3.71
Exercisec (5,200 6.1¢€
Forfeited and expired (83,329 26.5%
Options outstanding at December 31, 2011 891,75 5.1t
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2011 816,41: 5.3C
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 125,75: 13.5¢
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 891,75. $ 5.1F
Granted 1,116,38 4.1z
Exercisec (30,25() 7.0¢
Forfeited and expired (160,049 9.54
Options outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,817,83! 4.1(C 7.8% 4,790,81
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2012 1,692,91! 4.11 7.7% 4,457,65
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 438,14! 4.5¢ 2.4% 1,003,74

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdiskiring the years ended December 31, 2012 and @664 $24,590 and $23,482,
respectively. The Company recognized stock-basetpeasation expense related to stock options ofoappately $1.8 million, $0.3 million $0.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 201d 2010, respectively. Stock-based compensatipense during 2012 includes $0.5 million
of expense resulting from modifications made talstmptions held by certain employees that wereiteatad during 2012. General and
administrative expenses include $1.5 million, $8iion and $0.0 million and research and develophexpenses include $0.3 million, $0.1
million and $0.0 million of stock-based compensatixpense in the Consolidated Statement of CompsareeLoss for the years December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. As of DecemligPB12, there was $5.9 million of unrecognized pensation expense related to unvested
stock options, which is expected to be recognized a weighted average period of 3.56 years.
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Outstanding as of December 31, 201 Exercisable as of December 31, 20

Weighted Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average

Range of Exercise Number of Contractual Term Excersise Number of Excersise

Prices Options (in Years) Price Options Price

$ 3.0 $ 3.13 482,30! 6.3t $ 3.0¢ 234,49" % 3.0¢
$ 314 % 3.3¢ 21,40( 944 $ 3.24 - 3 -
$ 34C $ 3.47 708,31« 9.6 $ 3.4C - $ =
$ 34¢ % 4.0t 16,50( 951 $ 3.6¢ - $ -
$ 458 % 4.9¢ 186,17( 9.74 $ 4.5¢ - $ =
$ 497 $ 5.8¢ 4,00( 9.7t % 4.97 - 3 -
$ 59C $ 6.3¢ 198,40( 166 $ 5.9C 182,90 $ 5.9C
$ 6.32 $ 8.2¢ 185,25( 964 $ 6.64 525( $ 6.5C
$ 83C $ 17.5¢ 10,25( 0.8C $ 9.1¢ 10,25 $ 9.1¢
$ 17.6C $ 17.6C 5,25( 03¢ $ 17.6C 525C $ 17.6C

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units The Company grants Restricted Stock (“RS”) and fiest! Stock Units (“RSUSs”) to
eligible employees, including our executives. ERGand RSU represents a right to receive one siidhe Company’s common stock upon the
completion of a specific period of continued seevic achievement of a certain milestone. RS and B8afds granted under the Company’s 2000
Stock Incentive Plan are generally valued at thekatgrice of the Company’s common stock on the déigrant. In the first quarter of 2011, the
Company granted RSUs outside of the 2000 StockntiveePlan and those awards were accounted foliabity as they would have been deen
to be cash settled until additional shares werkasisted for issuance under the 2000 Stock Incelae. In May 2011, additional shares under the
2000 Stock Incentive Plan were authorized and thg$fwere converted to equity awards and were vat#te market price of our common stock
on that date. In addition, RSUs granted in exoésgrtain plan sub-limits are considered to bentgrd outside the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and
are classified as a liability and remeasured atiue at the end of each reporting period anecigbs in fair value are included in compensation
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Compseleehoss (see additional disclosures related tofR@anted outside the 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan at the end of this footnote). The Companygeizes noncash compensation expense for the faieyaf these RS and RSUs on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period of thesardsy which is generally three years.
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The following table summarizes the total RS and RSdrds granted both under and outside of the Z3@¢€k Incentive Plan during the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of Average

RS Grant Price RSU's Grant Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 8,772 $ 17.1C - -
Granted 30,27( 8.8C - -
Released (39,042 10.72 - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2( - - - -
Granted - - 491,25! $ 6.3€
Forfeited - - (4,230 5.1z
Outstanding at December 31, 2( - - 487,02 6.37
Granted - - 61,01: 3.44
Release (322,819 4.5¢
Forfeited - - (9,692 5.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 - $ = 21552! $ 6.2€
Expected to Vest - $ - 206,39 $ 6.22

The Company recognized stock-based compensati@nsgpelated to RS and RSUs of approximately $ill@dm $1.3 million and $0.3
million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 201d 2010, respectively. Stock-based compensatipense during 2012 includes $1.2 million
of expense resulting from modifications made to R&#ld by certain employees that were terminateithg2012. General and administrative
expenses include $0.8 million, $0.9 million and2billion and research and development expensésdad0.4 million, $0.4 million and $0.1
million of stock-based compensation expense irChiesolidated Statements of Comprehensive Lossiéoye¢ars ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively. As of December 31, 201&gtlvas $ 0. 5 million of unrecognized compensagiguense related to unvested RSUs, which
is expected to be recognized over a weighted aegragod of 0.9 years. The total fair value of R®Us and RS that vested during 2012 and 2011
was $1.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

Awards Granted Outside of the 2000 Stock Incenti®lan - In connection with a recent review of equity comgaion awards made unc
the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, the Company detexdhthat it had inadvertently exceeded the annuapeeson sub-limits in connection with
awards previously made to certain of its curremnt past officers and directors. The aggregate amafuzimmon stock represented by these awards
in excess of the per person annual sub-limits dutie two years ended December 31, 2012, whichistedsof RSUs and stock options, is
approximately 1.4 million shares. Such awardsraskided in the stock option and RS and RSU tahtebsrelated disclosures above. The awards
that exceeded the per person sub-limits include@ioeawards issued immediately following the Compa business combination with Transave,
awards negotiated with new hires pursuant to enmpésyt agreements or offers of employment, and ceatilier awards made subsequent to the
Company’s 2011 one-for-ten reverse stock splitesehawards were deemed to be granted outside 20@@Stock Incentive Plan and as such the
Company applied liability accounting to these aweadd recorded a liability of $1.2 million whichiieluded in Accrued expenses as of December
31, 2012.

11. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was $0 during th@rgended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and $78.00@ dhe year ended December
31, 2010. The Company'’s effective tax rate was 0dd#¥ing the years ended December 31, 2012 and 20@l1(1.0%) in the year ended December
31, 2010. The Company is subject to US federalstaie income taxes. The Company has never beeteduadlid the statute of limitations for tax
audit is generally open for the years 2009 and.l&tewever, except in 2009, the Company has incdunegt operating losses since inception. Such
loss carryforwards would be subject to audit in taxyyear in which those losses are utilized, nibistanding the year of origin. The Company’s
policy is to recognize interest accrued relatedrigcecognized tax benefits and penalties in incarekpense. The Company has recorded no such
expense. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, thep@oy has recorded no reserves for unrecognizedn@edax benefits, nor has it recorded any
accrued interest or penalties related to unceté&impositions. The Company does not anticipatenaaterial changes in the amount of unrecognized
tax positions over the next twelve months.

93




Index

The reconciliation between the federal statutoxyréde of 34% and the Company’s effective tax img&s follows:

Statutory federal tax ra

Permanent item

State income taxes, net of federal ber
Research and development cre
Expired net operating loss carryforwa
Alternative minimum ta:

Change in valuation allowan:

Other

Effective tax rate

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbesid on the difference between financial stateam@htax bases using enacted tax ral
effect for the year in which the differences arpested to reverse. The components of the defesreddsets and liabilities consist of the following:

Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwar
General business cred
Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) credi
Other

Gross deferred tax asset

Deferred tax liabilities:
In-process research and developn
Other

Deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax asset:
Valuation Allowance

Net deferred tax asset:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
34% 34% 34%
- (4%) (9%)
4% 3% 1%
1% 5% -
(15%) (10%) -
- - 1%
(22%) (27%) (28%)
(2%) (1%) -
0% 0% (L)%

As of December 31
2012 2011
(in thousands

$ 128,25 $ 119,71¢

10,50: 10,32«
41¢ 41¢
3,001 1,791

$ 142,18: $ 132,25:

$ (22,099 $ (22,09
i (170
$ (22,099 $ (22,269

$ 120,09 $ 109,08
(120,09() (109,989

$ - 8 =

The net deferred tax assets (prior to applyingsdieation allowance) of $120.1 million and $110.0lion at December 31, 2012 and 20
respectively, primarily consist of net operatingd@arryforwards for income tax purposes. DudéoGompany’s history of operating losses, the
Company recorded a full valuation allowance omésdeferred tax assets by increasing the valuatiowance by $10.1 million as it is more likely
than not that such tax benefits will not be realize

At December 31, 2012, the Company had net oper&isgycarryforwards for income tax purposes of appnately $350.0 million
available to offset future taxable income, if afifie NOL carryovers and general business tax cregfige in various years beginning in 2013.
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Utilization of the NOLs and general business taedis carryforwards may be subject to a substalntigtiation under Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 due to changes iremship of the Company that have occurred previoosthat could occur in the future. These
ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL aedegal business tax credits carryforwards thateantilized annually to offset future taxable
income and tax, respectively. In general, an owriprshange, as defined by Section 382, results franmsactions increasing the ownership of
certain shareholders or public groups in the stk corporation by more than 50 percentage powis a three-year period. Since the Company’s
formation, it has raised capital through the isseasf common stock on several occasions which, @oedbwith the purchasing stockholders’
subsequent disposition of those shares, may hauéied in a change of control, as defined by Se@&R, and it issued a substantial amount of
shares of common stock as part of its merger witm3ave, Inc. in December 2010. Due to the sigmficomplexity and cost associated with a
change in control study, and because there cousditigional changes in control in the future, tt@pany has not yet formally assessed whether
there has been one or more changes in control #iecBompany’s formation. If the Company has exgrered a change of control at any time since
Company formation, utilization of its NOL or genkasiness tax credit carryforwards would be sultiet¢he limitation rules under Section 382.
Any limitation may result in expiration of a poni@f the NOL or general business tax credit camyésds before utilization which would reduce
the Company’s gross deferred tax assets.

12. License and Collaboration Agreemen
In-License Agreements

Ipsen and GenenteeHn March 2007, the Company was granted a licenseiblicense as applicable to patents held bynlpse
Genentech to develop IPLEX in certain medical indans in the US and foreign territories. In Now®n2008, the Company gained Royalty-Free
Worldwide Rights for IPLEX from Ipsen and Genentétleconnection with potential expanded access Atdgams.

PARI Pharma GmbH In April 2008, the Company entered into a licegsagreement with PARI Pharma GmbH for use of fiterozed
eFlow Nebulizer System for delivery of ARIKACE ireating patients with CF, bronchiectasis, and NTikdtions. Insmed has rights to several
US and foreign issued patents and patent applitatiovolving improvements to the optimized eFlowbbhkzer System. In consideration of this
agreement, PARI shall receive payments either sh,cgualified stock or a combination of both, atRPA discretion, based on achievement of
certain future milestone events including firstemance of MAA submission (or equivalent) in the &f ARIKACE and the device, first receipt of
marketing approval in the US for ARIKACE and thevide, and first receipt of marketing approval imajor EU country for ARIKACE. In
addition, PARI will receive royalty payments on aoercial sales of ARIKACE.

Out-License Agreements

NAPO Pharmaceuticalsin January 2007, the Company entered into areaggat with NAPO Pharmaceuticals, whereby it graita&O
a license for INSM-18 also known as Masoprocal. li¢ense gives NAPO the right to develop, manufacand commercialize Masoprocal
products for any indications relating specificatiydiabetes, cardiac disease, vascular diseasabalietdisease and Syndrome X. The agreement
calls for payments from NAPO to the Company upanabhievement of certain milestones which haveyabbeen met.

TriAct - In December, 2010, the Company entered into aseagent with TriAct Therapeutics Inc. (“TriAct”) wheby it granted TriAct an
exclusive license for INS-18 also known as Masoak.othe license gives TriAct the right to develognufacture and commercialize Masoprocal
products for any indications relating specificatyyoncology. The agreement calls for the issuer@cf common stock to Insmed upon the
achievement of certain milestones. To date, nestohes have been achieved and no common stotlebaseceived.

Eleison- In February, 2011, the Company entered into aaeagent with Eleison Pharmaceuticals whereby mtgiciEleison an exclusive
license for CISPLATIN Lipid Complex. The licensevgs Eleison the right to develop, manufacture amdmercialize CISPLATIN Lipid
Complex. Payments totaling $1.0 million were reediin 2011 and were recorded as license fee revenu

Premacure (now Shire ple)in May, 2012, the Company entered into an agre¢miéh Premacure Holdings AB and Premacure AB of
Sweden (collectively, “Premacure”) pursuant to vahtlse Company granted to Premacure an exclusivdgdwidle license to develop manufacture
and commercialize IGF-1, with its natural bindingtein, IGFBP-3, for the prevention and treatmafrcomplications of preterm birth (the
“Premacure License Agreement’ln March 2013, we amended the Premacure Licenseehgent to provide Premacure with the option, ezabd
by Premacure any time prior to April 30, 2013, &y s $11.5 million and assume any of our royaitygations to other parties in exchange for a
fully paid license. If Premacure exercises thisaptwe would not be entitled to future royaltiesrh Premacure.
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Collaboration Agreements

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics, In¢n 2005 and 2009, the Company entered into rebdanding agreements with Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics, Inc. (CFFT) whegiigreceived $1.7 million and $2.2 million foraarespective agreement in research funding
for the development of its ARIKACE product. If ARRCE becomes an approved product for CF in the b&SCompany will owe payments
totaling up to $13.4 million to CFFT that would payable over a three-year period after approval @ammercialized drug in the US. Furthermore,
if certain sales milestones are met within 5 yedthe drug commercialization approval in the U €ompany would owe an additional payment
of $3.9 million. Since there is significant develognt risk associated with ARIKACE, we have not aedrthese obligations.

National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Disea- In 2009 and 2012, we entered into a cooperaéigearch and development
agreement (CRADA) with National Institutes of Aljgrand Infectious Diseases (NIAID) to design andduet our phase 2 study of ARIKACE in
patients with NTM. NIAID has also agreed to provhdestatistical advisory input in connection wittetphase 2 NTM study. If we decide not to
continue with the commercialization of ARIKACE inTN, NIAID will have the right to complete the clical trial. Further, NIAID may elect to
pursue its rights to obtain license rights to dartiaventions made under the CRADA.

13. Commitments and Contingencie

Commitments

The Company has two operating leases for officelalnoratory space located in Monmouth Junctiontiidugh December 31,
2014. Future minimum rental payments under the@sddases total approximately $1.4 million. We @ome to lease office space in Richmond,
where the Company’s corporate headquarters wevéopidy located through October 2016. Future minimmental payments under this lease total
approximately $1.9 million. During 2011, we recedda net present value charge of $1.2 million imegal and administrative expenses associated
with vacating the Richmond facility. The remainiacgcrual for this charge was $0.9 million as of Dalber 31, 2012.

Rent expense charged to operations was $1.0 mithb® million and $0.5 million for the years endeelcember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Future minimum rental payments regflitnder the Company’s operating leases are asv®llin thousands).

Year Ending December 3

2013 $ 1,18¢
2014 1,201
2015 49¢
2016 42t
Total $ 3,317
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Legal Proceedings
Cacchillo v. Insmed

On October 6, 2010, a complaint was filed agaimst@Gompany by Angeline Cacchillo (“Plaintiff”) ihe U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of New York (th“Court”), captionedCacchillo v. Insmed, InG.No. 1:10-cv-0199, seeking monetary damages amdid order
requiring Insmed to support Plaintiff's compassitenase application to the FDA and if approved,rovige Plaintiff with IPLEX. Plaintiff was a
participant in the phase Il clinical trial of IPLEsponsored by us evaluating the effectivenesseoiiestigational drug in patients with type 1
myotonic muscular dystrophy (“MMD”). In the compig Plaintiff alleged (i) violation of constituti@l due process and equal protection by
depriving Plaintiff of continued access to IPLEX) fraudulent inducement to enter the phase hichl trial with the false promise to support
Plaintiff's compassionate use application to theA-[ii) negligent representation that the Compamuld support Plaintiff’'s compassionate use
application, (iv) breach of contract, seeking mangtind non-monetary damages, (v) intentionaldtifin of emotional distress by refusing to
support Plaintiff's compassionate use applicatitberagroviding IPLEX, (vi) violation of an assumeldty of care to Plaintiff, (vii) breach of
fiduciary duty to Plaintiff, (viii) negligence ar(ik) unjust enrichment. Plaintiff seeks compensatind punitive monetary damages and sought
injunction relief as noted above.

On October 7, 2010, Plaintiff filed a motion fopeeliminary injunction that would require us to pide a written statement supporting the
“compassionate use” of IPLEX for Plaintiff and diteg us to provide IPLEX to Plaintiff at cost imet event that the compassionate use application
were granted by the FDA. On October 22, 2010Qbert denied Plaintiff’s motion for the preliminainjunction concluding that the Court lacked
subject matter jurisdiction with respect to heiiroldor a preliminary injunction. Plaintiff appeal¢he Courts denial of her motion for a prelimine
injunction to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the &ed Circuit, which affirmed the trial court’s ordéenying the Plaintiff's motion for a preliminary
injunction.

We filed a motion with the Court to dismiss alltbé outstanding claims, and on June 29, 2011, thet@ismissed six of Plaintiff's
claims, leaving outstanding the claims for (i) filalent inducement, (ii) negligent misrepresentatand (iii) breach of contract. The Company f
an answer and affirmative defenses with the Caurdudy 12, 2011. Plaintiff's claim for monetaryndages with respect to these claims remains
outstanding. The parties completed discovery cabout June 1, 2012. The Company filed a MotiorSiammary Judgment on August 1, 2012
seeking judgment in our favor on the three claiemaining in the case and the motion was fully stiiehion October 9, 2012. On January 19,
2013, the Court granted the Companilotion for Summary Judgment and dismissed ahefoutstanding claims. Plaintiff filed a NoticeAybpeal
on March 15, 2013. The Company expects that thigepawill submit briefs before the end of 2013ttwa decision expected sometime in the first
half of 2014.

Pilkiewicz v. Transave LL(

On March 28, 2011, Frank G. Pilkiewicz and othenfer stockholders of Transave (collectively, theti®oners”)filed an appraisal actic
against the Company’s subsidiary Transave, LL&@&Relaware Court of Chancery captiofednk G. Pilkiewicz, et al. v. Transave, LL.C.A.
No. 631¢-CS. On December 13, 2011, following the mailingtaf revised notice of appraisal rights in accocganith the settlement terms of
Mackinson et al. v. Insm¢, an Amended Petition for Appraisal of Stock wéedfiby the Petitioners.

The Petitioners seek appraisal under Delaware fdtedr total combined common stock holdings repreimg total dissenting shares of
approximately 7.77 million shares of Transave, bmnmon stock (the “Transave Stock”). The Petitisrage challenging the value of the
consideration that they would be entitled to reedor their Transave Stock under the terms of theger.

Under the terms of the merger agreement, certaineoformer stockholders of Transave (the “Trans@teekholders”) are obligated to
indemnify the Company for certain liabilities inregection with the appraisal action. The Companyfiedtthe Transave Stockholders in May 2012
that the Company is seeking indemnification in adaace with the merger agreement and that it witititue to retain the aggregate amount of the
holdback shares totaling 1.76 million shares, asr#ty for any indemnification payments due under imerger agreement. Discovery is ongoing
and the trial is scheduled to begin September @032The Company believes that the allegationsatoeed in the amended petition are without
merit and we intend to continue to vigorously deféims action. It is not possible at this timesttimate the amount of loss or range of possible
loss, if any, that might result from an adverselg#on of this action.
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From time to time, the Company is a party to vasiother lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedthgt arise in the ordinary course of
our business. While the outcomes of these madtersincertain, management does not expect thattthate costs to resolve these matters will
have a material adverse effect on the Company’satmtated financial position, results of operationgash flows.
14. Quatrterly Financial Data (Unaudited

The following table summarizes unaudited quartngncial data for the years ended December 312 20@ 2011 (in thousands, except
per share data).

2012
First Seconc Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue! $ - % - % - $ - $ =
Operating loss (7,264 (9,989 (9,359 (15,83%) (42,43
Net loss after income tax (6,84F) (9,69€) (9,387) (15,45) (41,37¢)
Basic and diluted net loss attributable to common
stockholders per common share $ (0.2¢) $ (0.39 $ (0.39) $ (049 $ (1.56)
2011
First Seconc Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue: $ 1,601 $ 97¢ % 43t $ 1,40 $ 4,417
Operating loss (7,415 (10,479) (34,960 (8,877) (61,719
Net loss after income tax (6,89¢) (10,0179 (34,597 (8,167) (59,66¢)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) attributabledmmon
stockholders per common share $ (0.8 $ (040 $ (1.39 $ (0.39 $ (2.95)

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share aitsdaonluded in the above tables are computed intgely for each of the quarters
presented. Accordingly, the sum of the quartersidand diluted net loss per share amounts maggree to the total for the year.

15. Subsequent Event

In connection with a recent review by the Compahgaquity compensation awards made under its 2006kShcentive Plan, which is
described in greater detail in Footnote 10 hetbimCompany determined that it had inadvertentbeered the annual per-person sub-limits set
forth in the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. The awdhds exceeded the per-person sub-limits inclugethin RS, RSU and stock option awards made
to certain of its current and past officers anédliors. The amount of common stock representaddse awards in excess of the per-person annua
sub-limits totaled approximately 1.6 million sharélshe awards that exceeded the per-person sutslintiuded several awards that were issued
immediately following the Company’s business comalion with Transave, several awards that were regtgotwith new hires pursuant to
employment agreements or offers of employment,canthin other awards made subsequent to our 20d-foptten reverse stock split. The
Company has not exceeded the aggregate maximum lghérapproved by shareholders under the 20008kStacentive Plan (currently 3,925,000
shares of common stock), whether as a result @fqusly-issued awards or currently outstanding asar
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As a result of the foregoing review and findingshaiespect to awards in excess of the per-personahisub-limits, on March 7, 2013, the
Company’s Board approved a remediation and comigatan recommended by a special committee of tad Pursuant to the remediation and
compliance plan, on March 14, 2013, the Companyigea notice to each current employee and diregtar was a recipient of an affected equity
compensation award. As of March 15, 2013, eactentiemployee and director who holds an affectedtygompensation award that is currently
unvested and/or unexercised, has entered intox®waind consent with the Company. Pursuant to saiver and consent, each affected current
employee or director agreed that the unvestedgrodf such awards in excess of the sub-limits statlvest and shall not become exercisable and
any vested portion of such awards of stock optinrexcess of the sub-limits shall not be exercisainl each case, unless the Company’s
shareholders ratify and approve the portion ofaffiected awards that were in excess of the appécaib-limits. If the Company’s shareholders do
not ratify and approve the affected portion of saefards, such portions would be deemed forfeitadurtherance of the foregoing, on March 7,
2013, as part of the remediation and compliance, pkee Board approved the recommendation of a apesimmittee of the Board that we seek
shareholder approval at the Company’s 2013 annaeting of shareholders to ratify and approve theess portions of the affected awards.

On March 12, 2013, the Company notified Nasdadpefgrants previously made in excess of the anrergberson sublimits provided for
by 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. The Company beli¢hrasa decision by the Company to increase thealrsulb-limits would have constituted an
immaterial amendment to the 2000 Stock Incentiaa Rlvhich amendment would not have required shidehapproval under applicable Nasdaq
guidance. However, because the grant of certaimdsaexceeded the sublimits applicable at the theegtants were made, it is possible that Na
will conclude that the Company issued securitiespant to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan withoutetalder approval in violation of Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5635(c).

In a March 13, 2013 letter to Nasdaq, the Compabynitted a remediation and compliance plan, whiehG@Gompany refers to as the
remediation plan, to address the grants made iessxaf the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan sub-limitsoAmother items, the Company’s remediation
plan conditions the continued vesting and exeraigbe portion of each equity compensation awasded to our current employees and directors in
excess of the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan’s sub4imit approval by the Company’s shareholders of poction of the affected grants. If our
shareholders do not ratify and approve the affeptetions of such awards, such portions would ke forfeited.

As part of the Company’s remediation plan, andrafteeiving confirmation from Nasdaq’s staff on Nag's continued reliance on Staff
Interpretation Letter 20028, on March 15, 2013, the compensation committéleeoBoard recommended and the Board approvednam@ment t
the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan to replace the tméeidual annual per person equity compensationité with a single annual aggregate stock
option, performance share and restricted stocKisuibef 1,500,000 shares. The Company did noihgeethe overall share reserve for the 2000
Stock Incentive Plan of 3,925,000 shares, which apgsoved by the Company’s shareholders in May 2011
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Employment Agreement, dated December 2, 2010, leetwesmed Incorporated and Nicholas Labella, dcofiporated by reference
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Celtrix Pharmaceuticals, Tercica Inc., and Gendntew. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to InsneQuarterly Report on 10-Q filed
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EXHIBIT 3.1

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
of
INSMED, INC.

ARTICLE |
The name of the Corporation shall be Insmed, Inc.
ARTICLE Il

The purpose for which the Corporation is formetbifransact any or all lawful business, not regliieebe specifically stated in these Articles of
Incorporation, for which corporations may be inagied under the Virginia Stock Corporation Actaaszended from time to time, and any
legislation succeeding thereto (the "VSCA").

ARTICLE Il

The aggregate number of shares that the Corporsitialh have authority to issue shall be 200,0008G0es of Preferred Stock, par
value $.01 per share (hereinafter called "Prefe®tedk"), and 500,000,000 shares of Common Staakyglue $.01 per share (hereinafter called
"Common Stock"). The following is a descriptionezfch of such classes of stock, and a statemehneé gfreferences, limitations, voting rights and
relative rights in respect of the shares of eaci slass:

1. Authority to Fix Rights of Peefed Stock The Board of Directors shall have authority regolution or resolutions, at any
time and from time to time to divide and estabbsly or all of the unissued shares of Preferredk3tot then allocated to any series of Preferred
Stock into one or more series, and, without lingitthe generality of the foregoing, to fix and detere the designation of each such series, the
number of shares that shall constitute such saridghe following relative rights and preferencethe shares of each series so established:

@) The annual or other periodic dérid rate payable on shares of such seriesinie of payment thereof,
whether such dividends shall be cumulative or nemudative, and the date or dates from which anyudative dividends shall commence to
accrue;

(b) the price or prices at which ane terms and conditions, if any, on which sharesuch series may be redeemed;

(c) the amounts payable upon sharssicti series in the event of the voluntary or ioatdry dissolution, liquidation
or winding-up of the affairs of the Corporation;

(d) the sinking fund provisions, ifyafior the redemption or purchase of shares of secies;




(e) the extent of the voting powefgny, of the shares of such series;

® the terms and conditions, if aogp,which shares of such series may be convertedshres of stock of the
Corporation of any other class or classes or ihtwes of any other series of the same or any othss or classes;

(9) whether, and if so the extent tucl, shares of such series may participate wgh@ommon Stock in any
dividends in excess of the preferential dividenxedi for shares of such series or in any distributibthe assets of the Corporation, upon a
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up thereatf, éxcess of the preferential amount fixed for shafesuch series; and

(h) any other preferences and relatiptional or other special rights, and qualifioas, limitations or restrictions of
such preferences or rights, of shares of suchssedtfixed and determined by law or in this Asidll.

2. Distinctive Designations of iBsr Each series of Preferred Stock shall be so dat#g as to distinguish the shares thereof
from the shares of all other series. Differenteserf Preferred Stock shall not be considered tstitate different voting groups of shares for the
purpose of voting by voting groups except as regliby the VSCA or as otherwise specified by therBad Directors with respect to any series at
the time of the creation thereof.

3. Restrictions on Certain Digtitibns. So long as any shares of Preferred Stock astamding, the Corporation shall not
declare and pay or set apart for payment any didsl€other than dividends payable in Common Stoaktter stock of the Corporation ranking
junior to the Preferred Stock as to dividends) akenany other distribution on such junior stoclatfthe time of making such declaration, payn
or distribution, the Corporation shall be in defawith respect to any dividend payable on, or ab§gation to redeem, any shares of Preferred
Stock.

4. Redeemed or Reacquired Shafdsares of any series of Preferred Stock thas baen redeemed or otherwise reacquired
by the Corporation (whether through the operatiba sinking fund, upon conversion or otherwise)lldave the status of authorized and unissued
shares of Preferred Stock and may be redesignateck@ssued as a part of such series (unless pedhity the articles of amendment creating such
series) or of any other series of Preferred StBbtlares of Common Stock that have been reacquirdteb@orporation shall have the status of
authorized and unissued shares of Common Stocknayde reissued.

5. Voting Rights Subject to the provisions of the VSCA or of Bydaws of the Corporation as from time to time ffeet
with respect to the closing of the transfer bookthe fixing of a record date for the determinatadrshareholders entitled to vote, and except as
otherwise provided by the VSCA or in resolutiongha Board of Directors establishing any serieBrefferred Stock pursuant to the provisions of
paragraph 1 of this Article I, the holders of stainding shares of Common Stock of the Corporatiwail exclusively possess voting power for the
election of directors and for all other purposeshwach holder of record of shares of Common Std¢ke Corporation being entitled to one vote
for each share of such stock standing in his namt@books of the Corporation.




6. No Preemptive Right&No holder of shares of stock of any class ofGbeporation shall, as such holder, have any tight
subscribe for or purchase (a) any shares of sthakyclass of the Corporation, or any warrantsiomg or other instruments that shall confer upon
the holder thereof the right to subscribe for archase or receive from the Corporation any sharesok of any class, whether or not such shares
of stock, warrants, options or other instrumengsissued for cash or services or property or by efajividend or otherwise, or (b) any other
security of the Corporation that shall be convégtibto, or exchangeable for, any shares of stétkedCorporation of any class or classes, or to
which shall be attached or appurtenant any wargguipn or other instrument that shall confer ugimmholder of such security the right to subsc
for or purchase or receive from the Corporation stmgres of its stock of any class or classes, wehethnot such securities are issued for cash or
services or property or by way of dividend or othiee, other than such right, if any, as the Bodmioectors, in its sole discretion, may from time
to time determine. If the Board of Directors shudfer to the holders of shares of stock of any<lafsthe Corporation, or any of them, any such
shares of stock, options, warrants, instrumentsiuer securities of the Corporation, such offellgiat, in any way, constitute a waiver or relea$
the right of the Board of Directors subsequentldigpose of other securities of the Corporatiomatit offering the same to said holders.

7. Control Share Acquisition StatutThe provisions of Article 14.1 of the VSCA shatit apply to acquisitions of shares of
any class of capital stock of the Corporation.
ARTICLE IV
1. The number of directors shalbBespecified in the By-laws of the Corporation futh number may be increased or

decreased from time to time in such manner as ragyrdscribed in the By-laws, provided that in nergshall the number of directors exceed
twelve. In the absence of a By-law specifying thenber of directors, the number shall be seven. Cemeing with the 2000 annual meeting of
shareholders (or by unanimous written consentin thereof), the Board of Directors shall be dididgo three classes, Class |, Class Il, and Class
[, as nearly equal in number as possible. Thisinierm of each class of directors shall expirtha annual meeting of shareholders to be held in
the following years: Class [--2001; Class II--20@2d Class I1I--2003. At each annual meeting ofetalders after the 2000 annual meeting of
shareholders, the successors to the class of @isawhose term shall then expire shall be idemtiéie being of the same class of directors they
succeed and shall be elected to hold office farie texpiring at the third succeeding annual meatifrghareholders. When the number of directors
is changed, any newlgreated directorships or any decrease in diredmssthall be so apportioned among the classesébBalard of Directors as
make all classes as nearly equal in number ashpesprovided, however, that no decrease in thelbmurof directors shall shorten or terminate the
term of any incumbent director.

2. Subject to the rights of thedwsk of any Preferred Stock then outstanding, ttireenay be removed only with cause and
only by the affirmative vote of at least 75 percehthe voting power of the then outstanding shafesapital stock of the Corporation entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors ("Va@iStock"), voting together as a single voting group




3. Subject to the rights of thedwsk of any Preferred Stock then outstanding amehydimitations set forth in the VSCA,
newly-created directorships resulting from any éase in the number of directors and any vacaneiteeiBoard of Directors resulting from death,
resignation, disqualification, removal or other ®aghall be filled solely (i) by the Board of Ditexs or (ii) at an annual meeting of shareholdgrs b
the shareholders entitled to vote on the electfafirectors. If the directors remaining in officertstitute fewer than a quorum of the Board, they
may fill the vacancy by the affirmative vote of ajarity of the directors remaining in office.

4. Notwithstanding any other pramisof the Articles of Incorporation or any prowsiof law that might otherwise permit a
lesser vote, but in addition to any affirmativeevof the holders of any particular voting groupuiegd by the VSCA, the Articles of Incorporation
or the terms of any Preferred Stock outstanding affirmative vote of at least 75 percent of théng power of the then outstanding Voting Stock,
voting together as a single voting group shalldzpiired to alter, amend, repeal or adopt any pi@visiconsistent with any provision of this Artic

ARTICLE V

Except as expressly otherwise required in the liof Incorporation, an amendment or restatenietiieoArticles of Incorporation
requiring shareholder approval shall be approved majority of the votes entitled to be cast byheaating group that is entitled to vote on the
matter, unless in submitting any such amendmergstatement to the shareholders the Board of Direshall require a greater vote.

ARTICLE VI

1. Every person who is or was adir, officer or employee of the Corporation, drowat the request of the Corporation,
serves or has served in any such capacity witthanabrporation, partnership, joint venture, trestployee benefit plan, or other enterprise ste
indemnified by the Corporation against any andiatlility and reasonable expense that may be ireclioy him in connection with or resulting from
any claim, action or proceeding (whether broughh@right of the Corporation or any such othepooation, entity, plan or otherwise), in which
may become involved, as a party or otherwise, bgar of his being or having been a director, offareemployee of the Corporation, or such other
corporation, entity or plan while serving at thguest of the Corporation, whether or not he comtinio be such at the time such liability or expense
is incurred, unless such person engaged in wilfisconduct or a knowing violation of the criminabl.




As used in this Article VI: (a) the terms "liabjlitand "expense" shall include, but shall not batkd to, counsel fees and disbursements
and amounts of judgments, fines or penalties agans amounts paid in settlement by, a directificey or employee; (b) the terms "director,”
"officer" and "employee," unless the context othisearequires, include the estate or personal reptatve of any such person; (c) a person is
considered to be serving an employee benefit @amndirector, officer or employee of the plan & @orporation's request if his duties to the
Corporation also impose duties on, or otherwiseliesservices by, him to the plan or, in connectidth the plan, to participants in or beneficial
of the plan; (d) the term "occurrence" means amyafailure to act, actual or alleged, giving rteea claim, action or proceeding; and (e) serage
a trustee or as a member of a management or sicoitamittee of a partnership, joint venture or lexitiability company shall be considered
service as a director, officer or employee of thistt partnership, joint venture or limited liabjilcompany.

The termination of any claim, action or proceeditigil or criminal, by judgment, settlement, cortién or upon a plea of nolo
contendere, or its equivalent, shall not createeaymption that a director, officer or employee it meet the standards of conduct set forth & thi
paragraph 1. The burden of proof shall be on thea@ation to establish, by a preponderance of ideace, that the relevant standards of conduct
set forth in this paragraph 1 have not been met.

2. Any indemnification under paragin 1 of this Article VI shall be made unless (e Board, acting by a majority vote of
those directors who were directors at the timénefdccurrence giving rise to the claim, actionmcpeding involved and who are not at the time
parties to such claim, action or proceeding (predithere are at least five such directors), fihds the director, officer or employee has not rhet t
relevant standards of conduct set forth in suchgraph 1, or (b) if there are not at least fivehsdicectors, the Corporation's principal Virginégél
counsel, as last designated by the Board as simhtpithe time of the occurrence giving rise te taim, action or proceeding involved, or in the
event for any reason such Virginia counsel is uimglto so serve, then Virginia legal counsel milyuacceptable to the Corporation and the pe
seeking indemnification, deliver to the Corporatthair written advice that, in their opinion, sustandards have not been met.

3. Expenses incurred with respeetrty claim, action or proceeding of the charagéscribed in paragraph 1 shall, except as
otherwise set forth in this paragraph 3, be advaubgethe Corporation prior to the final disposititrereof upon receipt of an undertaking by or on
behalf of the recipient to repay such amountig itltimately determined that he is not entitledndemnification under this Article VI. No security
shall be required for such undertaking and sucleraking shall be accepted without reference tagbiient's final ability to make repayment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation mefyain from, or suspend, payment of expensesvarek if at any time before delivery of t
final finding described in paragraph 2, the Boar&¥wginia legal counsel, as the case may be, gdtirmccordance with the procedures set forth in
paragraph 2, find by a preponderance of the evil#men available that the officer, director or enypke has not met the relevant standards of
conduct set forth in paragraph 1.

4. No amendment or repeal of thische VI shall adversely affect or deny to anyetditor, officer or employee the rights of
indemnification provided in this Article VI with spect to any liability or expense arising out @fam, action or proceeding based in whole or
substantial part on an occurrence the inceptiomhach takes place before or while this Article ¥§ set forth in these Articles of Incorporation, is
in effect. The provisions of this paragraph 4 shalbly to any such claim, action or proceeding veven commenced, including any such claim,
action or proceeding commenced after any amendaraepeal to this Article VI.




5. The rights of indemnificatioropided in this Article VI shall be in addition taarights to which any such director, officer
or employee may otherwise be entitled by contraetsoa matter of law.

6. In any proceeding brought bynathe right of the Corporation or brought by orlmhalf of shareholders of the Corporat
no director or officer of the Corporation shallltzble to the Corporation or its shareholders fanetary damages with respect to any transaction,
occurrence or course of conduct, whether prioubssquent to the effective date of this Article &tcept for liability resulting from such person's
having engaged in willful misconduct or a knowiriglation of the criminal law or any federal or &&ecurities law.

ARTICLE VII

In furtherance of, and not in limitation of, thevpers conferred by the VSCA, the Board of Direcisrexpressly authorized and
empowered to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylawlseo€orporation; provided, however, that the Bylasepted by the Board of Directors under
the powers hereby conferred may be altered, amendegpealed by the Board of Directors or by tharsholders having voting power with respect
thereto, provided further that, in the case of sungh action by shareholders, the affirmative vétdae holders of at least 75 percent of the voting
power of the then outstanding Voting Stock, votiogether as a single voting group, shall be reduimeorder for the shareholders to alter, amer
repeal any provision of the Bylaws or to adopt adgitional Bylaw. Notwithstanding any other prowuisiof the Articles of Incorporation or any
provision of law that might otherwise permit a kxsgote, but in addition to any affirmative votetbé holders of any particular voting group
required by the VSCA, the Articles of Incorporationthe terms of any Preferred Stock outstandimg affirmative vote of at least 75 percent of the
voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stoakting together as a single voting group, shaltdspiired to alter, amend, repeal or adopt any
provision inconsistent with any of the provisiorighos Article VII.

ARTICLE VIl

The initial registered office shall be located &1 €. Byrd Street, Riverfront Plaza, East Towethia City of Richmond, Virginia, and
the initial registered agent shall be T. Justin Modll, who is a resident of Virginia and a membéthe Virginia State Bar, and whose business
address is the same as the address of the imijstered office.

/s/ T. Justin Moore, |l
T. Justin Moore, Il
Incorporatot




ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT
of the
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
of
INSMED, INC.

These Articles of Amendment are filed in accordanith Section 13.1-710 of the Virginia Stock Coration Act:
A. The name of the corporation (vhis hereinafter referred to as the "Corporatiégs'hsmed, Inc.

B. The amendment to the Corporaidmticles of Incorporation adopted on March 180@ by written consent of the
Corporation's sole shareholder is as follows:

1. "ARTICLE I" of said Articles of Incorporation ideleted and is replaced by the following to chathgename of the
Corporation to Insmed Incorporated:

"ARTICLE |
The name of the Corporation shall be Insmed Incaed."
C. The amendment was adopted bwtiteen consent of the Corporation's sole shawdgol
INSMED, INC.

By: /s/ Michael D. Bae
Michael D. Bael
Chief Financial Office

Dated: March 13, 2000




FORM OF
AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, AS AMENDED
TO CREATE A NEW SERIES OF PREFERRED STOCK
DESIGNATED AS
SERIES A JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK
of
INSMED INCORPORATED

Pursuant to Section 13689 of the Virginia Stock Corporation Act

I
The name of the corporation is Insmed Incorporéteel "Company").

Il.
Pursuant to Section 13.1-639 of the Virginia St@ckporation Act and the authority conferred upom Board of Directors by the Articles of
Incorporation of the Company, as amended, the lagiof Incorporation are hereby amended to creamnaseries of shares of Preferred Stock,
designated as "Series A Junior Participating PrefeBtock” by adding the following additional panagh after the last paragraph of that Article 111

9. Series A Junior Participating Preferred Btoc

(a) Designation and AmounThe shares of such series shall be designatéksiges A Junior Participating Preferred Stock" #relnumber
of shares constituting such series shall be fivedhed thousand (500,000).

(b) Dividends and Distributions

1. Subject to the prior and superior righftthe holders of any shares of any series ofdPred Stock ranking prior and superior to
the shares of Series A Junior Participating Prefe8tock with respect to dividends, the holdershafres of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as ad@gdared by the Board of Directors out of fundgaley available for the purpose, quarterly
dividends payable in cash on the first day of Januspril, July and October in each year (each siate being referred to herein as a "Quarterly
Dividend Payment Date"), commencing on the firsa@erly Dividend Payment Date after the first issteof a share or fraction of a share of
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock,riramount per share (rounded to the nearest ceud) &mjthe greater of (a) $1.00 or (b) subject to
the provision for adjustment hereinafter set fotfhQ0 times the aggregate per share amount ofsli dividends, and 1000 times the aggregate per
share amount (payable in kind) of all non-cashddimds or other distributions other than a dividpagable in shares of Common Stock or a
subdivision of the outstanding shares of CommomlStby reclassification or otherwise), declaredloem Common Stock, par value $.01 per share,
of the Company (the "Common Stock") since the imiatety preceding Quarterly Dividend Payment Datewdth respect to the first Quarterly
Dividend Payment Date, since the first issuancangfshare or fraction of a share of Series A JuP@iticipating Preferred Stock. In the event the
Company shall at any time after May 16, 2001 (fRights Declaration Date"), (i) declare any dividemdCommon Stock payable in shares of
Common Stock, (ii) subdivide the outstanding Comr8twck or (iii) combine the outstanding Common &timto a smaller number of shares, then
in each such case the amount to which holdersartstof Series A Junior Participating PreferrectiSteere entitled immediately prior to such
event under clause (b) of the preceding senteraletshadjusted by multiplying such amount by &fien the numerator of which is the number of
shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately afteh event and the denominator of which is thaber of shares of Common Stock that
were outstanding immediately prior to such event.




2. The Company shall declare ad#imd or distribution on the Series A Junior Paptiting Preferred Stock immediately after
it declares a dividend or distribution on the Comn&tock (other than a dividend payable in shargSomfimon Stock); provided that, in the event
no dividend or distribution shall have been dedare the Common Stock during the period betweenusrterly Dividend Payment Date and the
next subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Dadizyidend of $1.00 per share on the Series A JuPaoticipating Preferred Stock shall
nevertheless be payable on such subsequent Quadteidlend Payment Date.

3. Dividends shall begin to accamel be cumulative on outstanding shares of SeridsWor Participating Preferred Stock
from the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date next pdéng the date of issue of such shares of SeriaswodParticipating Preferred Stock, unless
date of issue of such shares is prior to the redatd for the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Datewhich case dividends on such shares shall
begin to accrue from the date of issue of sucheshar unless the date of issue is a Quarterlydend Payment Date or is a date after the record
date for the determination of holders of shareSarfes A Junior Participating Preferred Stock ktito receive a quarterly dividend and before
such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in eithewbich events such dividends shall begin to accngebe cumulative from such Quarterly
Dividend Payment Date. Accrued but unpaid dividesttal not bear interest. Dividends paid on theeshaf Series A Junior Participating Prefel
Stock in an amount less than the total amount cffi slividends at the time accrued and payable om shares shall be allocated pro rata on a share
by-share basis among all such shares at the titséaoding. The Board of Directors may fix a recdatie for the determination of holders of shares
of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stocfitked to receive payment of a dividend or disttiba declared thereon, which record date shall be
no more than 30 days prior to the date fixed ferghyment thereof.

(c) Voting Rights The holders of shares of Series A Junior Pagtaig Preferred Stock shall have the followingn@tights:

1. Subiject to the provision forwiment hereinafter set forth, each share of SArikmior Participating Preferred Stock shall
entitle the holder thereof to 1000 votes on allteratsubmitted to a vote of the shareholders oCibrmpany. In the event the Company shall at any
time after the Rights Declaration Date (A) declang dividend on Common Stock payable in sharesoofi@on Stock, (B) subdivide the
outstanding Common Stock or (C) combine the outitenCommon Stock into a smaller number of shdtes) in each such case the number of
votes per share to which holders of shares of Sérigunior Participating Preferred Stock were Etitmmediately prior to such event shall be
adjusted by multiplying such number by a fractibe tumerator of which is the number of shares ofilon Stock outstanding immediately after
such event and the denominator of which is the mumbshares of Common Stock that were outstandingediately prior to such event.




2. Except as otherwise providecehreor by law, the holders of shares of Series WiahParticipating Preferred Stock and the
holders of shares of Common Stock shall vote tagedh one class on all matters submitted to aofatbareholders of the Company.

(A) If at any time dividends on angri&s A Junior Participating Preferred Stock sbhalin arrears in an amount
equal to six quarterly dividends thereon, the o@mwoe of such contingency shall mark the beginoirg period (herein called a "Defa
Period") that shall extend until such time wheraaltrued and unpaid dividends for all previous tubrdividend periods and for the
current quarterly dividend period on all shareSefies A Junior Participating Preferred Stock thetstanding shall have been declared
and paid or set apart for payment. During each WeReriod, all holders of Preferred Stock (inchglholders of the Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock) with dividends irears in an amount equal to six quarterly dividethéseon, voting as a class,
irrespective of series, shall have the right teteeo directors.

(B) During any Default Period, suchimg right of the holders of Series A Junior Pap@éting Preferred Stock may
be exercised initially at a special meeting caflacsuant to Paragraph (¢)2.(C) or at any annuatingeef shareholders, and thereafter at
annual meetings of shareholders, provided thaheeguch voting right nor the right of the holdefsny other series of Preferred Stock,
if any, to increase, in certain cases, the autbdrimmber of directors shall be exercised unleséitiders of ten percent in number of
shares of Preferred Stock outstanding shall beeptés person or by proxy. The absence of a quartitihe holders of Common Stock
shall not affect the exercise by the holders ofdPred Stock of such voting right. At any meetingvhich the holders of Preferred Stock
shall exercise such voting right initially during existing Default Period, they shall have the tighbting as a class, to elect directors to
fill such vacancies, if any, in the Board of Direct as may then exist up to two directors or, dhstight is exercised at an annual
meeting, to elect two directors. If the number tinaty be so elected at any special meeting doesmotint to the required number, the
holders of the Preferred Stock shall have the tiglmake such increase in the number of directohall be necessary to permit the
election by them of the required number. After tloéders of the Preferred Stock shall have exerdiseid right to elect directors in any
Default Period and during the continuance of suatiog, the number of directors shall not be incedas decreased except by vote of
the holders of Preferred Stock as herein providgzlicsuant to the rights of any equity securiteasking senior to or pari passu with the
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.
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© Unless the holders of Preferred Stock shall, dusimgxisting Default Period, have previously exsditheir righ
to elect directors, the Board of Directors may orde any shareholder or shareholders owning iratfigregate not less than ten percent
of the total number of shares of Preferred Stodktanding, irrespective of series, may requestcéting of a special meeting of the
holders of Preferred Stock, which meeting shaltebpon be called by the President, a Vice Presiuletite Secretary of the Company.
Notice of such meeting and of any annual meetinghé¢h holders of Preferred Stock are entitleddtevpursuant to this Paragraph (c)2.
(C) shall be given to each holder of record of &mefd Stock by mailing a copy of such notice to hirhis last address as the same
appears on the books of the Company. Such medtaibbe called for a time not earlier than 20 dayd not later than 60 days after
such order or request or in default of the calbhguch meeting within 60 days after such ordeequest, such meeting may be calle
similar notice by any shareholder or shareholdensiiog in the aggregate not less than ten percethteofotal number of shares of
Preferred Stock outstanding. Notwithstanding thavisions of this Paragraph (c)2.(C), no such speeieting shall be called during the
period within 60 days immediately preceding theedated for the next annual meeting of the shardl,

(D) In any Default Period, the holdefsCommon Stock, and other classes of stock oCtmpany if applicable,
shall continue to be entitled to elect the wholeber of directors until the holders of PreferredcRBtshall have exercised their right to
elect two directors voting as a class, after ther@se of which right (x) the directors so eledbgdhe holders of Preferred Stock shall
continue in office until their successors shalldaeen elected by such holders or until the expiraif the Default Period, and (y) any
vacancy in the Board of Directors may (except aviged in Paragraph (c)2.(C) above) be filled btevaf a majority of the remaining
directors theretofore elected by the holders ofcthes of stock that elected the director whose®#hall have become vacant.
References in this Paragraph (c) to directors eteloy the holders of a particular class of stocllshclude directors elected by such
directors to fill vacancies as provided in claugeof the foregoing sentence.

(E) Immediately upon the expiratioradDefault Period, (1) the right of the holdersRo&ferred Stock as a class to
elect directors shall cease, (Il) the term of aingalors elected by the holders of Preferred Stk class shall terminate and (l11) the
number of directors shall be such number as maydeded for in the Articles of Incorporation, as@nded or Amended and Restated
Bylaws irrespective of any increase made pursuatite provisions of Paragraph (c)2.(A) (such nuniigéng subject, however, to
change thereafter in any manner provided by laim thie Articles of Incorporation, as amended or Adexd and Restated Bylaws). Any
vacancies in the Board of Directors effected byprmvisions of clauses (1) and (lll) in the pregegisentence may be filled by a
majority of the remaining directors.

2. Except as set forth herein, bBddf Series A Junior Participating Preferred S&ll have no special voting rights, and

their consent shall not be required (except teetttent they are entitled to vote with holders off@aon Stock as set forth herein) for taking any
corporate action.
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(d) Certain Restrictions

1. Whenever quarterly dividendsthrer dividends or distributions payable on thee3eA Junior Participating Preferred St
as provided in Paragraph (b) above are in arrsseafter and until all accrued and unpald diviteand distributions, whether or not declared, on
shares of Series A Junior Participating PrefertediSoutstanding shall have been paid in full, @menpany shall not:

(A) declare or pay dividends on, makg ather distributions on, or redeem or purchasetloerwise acquire for
consideration any shares of stock ranking junidhée as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissiator winding up) to the Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock;

(B) declare or pay dividends on or maky other distributions on any shares of stonkirg on a parity (either as to
dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or windiup) with the Series A Junior Participating Pnefd Stock, except dividends paid
ratably on the Series A Junior Participating PrefiStock and all such parity stock on which divide are payable or in arrears in
proportion to the total amounts to which the haddafrall such shares are then entitled;

© redeem or purchase or otherwisgiiae for consideration shares of any stock ranking parity (either as to
dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or wingiup) with the Series A Junior Participating Pmefé Stock, provided that the
Company may at any time redeem, purchase or otherdquire shares of any such parity stock in exggndor shares of any stock of
the Company ranking junior (either as to dividendsipon dissolution, liquidation or winding up)ttee Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock; or

(D) purchase or otherwise acquirecfumsideration any shares of Series A Junior Ppdtiitig Preferred Stock, or any
shares of stock ranking on a parity with the Sefi¢articipating Preferred Stock, except in accoogawith a purchase offer made in
writing or by publication (as determined by the Bbaf Directors) to all holders of such shares upoch terms as the Board of
Directors, after consideration of the respectiveuah dividend rates and other relative rights aredguences of the respective series and
classes, shall determine in good faith will regufiair and equitable treatment among the respeceries or classes.

2. The Company shall not permit angsidiary of the Company to purchase or otheratsgiire for consideration any shares

of stock of the Company unless the Company couldeuParagraph (d)1purchase or otherwise acquire such shares attisneland in such
manner.
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(e) Reacquired Shares Any shares of Series A Junior Participatingferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquirgtidompany in
any manner whatsoever shall be retired and caulcettEmptly after the acquisition thereof. All sugtares shall upon their cancellation become
authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stobk treated by resolution or resolutions of tharBaf Directors, subject to the conditions and
restrictions on issuance set forth herein.

4] Liguidation, Dissolution or Winding Up

1. Upon any liquidation (voluntary or otherwisdjssolution or winding up of the Company, no disttion shall be made to the hold
of shares of stock ranking junior (either as tdatwnds or upon liquidation, dissolution or windimg) to the Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock unless, prior thereto, the holders of shaf&eries A Junior Participating Preferred Stocklldave received $100 per share, plus an amount
equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and distabsithereon, whether or not declared, to the diseich payment (the "Series A Liquidation
Preference"). Following the payment of the full ambof the Series A Liquidation Preference, no tddal distributions shall be made to the
holders of shares of Series A Junior ParticipaBrgferred Stock unless, prior thereto, the holdéshares of Common Stock shall have receive
amount per share (the "Common Adjustment") equiiecquotient obtained by dividing (A) the Serietifguidation Preference by (B) 1000 (as
appropriately adjusted as set forth in subparag8apelow to reflect such events as stock splitgkstvidends and recapitalizations with respect
to the Common Stock) (such number in clause (g, Adjustment Number"). Following the paymenttod full amount of the Series A Liquidation
Preference and the Common Adjustment in respeall ofitstanding shares of Series A Junior ParttoigaPreferred Stock and Common Stock,
respectively, holders of Series A Junior ParticigaPreferred Stock and holders of shares of Com&took shall receive their ratable and
proportionate share of the remaining assets tddtgtdited in the ratio of the Adjustment Numbeotte with respect to such Preferred Stock and
Common Stock, on a per share basis, respectively.

2. In the event, however, that ¢hare not sufficient assets available to permitigeyt in full of the Series A Liquidation
Preference and the liquidation preferences ofthboseries of Preferred Stock, if any, that rankagarity with the Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, then such remaining assets shalidtributed ratably to the holders of such pasfigires in proportion to their respective
liquidation preferences. In the event, howevert there are not sufficient assets available to gggayment in full of the Common Adjustment, tl
such remaining assets shall be distributed ratabilye holders of Common Stock.

3. In the event the Company shizdiny time after the Rights Declaration Date (A}ldee any dividend on Common Stock
payable in shares of Common Stock, (B) subdivigeniitstanding Common Stock or (C) combine the antihg Common Stock into a smaller
number of shares, then in each such case the ArpustNumber in effect immediately prior to suchréwhall be adjusted by multiplying such
Adjustment Number by a fraction, the numerator bfah is the number of shares of Common Stock ouditg immediately after such event and
the denominator of which is the number of shareSahmon Stock that were outstanding immediatelgrdn such event.
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(g) _Consaolidation, Merger, etc. In case the Company shall enter into any caestiibn, merger, combination or other transactiowhich
the shares of Common Stock are exchanged for agettbinto other stock or securities, cash and/groéimer property, then in any such case the
shares of Series A Junior Participating PrefertediSshall at the same time be similarly excharecthanged in an amount per share (subject to
the provision for adjustment hereinafter set foatal to 1000 times the aggregate amount of stadyrities, cash and/or any other property
(payable in kind), as the case may be, into whiclmowhich each share of Common Stock is changexkochanged. In the event the Company
at any time after the Rights Declaration Date é¢ldre any dividend on Common Stock payable ineshaf Common Stock, (ii) subdivide the
outstanding Common Stock, or (iii) combine the @aniding Common Stock into a smaller number of shahen in each such case the amount set
forth in the preceding sentence with respect teettehange or change of shares of Series A Juniticipating Preferred Stock shall be adjusted by
multiplying such amount by a fraction the numeratbwhich is the number of shares of Common Stagktanding immediately after such event
and the denominator of which is the number of shaféCommon Stock that were outstanding immedigialy to such event.

(h) No Redemption The shares of Series A Junior Participatingé?refl Stock shall not be redeemable.

(i) Ranking. The Series A Junior Participating Preferred B&iwll rank junior to all other series of the Camy's Preferred Stock as to the
payment of dividends and the distribution of asaatess the terms of any such series shall prastiderwise.

(i) Amendment At any time when any shares of Series A Junasti€ipating Preferred Stock are outstanding, thickes of Incorporation ¢
the Company, as amended, and as amended herebyahee amended in any manner that would matgréier or change the powers,
preferences or special rights of the Series A Jupd@sticipating Preferred Stock so as to affecirtlaelversely without the affirmative vote of the
holders of a majority or more of the then outstagdihares of Series A Junior Participating Prefe8tck, voting separately as a class.

(k) Fractional Shares Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stocly imaissued in fractions of a share which shaltlerthe holder, in

proportion to such holder's fractional shares x&r@se voting rights, receive dividends, partitgoia distributions and to have the benefit of all
other rights of holders of Series A Junior Partitiipg Preferred Stock.
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V.
The foregoing amendment was duly adopted by thepg@2ogis Board of Directors on May 16, 2001. No shaleer action was required.
INSMED INCORPORATEL
Dated: May 16, 200 By: /sl Geoffrey Allan

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeu@ifficer
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Articles of Amendment
to the
Articles of Incorporation, as amended,
of
INSMED INCORPORATED

l.
The name of the corporation is Insmed Incorporétee "Company").
Il.

Atrticle Il of the Company's Articles of Incorpora, as amended, shall be amended by the additittve dollowing additional paragraph after the
last paragraph of that Article IlI:

8. Reverse Stock Split. Simultaneously with tHeaifve date of this amendment (the "Effective Tljpeach four shares of the
Company's Common Stock, par value $.01 per shemeed and outstanding immediately prior to thedfffe Time (the "Old Common Stock")
shall, automatically and without any action on piagt of the holder thereof, be reclassified as@rahged, pursuant to a reverse stock split (the
"Reverse Split"), into one share of the Companytstanding Common Stock (the "New Common StockiBject to the treatment of fractional
share interests as described below. Each holdeceftificate or certificates which immediatelyqurio the Effective Time represented outstanding
shares of Old Common Stock (the "Old Certificateghether one or more) shall be entitled to recajpen surrender of such Old Certificates to the
Company's Transfer Agent for cancellation, a degtie or certificates (the "New Certificates," wiet one or more) representing the number of
whole shares of the New Common Stock into and fuckvthe shares of the Old Common Stock formentyesented by such Old Certificates so
surrendered, are reclassified under the terms hdfemm and after the Effective Time, Old Certifiea shall thereupon be deemed for all corporate
purposes to evidence ownership of New Common Stothe appropriately reduced whole number of shaescertificates or scrip representing
fractional share interests in New Common Stock bellissued, and no such fractional share interitistntitle the holder thereof to vote, or to any
rights of a shareholder of the Company. In lieay fraction of a share of New Common Stock to wike holder would otherwise be entitled,
holder will receive a cash payment in U.S. dollgsal to such fraction multiplied by four times theerage of the closing bid and ask price per
share of Common Stock as quoted on The Nasdaq GapeMarket for the five trading days immediatelggading the Effective Time. If more th
one Old Certificate shall be surrendered at one fion the account of the same shareholder, the aupfifull shares of New Common Stock for
which New Certificates shall be issued shall be pated on the basis of the aggregate number of shepeesented by the Old Certificates so
surrendered. In the event that the Company's Teakgfent determines that a holder of Old Certifisatas not surrendered all his certificates for
exchange, the Transfer Agent shall carry forwangdfeactional share until all certificates of thatither have been presented for exchange such that
payment for fractional shares to any one persoh sbeexceed the value of one share.
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If any New Certificate is to be issued in a nanteeothan that in which it was issued, the Old Gedties so surrendered shall be properly endorsed
and otherwise in proper form for transfer, andstoek transfer tax stamps to the Old Certificatesigrendered shall be properly endorsed and
otherwise in proper form for transfer, and the perar persons requesting such exchange shallaffixequisite stock transfer tax stamps to the
Old Certificates surrendered, or provide fundstii@ir purchase, or establish to the satisfactioth@fTransfer Agent that such taxes are not pay
From and after the Effective Time, the amount gfitzd shall be represented by the shares of the ®@mmon Stock into which and for which the
shares of the Old Common Stock are reclassifietil, thereafter reduced or increased in accordaritteapplicable law. All references elsewhert
the Articles of Incorporation, as amended, to fBerimon Stock” shall, after the Effective Time, rafethe "New Common Stock".

.
The amendment was proposed by the board of dieatat submitted to the shareholders of the Compaagcordance with Chapter 9

of Title 13.1 of the Code of Virginia. The designat number of outstanding shares, and number t&sventitied to be cast by each voting group
entitled to vote separately on the amendment afellasvs:

Designatior Number of Outstanding Shar Number of Vote:
Common 108,127,56¢ 108,127,56¢

The total number of undisputed votes cast for thermlment by each voting group was as follows:

Designation Number of Undisputed Votes for the Amendm
Common 93,583,881

The number of votes cast for the amendment by eatitg group was sufficient for approval by thatiag group.
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V.

Pursuant to Section 13.1-606 of the Virginia St@ctporation Act, the effective time and date ofthAmendment to the Company's
Articles of Incorporation, as amended, shall bé&s3J.m. on July 28, 2000.

INSMED INCORPORATEL

Dated: July 28, 2000 By: /sl Geoffrey Allan

Geoffrey Allan, Ph.D
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeufifficer
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ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT
TO THE
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, AS AMENDED,
of
INSMED INCORPORATED
TO CREATE A NEW SERIES OF PREFERRED STOCK
DESIGNATED AS
SERIES B CONDITIONAL CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

Pursuant to Section 13.1-639 of the Virginia St@ckporation Act

l.
The name of the corporation is Insmed Incorporétes “ Company’).

Il.
Pursuant to Section 13.1-639 of the Virginia St@ckporation Act and the authority conferred upom Board of Directors by the Articles of
Incorporation, as amended, the Articles of Incoation are hereby amended to create a new seri@wofs of Preferred Stock, designated as
“Series B Conditional Convertible Preferred Stobk’adding the following additional paragraph after last paragraph of Article IlI:

10. Series B Conditional Convertible Preferred Stock
(@) _Designation The designation of the series of preferredkstdche Company is “Series B Conditional Convéetib

Preferred Stock”, par value $0.01 per share (t8erfes B Preferred Sto€k Each share of Series B Preferred Stock shall b#iah in all respec
to every other share of Series B Preferred Stock.

(b) Number of SharesThe authorized number of shares of Series BeRef Stock is 92,000,000. Shares of Series B iPeefe
Stock that are purchased or otherwise acquiretidyCbmpany, shall revert to authorized but unissiredes of Preferred Stock.

(c) Defined Terms As used herein with respect to the Series Bered Stock:

“ Affiliate " shall mean, with respect to any specified Persoiy,other Person that directly or indirectly colgtyis controlled by
or is under common control with such specified Brersior the purposes of this definition, the téoantrol,” when used with respect to any
specified Person, means the power to direct orectesdirection of the management or policies chd@erson, directly or indirectly, whether
through the ownership of voting securities, by cacttor otherwise; and the terms “controlling” &adntrolled” have correlative meanings.

“ Articles of Amendment shall mean these Articles of Amendment relatioghte Series B Preferred Stock, as it may be antende
from time to time.
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“ Articles of Incorporatiori shall mean the Articles of Incorporation of ther@pany, as amended from time to time, including by
these Articles of Amendment.

“ Beneficially Own” shall mean “beneficially own” as defined in Rul8d-3 under the Exchange Act.

“ Board of Directors’ shall mean the board of directors of the Company.

“ Business Day shall mean any day that is not a Saturday, Suwddggal holiday in New York City or a federal ity in the
United States.

“ Bylaws " shall mean the Amended and Restated Bylaws oCtmapany in effect on the Original Issue Date hay tmay be
amended from time to time.

“ Capital Stock’ shall mean: (1) any shares, interests, partimpator other equivalents (however designatedppftal stock of a
corporation; (2) any ownership interests in a Pextber than a corporation, including membershierasts, partnership interests, joint venture
interests and beneficial interests; and (3) any warrants, options, convertible or exchangeséteirities, subscriptions, rights (including any
preemptive or similar rights), calls or other riglhd purchase or acquire any of the foregoing.

“ Change of Contradl shall mean the occurrence of any of the followi(l the direct or indirect sale, transfer, corasege, lease
or other disposition (other than by way of mergecansolidation), in one or a series of relatedgeations, of all or substantially all of the
properties or assets of the Company and its Suvsdj taken as a whole, to any “person” (as #rat is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange
Act) other than a pledge or grant of a securitgnest to a bona fide lender; (2) any “person” aptgp” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d
14(d) of the Exchange Act), shall Beneficially Owdirectly or indirectly, through a purchase, mergeother acquisition transaction or series of
transactions, shares of the Company’s Capital Statkling such Person to exercise a majority eftibtal voting power of all classes of Voting
Stock of the Company; (3) the Company merges osaatates with or into any other “person” (as tteain is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the
Exchange Act) or another “persordy(that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of theharge Act) merges with or into the Company an, @sult o
such transaction, the shareholders of the Compamediately prior to such transaction shall BenafigiOwn less than a majority of the total
voting power of all classes of Voting Stock of thempany; or (4) the Company engages in any redagitian, reclassification or other transaction
in which a majority of the Common Stock is exchahf@ or converted into cash, securities or otlrepprty, in each case, other than a merger,
consolidation, recapitalization, reclassificatiorother transaction (A) that does not result ieeassification, conversion, exchange or cancehati
of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock; (B) Wwhsceffected solely to change the Company’s jirtszh of incorporation and results in a
reclassification, conversion or exchange of outditemshares of Common Stock solely into share®ofraon stock of the surviving entity; or (C)
where the Voting Stock of the Company outstandimmediately prior to such transaction is convertedx@hanged for Voting Stock of the
surviving or transferee Person constituting a nigjaf the outstanding shares of such Voting Stotkuch surviving or transferee Person
(immediately after giving effect to such issuance).
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For purposes of this definition, (i) any directiodirect holding company of the Company shall wetlf be considered a “person” or “group” for
purposes of clauses (2) and (3) above, providieat no “person” or “group” (other than anothertsholding company) Beneficially Owns, directly
or indirectly, a majority of the voting power ofettvoting Stock of such holding company, and a niigjaf the Voting Stock of such holding
company immediately following it becoming the haolglicompany of the Company is Beneficially OwnedhsyPersons who Beneficially Owned
the voting power of the Voting Stock of the Compamynediately prior to it becoming such holding camp and (ii) a Person shall not be deemed
to have beneficial ownership of securities subjee stock purchase agreement, merger agreemsimitaeir agreement until the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by such agreement.

“ Close of Busines5shall mean 5:00 p.m., eastern time, on any Bissifizay.

“ Closing Price” shall mean, with respect to a share of Capitatbf a Person, on the applicable Trading Dayi{#he Capital
Stock is listed on a national securities exchattgeclosing price per share of Capital Stock orhglate published in The Wall Street Journal
(National Edition)or, if no such closing price on such date is phiglisin_The Wall Street Journal (National Editipthe average of the closing bid
and asked prices on such date, as officially repoon the principal national securities exchangeich the Capital Stock is then listed or admi
to trading; or (b) if the Capital Stock is not &idtor admitted to trading on any national secuwritiechange, the last sale price or, if such ldst sa
price is not reported, the average of the highalnid low asked prices on the automatic quotatiotesysn which the Capital Stock is then listed, as
reported by Bloomberg Financial Markets (or anycessor thereto); or (c) if on any such date thgit@eStock is not quoted on any such auton
quotation system, the average of the closing bitlasked prices as furnished by a professional markker making a market in the Capital Stock
selected by the Company; or (d) if none of (a)oft(c) is applicable, a market price per shatanined in good faith by the Board of Directors
and the holders of at least 62.5% of the then anthhg Series B Preferred Stock.

“ Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 198@naanded.
“ Commission” shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Casion, including the staff thereof.
“ Common StocK shall mean the common stock, par value $0.01spare, of the Company.

“ Company” shall mean Insmed Incorporated, a corporatioraoized and existing under the laws of the Commolive
Virginia, and any successor thereof.

“ Conversion Pricé shall mean $0.7114, subject to adjustment afosit in Paragraph (g) of this Section 10.
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“ Exchange Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934raended.

“ Governmental Authority means: (1) any federal, state, local, foreigiternational government or governmental authority,
regulatory or administrative agency, governmentahmission, department, board, bureau, agency tumentality, court, tribunal, arbitrator or
arbitral body (public or private); (2) any self-tégtory organization; or (3) any political subdiwis of any of the foregoing.

“ Junior StocK’ shall mean the Common Stock, the Series A PredeBtock and any other class or series of CapitekShat
ranks junior to the Series B Preferred Stock (fjoathe payment of dividends or (ii) as to themdisttion of assets on any liquidation, dissolutan
winding up of the Company, or both.

“ Mandatory Conversion Dateshall mean the date the Shareholder Approvabtaioed.

“ Milestone Dat€’ shall mean the earlier of (i) December 1, 201d &b the first date upon which at least 50 patdmave been
given at least one dose in Phase Il clinical ¢rfaF Arikace™, but in no event earlier than Sefteni, 2011.

“ QOriginal Issue Daté shall mean December 1, 2010.

“ QOriginal Holders” shall mean the holders of the Series B PrefeBtedk as of the Original Issue Date and their rethpe
Affiliates and any limited partners, members orestsimilar equity holders of any holder of SerieBf@ferred Stock as of the Original Issue Date
that receive shares of Series B Preferred Stoekdistribution pursuant to such holder’s limitedtparship agreement, limited liability company
agreement, operating agreement or similar goverdirogiment.

“ Parity Stock” shall mean any class or series of Capital Sthek tanks equally with the Series B Preferred Statk (i) in the
priority of payment of dividends and (ii) tine distribution of assets upon any liquidatiassdlution or winding up of the Company (in each
case, without regard to whether dividends accrumeutatively or non-cumulatively).

“ Person” means any natural person, business, corporat@mmpany, partnership, association, limited liapiibmpany, limited
partnership, limited liability partnership, joinéture, business enterprise, trust or other lagétyeincluding any Governmental Authority.

“ Preferred StocK shall mean any and all series of preferred stafake Company, including the Series B PreferrextiSt
“ Record Dat€' shall mean the date fixed for determination cdrgtholders of the Company entitled to notice dborote at any
meeting of shareholders of the Company or any adjoant thereof, or entitled to receive paymentryf dividend, or in order to make a

determination of the shareholders of the Compangifiy other proper purpose (whether such dateesi fby the Board of Directors or by statute,
contract, these Articles of Amendment or otherwise)
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“ Series A Preferred Stockshall mean the Series A Junior Participating &mefd Stock of the Company.

“ Series B Preferred Sto¢kshall have the meaning ascribed to it in Paragi@) of this Section 10.

“ Shareholder Approvdlshall mean all approvals of the shareholderdhief@ompany necessary to approve, for purpose®of th
NASDAQ Listing Rules, the conversion of the SeBeBreferred Stock into shares of Common St

“ Stated Valu€' shall mean $0.7114 per share of Series B Prafe3teck, which may increased as provided in Papdgfd)(2) of
this Section 10. The Stated Value shall be equitabjusted from time to time by the Board of Dimstto reflect fully the appropriate effect of any
stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividermtliding any dividend or distribution of securitemnvertible into Series B Preferred Stock),
reorganization, recapitalization, reclassificatirsimilar change with respect to shares of S@i€seferred Stock having a Record Date on or after
the Original Issue Date.

“ Subsidiary” shall mean any company, partnership, limitediligbcompany, joint venture, joint stock compairryst,
unincorporated organization or other entity for efhthe Company owns at least 50% of the VotingiStdsuch entity.

“ Trading Day” shall mean any Business Day on which the ComntonkSs traded, or able to be traded, on the ppalanational
securities exchange on which the Common Stocktisdior admitted to trading; provid#tht if the Common Stock is not listed or admitted
trading on a national securities exchange, TraBiag shall mean any Business Day on which the NASOZeQital Market is generally open.

“ Voting Stock” shall mean Capital Stock of the class or clagagsuant to which the holders thereof have the igéreting
power under ordinary circumstances (determinedouitihegard to any classification of directors) leceone or more members of the Board of
Directors (without regard to whether or not, atthlevant time, Capital Stock of any other classlasses (other than Common Stock) shall have or
might have voting power by reason of the happepirgny contingency).

(d) Dividends

1. In the event that the Company shallatech dividend or make any other distribution (idahg in cash, in Capital
Stock (including any options, warrants or othehtigto acquire Capital Stock) of the Company, wiedr not pursuant to a shareholder rights plan,
“poison pill” or similar arrangement, or other pesty or assets) to holders of Common Stock, therBibard of Directors shall declare, and the
holder of each share of Series B Preferred Stoak kb entitled to receive, a dividend or distribat as applicable, in an amount equal to the
amount of such dividend or distribution, as apgileareceived by a holder of the number of shaf€oomon Stock for which such share of Se
B Preferred Stock is convertible on the Record Batsuch dividend or distribution (whether or sath holder of shares of Series B Preferred
Stock had been eligible to convert its shares aeS@ Preferred Stock on such date). Any suchuennshall be paid to the holders of shares of
Series B Preferred Stock at the same time sucHetid or distribution, as applicable, is paid todeos of Common Stock.

23




2. Commencing on the Milestone Date, inittmllto participation in dividends on Common Staskset forth in
Paragraph (d)(1) of this Section 10, holders ofehaf Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitbecteive, on each share of Series B Preferred
Stock, dividends at an annual rate of 12.5% ofStaged Value payable at the end of each six moatieg following the Milestone Date. Dividends
payable pursuant to this Paragraph (d)(2) witheesm any share of Series B Preferred Stock sleatiue daily from and after the Milestone Date,
whether or not the Company has funds legally abbiléor such dividends or such dividends are dedand shall be calculated on the basis of a
360-day year. Dividends that are payable on shafr8gries B Preferred Stock pursuant to this Pag(d)(2) shall be payable in cash except that,
at the option of the Board of Directors, such divids may be paid in kind by increasing the Stataldé/by the amount of such dividend. Divide
that are payable on shares of Series B Preferaak Shall be payable to holders of record of thereh of Series B Preferred Stock as they appear
on the stock register of the Company on the RePate for such dividend, which shall be no more thiaty (60) days or less than ten (10) days
prior to the date fixed for payment thereof.

3. The holders of shares of Series B PrfieStock shall not be entitled to receive anyddimds or other distributions
except as provided herein.

(e) Liquidation Rights

1. Voluntary or Involuntary Liquidation In the event of (i) any liquidation, dissolutior winding up of the affairs
of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntany(i) any Change of Control (clauses (i) and dii¢ herein referred to as ®&emed Liquidatio
Event”), holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shalehtitled to receive for each share of SerieseéBeied Stock, out of the assets of the
Company or proceeds thereof (whether capital grlgs)y available for distribution to shareholdergtaf Company, and after satisfaction of all
liabilities and obligations to creditors of the Cuamy, on par with each share of Parity Stock btdreeany distribution of such assets or procee
made to or set aside for the holders of JuniorkStae amount equal to the greater of (x) the suf\bthe Stated Value per share of Series B
Preferred Stocklus(B) an amount per share of Series B Preferred Stqakl to the accrued but unpaid dividends to whigth holder of shares of
Series B Preferred Stock is entitled to receivespaint to Paragraph (d)(2) of this Section 10 toelwtuding the date fixed for such Deemed
Liguidation Event, if any, and (y) the per shareoamt of all cash, securities and other propertgl{ssecurities or other property having a value
equal to its fair market value as reasonably deterdhby the Board of Directors) to be distributedéspect of the Common Stock that such holder
of Series B Preferred Stock would have been edtideeceive had it converted such Series B PedeBtock immediately prior to the date fixed
such Deemed Liquidation Event (whether or not sumlbler of shares of Series B Preferred Stock had keégible to convert its shares of Series B
Preferred Stock on such date) (such greater antmimng the “ Series B Liquidation Amouf)t To the extent such amount is paid in full tb a
holders of Series B Preferred Stock and all thedrsl of Parity Stock, the holders of Junior Stoicthe Company shall be entitled to receive all
remaining assets of the Company (or proceeds tfexecording to their respective rights and prafess.

24




2. Partial Payment If, in connection with any distribution des@&ibin Paragraph (e)(1) of this Section 10, thets
of the Company or proceeds thereof are not suffidie pay the Series B Liquidation Amount in fuldll holders of Series B Preferred Stock an
holders of Parity Stock, if any, the amounts paithe holders of Series B Preferred Stock andadtiiders of all such other Parity Stock shall be
paidpro ratain accordance with the respective aggregate amgaysble to the holders of Series B Preferred Samckthe amounts payable to
holders of all such other Parity Stock pursuarRaocagraph (e)(1) of this Section 10.

(f) Conversion

1. Mandatory Conversion Each share of Series B Preferred Stock shallb@matically converted, immediately at
the Close of Business on the Mandatory Conversiate Bwith no further action required to be takerth®yCompany or the holder thereof, into the
number of shares of Common Stock equal to the nuwstitained by dividingx) the sum of (A) the Stated Valpéus (B) except to the extent paid
in cash as contemplated by Paragraph (f)(2) of3bigtion 10 at the time of the conversion, an arhpanshare of Series B Preferred Stock equal to
the accrued but unpaid dividends to which suchdradd shares of Series B Preferred Stock is edtttdeeceive pursuant to Paragraph (d)(2) of this
Section 10 through, but excluding, the conversiate dif any, byy) the Conversion Price in effect at such timemiadiately upon conversion as
provided herein (i) each holder of Series B Pref@i®tock shall be deemed to be the holder of remfotttle Common Stock issuable upon
conversion of such holder’s shares of Series Bepred Stock, notwithstanding that the share regidtthe Company shall then be closed or that
book-entry evidence shall not then actually bevée#id to such Person and (ii) each converted sb&i®sries B Preferred Stock as provided herein
shall be retired and cancelled automatically withfurther action required to be taken by the Corggarthe holder thereof. As promptly as
practicable on or after the Mandatory Conversioteand in any event no later than five Trading ®toereafter), the Company shall provide
notice to the holders of the Series B PreferrediStd the occurrence of the Mandatory ConversiotePahich notice shall set forth procedures for
the surrender of the shares of Series B Preferti@zk Svhich have been converted to the office ofGloenpany. The Company shall promptly issue
the number of whole shares of Common Stock issugte conversion against the surrender of the stadr8eries B Preferred Stock. Any shares
of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of shafr&eries B Preferred Stock shall be deliveredigy@ompany to the appropriate holder on a
book-entry basis. To the extent that Company haweeholders rights plan, “poison pill” or simiErangement in effect with respect to the
Common Stock on the Mandatory Conversion Date, wonversion of any shares of the Series B Prefedtedk, the holders thereof will receive,
in addition to the shares of Common Stock, thetsiginder such shareholders rights plan, “poisdhgailsimilar arrangement.
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2. Option to Pay Accrued Dividends in €asWhen shares of Series B Preferred Stock areertad pursuant to th
Paragraph (f), all dividends accrued but not yéd pa the Series B Preferred Stock so convertad find including the Milestone Date to and
including the date of conversion may, at the etectif the Company, be paid, in whole or in parash; it being understood that the amount of
accrued dividend so paid in cash shall reducertieuat added to the Stated Value pursuant to cl@jsef Paragraph (f)(1) of this Section 10.

3. Common Stock Reserved for Issuancene Company shall at all times reserve and lee@jlable out of its
authorized and unissued Common Stock and Seriggf&rRed Stock, solely for issuance upon the caiwarof the Series B Preferred Stock, such
number of shares of Common Stock (and associagbtsrevidenced by the Series A Preferred Stockhal from time to time be issuable upon
conversion of all the shares of Series B Prefegtedk then outstanding. Any shares of Common Stac#l associated rights evidenced by the
Series A Preferred Stock) issued upon conversi@eaks B Preferred Stock shall be (i) duly auttestj validly issued and fully paid and
nonassessable, (i) shall rapdri passuwith the other shares of Common Stock outstandioigy time to time and (iii) shall be free from any
preemptive rights or similar rights and any liectsarges, security interest or other encumbranggsgsi created by the holder thereof). The
Company hereby covenants and agrees that, if airmeythe Common Stock shall be listed on The NA&D@apital Market or any other national
securities exchange or automated quotation systenCompany will, if permitted by the rules of suetthange or automated quotation system, list
and keep listed, so long as the Common Stock bkaib listed on such exchange or automated quotsystem, all the Common Stock issuable
upon conversion of the Series B Preferred Stpokyided, howeverthat if the rules of such exchange or automatedadion system permit the
Company to defer the listing of such Common Staal the first conversion of Series B Preferredc&tmto Common Stock in accordance with
provisions hereof, the Company covenants to lishs<Lommon Stock issuable upon conversion of theeS& Preferred Stock in accordance with
the requirements of such exchange or automate@tjprotsystem at such time.

4. Taxes The Company shall pay any and all transferddlat may be payable in respect of the issue livedy of
shares of Common Stock on conversion of SerieselieRed Stock. The Company shall not, howevereljeired to pay any tax which may be
payable in respect of any transfer involved iniiseie and delivery of shares of Common Stock iaraenother than that in which the Series B
Preferred Stock so converted were registered, arglich issue or delivery shall be made unless atittlie Person requesting such issue has paid
to the Company the amount of any such tax, or B@bkshed to the satisfaction of the Company sbah tax has been paid.

5. No Impairment The Company will not by amendment of its Artgclaf Incorporation or through any or through
any reorganization, recapitalization, transfersseds, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issusate of securities or any other voluntary action,
avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performanhany of the terms to be observed or performedunder by this corporation, but will at all
times in good faith assist in the carrying outlbftee provisions of this Articles of Amendment aindthe taking of all such action as may be
necessary or appropriate in order to protect ggsiof the holders of the Series B Preferred Sameknst impairment.
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6. Fractional SharesNo fractional shares of Common Stock shall baésl upon conversion of Series B Preferred
Stock but, in lieu of any fraction of a share o@oon Stock which would otherwise be issuable ipeesof the aggregate number of shares of
Series B Preferred Stock so converted at one tyrthdosame holder, the Company shall pay in castmasunt equal to the product of (i) the
Closing Price of a share of Common Stock on theTiesding Day before the Mandatory Conversion Caté (ii) such fraction of a share of
Common Stock otherwise issuable upon conversidheo§hares of Series B Preferred Stock.

(g) _Conversion Price AdjustmentsThe Conversion Price shall be adjusted from tionéme (successively and for each event
described) by the Company as follows:

1. In the event that the Company shadirgttime or from time to time after the Originagu® Date (i) pay a dividend
or make a distribution (other than a dividend atritbution paid or made to holders of shares ofeSeB Preferred Stock in the manner provided in
Paragraph (d)(1) of this Section 10) on the outitapshares of Common Stock in capital stock (whichpurposes of this Paragraph (g) shall
include, without limitation, any options, warramtsother rights to acquire Capital Stock) of ther@any, (ii) subdivide the outstanding shares of
Common Stock into a larger number of shares,d@inbine the outstanding shares of Common Stockaistmaller number of shares, (iv) issue any
shares of its capital stock in a reclassificatibthe Common Stock or (v) pay a dividend or makkséribution (other than a dividend or distribut
paid or made to holders of shares of Series B RegfeStock in the manner provided in ParagrapH jd){ this Section 10) on the outstanding sh
of Common Stock in securities of the Company purst@a shareholder rights plan, “poison pill” @an8ar arrangement, then, and in each such
case, the Conversion Price in effect immediateiyrgo such event shall be increased or decreaseapplicable, (and any other appropriate actions
shall be taken by the Company) so that the holflany share of Series B Preferred Stock thereafteendered for conversion shall be entitled to
receive the number of shares of Common Stock @rathcurities of the Company that such holder wbalk owned or would have been entitled
to receive upon or by reason of any of the eveassribed above, had such share of Series B PréfStoek been converted immediately prior to
the occurrence of such event (whether or not sotieh of shares of Series B Preferred Stock had bbgible to convert its shares of Series B
Preferred Stock on such date). An adjustment rpadsuant to this Paragraph (g)(1) shall become@fferetroactively (i) in the case of any such
dividend or distribution, to a date immediatelyléaling the Close of Business on the Record Datdfferdetermination of holders of Common
Stock entitled to receive such dividend or disttitou or (i) in the case of any such subdivisioombination or reclassification, to the Close of
Business on the day upon which such corporaterabtgomes effective.
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2. In the event that the Company, at ang or from time to time after the Original Issuat®, shall take any action
affecting its Common Stock similar to or havingedfect similar to any of the actions described andgraph (g)(1) of this Section 10 (but not
including any action described in any such Pardgeaq without any duplication of any adjustmentslenpursuant to such Paragraphs) and the
Board of Directors in good faith determines thatduld be equitable in the circumstances to adpestConversion Price as a result of such action,
then, and in each such case, the Conversion Rradkeb®e decreased, if applicable, in such manndraaisuch time as the Board of Directors in good
faith determines would be equitable in the circiansés (such determination to be evidenced in dutéso a certified copy of which shall be sent
to the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock) tf@® avoidance of doubt, in no event shall thev@osion Price be increased pursuant to the
provisions of this Paragraph (g)(2).

3. Notwithstanding anything herein to tdoatrary, no adjustment under this Paragraph (gl e made to the
Conversion Price unless such adjustment is gré@darone-tenth of one cent per share. Any lesfjasement shall be carried forward and shall be
made at the time of and together with the nextagisnt adjustment, which, together with any adjastnor adjustments so carried forward, shall
amount to an increase or decrease of at least Xuchf Conversion Price. Any adjustment to the @osion Price carried forward and not
theretofore made shall be made immediately pridhéoconversion of any shares of Series B Prefédtedk pursuant to Paragraphs (f)(1) and (1
of this Section 10.

(h) Redemption

1. Election At the written election (the_* Series B Electit) of the holders of at least 62.5% of the therstarding
shares of Series B Preferred Stock made at anydima after the fifth year anniversary of the @ra Issue Date, the Company shall call for
redemption, and shall redeem all, and not less @lianf the outstanding shares of Series B Prefe8tock on the date set forth in the Series B
Election, provided that such date shall be at 1286tdays after delivery to the Company of thee3e Election (the * Series B Redemption Date
"), providedthat if the Series B Redemption Date falls on aathgr than a Business Day, the Series B Redempiida shall be the next
succeeding Business Day. The redemption pricelmaegthe “ Series B Redemption Priyshall be equal to the greater of (x) the sunfadfthe
Stated Value per share of the Series B Prefereck$tus (b) an amount per share of Series B Preferred Stqukl to the accrued but unpaid
dividends to which such holder of shares of SeBi€seferred Stock is entitled to receive pursuarRdragraph (f)(2) of this Section 10 to but
excluding the date fixed for such redemption, if,aamd (y) the product of (a) the Market Price glesire of Common Stock and (b) the number of
shares of Common Stock that such holder of Serieselierred Stock would have been entitled to reckad it converted each such share of Series
B Preferred Stock (whether or not such holder ofeSeB Preferred Stock had been eligible to conteghares of Series B Preferred Stock on such
Series B Redemption Date). For purposes of thiagtaph (h)(1), “ Market Pricemeans the average Closing Price for the ten ¢b@secutive
Trading Days immediately preceding, but not inahggithe Redemption Date.

2. Notice of Redemption Promptly following receipt of a Series B Hieno the Company shall provide written
notice (the “ Series B Redemption Notigeo all holders of Series B Preferred Stock éaditto redemption under this Paragraph (h). SuckeS8
Redemption Notice shall set forth (i) the SerieBR&lemption Date and place of redemption; (ii) Hieshares of Series B Preferred Stock held by
such holder are to be redeemed; and (iii) the S&iRedemption Price.
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3. Proceduresilf, on or before the Series B Redemption Ddte finds necessary for such redemption shall have
been set aside by the Company and deposited viidimla or trust company, in trust for the pro ratadfie of the holders of the Series B Preferred
Stock, then, notwithstanding that any certificdte#sshares that have been called for redemptiot sbahave been surrendered for cancellation, the
shares represented thereby shall no longer be deeatstanding from and after such Series B Redemate, and all rights of holders of such
shares so called for redemption shall forthwitkera$uch Series B Redemption Date, cease and @&teniith respect to such shares, excepting only
the right to receive the applicable Series B RedemPrice to which they are entitled.Any interastrued on funds so deposited and unclaimed by
shareholders entitled thereto shall be paid to shelheholders at the time their respective shaeesedeemed or to the Company at the time
unclaimed amounts are paid to it. In case any halti€eries B Preferred Stock shall not, within ¢heyear after the final Series B Redemption
Date, claim the amounts so deposited with resjpetttet redemption thereof, any such bank or trustgamy, shall, upon demand, pay over to the
Company such unclaimed amounts and thereupon sughdy trust company shall be relieved of all resgilaility in respect thereof to such holder
and such holder shall look only to the Companytlierpayment thereof. Any funds so deposited witlrk or trust company which shall not be
required for such redemption by reason of the ésemubsequent to the date of such deposit ofgheaf conversion of any shares or otherwise
shall be returned to the Company forthwith.

4, Failure to Redeem If the funds of the Company legally availalide fedemption of shares of Series B Preferred
Stock on the Series B Redemption Date are insaffidio redeem the total number of shares of SBrieeeferred Stock to be redeemed on such
date, those funds which are legally available béllused to redeem the holders of the Series Briredf8tock, ratably among the holders thereof in
proportion to the redemption amounts otherwise play them, in the maximum amount of the SeriddeBlemption Price to which subblders o
Series B Preferred Stock are entitled. The shdr8gres B Preferred Stock not redeemed shall rematstanding and entitled to all rights and
preferences provided herein. At any time thereafteen additional funds of the Company are legallgilable for the redemption of such shares of
Series B Preferred Stock, such funds will be useg@deem the remaining balance of any shares @sSBrPreferred Stock that were required to be
redeemed at the prior Series B Redemption DateviNattanding anything to the contrary containecehgrinterest shall accrue on any shares of
Series B Preferred Stock required to be redeemestiant to this Paragraph (h) that have not beezeradd within thirty (30) days of the Series B
Redemption Date at a rate of 15.0% per annum oBéres B Redemption Price from the Series B RetlempPate for so long as such shares
remain outstanding.

5. Conversion Prior to RedemptiorNotwithstanding the foregoing, if the Shareleol@pproval is obtained prior to
the Series B Redemption Date, whether or not z@ati Series B Election has been delivered to trag2ainy, and whether or not the Company
shall have previously sought, but failed to recetlie Shareholder Approval, the Series B shardklshautomatically converted into shares of
Common Stock pursuant to and in accordance witadgPaph (f)(1) of this Section 10, and the Compdrall$rave no obligation under this
Paragraph (h) to redeem any shares of Series BrRdfStock or any shares of Common Stock issued spch conversion.
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(i) Voting Rights; Information Rights

1. The holders of shares of Series B PrfieStock shall not be entitled to vote, excepttherwise provided in
paragraphs (i)(2) and (i)(3) of this Section 1@srotherwise required by applicable law.

2. For so long as at least 10% of theeSeBi Preferred Stock issued on the Original Issate Bemain outstanding, the
Company shall not (by amendment, merger, consadidatr otherwise and either directly or throughuhsidiary) without first obtaining the
approval (by vote or written consent, as providedd) of the holders of at least 62.5% of the tbhatstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock,
voting together as a single class:

(A) alter or change the rights, preferences, powerzivileges of the shares of Series B Prefe8tuatk pursuant to an
amendment to the Articles of Incorporation or Bysaov otherwise;

(B) increase or decrease (other than by conversiienjotal number of authorized or issued shar&eoks B Preferred
Stock;

(C) authorize or issue, or obligate itself to issary equity security (including any other secucionvertible into or
exercisable for any such equity security) haviqygederence over or on parity with the Series B &refl Stock with respect to dividends or
liquidation or amend the terms of any existing sitgtio have a preference over or on parity witk 8eries B Preferred Stock with respect to
dividends or liquidation ;

(D) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any stodrdunior Stock or any series of preferred stibler than the Series
Preferred Stock;

(E) declare, pay or set aside for payment any divitd on the Common Stock.

3. For so long as at least 10% of theeSdBi Preferred Stock issued on the Original Issaie Bemain outstanding, the
Company shall not (by amendment, merger, consadidatr otherwise and either directly or throughubsidiary) without first obtaining the
approval (by vote or written consent, as providedg) of the holders of at least a majority of then outstanding shares of Series B Preferred
Stock, voting together as a single class, effédé@med Liquidation Event, providélshat the provisions of this paragraph (i)(3) skeafpire, and no
such approval of the Series B Preferred Stock &leatbquired with respect to the matters set forthis paragraph (i)(3), from and after such time
as the Original Holders no longer Beneficially Oatrleast a majority of the outstanding shares oeS& Preferred Stock.
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4, Notwithstanding whether or not the $hatder Approval shall have been obtained, thedrsldf shares of Series
B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to notice of sinareholders’ meeting delivered to the holdetSahmon Stock in accordance with the Bylaws
and to otherwise receive all other notices andrinfdion made available or delivered by the Comparthe holders of Common Stock.

(i) Record Holders To the fullest extent permitted by applicatae | the Company may deem and treat the record hofdey
share of Series B Preferred Stock as the trueawaitill owner thereof for all purposes, and the Camypshall not be affected by any notice to the
contrary.

(k) Notices.

1. _General All notices or communications in respect af Series B Preferred Stock shall be given to theens of
the Series B Preferred Stock in any manner perthityethe Depository Trust Company or any similailfiy through which the Series B Preferred
Stock is issued in book-entry form.

2. Notice of Certain Events The Company shall, to the extent not includethe Exchange Act reports of the
Company, provide reasonable written notice to éetier of the Series B Preferred Stock of any etlembccurrence of which would result in an
adjustment to the Conversion Price, including trentapplicable Conversion Price.

(I) Other Rights The shares of Series B Preferred Stock shathaee any rights, preferences, privileges or wppowers or
relative, participating, optional or other specights, or qualifications, limitations or restrigtis thereof, other than as set forth herein dnén t
Articles of Incorporation or as provided by apphitalaw and regulation.

(m) Maturity. The Series B Preferred Stock shall be perpenlass converted or redeemed in accordance hétherms of
this Articles of Amendment.

(n) Replacement Certificates

1. If physical certificates are issued, the Campshall replace any mutilated certificate athtbleler’'s expense upon
surrender of that certificate to the Company’sdfanagent (the “ Transfer Ageht The Company shall replace certificates thatdnee destroyed,
stolen or lost at the holder’s expense upon defit@the Company and the Transfer Agent of satisfgevidence that the certificate has been
destroyed, stolen or lost, together with any indiggrthat may be required by the Transfer Agent tiedCompany.

2. If physical certificates are issued, the Campshall not be required to issue any certificegpsesenting the Series B
Preferred Stock on or after the Mandatory ConverBate. In place of the delivery of a replacementificate following the Mandatory Conversi
Date, the Transfer Agent, upon delivery of the ewnite and indemnity described in clause (1) abdwal deliver the shares of Common Stock
pursuant to the terms of the Series B PreferredkStomerly evidenced by the certificate.
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Il
The foregoing amendment was duly adopted by thepgaogis Board of Directors on December 1, 2010.sNareholder action was required.
INSMED INCORPORATED

Dated: December 1, 20:

By: /s/ Kevin P. Tully
Name: Kevin P. Tully

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief FinahC#icer
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ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT
TO THE
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, AS AMENDED,
of
INSMED INCORPORATED

l.
The name of the corporation is Insmed Incorporéteel “ Company).
Il.

Atrticle Il of the Company’s Articles of Incorpotian, as amended, shall be amended by replacingxdistng paragraph 8 with the
following paragraph:

8. Reverse Stock SplitSimultaneously with the effective date of thisemmdment (the “ Effective Tin®, each 10 shares of the
Company Common Stock, par value $0.01 per shaneedsand outstanding immediately prior to the HiffecTime (the “ Old Common Stock
shall, automatically and without any action on plagt of the holder thereof, be reclassified as@rahged, pursuant to a reverse stock split (the “
Reverse Split), into one share of the Company’s outstanding @am Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “ New @omStockK’), subject to th
treatment of fractional share interests as destiileéow. Each holder of a certificate or certifecs which immediately prior to the Effective Time
represented outstanding shares of Old Common $tieeK Old Certificates), shall be entitled to receive, upon surrendeswafh Old Certificates
to the Company'’s transfer agent for cancellatiocerificate or certificates (the_* New Certificat® representing the number of whole shares o
New Common Stock into and for which the sharesef®@ld Common Stock formerly represented by suchG&rtificates so surrendered .
reclassified under the terms hereof. From ana #feeEffective Time, Old Certificates shall thegpen be deemed for all corporate purposes to
evidence ownership of New Common Stock in the gmpately reduced whole number of shares. No cedtifis or scrip representing fractional
share interests in New Common Stock will be issaed,no such fractional share interest will entitle holder thereof to vote, or to any rights of a
shareholder of the Company. In lieu of any frattd a share of New Common Stock to which the holemuld otherwise be entitled, the holder
will receive a cash payment in U.S. dollars eqaauch fraction multiplied by 10 times the averafjthe closing bid and ask price per share of
Common Stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Méokéte five trading days immediately preceding Effective Time. If more than one Old
Certificate shall be surrendered at one time ferabcount of the same shareholder, the numbetlafares of New Common Stock for which New
Certificates shall be issued shall be computedherbaisis of the aggregate number of shares repeeseynthe Old Certificates so surrendered. In
the event that the Company’s transfer agent detexsrithat a holder of Old Certificates has not suteeed all his, her or its certificates for
exchange, the transfer agent shall carry forwaydf@ctional share until all certificates of thatiter have been presented for exchange such that
payment for fractional shares to any one holdell sishexceed the value of one share. If any Newtifimte is to be issued in a name other than
that in which it was issued, the Old Certificatessarrendered shall be properly endorsed and oiseliw proper form for transfer, and the stock
transfer tax stamps to the Old Certificates soesutered shall be properly endorsed and otherwipeojmer form for transfer, and the person or
persons requesting such exchange shall affix agyisite stock transfer tax stamps to the Old edtiés surrendered, or provide funds for their
purchase, or establish to the satisfaction of duesfer agent that such taxes are not payable. BEnohafter the Effective Time, the amount of cd,
shall be represented by the shares of the New Con8tuxrk into which and for which the shares of@hé Common Stock are reclassified, until
thereafter reduced or increased in accordanceapitficable law. All references elsewhere in thaddes of Incorporation, as amended, to the
“Common Stock” shall, after the Effective Time,eefo the “New Common Stock.”
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The amendment was proposed by the Board of Direetod submitted to the shareholders of the Comjpaagcordance with Chapter 9 of
Title 13.1 of the Code of Virginia. The designatimumber of outstanding shares, and number obwaniétled to be cast by each voting group
entitled to vote separately on the amendment afellasvs:

Designatior Number of Outstanding Shar Number of Vote:
Common 156,537,34: 156,537,34:

The total number of undisputed votes cast for theraiment by each voting group was as follows:

Designatior Number of Undisputed Votes for the Amendm
Common 100,106,05"

The number of votes cast for the amendment by eatihg group was sufficient for approval by thatiag group.
V.

Pursuant to Section 13.1-606 of the Virginia St@ckporation Act, the effective time and date o§tAmendment to the Company’s
Articles of Incorporation, as amended, shall bé%0n., Eastern Standard Time, on March 2, 2011.

INSMED INCORPORATED
Dated: March 2, 201
By: /s/ Kevin P. Tully

Name: Kevin P. Tully
Title: Executive Vice President & Chief Financficer
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ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT
TO THE
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, AS AMENDED,
of
INSMED INCORPORATED
TO DELETE THE SERIES OF PREFERRED STOCK
DESIGNATED AS
SERIES B CONDITIONAL CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

Pursuant to Section 13.1-639 of the Virginia St@ckporation Act

The name of the corporation is Insmed Incorporétes “Company”).

Il.
Pursuant to Section 13.1-639 of the Virginia St@ckporation Act and the authority conferred upom Board of Directors by the Articles of
Incorporation, as amended, the Articles of Incoation are hereby amended to delete in its entpatpgraph 10 of Article Il of the Articles of
Incorporation and all provisions thereof, whichyisions were originally adopted by the Board ofdaiors to fix the preferences, limitations and
rights of the series of shares of Preferred Stadighated therein as “Series B Conditional ConblertPreferred Stock” (none of which shares are
outstanding as of the date hereof).

.
The foregoing amendment was duly adopted by theg2oris Board of Directors on June 12, 2012. Noelhalder action was required.

INSMED INCORPORATEL

Date: June 13, 201

By: /s/ Kevin P. Tully
Name:Kevin P. Tully C.G.A.

Title: Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Offic
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EXHIBIT 10.3

INSMED INCORPORATED

RESTRICTED UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
UNDER THE AMENDED AND RESTATED
2000 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

Name of Grantee
Number of Restricted Stock Unit

Grant Date:

Pursuant to the Insmed Incorporated Amended anthfes2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plaa¥ amended through the date he
Insmed Incorporated (the “Company”) hereby grantsaward of restricted stock units (the “Restricted Stock Unhits the “RSU
Award”) to the Grantee named above. The RSU Aveduall be referred to herein as the “AwardJpon acceptance of this Award, the Gra
shall receive the number of Restricted Stock Uspiscified above, subject to the restrictions amdlitmns set forth herein and in the Plan.

If and to the extent that this Award Agreement tiotd or is inconsistent with the terms, conditicarsd provisions of any employme
consulting or similar services agreement between Ghnantee and the Company as may be in effect“@eevice Agreement”)the Servic
Agreement shall control, and this Award Agreemeérdlisbe deemed to be modified accordingly so loagsach modification is not expres
prohibited by the Plan.

The Company acknowledges the receipt from the @eaot consideration with respect to the par vafube Stock in the form of cash, p
or future services rendered to the Company by tle8e or such other form of consideration asdgptable to the Administrator.

1. Acceptance of AwardThe Grantee shall have no rights with respedhi® Award unless he or she shall have accepte
Award by signing and delivering to the Company pycof this Award Agreement.

2. Restrictions and Conditions on AwarBestricted Stock Units granted herein may nosddd, assigned, transferred, pledge
otherwise encumbered or disposed of by the Granteeto vesting, and shall be subject to all theris, conditions and restrictions set forth he
and in the Plan.




3. Timing and Form of Payout of Res#étStock Units As soon as practicable (but in no event latantB0 days) following tt
applicable Vesting Date, the vested RestrictediStirdts will be paid to the Grantee in a lump suasit payment equal to the Fair Market Valu
the shares of Stock underlying the Restricted Stdmits as of the applicable Vesting Date. Notwiinsling the foregoing, if, following the Gr:
Date, the shareholders of the Company approve am@ment to the Plan increasing the maximum aggeaganber of shares of Stock that ma
issued under the Plan to a number of shares ok Stdticient to allow for the payment in full ofehvested Restricted Stock Units in shares of ¢
hereunder as well as under all other awards cantasubstantially similar terms and conditionstasse set forth herein, then, at the Administrator’
discretion, the vested Restricted Stock Units maypdid out in either (a) shares of Stock, (b) d gas/ment equal to the Fair Market Value of
shares of Stock underlying the Restricted StockdJas of the applicable Vesting Date, or (c) a doatibn of (a) and (b), as soon as practic
(but in no event later than 30 days) following #pplicable Vesting Date.

4. Vesting of Award The restrictions and conditions in Section 2hig Agreement shall lapse on the date or datesfigukin this
Section 4, so long as the Grantee remains an eeglof/the Company or its Affiliates on such Vestidate (defined below), subject to Sectic
below. Except as set forth in Section 5 below,Aleard shall vest in accordance with the schedateorth below.

Percentage of Award Vest Vesting Date
33 1/3% First Anniversary of the Grant Da
33 1/3% Second Anniversary of the Grant Di
33 1/3% Third Anniversary of the Grant Da

Except as otherwise provided in Sections 5 and thisfAgreement, the Grantee shall forfeit any stee portion of the Award in the event
Grantee’s employment is terminated prior to thetivigsDate.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereirirothe Plan, the Administrator may at any time émege the vesting schedule specified in
Section 4.

5. Change in Controlin the event of a Change in Control of the Conypdifty percent (50%) the unvested portion of fREL
Award, to the extent not previously forfeited oncelled, shall immediately vest as of the dateushsChange in Control.

6. Termination of EmploymentExcept as otherwise provided herein, any undeptation of Award shall be forfeited withc
payment of consideration upon the termination ef @rantees employment with the Company or its Affiliates fory reason, except as othen
provided in the Section 6. Notwithstanding theefing, upon the Granteedeath (while an active employee of the Comparitsdkffiliates), the
Award, to extent not previously forfeited or careed] shall immediately vest as of the date of then®e’s death.




7. Voting Rights and DividendslIf and until such time as Restricted Stock Umite paid out in shares of Stock (if at all),
Grantee shall not have voting rights. Howeverdalldends and other distributions paid with resgeche Restricted Stock Units shall accrue
shall be converted to additional Restricted StoclktdJbased on the closing price of the Stock ondiw@&lend distribution date. Such additic
Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the segstrictions on transferability as are the RewtdcStock Units with respect to which they v
paid.

8. Change in Capital Structur&@he terms of these Restricted Stock Units dfabdjusted as the Committee determines is eqy
required in the event the Company effects one arenstock dividends, stock splips, subdivisions or consolidations of shares bemsimila
changes in capitalization.

9. Incorporation of PlanNotwithstanding anything herein to the contrainygs Agreement shall be subject to and governedllie
terms and conditions of the Plan, including the @@of the Administrator set forth in Section Ifltbe Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreen
shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, srdedifferent meaning is specified herein, provitted, as used herein, the term Administrator
mean the Committee.

10. Transferability This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, isassignable and is not transferable in any manyeopbratiol
of law or otherwise, other than by will or the lasfsdescent and distribution.

11. Tax Withholding The Grantee shall, not later than the date aghath the receipt of this Award becomes a taxablent fo
Federal income tax purposes, pay to the Companyale arrangements satisfactory to the Administriitopayment of any Federal, state,
local taxes required by law to be withheld on actaf such taxable event.

12. No Obligation to Continue Employmerileither the Company nor any Affiliate is obligdtby or as a result of the Plan or
Agreement to continue the Grantee in employmentregiither the Plan nor this Agreement shall interierany way with the right of the Compi
or any Affiliate to terminate the employment of Beantee at any time.

13. Notices Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivecethé Company at its principal place of business srall be mailed
delivered to the Grantee at the address on filk thik Company or, in either case, at such othereaddas one party may subsequently furnish
other party in writing.




INSMED INCORPORATED

By:

Name:Andrew Drechsle
Title: Chief Financial Office

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted antkethes and conditions thereof hereby agreed to éyittdersigned.

Dated

Granters Signature




EXHIBIT 10.4
INSMED INCORPORATED
RESTRICTED UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
UNDER THE AMENDED AND RESTATED
2000 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
Name of Grantee
Number of Restricted Stock Unit

Grant Date:

Pursuant to the Insmed Incorporated Amended anthfes2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plaa¥ amended through the date he
Insmed Incorporated (the “Company”) hereby grantawaard of restricted stock units (thestReted Stock Units” or the “RSU Awarjl”
to the Grantee named above. The RSU Award shattfeered to herein as the “AwardUpon acceptance of this Award, the Grantee shedlive
the number of Restricted Stock Units specified &bsubject to the restrictions and conditions eghfherein and in the Plan.

The Company acknowledges the receipt from the @eaot consideration with respect to the par vafube Stock in the form of cash, p
or future services rendered to the Company by tle8e or such other form of consideration asdgptable to the Administrator.

1. Acceptance of AwardThe Grantee shall have no rights with respedhi® Award unless he or she shall have acceptis
Award by signing and delivering to the Company pycof this Award Agreement.

2. Restrictions and Conditions on AwarRestricted Stock Units granted herein may nosddd, assigned, transferred, pledge
otherwise encumbered or disposed of by the Granieeto vesting, and shall be subject to all therts, conditions and restrictions set forth he
and in the Plan.

3. Timing and Form of Payout of Res#itiStock Units As soon as practicable (but in no event latantBO days) following tt
applicable Vesting Date, the vested Restricted KStdits at the Administratos’ discretion, may be paid out in either (a) shafeStock or (b)
cash payment equal to the Fair Market Value oftiaes of Stock underlying the Restricted StockdJni

4. Vesting of Award Except as set forth in Section 5 of this Agreeimné¢he restrictions and conditions in Section 2ttdé
Agreement shall lapse, with respect to 100% ofRI8&J Award, on the first anniversary of the GranteD@he “Vesting Date"so long as (a) tt
Grantee remains a member of the board of direcibthe Company or its Affiliates on such Vestingt®and(b) the Grantee attends at ¢
seventyfive percent (75%) of the board of directors meggithat take place during the period of time conoimenfrom the Grant Date and end
of the first anniversary of the Grant Date.




Except as otherwise provided in Sections 5 and thisfAgreement, the Grantee shall forfeit any wte@ portion of the RSU Award
either the following shall occur: (i) in the evethe Grantee service as a member of the board of directoth@fCompany or its Affiliates
terminated for any reason prior to the Vesting Datdii) in the event that the Grantee fails tteat at least sevenfixe percent (75%) of the boe
of directors meetings that take place during thépeof time commencing from the Grant Date andiregaf the first anniversary of the Grant Di

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereirirothe Plan, the Administrator may at any time éarege the vesting schedule speci
in this Section 4.

5. Change in Controlin the event of a Change in Control of the Conyp#he unvested portion of the RSU Award, to thieet no
previously forfeited or cancelled, shall immedigteést as of the date of such Change in Control.

6. Termination of ServiceExcept as otherwise provided herein, any undestetion of the RSU Award shall be forfeited wittt
payment of consideration upon the termination & @rantees service with the Company or its Affiliates foryareason, except as otherw
provided in this Section 6. Notwithstanding theefpoing, upon the Granteetleath (while an active director of the boardhaf Company or i
Affiliates) or upon the termination of the Granteservice due to Disability (as defined below), R&U Award to extent not previously forfeitec
cancelled, shall immediately vest as of the datthefGrantees death or Disability. For purposes of this Agreamthe Grantee will be conside
“disabled” if, as a result of the Grantedhcapacity due to physical or mental illness, @rantee shall have been absent from his duti¢he
Company or its Affiliates on a full-time basis 680 calendar days in the aggregate in any 12-ruerilod.

7. Voting Rights and DividendslIf and until such time as Restricted Stock Umite paid out in shares of Stock (if at all),
Grantee shall not have voting rights. Howeverdalldends and other distributions paid with resgedhe Restricted Stock Units shall accrue
shall be converted to additional Restricted StoclktdJbased on the closing price of the Stock ondiva&lend distribution date. Such additic
Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the sesstrictions on transferability as are the RetdcStock Units with respect to which they v
paid.

8. Change in Capital Structur@he terms of these Restricted Stock Units dfekdjusted as the Committee determines is eqy
required in the event the Company effects one arenstock dividends, stock splips, subdivisions or consolidations of shares bemsimila
changes in capitalization.




9. Incorporation of PlanNotwithstanding anything herein to the contrahys Agreement shall be subject to and governedlltie
terms and conditions of the Plan, including the @@of the Administrator set forth in Section Ifltbe Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreen
shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, srdedifferent meaning is specified herein, provitted, as used herein, the term Administrator
mean the Committee.

10. Transferability This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, isassignable and is not transferable in any manyeopbratiol
of law or otherwise, other than by will or the lasfsdescent and distribution.

11. Tax Withholding The Grantee shall, not later than the date aghath the receipt of this Award becomes a taxalent fo
Federal income tax purposes, pay to the Companyatte arrangements satisfactory to the Administrtiopayment of any Federal, state,
local taxes required by law to be withheld on actaf such taxable event.

12. No Obligation to Continue Servicd&either the Company nor any Affiliate is obligdtby or as a result of the Plan or
Agreement to continue the Granteservices and neither the Plan nor this Agreestealt interfere in any way with the right of ther@gany or an
Affiliate to terminate the services of the Gran&tany time.

13. Notices Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivecethé Company at its principal place of business strall be mailed
delivered to the Grantee at the address on filk thik Company or, in either case, at such othereaddas one party may subsequently furnish
other party in writing.




INSMED INCORPORATED

By:

Name:Andrew Drechsle
Title: Chief Financial Office

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted antkethes and conditions thereof hereby agreed to éyittdersigned.

Dated




EXHIBIT 10.5
INSMED INCORPORATED

INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

No. of shares subject to Option:

THIS Incentive Stock Option Agreement (“Agreemertt&ted this ,
between Insmed, Incorporated, a Virginia corporafthe "Company"), and ("Paaitff), is made pursuant and subject tc
provisions of the Insmed Incorporated 2000 Stodatemtive Plan, as amended (the "Plan"), a copy dthlwhas been made available to
Participant. All terms used herein that are defiimethe Plan have the same meaning given themeifPtan.

If and to the extent that this Agreement conflictss inconsistent with the terms, conditions anavjsions of any employmel
consulting or similar services agreement betweenRarticipant and the Company as may be in eftbet (Service Agreement”)the Servic
Agreement shall control, and this Award Agreemdndllsbe deemed to be modified accordingly so loagsiach modification is not expres
prohibited by the Plan.

1. Grant of Option . Pursuant to the Plan, the Company, on (the "Date of Grant"), grantec
Participant, subject to the terms and conditionthefPlan and subject further to the terms and itiond herein set forth, the right and optiol
purchase from the Company all or any part of aneggge of shares of Common Stock at the option price of $ per share, bei
not less than the Fair Market Value of such sharethe Date of Grant (“Option”)This Option is intended to be an "incentive stopkan" within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code. This QpiBexercisable as hereinafter provided.

2. Terms and Conditions. This Option is subject to the following termslaronditions:

(a) Expiration Date . This Option shall expire ten years from the D#t&rant (the "Expiration Date"

(b) Exercise of Option. Except as provided in paragraphs 3, 4 and §,@gtion shall be exercisable with respect to tyent
five percent (25%) of the shares of Common Stodkesat to this Option on the first anniversary of thate of Grant (t
“First Anniversary Date”)Jand with respect to an additional twelve and a palcent (12.5%) of the shares of Com
Stock subject to this Option on the sixth monthieersary of the First Anniversary Date and eaclthsironth anniversa
date thereafter through the fourth anniversaryhef Date of Grant. If the foregoing schedule woutddpce fraction:
shares, the number of shares for which the Optenoimes exercisable shall be rounded down to theesteahole shar
Once this Option has become exercisable in accoedaith the preceding sentence it shall continueet@xercisable un
the termination of Participant's rights hereundgrspant to paragraph 3, 4 or 5 or until the Optias expired pursuant
subparagraph 2(a). A partial exercise of this @pshall not affect Participant's right to exerdisie Option with respect
the remaining shares, subject to the conditiortk@fPlan and this Agreeme




(c) Method of Exercising Option and Payment for Share.. This Option shall be exercised by written notiedivered to th
attention of the Company's Principal Financial &dfiat the Company's principal office in New Jerg®e attachment A
“Notice of Option Exercise”).The exercise date shall be (i) in the case of adbig mail, the date of postmark, or (ii
delivered in person, the date of delivery. Sucticecshall be accompanied by payment of the Optidge in full, in cash ¢
cash equivalent acceptable to the Committee, dhdpurrender of shares of Common Stock with amezgde Fair Mark:
Value (determined as of the day preceding the ésedate) which, together with any cash or cashvatgnt paid, is nc
less than the Option price for the number of shémewhich this Option is being exercise

(d) Nontransferability . This Option may not be transferred except by arilby the laws of descent and distribution. Dg
Participant's lifetime, this Option may be exerdisaly by Participani

(e) Acceptance of Option. The Participant shall have no rights with respedhis Option unless he or she shall have acd
this Option by signing and delivering to the Compancopy of this Agreement within thirty (30) dagysthe Agreemel
date set forth in the first paragraph of this Agneat.

3. Exercise in the Event of Death. In the event Participant dies before the exjpinatof this Option pursuant
subparagraph 2(a), this Option shall be exercisatiterespect to all or part of the shares of Comr8¢ock that Participant was entitled to purc
under subparagraph 2(b) on the date of Participalgath. In that event, this Option may be exedgito the extent exercisable under subpara
2(b), by Participant's estate or by the person @émsgns to whom his rights under this Option shabspby will or the laws of descent |
distribution. Participant's estate or such persoag exercise this Option within one (1) year oftiegant's death or during the remainder of
period preceding the Expiration Date, whicheveshiarter.

4, Exercise in the Event of Permanent and Total Disabiy . In the event Participant becomes permanentlytatadly
disabled within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3}h&f Code ("Permanently and Totally Disabled") beftire expiration of this Option pursuan
subparagraph 2(a), this Option shall be exercisatiterespect to all or part of the shares of Comr8¢ock that Participant was entitled to purc
under subparagraph 2(b) on the date he ceasestoieyed by the Company and its Affiliates assalteof his becoming Permanently and Tot
Disabled. In that event, Participant may exertige Option, to the extent exercisable under sugraph 2(b), within one (1) year of the dat
ceases to be employed by the Company and its ###i as a result of his becoming Permanently andllfdisabled or during the peri
preceding the Expiration Date, whichever is shorter

5. Exercise After Termination of Employment. Except as provided in paragraphs 3 and 4 heifebf Participant ceas
to be employed by the Company and its Affiliateisipto the Expiration Date, this Option shall berisable for all or part of the number of sh
that the Participant was entitled to purchase usdbparagraph 2(b), as well as set forth underSaryice Agreement, on the date of Participant’
termination of employment. In that event, Participmay exercise this Option, to the extent exeblesander subparagraph 2(b) and/or undel
Service Agreement, during the remainder of theggepreceding the Expiration Date or until the dht is three (3) months after the date he ci
to be employed by the Company and its Affiliatebjcliever is shorter.




6. Notice . Any notice or other communication given pursuanthis Agreement shall be in writing and shallgezsonall
delivered or mailed by United States registeredestified mail, postage prepaid, return receipuesged, to the Company at its principal plac
business or to the Participant at the address erpdyroll records of the Company or, in either cagesuch other address as one party
subsequently furnish to the other party in writidgny such notice shall be deemed to have beemdi@gon the date of postmark, in the cas
notice by mail, or (b) on the date of deliverydélivered in person.

7. Fractional Shares . Fractional shares shall not be issuable hereuratel when any provision hereof may en
Participant to a fractional share such fractionldfedisregarded.

8. No Right to Continued Employment. This Option does not confer upon Participant aglgt to continue in the empl
of the Company or an Affiliate, nor shall it interé in any way with the right of the Company orAdfiliate to terminate such employment at
time.

9. Change in Capital Structure . The terms of this Option shall be adjusted &s @ommittee determines is equite
required in the event the Company effects one arenstock dividends, stock splips, subdivisions or consolidations of shares bemsimila
changes in capitalization.

10. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by the lawhefCommonwealth of Virginia.

11. Conflicts . In the event of any conflict between the prawisi of the Plan as in effect on the date hereotlagrovision
of this Agreement, the provisions of the Plan spaitern. All references herein to the Plan shaamthe Plan as in effect on the date hereof.

12. Participant Bound by Plan . Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of g afghe Plan and agrees to be bound kt
the terms and provisions thereof.

13. Binding Effect . Subject to the limitations stated above andvanRlan, this Agreement shall be binding upon andei tc
the benefit of the legatees, distributees, andopatgepresentatives of Participant and the suoces$ the Company.

14. Incentive Stock Option Treatment. The terms of this Option shall be interpreteéimanner consistent with the ini
of the Company and the Participant that the Omgjiaalify as an Incentive Stock Option under Secti@ of the Code. If any provision of the F
or this Agreement shall be impermissible in ordarthe Option to qualify as an Incentive Stock Optithen the Option shall be construed
enforced as if such provision had never been irdud the Plan or the Option. If and to the extlaat the number of Options granted pursua
this Agreement exceeds the limitations containefiéntion 422 of the Code on the value of Shards megpect to which this Option may qualify
an Incentive Stock Option, this Option shall beanMQualified Stock Option.

[Signatures on Following Page]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thieémient to be signed by a duly authorized officed, Rarticipant h¢
affixed his signature hereto.
INSMED INCORPORATEL

By:
Name: Will Lewis
Title: CEO and Presidel

[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]




Attachment A

Chief Financial Officer

Insmed Incorporated

9 Deer Park Drive, Suite C
Monmouth Junction, NJ 08852-1919

Notice Of Option Exercise

This letter is notice of my decision to exercise tiption that was granted to me on . _The exercise will be effective
on .| am exercising the oftion shares of Common Stock. Eadlés my check for $
which is the aggregate option price for the nuntfeshares for which | am exercising the option.

Please issue the certificate according to theviallg instructions:

Name/entity stock certificate issued
(If entity is a trust, please include date trusswatablished.)

Address to send stock certificate:

Sincerely,

Accepted by

Date:

Note: The date of exercise cannot be earlier tham#te of delivery of this notice or the postmarkhi notice is mailed.




EXHIBIT 10.6
INSMED INCORPORATED
NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
No. of shares subject to Option:
THIS AGREEMENT dated this between INSMED INCORPORATED, a Virginia corporatithe
"Company"), and ("ParticipantS),made pursuant and subject to the provisions efltismed Incorporated 2000 St

Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Plan"), a copyha€h has been made available to the ParticipAiitterms used herein that are defined in
Plan have the same meaning given them in the Plan.

If and to the extent that this Agreement conflictss inconsistent with the terms, conditions anovisions of any employmel
consulting or similar services agreement betweenRarticipant and the Company as may be in eftbet {Service Agreement”the Servic
Agreement shall control, and this Award Agreemdndllsbe deemed to be modified accordingly so loagsiach modification is not expres
prohibited by the Plan.

1. Grant of Option . Pursuant to the Plan, the Company, on (the "Date of Grant"), grante:
Participant, subject to the terms and conditionthefPlan and subject further to the terms and iond herein set forth, the right and Optiol
purchase from the Company all or any part of ameggge of shares of Common Stock at the Option price of $ per share, bei
not less than the Fair Market Value of such shareshe Date of Grant. This Option is intended ¢éoabnonqualified stock option and not
"incentive stock option" within the meaning of Sent422 of the Code. This Option is exercisablb@=inafter provided.

2. Terms and Conditions. This Option is subject to the following termsiaronditions:
(a) Expiration Date . This Option shall expire ten years from the D#t&rant (the "Expiration Date").

(b) Exercise of Option. Except as provided in paragraphs 3, 4 and §,@iption shall be exercisable with respect to ty«ire
percent (25%) of the shares of Common Stock sulbjetttis Option on the first anniversary of the ®af Grant (the First Anniversar
Date”) and with respect to an additional twelve and a pattent (12.5%) of the shares of Common Stockestibp this Option on the si>
month anniversary of the First Anniversary Date aadh sixth month anniversary date thereafter titrabe fourth anniversary of the D
of Grant. If the foregoing schedule would produeefional shares, the number of shares for whielhtion becomes exercisable sha
rounded down to the nearest whole share. OnceCGpt®on has become exercisable in accordance wéhptbceding sentence it sl
continue to be exercisable until the terminatiorPafticipant's rights hereunder pursuant to papig@ 4 or 5 or until the Option
expired pursuant to subparagraph 2(a). A partiaka@se of this Option shall not affect Participaright to exercise this Option w
respect to the remaining shares, subject to thdittons of the Plan and this Agreement.

(c) Method of Exercising Option and Payment for Shares This Option shall be exercised by written notikgivered to th
attention of the Company's Principal Financial €¥fi at the Company's principal office in New Jer§sge attachment A -Nbtice o
Option Exercise”).The exercise date shall be (i) in the case of adiicmail, the date of postmark, or (ii) if deliedrin person, the date
delivery. Such notice shall be accompanied by matrof the Option price in full, in cash or casluieglent acceptable to the Commit
or by the surrender of shares of Common Stock aittaggregate Fair Market Value (determined asefitty preceding the exercise d
which, together with any cash or cash equivaleid,pa not less than the Option price for the numtifeshares for which this Option
being exercised.




(d) Nontransferability . This Option may not be transferred except by @ilby the laws of descent and distribution. Bg
Participant's lifetime, this Option may be exerdisaly by Participant.

3. Exercise in_the Event of Death. In the event Participant dies before the expinaiof this Option pursuant
subparagraph 2(a), this Option shall be exercisatiterespect to all or part of the shares of Comr8tock that Participant was entitled to purc
under subparagraph 2(b) on the date of Participalgath. In that event, this Option may be exedgito the extent exercisable under subpara
2(b), by Participant's estate or by the person emsgns to whom his rights under this Option shabspby will orthe laws of descent a
distribution. Participant's estate or such persoag exercise this Option within one (1) year oftiegant's death or during the remainder of
period preceding the Expiration Date, whicheveshisrter.

4. Exercise in the Event of Permanent and Total Disabty . In the event Participant becomes permanentlytatadly
disabled within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3}h&f Code ("Permanently and Totally Disabled") beftre expiration of this Option pursuan
subparagraph 2(a), this Option shall be exercisatiterespect to all or part of the shares of Comr8tock that Participant was entitled to purc
under subparagraph 2(b) on the date he ceasesimfieyed by the Company and its Affiliates assulteof his becoming Permanently and Tot
Disabled. In that event, Participant may exertige Option, to the extent exercisable under sugraph 2(b), within one (1) year of the dat
ceases to be employed by the Company and its ##i as a result of his becoming Permanently andllfdisabled or during the peri
preceding the Expiration Date, whichever is shorter

5. Exercise After Termination of Employment. Except as provided in paragraphs 3 and 4 heiketie Participar
ceases to be employed by the Company and its &€&8i prior to the Expiration Date, this Option kbal exercisable for all or part of the numbe
shares that the Participant was entitled to puechawler subparagraph 2(b), as well as set fortleruady Service Agreement, on the dat
Participants termination of employment. In that event, Pgptait may exercise this Option, to the extent egahlite under subparagraph 2(b) ar
under Service Agreement, during the remainder @fpiriod preceding the Expiration Date or until dla¢e that is three (3) months after the da
ceases to be employed by the Company and its ###i, whichever is shorter.

6. Notice. Any notice or other communication given pursuarthis Agreement shall be in writing and shallgeesonall
delivered or mailed by United States registeredestified mail, postage prepaid, return receipuesged, to the Company at its principal plac
business or to the Participant at the address erpdyroll records of the Company or, in either cagesuch other address as one party
subsequently furnish to the other party in writidgny such notice shall be deemed to have beemdi@gon the date of postmark, in the cas
notice by mail, or (b) on the date of deliverydélivered in person.




7. Fractional Shares. Fractional shares shall not be issuable hereurad®l when any provision hereof may en
Participant to a fractional share such fractionldfedisregarded.

8. No Right to Continued Employment. This Option does not confer upon Participant @glgt to continue in the empl
of the Company or an Affiliate, nor shall it interé in any way with the right of the Company orAdfiliate to terminate such employment at
time.

9. Change in Capital Structure . The terms of this Option shall be adjusted & Gommittee determines is equite
required in the event the Company effects one arenstock dividends, stock splips, subdivisions or consolidations of shares bemsimila
changes in capitalization.

10. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by the lawth@fCommonwealth of Virginia.

11. Conflicts . In the event of any conflict between the prauisi of the Plan as in effect on the date hereof tae
provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of Blan shall govern. All references herein to tkenBhall mean the Plan as in effect on the
hereof.

12. Participant Bound by Plan . Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of ay adpghe Plan and agrees to be boun
all the terms and provisions thereof.

13. Binding Effect . Subject to the limitations stated above andh@PRlan, this Agreement shall be binding upon ande
to the benefit of the legatees, distributees, ardgnal representatives of Participant and theessces of the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thigément to be signed by a duly authorized officed, Rarticipant h:
affixed his signature hereto.

INSMED INCORPORATEL
By:

Name: Will Lewis
Title: CEO and Presidel

[NAME OF PARTICIPANT]




Attachment A

Chief Financial Officer

Insmed Incorporated

9 Deer Park Drive, Suite C
Monmouth Junction, NJ 08852-1919

Notice Of Option Exercise

This letter is notice of my decision to exercise tption that was granted to me on . _The exercise will be effective
on . | am exercising the ogtion shares of Common Stock. Badiss my check for $ ,
which is the aggregate option price for the nuntfeshares for which | am exercising the option.

Please issue the certificate according to theviallg instructions:

Name/entity stock certificate issued
(If entity is a trust, please include date trusswatablished.)

Address to send stock certificate:

Sincerely,

Accepted by

Date:

Note: The date of exercise cannot be earlier tham#te of delivery of this notice or the postmarkhi notice is mailed.




Pursuant to 17 CFR 240.24b-2, confidential informabn (indicated by [***]) has been omitted from Exhibit 10.22 and has been filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Commiiss pursuant to a Confidential Treatment Application filed with the Commission.

EX-10.22
LICENSE AGREEMENT

This License Agreement (thisAgreement") effective as of the 25th day of April, 2008 Effective Date"), is between PARI Pharr
GmbH, a German corporation with a principal platéusiness at Moosstrasse 3, D-82319 Starnbergn&sr ("PARI ) and Transave, Inc.,
Delaware corporation with registered offices atOder Park Drive, Suite 117, Monmouth Jct., NJ 088%2ited States of America (Transave
"). Each of PARI and Transave shall be referredgs@ “Party ,” and collectively the ‘Parties.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Transave has acquired, developed and peadecertain technology and formulation rights comineeferred to as Arikace’
a proprietary amikacin antibiotic based on Transay®oprietary sustained release liposomal techyofog inhalation, for the treatment &
prevention of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infectiomfiempts with cystic fibrosis and bronchiectasis;

WHEREAS, PARI is in the business of developing anthmercializing drug nebulizer devices and drugnigdation methodologies, a
PARI has developed a drug nebulizer device;

WHEREAS, PARI and Transave have entered into aiclirBupply Agreement effective thehtay of April 2007 (thé Clinical Supply
Agreement”);

WHEREAS, Pari GmbH and Transave entered into ailfiigsStudy Agreement dated the ¥0day of January 2007, which was assi¢
and transferred to PARI on the 26f March 2007 (‘Feasibility Agreement” );

WHEREAS, PARI and Transave executed a StatemehVark No. 3 for the Feasibility Agreement on the ®@lay of October 20(
( “Feasibility Statement of Work No. 3");

WHEREAS, Transave desires to use a PARI drug nedrutlevice for aerosolizing Arikace for pulmonaslidery, and PARI desires
optimize its drug nebulizer device for aerosolizirrgnsave’s Arikace for pulmonary delivery; and

WHEREAS, PARI desires to perform evaluation, resleaand development activities with Transave relate®ARI’s nebulizer devic
technology, and Transave desires to pay PARI foh activities and to obtain a license to certairRiPAtellectual property rights in connect
with the development and commercialization of Ac&avith an optimized PARI nebulizer device, alltba terms and conditions set forth herein.

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the recitals set forth above tutual covenants, terms and conditions set foetbw, and other good and value
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whkhereby acknowledged, PARI and Transave agréalawss:




Article 1 — Definition s

As used in this Agreement, the following terms El@ve the following meanings while other terms nimy defined parenthetica
throughout this Agreement:

1.1 “Affiliate(s) ” of a Party means any person or entity that diremtlindirectly owns or controls, is owned or coligd by or it
under common control with such Party, in each casby, for so long as such control exists. As usethis definition only, “control" of an enti
means beneficial ownership, directly or indirectdf, fifty percent (50%) or more of the outstandingting shares or securities or the ab
otherwise to elect or appoint a majority of therdoaf directors or other managing authority of seality.

1.2 [*++]

1.3 “Applicable Laws and Standards” means (a) all laws, ordinances, rules, directives r@gulations applicable to the Prodt
the Project or this Agreement, including withouhiliation applicable local laws and regulations acle country in the Transave Territory,
applicable regulations and guidelines of the FDAl ather Regulatory Authorities and the ICH guidesin (c) as applicable to the partici
activities performed, Good Manufacturing PractioBeod Laboratory Practices and Good Clinical Pcastipromulgated by the FDA and o
Regulatory Authorities or the ICH; and (d) all appble industry and trade standards, including @pplicable standards of the Internatic
Organization for Standardization (ISO).

14 “Arikace " means Transave's proprietary amikacin antibidiiecluding the 70 mg/ml formulation) based on Tiaress
proprietary sustained release liposomal technologinhalation.

15 “Billable-hour " means an hour of activities performed by or ohddeof PARI, but excluding: nomtork time and time spent
traveling, training, information technology support laboratory technical support, administrativefaeilities support, time entry, finance, le
human resources or purely clerical activities, theo support functions not directly requested bgnibave.

1.6 “Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means those commercially reasonable efforts custymased by companies in t
biopharmaceutical industry (with respect to Tramdaand the biomedical device industry (with resgecPARI) for carrying out in a sustair
manner a particular task or obligation, and attlegsivalent to those level of efforts applied bipaty for its other priority products.

1.7 “Competing Nebulizer” shall mean any Nebulizer which has the performapeeification feature set forth below for a sit
treatment, including any Device or eFlow but exatgdthe [***], [***] and the [***] devices:




[***]
[***]
1.8 “Confidential Information ” shall have the meaning given to it in Sectionl11.

1.9 “Control ” means, with respect to an item of information aellectual property rights, possession by suchyRafrthe powe
and authority, whether arising by ownership, lieere other authorization, to disclose such itemegsiired by this Agreement, and/or to grant
authorize licenses or sublicenses under such itleatsre within the scope granted to the otheryRartler this Agreement.

1.10 “Covered” means with respect to a product that (a) such mtoduits manufacture, use, sale, offer for satgdrtation o
exportation would infringe a Valid Claim of a Paté&tight within the Intellectual Property, in theurtry of such manufacture, use, sale, offe
sale, importation or exportation, or (b) such picidncorporates or is made using material Know-kathin such Intellectual Property.

111 “Data” means all data, data sets, test data,cfinical and clinical trial data, analyses, reppregulatory filings and approvi
and the information therein or associated thereittluding drug master files and device mastasfilsupporting data, regulatory correspond
and meeting minutes) and rights to reference theesia each case:

(a) that are generated by either Party in the eoofperformance pursuant to a Work Plan or urniderAgreement (Project Data™);

(b) that are owned or controlled by PARI prior te tiffective Date, or generated by PARI during #rentof this Agreement outside
performing the Work Plans, and are necessary duluee the efforts of Transave, its Affiliates S8ublicensees in obtaining Marketing Approva
the Device (“Existing PARI Data ”); or

(c) that are owned or controlled by Transave pigothe Effective Date, or generated by Transavénduhe term of this Agreeme
and are necessary or useful for the efforts of PiRlerforming the Work Plan(s) or in obtaining Meting Approval for the Device but exclud
any Data related to the Project Intellectual Priyp@rExisting Transave Data”).

1.12 “Device” means the eFlow (including the following componerdsntrol unit with screen, nebulizer handset veitiiosol hea
nebulizer connection cord and power supply) thagised on the Present Device, that is to be oz developed for use with the Drug Proc
and that otherwise at least meets the Specificatiam defined below and recited in Exhibit 1.38d4@ingle treatment, but specifically excluded f
the foregoing are the [***], [***] and [***] devices. The Parties acknowledge and agree that uetiDéwvice is finalized in accordance with
Agreement, the Present Device shall be used bRahies hereunder for research, development atidgesforts related to this Agreement.

1.13 “Device Accessories’means those types of accessories sold by PARI dkeoEffective Date or during the term of -
Agreement for use with Devices, which are not dpetd the drug substance being delivered by suelié2s, includinge.g. power adapter
carrying cases, face masks, and any replacemestassociated with the foregoing.




1.14 “Drug Product " means an Arikace pharmaceutical preparation th&drisulated for delivery via pulmonary administoan
exclusively for use with the Device in the Trans&igld.

1.15 “eFlow” shall mean the Nebulizer proprietary to PARI or Atfiliates that is based on perforated vibratinggmbran
technology and includes the mixing chamber andevaiistem associated with the device that is cuyrentd under the tradename EFLCW

1.16 [***]

1.17 “Expired ", “ Expiration " or “ Expiry " means expired, lapsed, been canceled or becomédaimthand has not been fini
found to be invalid (or not valid) or unenforceablean unreversable or unappealable (or for whizhppeal has been timely filed) final decisio
judgment of a court or other authority or agencgahpetent jurisdictior

1.18 “Exploit " or “ Exploitation " means to formulate, research, test, develop, sgKatory approval for, make, have made,
sell, have sold, offer for sale, market, promatgpart, export, display, distribute or otherwise coencialize or dispose of.

1.19 ‘FDA " means the United States Food and Drug Administnadr any successor to that agency.

1.20 “First Commercial Sale” means the first commercial sale of a Drug Produbjest to royalties under Article 6, by or un
authority of Transave, its Affiliates and/or th&8ublicensees in a country in the Transave Territafter Marketing Approval in such country
been obtained.

1.21 “GAAP " means generally accepted accounting principlebiénlnited States or Germany, or the Internatioradofinting
Standard, consistently applied by a Party throughisenterprise.

1.22 “Good Manufacturing Practices,” or “ GMP " means all good manufacturing practices as promedighty the Regulato
Authority of the country where the Device is beisgid, in the form of laws or regulations or guidardocuments, for the manufacturing
pharmaceutical products, including in the Unitedt& as promulgated by the FDA 21 CFR 88 210; and medical devices, including 21 CF
820 — Quality System Regulation.

1.23 “GMP Manufacturing ” means all processes and activities typically engagdy a person or entity in the pharmaceutic
medical device industry for the GMP manufactureagfroduct or component thereof, including procuniagy materials, manufacturing, qua
control and assurance testing, GMP record keepiackaging and labeling.

1.24 “Improvement " means any improvements, modifications, discoveii@ggntions, developments, enhancements, deriy
works, including the technology, Knolew and other intellectual property rights asseclaherewith, whether or not patentable or redidgrai
otherwise protectable, in each case with respeitiet®evice or any other eFlow.

1.25 “Initiation " of a clinical trial means the first dosing of tfiest human patient in such trial.




1.26 “Intellectual Property ” means (a) any of the following, whether existingvrar in the future anywhere in the world: pate
inventor’s certificates, registrations and applications dfar including any provisionals, additions, digisals, continuations, substitutio
continuations-in-part, together with examinations, reissues, renewals or extensionedhand all foreign counterparts of any of the fmiac
(collectively, “Patent Rights”), and (b) all Data, ideas, pharmaceutical, chemiedl@ological materials, products and compositidests, assay
techniques, methods, procedures, technical andetwdmical data and other information relating ty ahthe foregoing, drawings, plans, desi
diagrams, sketches, specifications or other doctsnamtaining such information or materials, andibess processes, price data and inform:
marketing data and information, sales data andrmdtion, marketing plans and market research (@dlely, “ Know-how ). It is understooc
however, that Know-how does not include informatiat falls within exceptions of the definition ‘@onfidential Information”set forth in Sectic
11.1 of this Agreement. Intellectual Property uti#s all enforcement rights.

1.27 “MAA " means a fully completed marketing authorizationliappion (filed with the FDA, if in the United Sts or to th
counterpart of the FDA if outside the United Statexluding all supporting documentation and daiguired for such application to be accepte:
substantive review, filed with a Regulatory Autlptio seek Marketing Approval for a particular icglfion in a particular country. It is underst
that MAA does not include applications for priciogreimbursement approval.

1.28 ‘Major EU Countries ” means Germany, France, UK, Italy and Spain.

1.29 “Marketing Approval ” means all approvals, registrations or authorizatiohany governmental entity that are necessal
the manufacturing, use, storage, import, transpdtsale of products in a regulatory jurisdiction.

1.30 “Most Recent Qualified Financing” means, as of any given date, the most recent peefstock financing of Transave wh
establishes an armength valuation for the shares of preferred steskied in such financing and pursuant to which lmasers have purchased
have committed to purchase, preferred stock of Sae@ with an aggregate purchase price of at |&53t [As of the date of this Agreement, t
Most Recent Qualified Financing is the sale of & Convertible Preferred Stock of Transave pumst@ that certain Series D Converti
Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as afileer 14, 2007 (as amended), by and among Traasavéne Purchasers named therein.

1.31 “Nebulizer” shall mean any nebulizer or other device that dediva formulation in the form of droplets to thenays, includin
the Device, any Competing Nebulizer and eFlow. ther avoidance of doubt, the term “Nebulizetall not include any device that delivel
formulation solely or primarily via a nasal routieaaministration.

1.32 “Net Sales’ means the gross amounts received by Transaveffilisitds and its permitted Sublicensees for thsgites of Dru
Product for use with a Device to third parties lgss following deductions: (a) trade, wholesaleamfity, cash or other discounts, refunds, reti
rebates, credits and allowances to the extent lhcta&en; (b) import, export, excise, sales or tesees, value added taxes, and other taxes,
and duties imposed on such sales and actually lpaitiransave, its Affiliates or permitted Sublicesseas applicable; (c) obbund packagin
handling, transportation, freight and freight ireuwre to the extent actually paid; (d) rebateswaltaces or credits mandated by any governmer
reimbursements, credits or chargebacks actuallpteda allowed or incurred in the ordinary coursebasiness (including any credits, volt
rebates, charge-back and prime venddmates, reimbursements or similar payments gramteiven to wholesalers and other distributorsyitg
groups, health care insurance carriers, pharmaugfibenanagement companies, health maintenancaiaegeons or other institutions or health ¢
organizations); and (f) payments or rebates paitbimection with sales to any governmental authamitrespect of any state or federal Medic
Medicaid or similar programs. All calculations BHee made in accordance with GAAP.




1.33 “Optimization” means certain technical revisions of the PresenicBe

1.34 “Optimization Project” means the project currently being performed acogrdd the Feasibility Statement of Work No.
copy of which is attached to Exhibit 2.2.

1.35 “PARI Intellectual Property " means all Intellectual Property owned or Controllsd PARI and its Affiliates, as of tl
Effective Date or during the term of this Agreemadntluding that which (a) relates to its formutatitechnology, including PARY’ liposome
technology (but excluding with respect to Arikadbg Device or the manufacture or use of the Devicéb) are necessary or useful for either F
to perform the Project, or (c) are necessary ofuliser Transave, its Affiliates or Sublicenseesctimmercialize the Device with the Drug Proc
in the Transave Field. For clarity, PARI Intelleat Property includes without limitation all Existj PARI Data, existing PARI KnoWwew, Projec
Intellectual Property, all Patent Rights listedExhibit 1.35 and all Improvements (subject to SetR.5.2).

1.36 “Phase Il Trial " means a clinical trial of a drug product in humaatignts, the primary endpoints of which are to rkefihe
optimal dose and clinical end points that will lsed during a Phase Il Trial.

1.37 ‘Phase Il Trial ” means a clinical trial of a drug product condudétedn expanded patient population at multiple siésch is
statistically powered and designed to definitivebtablish safety and efficacy with respect to d@i@aar indication of one or more particular dc
in the patients being studied and to provide thgssical and clinical basis for Regulatory Apprbefisuch drug product.

1.38 “Present Device” means the present configuration no. 40L of eFloavirg the performance characteristiescribed to suc
configuration in Exhibit 1.38.

1.39 ‘Products” means the individual Drug Product and/or the BRevor use with the Drug Product.
1.40 “Project ” means all activities to be performed by PARI, indiixally or jointly with Transave or third partieghat are set for

in a specific Work Plan.

141 “Project Director ” means a development executive appointed by eadly B serve as such Pasyprincipal coordinator al
liaison for the Project. Except in the case ofeamergency, each Party agrees to provide thirty §a@% written notice to the other Party pric
replacing its Project Director. The initial Praj&irectors shall be: [***] for PARI and [***] forTransave.

1.42 “Project Intellectual Property ” means all Intellectual Property that is inventecci@ated in the course of performance
Work Plan under this Agreement, including withaatitation any Intellectual Property directed to tlebulizer apparatus, components or met
of manufacture thereof, regardless of who develbpEor clarity, the Project Intellectual Properycludes the Proje®ata, the Existing PAF
Data, Existing Transave Data, and any Krioaw owned or Controlled by PARI or Transave priorthe Effective Date and any Intelleci
Property solely relating to Arikace.




1.43 ‘Project Rate” with respect to activities under a Work Plan nefi*].

1.44 “Qualified Stock” means the series of preferred stock issued by @venim the Most Recent Qualified Financing. Adhe
date of this Agreement, the Qualified Stock is Beare’s Series D Convertible Preferred Stock.

1.45 “Qualified Stock Price” means the price per share paid by the purchase@ualified Stock in the Most Recent Qualif
Financing (as equitably adjusted for any stockd#inid, stock split, combination, reorganization apalization, reclassification or similar ev
with respect to such Qualified Stock). As of ttatedof this Agreement, the Qualified Stock Pric#ds2001 per share.

1.46 “Recall” means a recall, withdrawal, or field correctionasfy product for any reason, or a disseminationnédrimatior
regarding such product due to a change in theitapef such product.

1.47 ‘Regulatory Authority ” means any national (e.g., the FDA), supedional (e.g., the European Commission, the Cowifithe
European Union, or the EMEA), or other governmeatdity in the Territory involved in regulation of the granting of Marketing Approval for 1
Products or the development, manufacture, useran@cialization thereof.

1.48 “Royalty Term ” means, on a country-bgeuntry basis, the period commencing on the dateérsf Commercial Sale of Dri
Product and continuing until the later of (a) Eagimn of the last Valid Claim covering the partauDevice in the particular country in which s
Product is sold or (b) [***] after First Commercighle of the Drug Product in such country in tharibave Territory.

1.49 “Sale of Business Transactiofi means the sale or transfer by Transave, directipdirectly, of all of its rights in the Drt
Product to a third party, excluding Affiliates ofahsave, during the term of this Agreement. A dgeaof “control’in Transave shall be deeme
Sale of Business Transaction. For the purposdisfdefinition, an individual corporation or othentity shall be deemed to “controdihothe
corporation if it owns, directly or indirectly, mmthan fifty percent (50%) of the voting shareshas the power to elect more than half the dire
of such corporation.

1.50 “Secondary Indication(s)” means the pulmonary administration of Drug Prodactthe treatment or prophylaxis of one
more of the following: [***] or [***], provided, fowever, that [***], and the treatment of such irations with [***], [***] and/or the [***] devices
shall be excluded from the definition of Secondanications.

151 “Specifications” means the specifications, performance charactsjgparameters and requirements for the Devicettam
deliverables set forth in a Work Plan or user regraent specifications agreed to in writing betwé®n Parties. The initial Specifications for
Present Device and the currently anticipated tagatice are set forth in Exhibit 1.38. Transavallshmend Exhibit 1.38 to (i) amend exist
parameters or add additional parameters to, tiggnati Specifications for the Device as necessaesirable based on results of the clinical da
(ii) add an additional set of Specifications fdDavice for a Secondary Indication. Amendmentslidfemade by Transave asdbmitted in writin
to PARI for approval, which shall not be unreasdpatithheld. After approval by PARI, each amendmsimall become part of this Agreement
incorporated herein. Each amendment shall be aotiety in the format of Exhibit 1.38 and sequaliyi labeled (Exhibit 1.38A, Exhibit 1.38
etc.), and shall indicate if it supersedes anyefgrevious Exhibits 1.38.




1.52 “Sublicense€’ means any person or entity who receives a subkcéosn Transave under Section 4.1 of this Agreenta
Exploit the Device with the Drug Product to a nofiiliate Third Party.

1.53 “Third Party License Agreement” [***].

154 ‘Transave Field” means the pulmonary administration of Drug Prodioicthe treatment or prophylaxis of cystic fibro6&F)
and/or bronchiectasis. In addition, upon requestlection by Transave, the “Transave Fiedtfall further include one or more of the Secon
Indications, subject to and in accordance withpitevisions of Section 2.6.

1.55 “Transave Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property owned or ControlbgdTransave and its Affiliates, as of
Effective Date or during the term of this Agreemedntluding that which (a) relates to its liposoniatmulation technology, (b) is reasone
necessary or useful for either Party to perform Rheject but excluding all Improvements, or (c)ttealely relates to the Drug Product an
invented or created in the course of performanca ®¥ork Plan or under this Agreement. For clarffyansave Intellectual Property inclu
without limitation all Existing Transave Data, giig Transave Know-How and the Project Data (sultj@the restrictions set forth in Section 3.2

(b)).
1.56 ‘Transave Territory ” means the entire world.

1.57 “Valid Claim ” means a claim in an issued patent within the PARellectual Property, including the Project Intetlea
Property, which has not Expired.

1.58 “Work Plan " means the activities, deliverables, timelines, Sjpations and budget for the Project, establishgdhe Partie
pursuant to Section 2.2.

Article 2 — Development Project

2.1 Scope of the Project Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agnent, the Parties shall collaborate, in accordavit
one or more Work Plan(s), for Optimization of thevize for use with the Drug Product.

2.2 Work Plans. The initial Work Plan is set forth in Exhibit 2.@hich may be amended by Transave based on thdsedithe
Optimization Project with the consent of PARI, swmnsent not to be unreasonably withheld. Add#idWork Plans may be added, sequent
numbered as Exhibit 2.2A, 2.2B, etc., and attacbdtis Agreement. Transave may request additisealices to be performed by PARI or req
changes to any existing Work Plan(s), all in acaom with this Section 2.2.

(a) Upon any such request by Transavieh shall specify deliverables and SpecificatipRPARI shall promptly prepa
and submit to Transave a draft Work Plan oaarendment based on such request, setting forgmsonable detail the services to be perfor
the time and FTEs required for such services, timslfor the performance and completion of suchises, and a budget for any outymdcke
costs required to be expended. It is understoat RIARI may also propose additional Work Plans memdments on its initiative, and sl
submit a draft thereof to Transave in the same fmmapproval by Transave.




(b) The Parties shall negotiate indyfaith the final version of any additional WorkaRlor amendment to a Work PI
any of which shall be effective only after mutugteement by the Parties thereon in writing. Indhent of any conflict between a Work Plan
the terms and conditions of this Agreement, thiseggnent shall control.

(c) PARI shall use Arikace or Drug &uot provided to PARI solely for the purpose of i@ytation of the Devic
pursuant to a Work Plan and shall not use ArikacBrag Product for any other purpose. PARI shall formulate, modify or reverse engin
the Drug Product or Arikace.

(d) Transave and its permitted Subléees shall use the Device solely with the Druglfebin accordance with the ter
of this Agreement and shall not modify or reversgieeer the Device.

2.3 Management.

23.1 Joint Steering Committee. Promptly after the Effective Date, Transave &&RI shall establish a joint steer
committee (the ‘Joint Steering Committee” or “ JSC "), comprising three members chosen by each Partyersee, review and coordinate
activities of the Parties under this Agreementluding the performance of the Project and the dmrakent, manufacture and commercializatic
the Product. The JSC shall be responsible for:o{@rseeing the activities of the Parties undes thgreement; (b) resolving disputes
disagreements under this Agreement; and (c) uridegaor approving such other matters as are spedlfi provided for the JSC under t
Agreement. JSC will be responsible for develomnfgll charter for the Joint Steering Committeeq aftain written approvals from the CEO
defined below) of the Parties. JSC meetings thastrtake place in person shall alternate betweenpthce of business of each Party, ur
otherwise agreed to by the Parties. Written minofeall meetings will be provided within ten (10)diness days of the meeting/teleconferen
the members of the JSC.

23.2 Decision Making. Decisions of the Joint Steering Committee shellnbade by unanimous vote of the mem
present in person or by other means (e.g., telecenfe) at any meeting, with at least one repraeatfrom each Party participating in s
vote. In the event that the JSC is unable tohree@nimity with respect to a particular mattegrtteither Party may, by written notice to the g
have such matter referred to the President or Ghietutive Officer (“CEO ") of each of the Parties, who shall discuss and attéonresolve suc
matters to the Partiegiutual satisfaction within thirty (30) days thetteaf If the Parties are unable to resolve sucputiesin accordance with tl
Section 2.3.2, Article 14 of this Agreement shalbly.

2.3.3 Reserved Rights. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in theemveither Party reasonably determines tl
final decision of the JSC pursuant to Section 2IBresult in a hazardous or unsafe Device or DPugduct, or infringement of a third parsypater
rights, then that first Party shall provide the J8ith information supporting its belief. Upon dadry of such information, and discussion with
second Party at the JSC, the first Party shall tlaeeight to refrain from implementing such deatisin its performance of this Agreement, provi
that if thesecond Party in good faith disagrees with the bafs@ich determination, the Parties shall resdieedisagreement in accordance !
Section 2.3.2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, maghin this Article 2 shall be deemed to requirthei Party to take any action that it believe
unlawful.




234 Limited Authority . The decisions of the JSC, whether under this Secti8no2.under any other section of 1
Agreement, shall not have the power to amend ofradict the terms of this Agreement or the agregohuwork Plans, nor substitute for eit
Party’s ability to exercise any right, nor excuse performance of any obligation, set forth in thigeement.

2.4 Conduct of the Project. Subject to the terms and conditions of this &grent, each Party shall use Commercially Reasc
Efforts to perform the activities assigned to itlana Work Plan in accordance with the Specificetjdimelines and budgets set forth therein, L
the supervision of the JSC. Each Party shall kee@dSC informed as to its progress under a Wak.PI

25 Improvements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in tifigreement, if PARI develops an incremental Improgat
then PARI shall incorporate such Improvement ihtw Device, without further consideration, if (ijstnot contractually prohibited from doing sc
the agreement under which such Improvement waslajge@, (i) PARI generally incorporates such Immment into an eFlow for use in (
Bronchiectasis or such Secondary Indication (bthis instance only, without reference to the DRigduct contained in the definition of Secon:
Indication in Section 1.50) that has been inclustethe Transave Field pursuant to Section 2.6, (@ndt is consistent with the Specifications ¢
the applicable regulatory requirements. If an loyement is not an incremental Improvement (e.guagr Improvement or a new 510(k) is or
be filed), then PARI shall, to the extent it has tlght to do so, offer Transave an opportunityetdiew such Improvement for a period of sixty |
days from receipt of a description of such Improeetand a plan for development of such Improveraadtpossible incorporation into the Dey
in order for Transave to determine whether it wistee have such Improvement incorporated into theid®@eand thereby be incorporated into
license granted pursuant to Section 4.1. If Tamegletermines (by giving written notice to PARIJhin such sixty (60) day period that it desire
benefit from the Improvement and include the Imgrment in the Device, such Improvement shall beraatially included in PARI Intellectu
Property. If Transave does not give written notméARI within the sixty (60) day period of its desto benefit from the Improvement, Trans
shall be deemed to have rejected the ImprovemahP&RI| shall have no obligation to include the loy@ment in the Device. Notwithstand
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if PAd&velops an Improvement and desires to obtaimpatetection for such Improvement, P/
shall be free to obtain such protection and mag &k steps necessary, appropriate or advisabtettheprovided that Transave's rights under
Agreement shall not be restricted or limited in argy.

2.6 Designation of Secondary Indication. During the Term, if Transave desires to add anmore Secondary Indications to
Transave Field it will notify PARI thereof in wnitg. Also, if at any time during the Term of thigr&ement, PARI negotiates with a third part
license PARI Intellectual Property in one or moexr@dary Indications, PARI agrees that, prior teeeng into a binding definitive licensi
agreement, whether oral or written, whether inftmen of an agreement, term sheet, letter of interdther format, with such third party, PARI s
provide notice to Transave of such negotiations stmall offer to Transave the option to add suchoBdary Indication(s) to the Transave Fi
provided, however, that PARI shall not be obligatedffer such Secondary Indication to Transavéré&nsave has already entered into a bir
definitive licensing agreement, whether oral ortteri, whether in the form of an agreement, ternesHetter of intent or other format, for anot
Nebulizer with a third party for such Secondaryi¢ation. Transave shall have thirty (30) days fribra date of receipt of notice to exercise
option by sending a written notice thereof to PARI.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, PARI shall be petedtto conduct development activities on its ownwith a third party with respect to 1
Secondary Indications, including feasibility stugand the notice obligation and right of first selof Transave shall not apply thereto. If Tram
desires to add a Secondary Indication either puotdioathe first sentence of this paragraph or bgresing its option, the Parties shall negotia
good faith commercially reasonable and mutuallyeptable diligence requirements, noompete provisions, termination rights and sucler
terms and conditions as the Parties may identifytfe applicable Secondary Indication(s), [***]

2.7 [***]. At any time, the Parties magree to discuss a potential license agreemeniedeia [***] for use with Arikace.

2.8 Project Fees. Transave shall compensate PARI for its perfogeanf the Work Plans at the Project Rate [***]Rfoject Fee!
"). The Project Fees shall be invoiced to and paid bgnJave in accordance with Section 9.1 below. pixder the compensation a
reimbursement set forth in this Section 2.8, eaaftyPshall perform all of its activities under ttéork Plans at its own cost.

2.9 Reports. PARI’s obligations to provide reports will be as specifin individual Work Plans. In addition to any etiags
working groups or reviews required under the WadnPPARI shall provide Transave with reasonableess to the Project Director, from time
time throughout the term of the applicable WorknPI&uch access shall be at Transave's reasorahlest, during regular business hours
mutually convenient times, and may include (withiimitation) teleconferences, email, face-to-faceetings or other visits to PARI's facility.

2.10 Subcontractors. PARI shall not subcontract its performance &f Broject to another entity without Transavptior writter
approval, which approval shall not be unreasonalitlgheld, delayed or conditioned. In any case, Pstiall remain completely responsible for
acts and omissions of its subcontractors for ajelt activities that are subcontracted.

Article 3 — Intellectual Property
3.1 Existing Intellectual Property Ownership and Limited License Grant.

(@) Transave shall exclusively own the Transdmtellectual Property and any improvements, enbarents c
modifications in and to the foregoing conceiveddereloped by either Party pursuant to this AgreemEmrcept for the license expres
granted in 3.1(b), no other license in the Trandatellectual Property is granted to PARI by implion, estoppel or otherwise. PARI s
exclusively own the PARI Intellectual Property ety improvements, enhancements or modificatiomohto any of the foregoing concer
or developed by either Party pursuant to this Agmest, including all Improvements. Except for thieehses expressly granted in
Agreement, no other license in the PARI IntelletR@perty is granted to TRANSAVE by implicatiorsteppel or otherwise.
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(b) Subject to the terms and conditionshig Agreement, Transave hereby grants PARI a npyede, nonexclusive
non-transferable (except to its Affiliates and &pressly provided herein) license under the Tramsdatellectual Property solely to perform PARI’
obligations and responsibilities under the WorknBland this Agreement. PARI hereby grants to Eemsuntil initiation of the Royalty Term
royalty-free, non-exclusive license under the PARkllectual Property and PARI Project IntellectiRdoperty solely to perform Transase’
activities, under this Agreement including the depment of Drug Products, provided, however thhtraprovements shall be exclusively owi
by PARI and Transave shall not file any patent impgibn that incorporates the PARI Intellectual jrdy and/or the Project Intellectual Property.

3.2 Project Intellectual Property Ownership and ProjectData Ownership.

(a) PARI shall exclusively own the Prajdctellectual Property. Transave agrees to asaigh hereby assigns
PARI all right, title and interest in and to Prdjémtellectual Property.

(b) Subject to Section 3.3 below, Tramsshall exclusively own all Project Data; providedwever, that Transave
shall not use any Project Data with, or share sfiexror license to PARI Competitor pursuant to Bect.1.3 below and (ii) Transave shall
file any patent application or amendment that ipooates the PARI Intellectual Property and/or thejd?t Intellectual Property in the clai
thereof. Transave shall give PARI reasonably sigffit advance notice and opportunity to review patent applications, prior to filing, tt
first incorporate any particular PARI IntellectiRdoperty or Project Intellectual Property. If, kit fifteen (15) days after receipt, PARI noti
TRANSAVE in writing that TRANSAVE's patent applidgah contains PARI Intellectual Property or Projéctellectual Property that
patentable but for which PARI has not previouslgdifor patent protection, then TRANSAVE agreesiétay filing of its application for ¢
additional thirty (30) days, to permit PARI to peep and file a patent application to protect su&iRPIntellectual Property or Proje
Intellectual Property. In the event Transave nihedess files a patent application that claims BRI Intellectual Property or any Proj
Intellectual Property, then PARI shall receive a+exclusive, perpetual, world-wide, fully paigh, sublicensable, unrestricted, irrevocable
and license to research, formulate, develop, segllatory approval for, make, have made, use, lsalle sold, offer for sale, market, prom
import, export, display, make derivative works efpy, distribute, perform, license, sublicense thieovise commercialize, exploit or disp
of the PARI Intellectual Property or any Projedeltectual Property to the extent claimed in suatept application and/or patent. In the e
that Transave uses Project Data (that have beegraged based on the utilization of the Device)ilwd patent application, then PARI sl
have a non-exclusive, perpetual, world-wide, fulgid-up, licensable, unrestricted right and license qjoet of the Transave Field) (1)
practice under any apparatus claim that claims @dee Nebulizer that is proprietary to PARI, or qoonent thereof, and any methoc
manufacture claim that claims a method of manufaajua Device, Nebulizer that is proprietary to HA& component thereof, in any si
patent that is based on sucloject Data , and (2) to practice under any mettfagse claim that is a method of using a Device, WNiebr that i
proprietary to PARI, or component thereof, in angtspatent that is based on such Project Dataetextent necessary to avoid any liability
PARI's part for infringement of such method of use ctaimlotwithstanding anything to the contrary in foeegoing, PARI shall not obte
any rights under this Section 3.2(b) to Exploit dmgnsave proprietary drug product or formulatioareof.
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3.3 Default on Project Fees Subject to Article 14, in the event of a defanlthe payment of any undisputed Project Feesn
this Agreement, which default is not cured withiirtly (30) days after Transave receives writteriagothereof by PARI referencing this Section
specifying in detaithe amount of Project Fees alleged to be unpaidaacalculation thereof, and providing all relevanpporting documentati
evidencing such calculation, then Transave shallhawe the right to use such specific Project let#ial Property and Project Data that
conceived or developed by PARI that was not paidrf@ccordance with the Work Plan by Transavesuch event, however, it is understood
Transave shall retain the right to use and Exmtiier Project Intellectual Property and ProjecteDthat Transave has fully paid for in accord:
with the Work Plan and this Article 3.

3.4 Scientific Records. PARI shall maintain laboratory notebooks and athtecal, scientific, accounting and other recom
sufficient detail and which shall reflect work domesults achieved, intellectual property develgpgediuding all data in the form required
Applicable Laws and Standards, which shall be Kepthree (3) years after completion or terminatadrthe respective Work Plan or any lor
period mandated by Applicable Laws and Standakttsvever, records supporting the relevant PARI RaRights and the Project Intellect
Property shall be kept for the longer of a periddifteen (15) years after First Commercial SaleDofig Product in any country in the Trans
Territory or 20 years from the date of filing ofyaimtellectual property related to this projecteolonger period mandated by Applicable Laws
Standards.

3.5 Patent Protection. Except as set forth in Section 3.6 with resgecthe Joint Patents, PARI has the sole discredioc
responsibility, at its expense, to prepare, filmspcute, maintain, defend, and enforce any pafgplications and patents, as applicable, to F
Intellectual Property and Project Intellectual Rdp. TRANSAVE has the sole discretion and resgimlity at its expense, to prepare, f
prosecute, maintain, defend, and enforce any paigpitcations and patents, as applicable, to TRAMBAntellectual Property. In any case .
pursuant to this Section 3.5, TRANSAVE shall noitheut PARI’s prior written consent, to be withheld in its saliscretion, prepare, fil
prosecute, maintain, defend, or enforce any paipplications and patents, as applicable, relatinthé Device or any other eFlow or other
incorporate PARI Intellectual Property and/or thiejéct Intellectual Property, including but not ited to eFlow, or PARE proprietary TouchSpr.
® Technology. In any case and pursuant to this @e@&i5, PARI shall not, without Transasedrior written consent, to be withheld in its ¢
discretion, prepare, file, prosecute, maintaineddf or enforce any patent applications and patestapplicable, relating to the Drug Product.

3.6 Joint Patents. PARI and Transave are currently discussing theemi@al of filing a joint patent application (thH&Joint
Patent” ). The Parties hereby agree that no Joint Patentcapipin shall be filed without (i) the consent of thther Party and (ii) the Parties ha
entered into an Addendum to this Agreement outljrifre respective rights and obligations, includimgvisions regarding ownership, rights of |
restrictions of use, prosecution, enforcement afdribe, with respect to the Joint Patent.

Article 4 — Commercial License
4.1 Commercial License

41.1 Exclusive Grant in Transave Field. During the Royalty Term, PARI hereby grants Bare a royaltyearing
exclusive right and license in the Transave Tamyjtfwith the right to grant and authorize sublises, except with respect to [***] which PARI st
sublicense at Transawetequest according to Section 4.1.4, provideds(xch Sublicensees agree to be bound by the tertésoAgreement, (1
Transave shall nonetheless remain liable to PARIafty breach by a Sublicensee of this Agreement(ahduch Sublicensee is not a P,
Competitor pursuant to Section 4.1.3 below), uriegleR| Intellectual Property and Project Intellect®abperty to Exploit (subject to Section 4
below) the Device for use with the Drug Producthie Transave Field; provided, however, that Impnosets are governed by Section 2.5.2.
clarity, the license of this Section 4.1.1 shalkelxelusive, except with respect to the [***], inetfiransave Field even as to PARI, and PAIRII no
practice itself, nor grant to a third party, anghtis with respect to PARI Intellectual PropertyPooject Intellectual Property for use in the Trasm
Field in the Transave Territory, except with reggeche [***]. Upon expiration of the Royalty Ter, the foregoing license shall be rendered non:
exclusive, fully paid-up and royalty-free, on a nty-by-country basis; provided, however, that ufoansaves written request, such license s
remain exclusive, on a country-by-country basigjextt to Transave' continued payment of royalties for such coungnget forth in Section 6.1
this Agreement.

13




4.1.2 Manufacturing Rights . Transave covenants that it shall not, and itllstause its Affiliates and permitt
Sublicensees not to, exercise rights to manufatcha®evice for use with the Drug Product, the Deythe Device Accessories or any compor
of any of the foregoing under the license of trest®n 4.1 except pursuant to a fully executed Cenaial Supply Agreement as set forth in Sec
8.9 of this Agreement.

4.1.3 Restriction of Certain Sublicenses Transave shall not grant to a PARI Competit@mublicense under the PA
Intellectual Property without PARI’'s prior writtesonsent. For such purposes BARI Competitor ” shall mean an entity identified in Exhibit .
hereto.

41.4 Sublicense off***]. Transave acknowledges that a portion of thRARI Intellectual Property includes PARI's ric
under the Third Party License Agreement. Indlient Transave transfers or sublicenses the licgresged in this Section to a third party, <
rights shall be excluded from such transfer or lszdnse. However, in the event that Transave teasr sublicenses to a third party any of
license rights granted in this Section 4.1, upocansave’s request, PARI shall directly grant to stindfd party a sublicense of PARIYights unde
the Third Party License Agreement for no additiocahsideration, other than that already due to Péiler this Agreement with respect to
transfer or sublicense of rights granted to Traesavhis Section 4.1. Such transfer or sublicested! be subject to the terms and conditions is
Agreement.

4.2 Exclusivity of Efforts . The Parties acknowledge and agree that nothongamed in this Section 4.2 shall limit PARI fr
researching, developing, manufacturing, or comnaéeang medical devices (including existing devices stand alone devices outside of
Transave Field other than the Device (subject tRP#obligations under Section 2.6).

(a) Non-Compete. Subject to Section 4.2(b) below and the AKITARE, during the Term of this Agreement, P.
agrees that it and its Affiliates shall not compstth Transave (x) in CF and/or Bronchiectasis vétompeting Nebulizer in the Transave F
within the Transave Territory, or (y) otherwise agg in the research, development, manufacture maedfmercialization of amikacin f
pulmonary administration using a Competing Nebulidze addition, during the term of this AgreemdPfRI agrees that it and its Affiliates st
not compete with Transave or otherwise engagedanmdbkearch, development, manufacture and/or conmtization of any liposomal formulati
of tobramycin, ciprofloxacin and levofloxacin foulmonary administration, provided, however, tha fbregoing restrictions in this sente
shall not apply with respect to (i) the right ofyahird party licensee (but only to the extent sught is existing and in effect as of the Effee
Date) to research, develop, manufacture and/or @nialize any liposomal formulation of tobramycitiprofloxacin and levofloxacin fi
pulmonary administration pursuant to any licensiaggeements entered into by PARI or its Affiliate®opto the date of this Agreement,
(ii) the right of PARI and its Affiliates to entamto additional agreements that would be necessiangeful to exploit, but do not expand, exis
rights under such licensing agreements referrél (), such as testing agreements, and clinicdl@mmercial supply agreements, with any :
third party licensee related to the research, agweént and manufacture and/or commercializatioproflucts generated pursuant to tt
respective licensing agreements,; except the fanggeestrictions in this sentence shall apply, nttstanding (i) or (ii), with respect to a
research, development, manufacture and/or comntieatian of any such liposomal formulations for manary administration using a Nebuli
that includes any developments or optimizationsegetied under Feasibility Statement of Work NoN&twithstanding the foregoing, the Par
acknowledge and agree that PARI is able to suppigical device product information to customers aell medical devices other tt
Competing Nebulizers to customers and patientcatdd to deliver amikacin for any indication (indilug clinical development and clini
research), including CF and Bronchiectasis, antdsieh uses shall not conflict with the prohibigarf this Section 4.2(a).
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(b) Transave Diligence. PARI's obligations under Section 4.2(a) shall be coonéd upon Transave complying with
diligence obligations as set forth in Sectionsahdl 7.2.

(c) During the term of this Agreementafisave agrees that it and its Affiliates shallgmhpete with PARI or otherwi
engage in the research, development manufactdierasommercialization of any liposomal formulatiohcyclosporin.

4.3 Rights in Bankruptcy . All rights and licenses granted under or pursuarany section of this Agreement are, and she
deemed to be, for purposes of Section 365(n) oBrekruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., liceneights to “intellectual propertyds define
under Section 101(35A) of the Bankruptcy Code. pasies shall retain and may fully exercise althddir respective rights and elections unde
Bankruptcy Code.

Article 5 — Upfront License Fee and Milestones

5.1 Upfront License Fee. After execution of this Agreement and within thirty (3@ys after receipt of written notice of PARI’
election under Section 5.3(a), Transave shall g&igIRa) [***] either in cash, or the equivalent Qualified Stock, or a

combination of cash and Qualified Stock, at PARIption as provided in section 5.3(a) below, gh)she equivalent of [***] in Qualifie
Stock, as an upfront license fee.

5.2 Milestones. In further consideration of the rights and licegsanted by PARI under this Agreement, Transaveesgte mak
the following milestone payments to PARI, upon fingt achievement of the corresponding eventsah below by or under authority of Transe
within thirty (30) days after Transave's receiptwifitten notice of PARE election under Section 5.3(b) below. For avoigaaf doubt, eac
Milestone Payment is payable only once.
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MILESTONE EVENT

MILESTONE
PAYMENT

1. Receipt of any positive trial report from thiesfiPhase IIb Trial that are sufficient to suppbet advancement
of Drug Product development with the Device inte finst Phase Il Trial

[***] either in cash,
Qualified Stock or a
combination of cash and
Qualified Stock; plus

[***] in Qualified Stock

2. Initiation of the first Phase Il Trial of Drugroduct with the Device

[***] either in cash,
Qualified Stock or a
combination of cash and

Qualified Stock

3. First Acceptance of MAA (or equivalent) submissin the US for such Drug Product with the Device

[***] either in
cash, Qualified Stock or
combination of cash and
Qualified Stock

>

4. First receipt of Marketing Approvals in the WdtStates for both (i) such Drug Product and t{ig) Device

[***] either in cash,
Qualified Stock or a
combination of cash and

Qualified Stock

5. First receipt of Marketing Approvals in the ficf the Major EU Countries for both (i) such Dregoduct and
(ii) the Device, in the same Major EU Country

[***] either in cash,
Qualified Stock or a
combination of cash and

Qualified Stock

Total

[***]

5.3 Equity Issuances. Subject to the limitations set forth in Secti@n3(d) and 5.3(e) below, PARI may elect, as sahfbelow, tc
receive any or all of the payments set forth intides 5.1 and 5.2 above in the form of Qualifiedcgtin lieu of cash, as set forth below in

Section 5.3.

(@ Upfront License Fee. Within thirty (30) days of the execution of this rsgment and provided PARI t
received the information set forth in paragraphsii(pand (iv) below, PARI shall notify Transava ivriting whether or not it elects to rece
Qualified Stock in lieu of the upfront license fpayment of [***] set forth in Sectio®.1(a) above. If PARI fails to make its electioithin
such thirty (30) days and provided PARI has reakitree information set forth in paragraphs (b)@nd (iv) below, then Transave may, ir
sole discretion, make such payment in cash, Qedltock or a combination of cash and QualifiectiStom the manner set forth in Section 5.3

(c) below.
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(b) Milestone Payments. Promptly following the occurrence of each of thelddione Events specified in Sec
5.2 above, Transave shall provide to PARI (i) wnttnotification that such milestone event has aedlr(ii) to the extent not previou:
provided, a summary of the terms of the Qualifi¢ack that PARI may elect to receive in connectioeréwith; (iii) to the extent not previou
provided, copies of any voting agreement or co-agleement tavhich other holders of such Qualified Stock aretipar as well as any ott
document restricting the transferability of suclargls of Qualified Stock; and (iv) such financialodher informatiorreasonably requested
PARI. For the avoidance of doubt, all materialsl ather informatiorprovided to PARI pursuant to this Section 5.3 shalldeemed to |
Confidential Information subject to Article 11 dfi$ Agreement. PARI shall, within thirty (30) dagier Transave delivery of the foregoir
information, notify Transave in writing whether oot it elects to receive Qualified Stock in lieutbé cash milestone payment applicabl
such milestone event. If PARI fails to make élection within such thirty (30) days, then Trarsaway, in its sole discretion, make s
payment in cash or Qualified Stock, in the maneéfarth in Section 5.3(c) below.

(c) Calculation of Number of Shares of Qualified Stock. [***]

(d) Conditions to Issuance of Equity. In the event that Transave issues Qualified IStocPARI hereunder, tl
share certificate(s) evidencing such Qualified Btskall be endorsed with customary securities ldgeand the issuance of such Quali
Stock shall be subject to applicable federal ardessecurities laws and the restrictions and otbens of Transave’ bylaws and oth
organizational documents. In addition, PARI mustaaondition precedent to the receipt of such iedIStock: (i) if requested by Transa
agree to become bound by any voting agreemerdaknagreement or other transfer restrictions egiplé to the other holders of such Quali
Stock and (ii) make such additional representatenms warranties at the time of the issuance of €ughlified Stock as may be reasoni
requested by Transave to ensure compliance witlicapfe federal and state securities laws. Indhent Transave has completed an ir
public offering of its capital stock prior to theaurrence of a Milestone Event for which PARI woblel entitled to elect to receive Qualil
Stock in lieu of a cash milestone payment, or Tasasotherwise reasonably concludes that it is ensbbcomply with applicable federal ¢
state securities laws in connection with any palgicissuance of Qualified Stock to PARI pursuantiis Section 5.3, Transave shall havi
obligation to issue such Qualified Stock, but i€lsWQualified Stock is not issued, Transave shallPaRI the amount of [***] (for the upfroi
license fee set forth in Section 5.1), [**flor Milestone Event 1 set forth in Section 5.2%*[ (for Milestone Events 2 and 5 set forth
Section 5.2), [***] (for Milestone Event 3 set forin Section 5.2) or [***] (for Milestondevent 4 set forth in Section 5.2), as applicabfmr
the occurrence of the obligation to pay the upfi@ense fee or milestone payment specified iniSedb.1or in Subsections 1 through £
Section 5.2 above, as applicable, within thirty)(88ys of Transave reasonably concluding that itnigble to issue such Qualified Stock.
the avoidance of doubt, Transavelbligation to issue Qualified Stock under thistidm 5.3 shall not apply to an initial public aoffeg of
Transave'scapital stock, and shall only apply with respecthte Qualified Stock issued in the Most Recent @iedl Financing but not to al
warrants, promissory notes or other securities whiay be issued concurrently to the investors ah $dost Recent Qualified Financing.
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(e) Effect of Sale of Business Transaction In connection with any Sale of Business Transaavhich closes pric
to any particular issuance to PARI of Qualified &tothe successor in interest to Transave shak tiae option (but not the obligation) to ass
Transaves obligation to issue Qualified Stock pursuanthis tSection 5.3 by issuing capital stock of thecessor in interest at the applice
conversion ratio for the Qualified Stock in sucHeSaf Business Transaction, subject to PARI hayi)geceived documents and information \
respect to the capital stock of such successantérast substantially similar to the documents iaf@rmation set forth in Sections 5.3(b)(ii), 5.3(b
(i) and 5.3(b)(iv) above and (y) agreed in wrgimithin thirty (30) days of receipt of all suchalonents and information that it elects to rec
capital stock of the successor in interest as tbthod of payment. If such successor in interess dmt elect to assume such obligation or PAR
not elected to receive capital stock of such siugmres interest, then such successor in interedt shmediately pay PARI the amount of [***] (f
the upfront license fee set forth in Section 5] (for Milestone Event 1 set forth in Section?), [***] (for Milestone Events 2 and 5 set forih
Section 5.2), [***] (for Milestone Event 3 set forin Section 5.2) or [***] (for Milestone Event 4sforth in Section 5.2), as applicable, upor
occurrence of the obligation to pay the upfronttise fee or milestone payment specified in Seé&ibror in Subsections 1 through 5 of Sectior
above, as applicable, and PARI shall have no tgleapital stock or equity of Transave or such easor in interest thereafter.

Article 6 — Royalties

6.1 Royalties for Drug Products. In further consideration of the rights and lisergranted by PARI under this Agreement, dt
the Royalty Term, subject to the terms and conalitiof this Agreement, Transave agrees to pay PARValty equal to [***] of the Net Sales
Drug

Product sold by Transave, its Affiliates or Suhbtisees. Such royalties shall be paid in accordastbeSection 9.2 below.

6.2 Combination Products. In the event (i) a Drug Product is sold in combimratvith the Device or other components for a s
price, or (ii) a Drug Product is sold in combinatiaith services or other productsamounts invoiced for such combination sales foppses c
calculating Net Sales of the Drug Product in summlgination shall be reasonably allocated betweeh smounts attributable to the Drug Pro:
and amounts attributable to the Device, other camapts, services or other productsNon-Royalty Components”), by or under authority
Transave. Such allocation shall be based on théve value(s) of the Drug Product and of the NRwyalty Components, and if the Parties
unable to agree on such allocation, the allocatfil be determined in accordance with Article 14.

6.3 Annual Minimum Royalties . During the Royalty Term, Transave shall pay &RP an Annual Minimum Royalty in U
dollars in accordance with Section 9.3 below; piled, however, that, in the event Transave has pemtly discontinued to Exploit the Dr
Product for CF in accordance with Section 7.1(@@ntthe Annual Minimum Royalty shall no longer Ipplecable for the Drug Product for CF
the obligation to pay Annual Minimum Royalties foe Drug Product for Bronchiectasis shall remaieffiact.
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@ Determining the Annual Minimum Royalty.

(i)  The “Annual Minimum Royalty " shall be determined by the following table.

Year of Sales Annual Minimum Royalty

[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]

(b) Failure to pay Annual Minimum Royalty. In the event Transave does not pay the Minimum Rpyaymen
due under Section 6.3(a) above when due, PARI bhak the right to (i) render n@xclusive the license set forth in Section 4.1.aruypritter
notice to Transave and failure to cure within si¢@®) days, and the naempete obligations set forth in Section 4.2(a)lshanediately ceas
and (ii) terminate immediately the license settant section 4.1.1 for CF or Bronchiectasis, adiagble, if the Minimum Royalty Payment (p
all interest due pursuant to Section 9.5) plusraoumt equal to [***] of the then applicable MinimuRwoyalty Payment has not been paid wi
six (6) months of the initial due date of the Minim Royalty Payment; provided, however, that ifsaith payments have been made by Trar
to PARI within such six (6) months period, then litense shall become exclusive again and the wompete obligations set forth in Section 4.2
(a) shall be reinstated immediately, as of the dafayment. The royalty rates set forth in thiside 6 shall remain unchanged due to the lic
of Section 4.1.1 becoming non-exclusive.

6.4 Infringement or Misappropriation of Third Party Rig hts . In the event of an actual or threatened infiinget actiol
pertaining to the Device, which causes, or couliboaably be expected to cause, Transausé of the Device to be disrupted, PARI shalits
option and on a country by country basis, (i) pdeviransave with access to components or entirelinels which are functionally equivalen
the infringing elements of the Device while stileeting the Specifications, without additional ctea(tjOption 1 ); (ii) modify the infringing
portions of the Device to avoid the infringementiletstill meeting the Specifications Option 2 ”); or (iii) obtain a license for Transave
continue use of the Device for the Term of this égnent, and pay for any additional fee requirecaficense with the Third Party Controll
the Intellectual Property which is infringed or agpropriated by the Device @ption 3 ”). In the event PARI reasonably believes it tc
Necessary (defined below) to proceed with obtair@ngense for Transave as described above in ®@jdhen PARI shall contribute up t
maximum amount of [***] in the aggregatf all Royalties paid by Transave to PARI pursuinthis Agreement towards the cost of ¢
license. If at any time the anticipated costsHARI to comply with Option 3 exceeds [***] ithe aggregate of all Royalties paid by Transa
PARI pursuant to this Agreement, then PARI shalhstify Transave and Transave shall pay such amdditiamounts in order for PARI to sec
such Necessary license. “Necessahall mean a determination by PARI after good faibnsultation with Transave that a license woul
prudent given the potential to resolve any claimpaiential claims of Intellectual Property infreigent or misappropriation.
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Article 7 — Development, Regulatory and Commerciafiation Roles and Responsibilities
7.1 Transave Development and Commercialization Diligerefor CF .

(@ Transave agrees to use CommerciadligisBnable Efforts to pursue the clinical develognuénand to obtai
Marketing Approval for CF for the Drug Product intked for use with the Device in one (1) or morentoas (and at least in the United Stat
and after obtaining such Marketing Approval, to Gsenmercially Reasonable Efforts to market andtkellDrug Product with the Device in
countries in which it has been approved, except Tmansave may, in its sole discretion, permanedibcontinue: development, seek
regulatory approval, or commercialization basedsarfiety issues, negative and/or unfavorable cliti@ results, lack of commercial viabilir
strength of competitors prohibiting an effectiverkading of the Drug Product in the marketplace,warak financial forecasts; provids
however, that in such event Transave shall immelgiatotify PARI in writing of such decision and $nch case CF shall no longer be inclt
in the Transave Field and PARIbbligations under Section 4.2(a) shall no loragmly as to CF. Until such first Marketing Apprévarovidec
that the license of Section 4.1.1 remains exclusareunder, Transave shall provide PARI, at leasti-annually through the JSC, with deta
reports of the progress of its development of DFPugducts for use with the Device and plans fodé&gelopment and commercialization the
in the upcoming year. The JSC shall discuss sepbrts and plans and Transave shall duly considecamments thereon provided by P£
provided that the Parties agree that Transave s#talh sole control of its development effortseerder and its plans therefor. For clarity,
understood that the obligation to use CommerciRlBasonable Efforts as set forth in this Sectionshall apply to any Affiliates andi
permitted Sublicensees who are responsible forldprent of Drug Products for use with the Deviced &ransave shall share reports
plans from such Affiliates and/or permitted Suhtisees with PARI at least annually through the Js@é same manner as for reports
plans of its own development. This Section 7.1lishiso apply to any permitted successors and mssigf Transave under tl
Agreement. Transave’s breach of this Section Y dl{all be deemed a material breach of this Agre¢me

(b) The Parties agree that Transave wgdl Commercially Reasonable Efforts to meet tHevdhg milestones wit
respect to CF:
Milestone Milestone
Activity Deadline

1. Diligence Milestone 1first Phase Il Trial for CF begir

[***]

2. Diligence Milestone 2first submission of an MAA application for CF ingtffransave Territor

[***]

To the extent Transave does not meet a mileststexlliabove within the stated time period or thesltisted below, oth
than any failure resulting directly from a breadhtlis Agreement by PARI, then, subject to the jBmns of Section 7.3, PARI shall have
option, in its sole discretion, to take the appieaaction set forth below. Such option must bereised by written notice to Transave
"Diligence Termination Notice"), and shall becomieetive on the thirtieth (30" ) day following the date of the Diligence Termima

Notice. PARI shall have the option-

(i)  with respect to Diligence Milestone 1 akpterminate its obligation not to compete withrngave in CF as set fo
in Section 4.2 of this Agreement only. In the d@vBransave has still not achieved Diligence Milestd by [***], then the license granted by P/
to Transave under this Agreement shall be rendeoedxclusive with regard to CF only. In the eventngave still has not achieved Dilige
Milestone 1 by [***], then PARI shall have ttaption to terminate the licenses granted by PARIremsave under this Agreement with regard t

only by providing written notice to Transave theteo
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(i) with respect to Diligence Milestone 2 aegterminate its obligation not to compete witlafsave in CF as set fo
in Section 4.2 of this Agreement only. In the @v&€ransave has still not achieved Diligence Milest® by [***], then the licenses granted
PARI to Transave hereunder shall be rendered exatusive with regard to CF only. In the event nBave still has not achieved Dilige
Milestone 2 by [***], then PARI shall have the opiti toterminate the license granted by PARI to Transandeuthis Agreement with regard to
only by providing written notice to Transave thdreo

7.2 Transave Development and Commercialization Diligerefor Bronchiectasis.

(@ The Parties agree that Transaveusdl Commercially Reasonable Efforts to meet tHeviahg milestone with respect
to Bronchiectasis:

Milestone Milestone
Activity Deadline
1. Diligence Milestone 1:Last patient to complete the Phase |l Tfor Bronchiectasi: [***]
2. Other Diligence Milestones:see belov

Within one hundred eighty (180) days following fiveal results of the Phase Il Trial for Bronchiegsita the Parties, acti
in good faith, will negotiate additional milestoriasit meet reasonable industry standards. If witiadal milestones are agreed to within <
time period, and the lack of milestones is not ralljuagreed by both parties, then at PARdption, PARI may by providing prompt writ!
notice to Transave, (i) make the license grantetramsave under this Agreement non-exclusive anRIRAon-compete obligations set fo
in Section 4.2 shall terminate or (ii) terminate thcense granted to Transave under this Agreeniergach case solely with respec
Bronchiectasis.

If Transave fails to meet a milestone within thelagable time period, other than any failure resgltfrom a breach of th
Agreement by PARI, then, subject to the provisiohsSection 7.3, PARI shall have the option to rentiensave's license hereunder non-
exclusive solely with respect to Bronchiectasis &mderminate its obligation not to compete wittafisave in Bronchiectasis as set fort
Section 4.2 of this Agreement. Such option musekercised by sending the Diligence Terminationi¢éoto Transave, and shall becc
effective on the thirtieth (39) day following the date of the Diligence TermimatiNotice. If such milestone is still not met viithwelve (12
months of the applicable time period, other thapfailure resulting from a breach of this AgreementPARI, then, subject to the provision:
Section 7.3, PARI shall have the option to termerthe license granted to Transave under this Ageeemith respect to Bronchiectasis only
providing written notice thereof to Transave.

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, subjecthe provisions of Section 7.2(a), nothing in thigreement shall impart a

obligation on Transave to pursue the indicatioBifnchiectasis, and Transaseictivity or lack of activity with respect to Brdmiectasis she
not affect in any way Transave’s rights in and todC any Secondary Indication.
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7.3 Updated Milestones. In the event Transave is unable to achieve tHestoines set forth in Sections 7.1(b) and/or 7,24s
applicable, because of a breach of PARI of thisekgrent, or in the case the Phase Il or the Phaskidl has to be repeated or there
documented clinical holds or delays caused by r&guef the Regulatory Authorities preventing Trams&rom proceeding, then the due date:
forth above for such Milestones shall be reasonabjysted to account for such factors pursuantutuat agreement of the Parties.

7.4 Manufacture of Drug Product and Device. As between the Parties, (i) Transave shall tlageexclusive right to manufacti
(or have manufactured) Drug Product for any anghadposes (including without limitation, for usetlwthe Device, for clinical and for commert
use); and (ii) PARI shall have the exclusive rightanufacture Devices for use with the Drug Pradiac clinical and for commercial use, exc
as otherwise may be provided in the Commercial Susgreement.

7.5 Supply of Devices for Clinical Trials. PARI shall supply Transave or its designee wittDaVices, and Device Accessories
the extent applicable, required for the conductlafical trials. Devices shall meet the Specificas. The manufacturing and supply of <
Devices by PARI shall comply with Article 8 below.

(@) Price . The price charged by PARI for such Devices andedlparts shall be equal to the prices set fortExdmibit
7.5(a) for clinical supply of the Devices.

(b) Initial Forecast . An initial forecast of the Devices, includingligery dates, anticipated to be required by Tran
for clinical trials is set forth in Exhibit 7.5(b)Such forecast shall not be binding on eitheryPamless and until such quantities and date
confirmed in written purchase orders issued by 3a&e and accepted by PARI or set forth in a Wodn RIxecuted by the Parties. Tran:
agrees to provide PARI a lead time of at least(@)ononths.

(c) Accessories. The provisions of this Section 7.5 apply equallp®vice Accessories.
7.6 Regulatory Matters.
@) General. As between the Parties, (i) Transave shall bpaesible for, and shall control all filings andeiraction

with Regulatory Authorities with respect to the Briaroducts, and Transave shall control all clinaa regulatory strategy for the Drug Prodt
and (ii) PARI shall be responsible for, and shaihtcol all filings and interactions with Regulatofyuthorities with respect to the Device,
PARI shall control all clinical and regulatory strgy for the Device. Any MAAs, Marketing Approval®Ds, or other regulatory submissic
filings, approvals and documentation (collectivéRegulatory Filings”) shall be submitted solely in the name of, and estekly owned by, (>
Transave or its designee with respect to the Droguet and (y) PARI or its designee with respedhtDevice. Each Party agrees to coop
with, and provide reasonable assistance to the 8ty, in the preparation of such Regulatorynigii, at the other Party’s expense.

(b) Approvals for Device for Clinical Trials. PARI represents, warrants and covenants that, negipect to the Pres
Device, it has been granted a 510(k) marketingrateze in the US and a CE mark in the European Unidtached hereto as Exhibit 7.6(B)e
list of all countries in which PARI has obtainedi®iseeking Marketing Approval for the Present Bevand PARI shall keep Transave infori
of any change in status. Transave shall give regde weight to this list when choosing countriesvhich to conduct future clinical trials.
Transave chooses tmnduct a clinical trial in a country in which tearrent status of approval is not adequate to alloansave to conduc
clinical trial, then PARI hereby agrees to reasdynaboperate with Transave, at TransaveXpense, in order to obtain the applicable regry
approvals in such country to allow Transave totheeDevice for clinical trials in such country.
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(c) Regulatory Inspections and Requests. Transave and PARI shall cooperate in good fuaiith respect to tt
conduct of any inspections required by any Regunfafeuthority of a Party’s site and facilities reddt to Transave’ clinical trials regardir
Devices. Each Party shall promptly provide to tiker Party a summary of any inspectional obsemati inspection reports issued b
Regulatory Authority, or responses to a Regulathughority’s inspectional observations or report related tthstlinical trial. PARI agrees
promptly and timely respond to all requests frongiatory Authorities and to promptly notify Tranga@bout such requests.

7.7 Adverse Event Reporting. Unexpected serious adverse events that are madekinceither party and that are considered
related to the Drug Product or the Device, shaltdgorted to the other Party on an expedited basi$,at least within fortgight (48) hours frol
the natification of an institutional review boardRB), Regulatory Authority or participating invegditors and in any case not longer than five
business days after the event was made known. nempected adverse experience is defined as anysaddeug experience, the specificity
severity of which is not consistent with the cutrémvestigator Brochure for a clinical trial, of, an Investigator Brochure is not requirec
available, the specificity or severity of whichnist consistent with the risk information descritiedhe general investigational plan or elsewhe
the current application, as amended. Unexpectedysad in this definition, refers to an adversegdexperience that has not been previc
observed (e.g., included in the Investigator Breehuwather than from the perspective of such erpeg not being anticipated from
pharmacological properties of the pharmaceuticadlpet. In the case of a clinical trial, an unexpdcserious adverse event would, for exampl
as assessed by the investigator and or the sponsarthorized person without breaking the blind amdild qualify for expedited reporting. .
unexpected serious adverse event shall be reploytddansave to the appropriate institutional revieyard, Regulatory Authority, investigator i
PARI.

7.8 Recalls.

(a) Each Party shall promptly notify the atRarty in writing if any Regulatory Authority other governmental ager
having jurisdiction requests or orders it to cortdacRecall of any Device, or if PARI determinesundertake a Recall of any Dev
voluntarily. Prior to the beginning of any suchcBl, the Parties agree to discuss the Recall psacBromptly after being notified of si
Recall, but in no event later than may be requicedermit PARI to meet applicable Regulatory Reguients, Transave shall provide P,
with reasonable assistance in connection with Redall as requested by PARI.

(b) If PARI is required or determines to effemy such Recall, then PARI shall solely managehsiecall and
responsible for (i) the cost of notifying end us€ii$ costs associated with the collection andbsteént from end users of the Devices subje
such recall; and (iii) costs of replacing such Resiincluding the cost of shipping the replacenbmices to the affected end users.

(c) Transave shall promptly notify PARI initimg if any Regulatory Authority or other governmal agency havir
jurisdiction requests or orders it to conduct a &eof the Drug Product, or if it determines to en@ke a Recall of the Drug Prod
voluntarily. Prior to the beginning of any suchcBi the Parties agree to discuss the Recall peoc&ransave shall solalyanage such Rec
and be responsible for (i) the cost of notifyinglarsers; (ii) costs associated with the collectiod shipment from end users of the [
product subject to such Recall; and (iii) costsegflacing the Drug Product, including the costlipping the replacement Drug Product to
affected end users.
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Article 8 — Supply of Devices by PARI for ClinicalUse

8.1 Delivery . PARI agrees to deliver those quantities of Desviand Device Accessories thereof ordered by Tvenfea clinica
trials, FCA (Incoterms 2000) PARI’s facilities ine@nany, by the delivery dates set forth in a purchase omlerccordance with reasona
shipping instructions provided by Transave. Thechase order shall specify the quantity of Devizdé¢ supplied, the supply schedule anc
study sites, distributors or other site(s) to whitghivery shall be made. PARI shall arrange fapgimg and insurance, to be paid by Trans
and carry out all customs formalities necessarexport the shipment. The Devices shall be shippédiransaves expense, packaged
containers in accordance with the Specificationasootherwise agreed by the Parties in writing,ramsave or its local country designee, or s
site(s) as specified by Transave at the time oéng the Devices, provided, however, that it wik be required to deliver Devices to more
one (1) centralized location in any given couniyoept for the United States), unless otherwiseeyby PARI. PARI shall cooperate v
Transave, and provide Transave with all necessacyrdentation and assistance (to the extent PARIeRperience as to the importatior
Devices into such country), at Transave’s expengh,respect to importation of the Devices into aoyntry of the Transave Territory.

8.2 Payment. PARI shall submit an invoice to Transave upoiprsient of Devices ordered hereunder, reflectingpttiee therefc
as set forth in Exhibit 7.5(a). All invoices shsilte the aggregate and unit price for such Devita given shipment, plus any insurance, tax
other costs incident to the purchase or shipmetiglig paid by PARI but to be borne by Transaveeumder. Other than amounts dispute
good faith, Transave shall pay PARI such invoicembants that are due hereunder within (30) days ttwrdate of shipment.

8.3 Acceptance.

(a) At the same time it delivers DevicesTransave under Section 8.1, PARI shall deliveiftansave the followir
documentation: (a) the order number of the deldddevices and Device Accessories; (b) with respethe United States only, a Certificate
Conformance, and with respect to the European Uaidy, a Quality Certificate; and (c) any documéintathat PARI customarily includes
shipments of such Device and/or Device Accessofleansave may, but shall not be obligated to,ens@nd test Devices delivered by P,
hereunder. If on such inspection Transave dissotet any Device shipped hereunder fails to comfaith the Specifications or otherwise fi
to conform to the requirements of this Agreememgngave may provide written notice to PARI speaifyin reasonable detail the manne
which such Device fails to meet the foregoing regmients, and shall promptly send to PARI a reptesiee sample of the nonconform
Device. Transave or its designee shall retainrdjected Devices pending PARlanalysis thereof and the resolution of any desamer
regarding the nonconformance of such Devices.

(b) At its sole cost and expense, PARI shatllace Devices appropriately rejected in accordamitie this Section 8.3 t
Transave or its designees.
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(c) Subiject to this Section 8.3 above and 8.4, Desbedl be deemed accepted if no notice to the cgnisaeceived by PAF
within thirty (30) days of receipt of such Devidag Transave. It is understood that the warrargiesn by PARI in Section 8.5 shall survive .
failure to reject under this Section 8.3.

8.4 Latent Defects. As soon as either Party becomes aware of anytefédevices delivered by PARI that are not disable
upon a reasonable inspection or incoming qualisu@sice testing as set forth in the Specificati@nshall immediately notify the other Party
writing, and the applicable provisions of SectioB 8hall apply. Notwithstanding the foregoingthe event that Transave fails to reject a De
within thirty (30) days after it actually becomesame of any latent defect therein (including, withdimitation, by way of written notice fro
PARI), Transave shall be deemed to have acceptdtBevice and Section 8.5 shall not apply to sud&ct with respect to that latent defect o

8.5 Replacement. If any Device fails to work in the patieatpossession, Transave shall provide a replacediemtly to patien
and PARI shall provide a replacement to Transavhimvthirty (30) days of notice by Transave, anidreplacements covered by PARI's warr:
shall be provided at PARI's sole cost and expenlgst to PARIS right to dispute such replacement as set fontbdfier. In the event that PARI
good faith does not agree with Transave that anyides returned by Transave are in fact nonconfagitinen within ten (10) business days ¢
receipt of such Devices, PARI shall notify Transavevriting of such disagreement. The Parties sttateafter attempt in good faith to settle ¢
disagreement by negotiation and consultation betvieemselves. If the Parties are unable to resaeb disagreement within thirty (30) day:
Transave’s receipt of PARI’s notification theretifen either Party may within thirty (30) days thedter (the“Final Dispute Resolution Period” )
submit the question of nonconformance to an indépetthird party consultant reasonably acceptabloth Parties. The resolution of the ques
of nonconformance by such consultant shall be farad binding on both Parties. If such consultagtednines that the disputed Devices
nonconforming, PARI shall be responsible for abtscassociated with the consultargervices and Transave shall have no paymentaiolig witt
respect to such Devices. If such consultant detexsrthat the disputed Devices conform with theliagble requirements therefor, Transave
be responsible for all costs associated with thesglbant’s services and for payment for such Device

8.6 Warranties . PARI represents and warrants that the Devicepl@d for clinical trials hereunder (a) shall cdgnwvith the
Specifications as of the time of first use; (b)lshave no material defects in workmanship uporivéey; and (c) shall, upon shipment to Trans
be free and clear of all security interests, liand other encumbrances of any kind or charactersé@tarranties, and PARI's obligations hereur
will survive inspection, test, acceptance and dsbeDevice.

8.7 Conflicting Terms and Conditions. The supply of Devices by PARI to Transave fanichl trial purposes shall be solely
accordance with the terms and conditions of thisreAgient. ANY TERMS OR CONDITIONS OF ANY PURCHASE DRR OF
ACKNOWLEDGMENT OR INVOICE GIVEN OR RECEIVED, WHICHARE ADDITIONAL TO OR INCONSISTENT WITH THI!
AGREEMENT SHALL HAVE NO EFFECT, AND SUCH TERMS ANEZONDITIONS ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED AND REJECTED E
EACH PARTY.

8.8 Restrictions of Use.

(@) Transave will use the Device in compiie with all Applicable Laws and Standards vafidtie country Transa
intends to conduct clinical trials utilizing the @ee, including, for example, those relating to reseamstolving the use of humans or anin
and will not engage in any such clinical trialsheitit first obtaining necessary approval from itevant ethics committee(s) such as, bui
limited to, the Institutional Review Board. The\ee shall not be used by Transave directly orregxtly for: (i) any purpose other than
clinical trials, or (ii) any profit-making or comm@al purpose.
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(b) Transave shall retain control of thevize and shall not distribute or release the Deticany person or entity otl
than Transave’s or the clinical trial site’s empmeyg, consultants or contractorél(ansave Representatives”) and individuals who will b
participating in the clinical trials who have a dde access the Device in connection with use efhvice for the clinical trials and who hi
been advised of Transagebbligations with respect to such Device. Tramsshall not allow Transave Representatives to takeend th
Device to any other location other than that spetibelow, unless Transave first obtains PARAritten permission. Transave shall be li
for the use of the Device by Transaction Represieetain violation of this Section 8.8(b).

(c) The Device is to be used in accordamith the terms and conditions of this agreemeiyt by Transaves clinical tria
sites as listed in the applicable Work Order bynSeve and by Transave Representatives or patiarisipating in the clinical trials unc
Transave’s control.

(d) Transave shall conduct the cliniagl$ pursuant to a written protocol (tf8tudy Protocol” ). Transave she
provide a synopsis of the Study Protocol to PAREast thirty (30) days prior to the start of thimical trial. Following the completion of tl
clinical trials studies, Transave shall make Conuiadly Reasonable efforts to retrieve the DevideSransaves expense and the Devices <
be stored for a limited time as determined by Tasesat the clinical trial site and/or Transave’sitcactors’ site. Upon Transagehotice ti
PARI that the Devices have been retrieved, PARI magnge for return of the Devices directly witte tbontractors and/or clinical tr
site. PARI shall be solely responsible for theumetand/or shipments of the Devices provided thain$ave shall pay the reasonable d
shipping costs incurred by PARI in connection thétie.

(e) Transave shall not subject to analgsihave subjected to analysis Devices and/or oaes constituting Devic
received from PARI for the purpose of reverse eagiimg or in a manner that would reveal materiahposition or internal design or operat
of such sample and/or component or its method ofufeeture. Device shall at all times remain thie smd exclusive property of PARI.

8.9 Commercial Supply. PARI agrees to deliver, either directly to custosnor through a distributor, or to Transave, @nfaves

option, on a country by country basis, those gtiastdf Devices and Device Accessories for commaérge in accordance with the terms set
in Exhibit 8.9. The Parties shall negotiate irogdaith and enter into, in a timely manner, a Caroial Supply Agreement incorporating th
terms.

Article 9 — Payment Procedures

9.1 Invoicing . PARI shall submit invoices to Transave for the BcbjFees owed by Transave for activities under akvirbar

performed by PARI as set forth in the applicablerkM@lan. Transave shall pay the undisputed inebammounts that are due under this Agree
within thirty (30) calendar days of the date ofpshént.
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9.2 Royalties. Beginning with the First Commercial Sale of ai@iProduct and thereafter during the Royalty Téfransave she
provide PARI with quarterly written royalty reporpplicable to royalty payments due to PARI unéhés Agreement, within sixty (60) days a
the last day of each calendar quarter. Each repatt include a summary of the Net Sales, on atrgtby-country basis, of the Drug Product t
are subject to royalties hereunder during suchndalequarter and a calculation of the royalties thezeon. Simultaneously with the deliven
each such report, Transave shall pay to PARI tta toyalties, if any, due to PARI under Articldd the period of such report.

9.3 Annual Minimum Royalty . For the first four (4) calendar quarter peridtéar of Sales”) beginning 180 days after the Fir
Commercial Sale of a Drug Product for use with Blewice by Transave, its Affiliates and/or Sublicees, and for each successive Year of !
thereafter during the Royalty Term, at the timeteflast payment of royalties for the last calengaarter in such Year of Sales under Sectiol
above, Transave shall pay PARI the differencenif, doetween the royalties actually paid in suchrYaaSales and the Annual Minimum Roy:
(the “Minimum Royalty Payment ”). [***]

9.4 Method of Payment to PARI. All payments due to PARI under this Agreemertlishe made by wire transfer to the b
account designated by PARI. Payments shall be madgS dollars for: Royalties on Net Sales witlite US and on Annual Minimu
Royalties. Payments shall be made in Euros fayaRies on Net Sales outside of the US, Milestaes$ Project Fees. If any currency conver
shall be required in connection with the paymernbghlties under Article 6, such conversion shalhitade by using the averaged buying and s
exchange rate for such conversion, quoted for nutransactions reported in The Wall Street Jourrai the last business day of the cale
guarter immediately prior to such payment.

9.5 Late Payment. [***]

9.6 Transave Books and Records.Transave shall keep full, true and accurate baoksrecords in accordance with GAAP, wi
account for the Net Sales of the Drug Product & with the Device and the royalties due theredRARI. PARI, at its own expense, shall h
the right during normal business hours on thirty) (@alendar days' prior written notice to Transamd not more than twice in any calendar ye
have a nationally recognized independent publioaating firm selected by PARI (and reasonably atatddp to Transave) examine such books
records for the purpose of verifying the royaltympents due to PARI under this Agreement. Such @ttty firm shall executand deliver t
Transave a standard confidentiality agreement dmadl sot disclose to PARI any information relatitm Transave's business, except whe
Transave's royalty payments are correct or incgri@ud if incorrect, the specific details concegnany discrepancies and the amounts o
royalties due hereunder pursuant to Section 6thisfAgreement. If such examination reveals a djzancy, Transave shall promptly pay to P
any additional royalty owed to PARI. In additiahthe discrepancy is greater than [***] in PARIfavor, Transave shall also promptlgimburs:
PARI for the fees and costs of the independentipalsicounting firm.
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9.7 PARI Books and Records. PARI shall keep full, true and accurate books asxbrds in accordance with GAAP, wh
account for the activities under a Work Plan penfed by PARI and the Project Fees due to PARI therdaansave, at its own expense, shall
the right during normal business hours on thiry) (alendar days' prior written notice to PARI axad more than twice in any calendar year to
a nationally recognized independent public accagnfirm selected by Transave (and reasonably aabkpto PARI) examine such books
records of PARI for the purpose of verifying theject Fees invoiced to Transave over the precetivetve (12) month period. Such accoun
firm shall execute and deliver to PARI a standasdfidentiality agreement and shall not disclos@tansave any information relating to PAI
business, except whether PARI's invoices are cooreincorrect, and if incorrect, the specific distaoncerning any discrepancies and the amu
of the Project Fees due hereunder. If such exammeeveals a discrepancy, PARI shall promptly fayransave any additional amount owe
Transave. In addition, if the discrepancy is geedlhan [***] in Transaves favor, PARI shall also promptly reimburse Tramséor the fees ar
costs of the independent public accounting firm.

Article 10 — Prosecution, Marking, Enforcement andDefense

10.1 Patent Prosecution During the term of this Agreement, PARI shall praippotify Transave in writing of the filing or igginct
of any patent applications or patents within theRPAntellectual Property licensed to Transave pansuo this Agreement that include suk
matter related to the Project, or the Device.

10.2 Patent Marking . Each Party agrees to mark all Products in aecmre with the applicable statutes or regulatiorthéncountr
or countries of manufacture and sale thereof. dtmwh purposes, each Party shall provide the othdy Rvith written notice of all of its pate
numbers applicable to the Products.

10.3 Patent Enforcement.

(a) Enforcement . Subject to the provisions of Section 3.6 and Béction 10.3, in the event that Transave or |
reasonably believes that any Patent Rights withénRARI Intellectual Property are being infringedchisappropriated in the Transave Field |
third party, such Party shall promptly notify thiaer Party. Transave shall have the initial rightt not the obligation) to bring and/or controy
enforcement action directed to the Drug Product] BARI shall have the initial right (but not thelightion) to bring and/or control a
enforcement action directed to the Device, inclgdipecific design elements of the hardware appamtthe software of the Device.

(b) Backup Right to Enforce. In the event PARI does not initiate such an mx@ment action within one hundred .
eighty (180) days after a request by Transaveitiat@ an enforcement action against an allegethigément, or notifies Transave at any time
it does not desire to enforce or defend such P&gtits with respect to such alleged infringemémgnTransave shall have the right (but not
obligation) to enforce or defend against such elfegfringement, provided that any settlement afhsinfringement shall be subject to
approval of both Parties.
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(c) Cooperation. The Party controlling the enforcement action Iskeép the other Party reasonably informed o
progress thereof, and the other Party shall hageight to participate with counsel of its own at®iat its own expense, and shall reasor
cooperate with the Party initiating the enforcemation (including joining as a party plaintiff the extent necessary and requested by the
Party) at the expense of the Party requesting socperation.

(d) Allocation of Recoveries. Unless otherwise agreed, all amounts recoveredn enforcement action, ai
reimbursing each Party for its costs and expemsrsried therein, shall be shared between the Bdnyi¢he proportion and up to the extent of
damages established in such enforcement actiolnding but not limited to lost profits or royaltie§he balance, if any, shall be retained by
Party that initiated the enforcement action.

10.4 Defense of Third Party Infringement Claims. If the development, manufacture, sale, offerdale, importation, exportati
or use of the Drug Product or the Device resulta olaim alleging patent infringement against eifharty (or its respective Affiliates or permit
Sublicensees), such Party shall promptly notifydtieer Party hereto in writing. Subject to Sedi@5, 13.1 and 13.2, (i) Transave shall hav
exclusive right to defend and control the deferfsany infringement claim pertaining to primarilyettibrug Product, and (ii) PARI shall have
exclusive right to defend and control the defenfany infringement claim pertaining to primarilyettDevices and/or any component of
foregoing, each Party using counsel of its own obd@s applicable; provided, however, that the ofteaty shall be kept informed of all mate
developments in connection with any such claim.

Article 11 — Confidentiality

11.1 Non-use and Non-disclosure Obligations Each of PARI and Transave shall use any Confialeimformation received by
from the other Party solely in connection with pemiance of their respective obligations, rights atiier permitted activities under, and o
purposes of, this Agreement and shall not disctst Confidential Information to any Third Partyitheut the prior written consent of the ot
Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anythtngthe contrary in this Agreement, Transave shatl share with or provide to any PA
Competitor any of the PARI Confidential Informatiomhese obligations shall survive the terminatdrihis Agreement for a period of ten (
years. For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidéntiformation” means the confidential or proprietary scientifegulatory, clinical, technical
business information, materials and technologies Bérty disclosed or learned under this Agreeniecitjding the Work Plans and any informa
exchanged prior to the Effective Date, whether irtten, oral, electronic, photographic, magnetic ather form. For clarity, the Data ¢
Intellectual Property owned by a Party pursuanthis Agreement shall be deemed the Confidentiabrmétion of such Party. Confiden
Information shall exclude any information that:

11.1.1 is known by the receiving Party without restrictiah the time of receipt and not through a priorcidisure by th
disclosing Party

11.1.2 is at the time of disclosure or thereafter becomédished or otherwise part of the public domairotiygh no breach
this Agreement by the receiving Pat

11.1.3 is subsequently disclosed to the receiving Partyaut restriction by a third party having the right make such
disclosure; o

11.1.4 is developed by the receiving Party independenttiZanfidential Information received by it from thisclosing Part
hereunder
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11.2 Required Disclosure. In order to provide the disclosing Party an ajyoaty to seek a protective order or the like wigispec
to certain Confidential Information, the receiviRgrty may disclose Confidential Information to theent that it is required by law or order of
governmental authority or agency, including theuBigies and Exchange Commission, to be disclosed Barty; provided that the receiving Pe
using good faith efforts, shall apply for confidahttreatment of such Confidential Information, kharovide the other Party a copy of
confidential treatment request far enough in adgaifqossible, of its filing to give the other Baa meaningful opportunity to comment there
and shall incorporate in such confidential treattrequest any reasonable comments of the othey,Rartach case to the fullest extent perm
under applicable laws, rules or regulations.

11.3 Permitted Disclosure . Notwithstanding Section 11.1, Confidential Infation provided under this Agreement may
disclosed to employees, agents, consultants, glisup of the receiving Party or professional adrds(or permitted Sublicensees, in the ca:
Transave), but only to the extent permitted or meglito accomplish the purposes of, or to perfotsnobligations, rights and other permit
activities under, this Agreement; provided thattrsemployees, agents, consultants, professionasadyipermitted Sublicensees or suppliers
also agree to appropriate and comparable confaléptand nondse provisions. Notwithstanding the foregoing angithing to the contrary in tt
Agreement, Transave shall not share with or protédany PARI Competitor any of the PARI ConfidehtiZformation. The receiving Party st
be responsible for any breaches of this Agreemgiitstemployees, agents, consultants, or supplieraddition, a Party may disclose Confider
Information provided under this Agreement by thheotParty to any governmental authority in ordeptosecute or maintain any Intellect
Property or any Regulatory Authority to obtain ap to market a Product, but such disclosure neagnbde only to the extent necessary to pi
such prosecution or maintenance or to obtain spphoaal, all to the extent permitted or requiredtoomplish the purposes of this Agreement.

11.4 Return . Upon the termination of this Agreement, all Gdeftial Information of the disclosing Party in treceiving Partys
possession will be returned to the disclosing Péstydestroyed by the receiving Party, with writieonfirmation of such destruction), and
receiving Party will make no further use thereNbtwithstanding the foregoing, the receiving Pamtay retain one copy of the Confiden
Information of the disclosing Party solely for aral purposes to ensure compliance with the prowsiof this Article 11 or with the requireme
of Regulatory Authorities.

11.5 Publicity

(a) Press Releases Neither Party shall use the other Partgame in any press release, publicity, advertisimgothe
official form of public disclosure without such ethPartys prior written consent, which consent shall noubesasonably withheld, delayec
conditioned. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Traresahall have the right to issue a press releageate other public disclosures announ
milestones or other significant progress pertainmgs development and/or commercialization of @Rroducts and the Device, provided th
issued without the prior written consent of PARIcls press releases shall not disclose any Confaddnformation of PARI hereunder and sl
at all times be consistent with the last two secdsrof this Section 11.5(a). In addition, once anlgject matter has been publicly disclose
accordance with this Section 11.5, no further cohsffom either Party will be needed for further dfiisures of such subij
matter. Notwithstanding the above, in all predeases, public statements, publicity, advertisingtier public disclosure pertaining to
development of the Drug Product and the Devicendawe shall always give appropriate attributioP£RI's role(s) in the Project contempla
herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all presleases and similar disclosures issued by Trars@lealways contain the language set fort
Exhibit 11.5 attached hereto, as such Exhibit neginended from time to time by PARI.
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(b) Terms of this Agreement. Neither Party shall disclose the terms of thgge®ement to any third party, without
prior written consent of the other Party, which sam shall not be unreasonably withheld, excepiegaired by any law or regulation or
connection with any financing transaction, or bditge (good faith) due diligence inquiry, subject $ach parties agreeing to compar.
confidentiality and non-use provisions as set farththis Article 11 and Transave being responsilole any breaches by such third party
(ies). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the disclaesaf any terms of this Agreement to a PARI Comtpeshall require the prior written consen
PARI, to be granted in its sole discretion.

(c) Publications. Transave shall consultwith PARI prior to submission of any manuscript farblication or makin
any public presentation, including speeches andecence posters, pertaining to the activities catetll under a Work Plan. Such consulte
shall include providing a copy of the proposed nsa&nipt or presentation reasonably in advance ofptteposed date of submission of s
manuscript to a publisher or the proposed date reSgmtation, giving due consideration to PARtomments as to such publicatior
presentation, and as requested by PARI removing Gonfidential Information of PARI therefrom. NotWstanding the above, in all pr
releases, public statements, publicity, advertigsingther public disclosure pertaining to the depetent of the Drug Product and/or the Dey
Transave shall always give appropriate attributerPARI’s role(s) in the Project contemplated herein. PARAIl not publish or make a
presentations regarding any Drug Product, Transaedlectual Property, Transave Confidential Infation or the activities conducted undi
Work Plan except with the prior written consentTofinsave. Transave shall not publish or make aegemtations that incorporate P/
Intellectual Property, Project Intellectual ProgeRARI Confidential Information or the activitie®nducted under a Work Plan except with
prior written consent of PARI.

(d) Required Disclosures. Notwithstanding Section 11.5(a) through (c) ahosither Party may make such disclos
relating to this Agreement, the terms and conditibareof or the activities hereunder, as such Rsyns to be required by law or in any fili
with governmental entities or national securitizsst@nges, provided that such Party shall use gaitld éfforts to apply for confidential treatm
of this Agreement and redact such portions of Algiszement as reasonably requested by thedisiesing Party, in each case to the fullest &
permitted under applicable laws, rules or regutetio

Article 12 — Representations and Warranties

12.1 PARI Representations and Warranties. PARI represents, warrants and covenants thay ¢han as set forth on Exhibit 1
attached hereto:

@ PARI is a corporation duly organizegisting and in good standing under the laws afh@eay, with full right, powe
and authority to enter into and perform this Agreain

(b) the execution, delivery and perforegof this Agreement does not conflict with, vielar breach any agreemen
which PARI is a party, any court order to which RAdRa party or subject to or PARI's organizatiodatuments;
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(c) this Agreement has been duly execatetidelivered by PARI and is a legal, valid antdig obligation enforceat
against PARI in accordance with its terms subjeapplicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganizateamangement, moratorium and other |
relating to or affecting creditors' rights genegrahd equitable principles;

(d) as of the Effective Date: (i) PARI msvor has the right to license to Transave alhefRARI Intellectual Property, a
the PARI Intellectual Property includes all PatRights and KnowHow in which PARI has a right or license that maydpplicable to the Devi
in the Transave Field; (ii) PARI has the right tamt the licenses and rights set forth in this &gnent; and (iii) to the best of PARI's knowlec
patents within the PARI Intellectual Property aadid and enforceable, and are not known to berigéd by any third party in the Trans
Territory;

(e) as of the Effective Date, to the basdbwledge of PARI, PARI has not intentionally witHhd from Transave a
material information related to the Device; to Hest knowledge of PARI, the information relatingthe Device provided by PARI to Trans.
does not contain any misstatement of a materidl fiac omit to state any material fact required take such information as of the date
submission to Transave not materially misleading;

4] PARI shall perform its activities umda Work Plan in a competent and professional emarin accordance with
Work Plan, Applicable Laws and Standards and aagaeable instructions provided by Transave to PARdt

(9) to PARB knowledge as of the Effective Date, the Devicesdaot infringe, misappropriate or otherwise vielah)
patent or other Intellectual Property Rights of dimrd Party.

12.2 Transave Representations and Warranties . Transave represents, warrants and covenants that:

(a) Transave is a corporation duly orgedj existing and in good standing under the lafxab® State of Delaware, w
full right, power and authority to enter into anerjprm this Agreement;

(b) the execution, delivery and perforegof this Agreement does not conflict with, vielar breach any agreemen
which Transave is a party, any court order to wHicdnsave is a party or subject to, or Transavéficate of incorporation or bylaws;

(c) this Agreement has been duly execated delivered by Transave and is a binding obbgaenforceable agair
Transave in accordance with its terms subject faiegble bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganizatiorraagement, moratorium and other I
relating to or affecting creditors' rights genegrahd equitable principles;

(d) as of the Effective Date, to the Hesbwledge of Transave, Transave has not intentiomathheld from PARI an
material information related to the Drug Produotithie best knowledge of Transave, the informatilating to the Drug Product provided
Transave to PARI does not contain any misstatewfeatmaterial fact nor omit to state any materdaitfrequired to make such information a
the date of submission to PARI not materially naslieg;

(e) as of the Effective Date: (i) Transawns or has the right to license to PARI allhef Transave Intellectual Prope
and the Transave Intellectual Property include®atent Rights and Knoteow in which Transave has a right or license thay e required fc
PARI to perform its obligations under this Agreemdi) Transave has the right to grant the licenaadrights set forth in this Agreement; ¢
(i) to the best of Transave's knowledge, patemithin the Transave Intellectual Property are valitd enforceable, and are not known t
infringed by any third party in the Transave Temyt and
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4] to Transave’'knowledge as of the Effective Date, the pulmoraministration of Drug Product through a Nebu
does not infringe any patent or other intellecpralperty rights of any third party.

12.3 Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS ARRLE 12 OR IN SECTION 8.6 ABOVI
NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR EXTENDBNY WARRANTIES TO THE OTHER PARTY OF ANY KINC
EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING PATENT RIGHT&NOW-HOW OR DATA INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTIOLAR PURPOSE, NONINFRINGEMENT, NOR VALIDITY.

12.4 Limitation of Liability . NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTYUNDER ANY
CIRCUMSTANCES OR ANY LEGAL OR EQUITABLE THEORY, WHEHER IN CONTRACT, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE, FR
ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIALDAMAGES OR DAMAGES FOR LOST PROFITS ARISING OUT @R
RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, EVEN IF ADVISED OF THE ®SSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THESE LIMITATIONS SHAL
APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURBSE OR ANY LIMITED REMEDY.

Article 13 — Indemnification; Insurance
13.1 [***]

13.2 Indemnification of PARI . Transave shall at all times be responsible &oJ shall defend, indemnify and hold PARI,
Affiliates, directors, officers, employees, ageatal representatives harmless from and against athyak losses, claims, lawsuits, proceedi
expenses, recoveries and damages, including rdasolegal expenses, costs and attorneys feesn@rigit of: (i) any product liability claim
lawsuit by a third party directly arising from tiigrug Product; (ii) any claim of infringement of amatent rights, trade secrets rights or ¢
intellectual property rights of a third party anigi from the Drug Product or the manufacture theréiéj Transaves material breach of a
representation, warranty or covenant given in Agseement by Transave; and (iv) any negligent cohau willful misconduct by Transave
performance under this Agreement; provided howethat; (a) PARI gives Transave prompt notice of angh claim or lawsuit; (b) Transave
the right to compromise, settle or defend suchtlai lawsuit; and (¢) PARI, at the expense of Taams cooperates with Transave in the defen
such claim or lawsuit. PARI, at its expense, mayigipate in the defense of any such claim or latvsu
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13.3 Insurance . During the term of this Agreement and for a reasbe period of time thereafter, each Party oAffdiates, shal
maintain appropriate product liability insurancehwiespect to any clinical trials, manufacturingvelopment, sales, marketing, distribution
promotion activities performed by it hereunder.clEparty shall, upon request of the other partgyiole the requesting party with a certificat
insurance evidencing coverage under the foregaatigips of insurance, along with any amendmentsranisions thereto. PARI shall be (i) nar
as an additional insured on any such policies raaiatl hereunder by Transave, and (ii) also addezhbdgrsement on such policies. With respe
the U.S., Transave shall be (i) named as an additiosured on any such policies maintained hereuby PARI's Affiliate, PRE Holding, Inc., a
(i) also added by endorsement on such policieBRE Holding, Inc.

Article 14 — Dispute Resolution

PARI and Transave shall endeavor to resolve anynclar controversy arising out of the threatenedabhe breach, enforceme
interpretation, termination or validity of this Aggment informally by good faith negotiation betwées senior executives, officers or managel
of PARI and Transave. Either Party may give theeptParty written notice of any claim or controyermt resolved in the normal course
business (the Disputing Party Notice”). Within thirty (30) calendar days after the delivefythe Disputing Party Notice, the receiving Paaial
submit to the other Party a written response (tRe$pons€’). The Disputing Party Notice and Response shall dela statement of each Pal
position and a summary of the arguments suppottiagposition. Within sixty (60) days after thesputing Party Notice, such designated st
executives, officers or management of PARI and Jama shall meet at a mutually acceptable time dadepand thereafter as often as
reasonably deem necessary to attempt to resolvelahm or controversy. All negotiations pursuamthis Section 14 are confidential and witt
prejudice and shall be treated as compromise attiéreent negotiations for purposes of applicableswof evidence. Any claim or controve
unresolved after application of this Article 14 blh& subject to Section 16.3 of this Agreement.

Article 15 — Term and Termination

15.1 Term . The term of this Agreement is effective as o tiffective Date as first written above, and excaptotherwis
terminated in accordance with this Article 15, skahtinue in full force and effect until the exgiion of the final Royalty Term in the last coul
in which Drug Product is sold.

15.2 Termination by Either Party . Subject to force majeure provisions set forttSaction 16.10 of this Agreement, each F
shall have the right to terminate this Agreemerdrupritten notice, (i) in the event the other Pastyn material breach of this Agreement, and
not cure such breach within ninety (90) days aftdtten notice thereof, specifying in reasonabl¢éadehe breach; provided, however, that
payments due pursuant to this Agreement, the ceniegpshall be thirty (30) days after receipt oftten notice of such past due payment; provi
however, that immediately in the event the othertyPaitiates a voluntary proceeding under the UB&nkruptcy Code, or any equival
proceeding under the laws of any other jurisdigtionin the event such Party becomes the subjeenahvoluntary proceeding under the |
Bankruptcy Code, or any equivalent proceeding utttetaws ofany other jurisdiction, and such proceeding isdistnissed or stayed within nin
(90) days of its commencement.
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15.3 Termination by Transave. Transave shall have the right to terminate thise&grent upon written notice in the event the
Transave receives a negative review or negativercams from the FDA, EMEA or another Regulatory Aurtty which indicates that Transave \
be unable to obtain regulatory approval of an MA the Drug Product for use with the Device solliye to the Device not substantially mee
the Specifications, (ii) PARI is unable (subjectthhe force majeure provisions set forth in SectiérilO of this Agreement) or unwilling to sup
Devices to Transave in connection with clinicablsiin accordance with the provisions of Articleh&t would prevent Transave from tim
completing its Phase Il and Phase Il Trials, [***]

154 Termination by PARI. PARI shall have the right to terminate this Agreamgon written notice in the event that (i) Trare
assigns or otherwise transfers this Agreementttord party that does not execute a written un¢t@rtpagreeing to assume all of Transaveght:
and obligations set forth in this Agreement andeo#lise abide by the terms and conditions of thiseagent, [***] (v) the licenses granted
Transave under this Agreement have been termimpatestiant to: (X) Section 6.3(b) for both CF andrigtuectasis; or (y) Sections 7.1(b) ahé(a
andthe Parties have not entered into an additionaergent for a Secondary Indication in accordancle thi provisions of Section 2.6.

15.5 Effects of Expiration or Termination

(@) Accrued Obligations. Expiration or sooner termination of this Agreemshall not release either Party hereto 1
any liability which at the time of such expiration termination has already accrued to such Pady preclude either Party from pursuing
rights and remedies it may have hereunder or ablaw equity.

(b) Sublicenses. Upon the termination of this Agreement for angs@n, any sublicenses granted by Transave here
shall survive (unless specified otherwise in thgliapble sublicense agreement), provided that, upgnest by PARI, each Sublicensee pron
agrees in writing to be bound by the applicablentepf this Agreement, and agrees to pay directlpA®Rl the same amounts that would t
been due to PARI from Transave under this Agreemthtrespect to such sublicense, had the Agreemarterminated.

(c) Return of Rights . Except as reasonably necessary for survivinlgtsigr obligations under this Article 15, (i) afl

PARI's and Transave’ license rights under Articles 3.1 and 4 shalinteate, and (ii) each of Transave and PARI shadimptly return a
Confidential Information then in possession in adeoce with Section 11.4 of this Agreement.

35




(d) Survival. Articles 1, 9, 11, 13, 14,15 and 16, Sections 2.6, 3.2, 3.4, 3.6, 8.2, 883 for cases initiated befc
termination, 10.4 (except for the proviso at the ef the paragraph, which shall not survive), 12w 15.5 shall survive any expiratior
termination of this Agreement and Sections 8.4 &bdshall survive the termination of this Agreemfemta period of twelve (12) months. Exc
as set forth in this Section 15.5, all other Aegbhnd Sections of this Agreement shall terminptan termination of this Agreement.

Article 16 — Miscellaneous

16.1 Entire Agreement . This Agreement, which includes the Exhibits attathereto, contains the entire agreement between
and Transave with respect to the transactions ogitged by this Agreement and supersedes all pgogements, arrangements or understan
with respect thereto.

16.2 Notices . Every notice, election, demand, consent, requesprozal, report, offer, acceptance, certificate, aihel
communication required or permitted under this &gnent or by applicable law shall be in writing afll be deemed to have been deliverec
received (a) when personally delivered, (b) onstireenth (7th) business day after which sent bystexgid or certified mail, postage prepaid, re
receipt requested, (c) on the date on which tratsdhiby facsimile or other electronic means geimggat receipt evidencing a succes
transmission (provided that, on that same dateps of such notice is sent by registered or cedifinail, postage prepaid, return receipt reque;
or (d) on the third (3rd) business day after theitess day on which deposited with a regulatedipailrier (e.g., Federal Express) for overr
delivery (receipt verified), freight prepaid, adsised to the Party for whom intended at the ma#iddress or facsimile number set forth belov
such other mailing address or facsimile numbeiicaaif which is given in a manner permitted by tBection 16.2:

If to Transave: Transave, In
11 Deer Park Drive, Suite 117
Monmouth Jct., New Jersey 08852
United States of America
Phone: [***]
Attn: [***]
Fax: [***]

with a copy to Gunderson Dettmer Stough, Villenet
Franklin & Hachigian, LLP
610 Lincoln Street
Waltham, MA 02451
Phone: [***]
Attn: [***]
Fax: [***]

If to PARI: PARI Pharma Gmbt
Moosstrasse 3, D-82319
Starnberg, Germany
Phone: [***]
Fax: [***]
Attn: [***]
Title: [***]
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with a copy to: McGuireWoods LLF
One James Center
901 East Cary Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219-403
Attn: [***]
Fax: [***]

Any Party may by such notice change the addressich notice or other communications to it are ¢odelivered or mailed.

16.3 Choice of Law . This Agreement is construed in accordance with, imgerformance is governed by, the laws of Std
New York, excluding its or any other jurisdict’s choice of law principles. Any dispute arisingehender shall be brought exclusively in the ¢
or federal courts located in the State of New Yiarthe division of Manhattan. The Parties heretiysent to the exclusive jurisdiction and vent
such courts and waive any objections to the justimh and venue thereof. In the event of any cciriflietween US and foreign laws, regulations
rules, US laws, regulations and rules shall govéime UN Convention on contracts for the InternaioSale of Goods shall not apply to
Agreement.

16.4 Assign ment. This Agreement shall not be assignable by eithetyRaithout the prior written consent of the otHearty
which consent shall not be unreasonably withhedtgyed or conditioned, except that without consstiter Party may assign or transfer the ri
and obligations of this Agreement to any Affiliateto any successor to its business that relatéldetsubject matter of this Agreement (whethe
sale of assets or equity, merger, consolidatiootleerwise) provided, however, that such assignraeiransfer by Transave to a PARI Compe
shall require the prior written consent of PARIb® granted in its sole discretion. This Agreensdratl inure to the benefit of and be binding L
the Parties hereto and their respective succeasdrpermitted assigns. Any assignment in conttameinf the foregoing shall be null and void.

16.5 Waivers and Amendments . Any waiver of any term or condition of this Agreemhyeor any amendment or supplemente
of this Agreement, shall be effective only if initivrg signed by the Parties. A waiver of any breac failure to enforce any of the terms
conditions of this Agreement shall not in any wéfget, limit or waive a Party's rights hereundegaay time to enforce strict compliance there:i
with every term or condition of this Agreement.

16.6 Severability . Both Parties hereby expressly state that it ésithention of neither Party to violate any law.ahy of the
provisions of this Agreement are held to be voiduaenforceable, then such void or unenforceableigions shall be replaced by valid :
enforceable provisions which will achieve as fapassible the economic business intentions of tr&d2.

16.7 Construction. The article and section headings contained in Algieement are for the purpose of convenience aada
intended to define or limit the contents of sucttises. Unless the context of this Agreement ¢yemquires otherwise, (a) references to the p
include the singular, the singular the plural, plzet the whole, (b) references to any gender irclltigenders, (c) “orhas the inclusive meani
frequently identified with the phrase “and/or,” (@)cluding” has the inclusive meaning frequentientified with the phraseiricluding but nc
limited to” or “including without limitation”, ande) references to “hereunder” or “herein” relatéhis Agreement.

16.8 Counterparts . This Agreement may be signed in one or more copat&s, each of which shall be deemed an originalal
of which together shall constitute one and the sasteument. This Agreement may be executed inasmaore counterparts, each of which sha
an original, but taken together constituting ond &me same instrument. Execution of a facsimilpycshall have the same force and effet
execution of an original, and a facsimile signashell be deemed an original and valid signature.
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16.9 Further Assurances . Upon the reasonable request of either Party, ther darty shall execute any additional certifica
other documents that may be reasonably necessarytamplement this Agreement.

16.10 Force Majeure . No failure or omission by either Party in the pemfiance of any obligation of this Agreement sha
deemed a breach of this Agreement or create abiithaf the same shall arise from any cause arses beyond the reasonable control of such
including, but not limited to the following whickgr the purposes of this Agreement, shall be regrhas beyond the control of the Party in ques
(a) any act or omission of any government; (b) &myre rule, regulation or order issued by any gomeental authority or by any offic
department, agency, or instrumentality thereof Whiakes such performance impossible or commerdialtgasonable; or (c) any Act of God; f
storm; flood; earthquake; accident; war; terrorisefellion; insurrection; riot; invasion; strikeyéhlockout.

16.11 Compliance with Applicable Law s and Standards. In conducting any activity under this Agreemenfroconnection wit
the development, manufacture, use, sale, offersébe, importation and exportation of the ProduBPt&RI and Transave shall comply with
Applicable Laws and Standards including, but noitid to, all import and export regulations of #pplicable authorities in the Transave Territory.

16.12 Relationship of the Parties . In making and performing this Agreement, the Partiee acting, and intend to be treate:
independent entities and nothing contained in Agseement shall be construed or implied to createagency, partnership, joint venture
employer and employee relationship between or ammmg of the Parties. Except as otherwise provilecein, no Party may make ¢
representation, warranty or commitment, whetheresgor implied, on behalf of or incur any chargegxpenses for or in the name of any c
Party. No Party shall be liable for the act of atiyer party unless such act is expressly autheiizevriting by such Party.

16.13 Choice of Language . This Agreement, originally written in the Englisanguage, shall be governed by the En
language. In the event any dispute arises witpemsto this Agreement, the meanings of all termd provisions of this Agreement shall
interpreted in their original English form. Thevgoning language of all correspondence relategponting, negotiation, disputes, arbitration
notice requirements shall be the